Public Document Pack

Nottingham City Council
Executive Board
Date:

Tuesday 21 June 2022

Time:

2:00pm

Place:

Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham,
NG2 3NG

Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following
business

Director for Legal and Governance
Governance Officer: Adrian Mann

Direct Dial: 0115 8764468

Agenda

Pages

1

Apologies for Absence

2

Declarations of Interests

3

Minutes
Minutes of the meeting held on 24 May 2022, for confirmation

4

Rent Policy for Housing Revenue Account Properties
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Human Resources

11 - 24

5

Nottingham Youth Employment Joint Strategy
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Children, Young People and Schools

25 - 52

6

School Capital Maintenance Grant Allocations 2022-2023
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Children, Young People and Schools

53 - 106

7

Receipt of Funding for the Construction of High-Quality Cycling
and Walking Infrastructure
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Highways, Transport and Parks

107 - 124

8

Enhanced Partnership Scheme for Buses and Receipt of Funding
from the Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Fund
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Highways, Transport and Parks

125 - 390

3 - 10

Any items listed under ‘Exclusion of the Public’ will be heard in private. These items
have been included under this section of the agenda because no representations
against hearing them in private were received.
Councillors, co-optees, colleagues and other participants must declare all
disclosable pecuniary and other interests relating to any items of business to be
discussed at the meeting. If you need any advice on declaring an interest in an item
on the agenda, please contact the Governance Officer shown above before the day
of the meeting, if possible.
Citizens are advised that this meeting may be recorded by members of the public.
Any recording or reporting on this meeting should take place in accordance with the
Council’s policy on recording and reporting on public meetings, which is available
at: https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/your-council/about-the-council/councilmeetings-decisions/recording-reporting-on-public-meetings. Any person intending
to record the meeting is requested to notify the Governance Officer shown above in
advance.

Agenda Item 3

Nottingham City Council
Executive Board
Minutes of the meeting held in the Ground Floor Committee Room, Loxley
House, Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 3NG on Tuesday 24 May 2022 from
2:01pm to 2:23pm
Membership
Present
Councillor David Mellen (Chair)
Councillor Cheryl Barnard (items 1-3, 510)
Councillor Neghat Khan
Councillor Pavlos Kotsonis
Councillor Toby Neal
Councillor Linda Woodings

Absent
Councillor Rebecca Langton
Councillor Sally Longford
Councillor Adele Williams
Councillor Audra Wynter

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:
Councillor Andrew Rule
Mel Barrett
Clive Heaphy
Frank Jordan
Adrian Mann
Sajeeda Rose

-

Chief Executive
Interim Corporate Director for Finance and Resources
Corporate Director for Resident Services
Governance Officer
Corporate Director for Growth and City Development

Call-in
Unless stated otherwise, all decisions made by the Executive Board are subject to
call-in. The last date for call-in is Monday 6 June 2022. Decisions cannot be
implemented until the next working day following this date.
1

Apologies for Absence

Councillor Kevin Clarke

-

Councillor Rebecca Langton
Councillor Sally Longford
Councillor Adele Williams
Councillor Audra Wynter

-

electronic calendar invitation not received
due to administrative error
maternity leave
unwell
unwell
unwell

Malcolm Townroe

-

Director of Legal and Governance

2

Declarations of Interests

Councillor Cheryl Barnard declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in agenda item 4
because she is a private landlord within the city. She left the meeting prior to the
discussion of and voting on this item.
In the interests of transparency in relation to agenda item 4, Councillor Neghat Khan
stated that she has a family member who is a private landlord within the city.

Page 3

Executive Board – 24.05.22

3

Minutes

The Chair noted that due to some changes in the membership of the Executive for
the new municipal year and to a number of illnesses, only two members at the
current meeting (Councillor David Mellen and Councillor Neghat Khan) had also
attended the previous meeting of the Board. The Board confirmed the minutes of the
meeting held on 28 April 2022 as a correct record and they were signed by the Chair,
subject to clarification by the Chair with members Councillor Sally Longford and
Councillor Adele Williams (who were present at the previous meeting, but were
unable to attend the current meeting due to illness) that they had no proposed
amendments.
4

Proposal for a Scheme of Selective Licensing for Private Rented Houses

Councillor Cheryl Barnard declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in agenda item 4
because she is a private landlord within the city. She left the meeting prior to the
discussion of and voting on this item.
In the interests of transparency in relation to agenda item 4, Councillor Neghat Khan
stated that she has a family member who is a private landlord within the city.
The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Human Resources presented a report on
proposals for a second scheme of Selective Licensing for privately rented homes in
the city. The following points were discussed:
(a) Nottingham’s level of privately rented housing stock is estimated at around 45,500
properties, including 6228 Houses of Multiple Occupation. The current Selective
Licensing scheme began in 2018 and runs until 2023, and was introduced to
ensure the more effective regulation of the private rented sector. As part of the
scheme, positive work has been carried out with landlords to increase the
standard of rented accommodation, with significant improvements being made to
building quality, safety and energy efficiency;
(b) the Coronavirus pandemic did have a significant impact on the compliance and
enforcement activity that it was possible to undertake as part of the scheme, so
there is still more work to be done in growing the quality of the city’s stock of
private rented accommodation. The current period of housing shortage has also
contributed to some tenants being unwilling to report problems with a property to
their landlord, as they are nervous that the landlord could then serve a Section 21
notice to evict them;
(c) ultimately, it is considered that the current Selective Licensing scheme has helped
to protect tenants’ rights and improve the quality of the city’s private rented
housing stock, as well as bringing about other wider community benefits such as
reducing anti-social behaviour and addressing waste management issues. As
such, it is proposed that a new Selective Licensing scheme should be
implemented from 2023. The legislative context does not allow for the simple
extension of an existing scheme, so the full range of evidence must be compiled
and presented to support the need for a second scheme. A statutory consultation
period is now required as part of the drafting process, the results of which will be
reported back to the Board to inform a decision on the ultimate proposals.

Page 4

Executive Board – 24.05.22

Resolved:
(1) to approve, in principal, the establishment of a second Scheme of Selective
Licensing for the city;
(2) to approve the Proposal Report (as set out in Appendix 1 to the report) and
the draft Designation (Appendix 2 to the report) for consultation in
accordance with the statutory requirements and associated national
guidance;
(3) to receive and consider a future report detailing the results of the
consultation, to determine whether a new Scheme and Designation should
be made and submitted to the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing
and Communities for approval.


Reasons for the decision

Selective Licensing is a power available to Local Authorities to tackle problems in
privately rented housing. The Council has been delivering a scheme of Selective
Licensing since August 2018, which will end in July 2023. The evidence gathered
supports the introduction of a second scheme to build upon the first by continuing to
deliver the benefits that are being seen in the city’s private rented sector. The
operation of Selective Licensing relies solely on the fee income generated from the
scheme and, therefore, has a minimal impact on the Council’s annual budget.


Other options considered

To not introduce a second Selective Licensing Scheme: before adopting a scheme of
Selective Licensing, Local Authorities are required to consider whether there are any
other courses of action available to them that might provide an effective method of
addressing any problems identified in the private rented sector. The Council has
operated a range of schemes and initiatives to improve the conditions and
management of privately rented properties for a number of years. These initiatives,
and work with other partners, have ensured ongoing engagement with landlords.
However, problems still exist with some landlords and properties, and it is considered
that these can be addressed appropriately through continuing to use Selective
Licensing powers, alongside the other existing initiatives and legislative provision. For
these reasons, this option is rejected.
5

Extension to the Property Acquisitions Budget

The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Human Resources presented a report on a
proposed extension to the Property Acquisitions (Housing) Programme Budget. The
following points were discussed:
(a) there is an outstanding forecast expenditure of £828,000 to bring properties
acquired as part of the Housing Programme into use for letting, or for works to be
paid. Works have been completed at 25 properties with works payment
outstanding, and a further 48 properties are awaiting the approval of funds before
works proceed. The primary objective is to bring as many of these empty

Page 5

Executive Board – 24.05.22

properties up to standard and into circulation for letting as soon as possible to
reduce the pressure on the home waiting list, homelessness and the associated
temporary accommodation budgets, and Council Tax costs;
(b) as such, a total budget extension of £938,247 is requested, to include 5% price
inflation on the works costs as they move into the new financial year, and a further
8% contingency to be comprised of Housing Revenue Account capital.
Resolved:
(1) to approve an additional £938,247 in budget for the Property Acquisitions
(Housing) Programme to meet the cost of required works;
(2) to approve the use of Housing Revenue Account capital for this budget
extension.


Reasons for the decision

The empty properties remain viable overall in so far as they do not generate an inyear deficit as a result of the revised works costs, and/or there is specific requirement
for certain properties whereby a small deficit can be accommodated by the overall
surplus of the new acquisitions. The properties awaiting works currently will make a
critical contribution to meeting the local housing needs, and for both general needs
and those of homeless households, so easing temporary accommodation spend. In
the current market context, the Council would be unlikely to be able to acquire similar
properties for the same value for money, even with the increased costs of works, in
the future.


Other options considered

To sell some or all of the properties: this option is discounted for reasons of present
value for money that could not be replicated in the future, and the current pressures
on general housing needs and the homelessness accommodation supply.
6

Implementation of Safety Improvements to Council Properties

The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Human Resources presented a report on the
installation of carbon monoxide detectors for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
housing stock. The following points were discussed:
(a) since the Grenfell disaster, a great deal of work has been carried out nationally
relating to improving building safety and ensuring the safety of tenants. The
Government consultation on domestic smoke detection and carbon monoxide
alarms was concluded and published in November 2021 and, following this
consultation, new legislation is due to come into force in the autumn of 2022;
(b) the installation of carbon monoxide detectors in any room with a fixed combustion
appliance for all properties in the HRA stock will be carried out by Nottingham City
Homes, which has shown a high level of performance in ensuring that the
appropriate regular gas and electrical safety checks are carried out for Council

Page 6

Executive Board – 24.05.22

tenants. Ultimately, it is important that this vital safety work is carried out as
rapidly as possible.
Resolved:
(1) to approve the expenditure of the £896,784 associated with the
implementation of the new legislation via the Housing Revenue Account
(HRA) Capital Programme;
(2) to authorise Nottingham City Homes (NCH) to act as the Council's agent and
manage the installation of these alarms on the Council's behalf;
(3) to note in relation to the recent Section 114 Notice relating to management
controls between the Council and NCH that, although this report involves a
new allocation of funding within the HRA programme, the proposed
expenditure is in relation to existing functions of NCH to carry out the
management and maintenance of properties and ensure compliance with
statutory requirements for housing standards on behalf of the Council.


Reasons for the decision

The Council is required to be compliant with the new legislation regarding domestic
smoke detection and carbon monoxide alarms, which will come into force in the
autumn of 2022. The funding for the works has been identified already within the
HRA budget. The works are an extension of existing duties and do not involve
entering into new agreements between the Council and NCH, and represent a
legitimate and statutory required use of HRA funds, as approved by the Deputy
Section 151 Officer.


Other options considered

To do nothing: the Council would not be complying with a legal requirement if these
works were not completed, so this option is rejected.
7

Nottingham Central Library

The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Regeneration and Communications presented a
report on the commencement of the fit-out of the replacement Nottingham Central
Library. The following points were discussed:
(a) the consultation process undertaken revealed a significant need for a replacement
Central Library, and a strong desire for the new facility to be opened as soon as
possible. The commencement of the fit-out has started later than desired.
Nevertheless, all of the capital funding element required to establish the proper
infrastructure for the Library has now been generated within the Capital
Programme, and it should be possible for it to open next year;
(b) once the final capital receipt for the sale of the former Central Library building on
Angel Row has been secured, this will also be used for the funding of the new
Library. It is vital that the work begins as soon as possible because there is a risk
of construction costs rising if the project is delayed further, and of coordination

Page 7

Executive Board – 24.05.22

being lost with the other significant development projects taking place in the same
part of the city.
Resolved:
(1) to approve the commencement of the fit-out works for the new Nottingham
Central Library project;
(2) to approve the funding for the fit-out works from the agreed capital
programme;
(3) to delegate authority to the Corporate Director for Resident Services to
enter into a contract to deliver the fit-out works, and to procure any specific
purchases required in relation to the fit-out in accordance with the Council’s
Contract Procedure Rules.


Reasons for the decision

The fit-out of the replacement Nottingham Central Library is a key foundation stone
for the broader regeneration and activation of the Broadmarsh development. The
Central Library will also act as a significant draw and destination building for one of
the largest regeneration schemes taking place in the city.


Other options considered

To not provide a Central Library service: this would reduce development costs, but
the Council would be open to judicial challenge as to whether it was fulfilling its
statutory responsibility for providing a comprehensive Library Service. The Libraries
Needs Assessment, currently out for consultation, clearly showed a high usage of the
Central Library as part of the city’s overall library provision. Its role demonstrated that
it was an essential part of the development of the Service and a key holder of
collections and resources that help support the Neighbourhood and Community
Library offer. Removal of the Central Library provision would break the agreed
working protocol between the Nottingham City and Nottinghamshire County Councils.
This agreement shares responsibility for provision of the City and County Archives
and a Central Library Service provision for Nottingham and Nottinghamshire. For
these reasons, this option is rejected.
To refurbish the existing Angel Row site: the current condition of Angel Row is poor.
In light of its failing drainage and mechanical, electrical and asbestos issues, the cost
of refurbishment would be on par with the replacement costs for a Library at the
Broadmarsh complex. A sale has been agreed for the site that will make a significant
capital receipt towards the capital programme. If the existing site is retained for the
Central Library, the capital receipt would not be available and the regeneration
opportunity for the development of the Angel Row site and the surrounding area
would be lost. For these reasons, this option is rejected.
To reduce and further sub-divide the current Library space designated within the
Broadmarsh complex in order to reduce development costs: the space allocated
within the Broadmarsh complex has been designed specifically for the replacement
Central Library, including (but not limited to) structural loadings, lift location and key

Page 8

Executive Board – 24.05.22

mechanical and electrical infrastructure. Sub-dividing the space would be very
difficult and costly to undertake at this point, now that the building has been built and
modified for the replacement Library. Making the Library smaller would compromise
the collections and material that the Central Library is expected to hold and would
give rise to an ongoing need for further off-site storage. This off site storage would
need to be managed and run to help support book stock and other specialist material
required. For these reasons, this option is rejected.
To convert Loxley House and incorporate the Central Library within this building: the
design and floor loadings of Loxley House do not lend themselves to an easy
conversion to accommodate the replacement Central Library. Detailed designs,
structural loading calculations, acoustic management and mechanical and electrical
studies would need to be commissioned to determine its viability and provide an
understanding of potential costs. This work would conflict with letting and partnering
agreements currently ongoing and being pursued with Loxley House by the Council.
This work would also further delay the opening of Central Library to the public by at
least one year. For these reasons, this option is rejected.
8

Future Meeting Dates

Resolved to meet on the following dates:
 Tuesday 21 June 2022 at 2:00pm
 Tuesday 19 July 2022 at 2:00pm
 Tuesday 20 September 2022 at 2:00pm
 Tuesday 18 October 2022 at 2:00pm
 Tuesday 22 November 2022 at 2:00pm
 Tuesday 20 December 2022 at 2:00pm
 Tuesday 17 January 2023 at 2:00pm
 Tuesday 21 February 2023 at 2:00pm
 Tuesday 21 March 2023 at 2:00pm
 Tuesday 18 April 2023 at 2:00pm
9

Exclusion of the Public

The Board resolved to exclude the public from the meeting during
consideration of the remaining items in accordance with Section 100A of the
Local Government Act 1972, under Schedule 12A, Part 1, Paragraphs 3 and 5,
on the basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in
maintaining an exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.
10

Nottingham Central Library - Exempt Appendices

The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Regeneration and Communications presented the
exempt appendices to the report on the commencement of the fit-out of the
replacement Nottingham Central Library.
The Board noted the exempt appendices to the report.

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4

Executive Board
21 June 2022
Subject:

Rent Policy for Housing Revenue Account Properties

Corporate
Sajeeda Rose, Corporate Director for Growth and City
Director(s)/Director(s): Development
Portfolio Holder(s):

Toby Neal, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Human
Resources

Report author and
contact details:

Graham de Max, Housing Strategy and Partnerships
Manager
graham.demax@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Other colleagues who
have provided input:

Aisha Bapu, Housing Revenue Account Accountant
Mark Lawson, Executive Assistant – Nottingham City
Homes

Subject to call-in:

Yes

No

Key Decision:
Yes
No
Criteria for Key Decision:
(a)
Expenditure
Income
Savings of £750,000 or more taking account of
the overall impact of the decision
and/or
(b)
Significant impact on communities living or working in two or more wards in
the City
Yes
No
Type of expenditure:

Revenue

Capital

Total value of the decision: Nil
Wards affected: All
Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder(s): 12 May 2022
Relevant Council Plan Key Outcome:
Clean and Connected Communities
Keeping Nottingham Working
Carbon Neutral by 2028
Safer Nottingham
Child-Friendly Nottingham
Healthy and Inclusive
Keeping Nottingham Moving
Improve the City Centre
Better Housing
Financial Stability
Serving People Well
Page 11

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):
The Government has rules about how rents for social housing should be set, and
has most recently provided these in a policy statement on rents for social housing
(2020). Its principles have been incorporated into the Regulator of Social Housing’s
Rent Standard.
As a stockholding Local Authority, it is important that the Council sets out how it will
comply with the requirements of the policy statement and the Rent Standard in the
form of a rent policy. In having a rent policy, the Council is bringing transparency
about its rent-setting processes, which clearly benefits tenants who are able then to
understand how their rents have been calculated and increases applied.
Does this report contain any information that is exempt from publication?
No

Recommendation(s):
1. To approve and formally adopt the Housing Revenue Account Rent Policy.
2. To note that the Policy will be kept under regular review in relation to any new
national directives and changes to the Council’s approach, and to delegate
authority to the Corporate Director for Growth and City Development, in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Human Resources, to
amend and update the Policy as appropriate.

1.

Reasons for recommendations

1.1 It is good practice for social landlords to set out formally how their rents are set and
annual increases applied in order to demonstrate their compliance with the
Regulator’s Rent Standard.
2.

Background

2.1 The Regulator of Social Housing has a regulatory framework that ensures that social
landlords (both private registered providers and stock-holding Local Authorities) have
sound governance and financial practices and that they manage their homes
effectively. The regulatory framework comprises three over-arching standards: the
Governance Standard, the Economic Standard and the Consumer Standard.
2.2 Given the existing financial and governance arrangements that apply to Local
Government, the Governance and Economic Standards do not apply to Local
Authority landlords. However, from April 2020, one of the standards within the
Economic Standards (the Rent Standard) has been applicable to Local Authorities as
well as housing associations. At that point, the Regulator published a revised Rent
Standard, which required social landlords to comply with the Government’s rent
policy, which was issued in 2019. The key element of the policy was that from April

Page 12

2020, landlords would be allowed to increase rents annually by a factor of the
Consumer Prices Index (CPI) plus 1% maximum. This followed a four year period in
which landlords had been required to reduce their rents annually by 1%.
2.3 The Government’s rent policy also sets out what flexibilities can be applied in certain
cases, and the different rents which can be applied to social housing, i.e., ‘Social
Rent’ or ‘Affordable Rent’, and the rules which should govern the setting of these.
2.4 Although there is clear guidance on what landlords can and cannot do within the
policy, there is some discretion for landlords in the way they set rents, apply annual
increases, and use the available flexibilities within the policy to either lower or
increase rents in certain circumstances. Given this, and in the interest of consistency
and transparency it is advisable for landlords to have their own rent policy which sets
out these matters as they apply to their stock.
2.5 The Council does not currently have a written rent policy for the properties held
within the HRA. It is therefore important that one is put in place in order to
demonstrate that the way it sets and increases rents is fully compliant with the
requirement of the Rent Standard. The attached policy (Appendix 1) has been
drafted by officers within the Council’s Finance and Housing Strategy teams, and
Nottingham City Homes. It has been independently critiqued by a consultant from
Housing Quality Network, and their recommendations incorporated. The policy now
needs to be formally signed off by the Council.
3.

Other options considered in making recommendations

3.1 To not have a written policy: although it is not a statutory requirement to have a rent
policy, it is clearly good practice to do so. Not having a written policy would risk
inconsistency of approach and a lack of transparency, which rent payers are entitled
to. Furthermore, the Social Housing White Paper has made clear that the
Government intends to bring much more robust regulation and scrutiny to the sector,
including inspections. One of the fundamental ways of assessing landlords will be via
the regulatory standards. Demonstrating clear compliance with the Rent Standard is
essential preparation for this.
4.

Consideration of Risk

4.1 Given the current volatility of inflation, it is possible that the Government intervenes
in order to limit rent increases next year. Should that be the case, the rent policy
allows for the Council to respond accordingly.
5.

Finance colleague comments

5.1 The proposed Rent Policy establishes the Council’s continuing commitment to set
rents for its housing stock in full compliance with the requirements and expectations
of the ‘Rent Standard’ issued by the Regulator of Social Housing (RoSH) and ‘The
policy statement on rents for social housing’, issued by the former Ministry of
Housing, Communities and Local Government.

Page 13

5.2 The Council’s current practice in setting its rents are in line with the proposals as set
out in this paper, therefore there are no financial implications arising from the
proposals in this policy on the HRA budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan
(MTFP).
5.3 Social rents are charged for the majority of council homes (97%) and allows for an
annual increase of up to CPI plus 1%. The rules include ‘rent flexibilities’ that may
provide the potential to charge additional rent, but as these can only be applied to
new tenancies these increased use of these flexibilities has very limited impact on
the HRA income levels. The existing use of rent flexibilities has been reviewed and
the potential impact of this has been allowed for in the budget for 2022/23.
5.4 Affordable rents should be set at 80% of market rent (including service charges) and
these account for about 3% of the stock. These will increase annually by a maximum
of CPI plus 1% in accordance with legislation, this is consistent with the assumptions
in the HRA’s MTFP.
5.5 Service charges will be set to cover the cost of delivering services, though they are
not governed by the same factors as rent, the Council will endeavour to keep annual
increases within the limit on rent changes of CPI plus 1%.
5.6 In summary, the Policy enables the Council to confirm its commitment to compliance
with the Government’s Policy statement on rents for social housing and the RoSH’s
Rent Standard. The impact on the rental income levels of the HRA has been
included in the HRA MTFP where known and will be updated annually as part of the
Council’s budget process.
Comments provided by Julie Dorrington, Senior Accountant – Housing Revenue
Account, on 24 February 2022 (reviewed and updated by Aisha Bapu, Senior
Accountant – Housing Revenue Account, on 21 April 2022)
6.

Legal colleague comments

6.1 The main source of income for the HRA is rent. It pays for, inter-alia, the
maintenance and upkeep of its homes. The Rent Policy provides transparency as to
how the Council will calculate and charge rent for its properties as contained within
that Policy. The Policy reflects the Council’s service delivery of the HRA business
plan and encompasses the legislative framework, which includes, but is not limited
to, the following:
 Housing Act 1985, Section 24
 Housing and Regenerate Act 2008, Section 197
 Rent Standard Guidance April 2015
 Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016
 Directions on the Rent Standard – 2019
 The Rent Standard 2020
 Policy Statement on rents for social housing – February 2019
 Local Government and Housing Act 1989
6.2 I am satisfied that the proposed Rent Policy conforms with legislation and also
reflects the Council’s commitment to its HRA business plan, strategy for tenancies
Page 14

and revenue budget. This Policy also accords with the Council’s Equality and
Diversity Policy and does not impact disproportionality on different equality groups.
Comments provided by Jacqueline Heffron, Senior Solicitor – Litigation and Dispute
Resolution, on 5 April 2022
7.

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)

7.1 An EIA is not required because the policy confirms existing practices and does not
represent a change in policy that might have any equality impacts.
8.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA)

8.1 A DPIA is not required because the policy will not entail any new data sharing
arrangements.
9.

Carbon Impact Assessment (CIA)

9.1 A CIA is not required because the rent policy will have no impacts on the Council’s
carbon neutral targets.
10. List of background papers relied upon in writing this report
10.1 None.
11. Published documents referred to in this report
11.1 Policy statement on rents for social housing – Ministry of Housing, Communities and
Local Government, 2019
11.2 Rent Standard – Regulator of Social Housing, 2020

Page 15

Appendix 1: Draft Rent Policy for HRA properties
Nottingham City Council
Rent Policy for homes held within the Housing Revenue Account 2021-25
1 Introduction
1.1 Nottingham City Council is a stock-holding local housing authority which owns
approximately 25,000 residential properties. The tenants to whom these properties
are let are charged a weekly rent which pays for the management, maintenance and
future investment needs of their homes. The rents that are collected are paid into the
ring-fenced Housing Revenue Account (HRA) which is administered by the Council
in order to deliver the needs of the stock. The stock owned within the HRA is classed
as social housing, and as such, is subject to regulation by the Regulator of Social
Housing.
1.2 The way in which rents for social housing are set is prescribed at a national level;
however there are different types of rent within social housing, and certain flexibilities
which social landlords are able to apply in respect of their stock.
2 Summary
2.1 This document sets out how Nottingham City Council (the Council) sets rents on
residential properties held within its Housing Revenue Account. The rent policy
complies with the requirements of the law as set out in legislative and regulatory
framework and will remain in force until 31 March 2025, unless any changes are
required due to legislative or regulatory requirements implemented by government,
or the Council’s approach.
2.2 On occasions, when specifically approved by the Council, properties may be let
for housing purposes to Nottingham City Homes (NCH, the Council’s arm’s length
management organisation responsible for managing council properties), or a
charitable organisation, or a community group at a concessionary or zero rent.
2.3 This will be in circumstances where there are operational reasons and where
service will be detrimentally affected by not doing so, or where there is a significant
demonstrable benefit to the local community or charity. Such arrangements are kept
under continual review in order to assess the ongoing need for such uses in relation
to the Council’s objectives, and the justification for a lower rent.
3 Principles
3.1 As well as legal and regulatory compliance, this policy seeks to embody the
following principles:
 Affordability
 Tenancy sustainment
 Fairness
 Transparency
 Reflection of the cost of delivering a high-quality management and maintenance
service to the stock
Page 16




Consideration of the cost of future investment in the stock so that it meets all
legislative and regulatory requirements, as set out in the HRA Business Plan
Taking account of improvements to properties and the ability to plan future
upgrades

4 Exclusions
4.1 Separate policies exist for rents of homes owned by Nottingham City Homes of
itself or within any of its subsidiary companies. Additionally, there are a small number
of homes held within the General Fund which are also outside of the scope of this
policy. These are outlined in Appendix 2.
5 Legislative and Regulatory Context
5.1 The key piece of legislation governing the setting of social rent is the Housing Act
1985 which gives landlords the power to set and increase rents on an annual basis
and sets out the steps they should follow in order to do so.
5.2 Government guidance issued in 1999 introduced the concept of a ‘formula’ rent
based on the relative value of the property, the size of the property, and relative local
income levels. The aim of this formula-based approach to setting rent levels is to
ensure that similar rents are charged for similar social rented properties within a
region. This is often referred to as rent convergence.
5.3 Convergence was intended to be achieved by applying annual rent increases
within prescribed limits, set by government and usually being the September
Consumer Price Index (CPI), plus an additional percentage announced annually by
government.
5.4 From 2015 the principle of convergence was effectively ended, leaving a number
of landlords with rents not yet at formula levels. A ten year settlement of CPI +1% as
a maximum annual increase was put in place. The Welfare Reform and Work Act
2016 however subsequently prescribed a compulsory annual reduction in rents of
1% for four years commencing from 2016-17.
5.5 From April 2020 all registered housing providers are required to comply with the
Rent Standard. The Regulator of Social Housing (RoSH) produced guidelines policy
statement on rents for social housing (policy statement) which was issued by the
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG).
5.6 The policy statement prescribes that social housing providers should not
increase rents from 2020-21 until at least 2024-25 by more than September CPI rate
+1% annually.
5.7 In 2011, as part of the then government’s Affordable Homes Programme, social
landlords were given the power to charge ‘affordable rents’ for new social homes,
both new- build and acquisitions. An affordable rent is a sum equal to up to a
maximum 80% of the market rent (including service charges). For some central
government grant programmes, it has been a requirement that affordable rents are
set on those new schemes.

Page 17

NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL POLICY
This policy applies to all of the properties held within the HRA. The homes held
within the HRA are charged at either a ‘social (ie ‘formula’ rent) or an ‘affordable’
rent. Each of these is explained below, along with the methodology for setting them.
6 Social rent
6.1 Most of the Council’s properties are let at a social rent. All of the properties which
were held in the HRA prior to 2011 (the introduction of Affordable Rent) are let on
social rents; only certain properties built or acquired subsequently (mostly using
Homes England grant funding) are let at Affordable Rents. As noted, since 2001
rents for properties let at ‘social rent’ in England have been based on a formula set
by government known as a ‘formula rent’.
6.2 The formula contained within the policy statement is based upon a 1999 England
average weekly rent of £54.62, relative local authority property values at 1999
valuations, and relative county income levels in 1999, and the size of the property.
6.3 In Nottinghamshire manual weekly county earnings in 1999 were £298.00
compared to a national England average of £316.40. Individual property valuations
at 1999 prices are available for all council owned properties in Nottingham and can
be compared to a national average property valuation of £49,750.
The calculation for setting social rents is based upon:
70% of the national average rent
Multiplied by relative county earnings
Multiplied by a bedroom weighting
Plus
30% of the national average rent
Multiplied by relative property value
Uplifted by a cumulative inflationary increase of 66.79% to reflect 2021/22
prices. Examples of social rents in Nottingham using this formula are shown
at Appendix 2
6.4 The majority of HRA stock is currently let at or below social formula rent. When
convergence ended in 2015 approximately two thirds of properties were still not at
formula level. This policy states (7.1) that these will be set to formula when they
become vacant and are relet. As at May 2022 This has now been applied to
approx. 6,000 of those properties not at formula level, which means that half of the
stock is still below formula level.
6.5 All rents levied by the Council will be below rent caps set annually by
Government. For 2021/22 these are:

Page 18

Number of bedrooms

Rent cap (52
weeks)

1 and bedsits

£148.88

2

£157.62

3

£166.38

4

£175.12

5

£183.89

6 or more

£192.64

Thereafter rent caps will increase annually at CPI plus 1.5%.
6.6 Rents are collected on a 50 week basis.
6.7 The Council will review rents annually and will consult and involve tenants in the
process. Social rents will be set, and any annual increase applied, as part of the
Council’s annual budget-setting process. Any change to rents will be approved at a
full meeting of the Council in February each year. Changes will apply from the
following financial year commencing in April.
6.8 Where there have been major alterations or investment in a property such as an
extension or an increase in the number of bedrooms the Council will apply to have
the property revalued to reflect improvements made in accordance with the policy
statement and if appropriate recalculate rent accordingly for it to be applied at relet.
6.9 Tenants will be notified in writing of rent increases and weekly amount payable at
least 28 days in advance of the new payment being due.
7 Formula Rent at re-let
7.1 Any properties which are not currently levied at formula rent will be reset to the
formula rent value when they become vacant and are relet. A formal process is in
place to ensure that this happens each time a property with a below formula rent
becomes void.
8 Rent flexibilities
8.1 Current guidelines maintain discretion for local authorities to set rents above
formula rent by up to 5% for general needs properties and 10% for supported
accommodation (including Independent Living Schemes). However, any use of rent
flexibilities must be in accordance with a clearly defined rationale that has been
developed with tenants and takes account of local circumstances and affordability.
Rent flexibilities are not to be used as a general policy and must relate to individual
properties.
8.2 Defining a clear rationale can be complex but can be used to reflect any
significant improvements that need to be carried out in a property, for example,
Page 19

major energy improvements. When applying flexibility, the Council will ensure that it
details the exact criteria for which flexibility is being applied and consult with tenants
accordingly. These criteria will be reviewed on an annual basis.
8.3 The Council will use rent flexibility where appropriate when re-let
ting properties. Rent flexibilities are not permitted on existing tenancies and cannot
be applied retrospectively.
8.4 Whilst it is not possible to list every scenario in which the flexibility will be
applied, some of the likely improvements which may be appropriate include;
 Major energy efficiency schemes such as external wall insulation
 Photo voltaic panels
 Making homes carbon zero
 Meeting decent homes standards
 Fire safety measures
 Driveways/hardstanding
8.5 In considering whether to apply rent flexibilities, the Council will ensure rents
remain affordable and do not exceed local housing allowance rates, are below 80%
of market rent levels and rent caps set by government.
8.6 Where a property is being charged a social rent that exceeds the formula rent
and the local flexibility criteria is no longer applicable, the Council will either reduce
the rent immediately or limit annual rent increases to the relevant CPI value only until
formula rent is restored.
9 Affordable rent
9.1 Affordable rent is generally applied to new build properties and acquisitions and
requires approval by Homes England as part of development proposals. Initial
affordable rents will be set at a maximum of 80% of market rent inclusive of service
charges, in accordance with prescribed RICS Red Book valuation methodology.
9.2 Affordable rents will increase annually by a maximum of CPI plus 1% in line with
the policy statement on rents for social housing so long as affordable rents will not
exceed 80% of market rent.
9.3 When an affordable rent property becomes vacant, the property will be revalued,
and the affordable rent levied on relet will be based on a maximum of 80% of the
current market rent value at the time of re-letting. In determining the current market
rent value of the property, the Council will utilise available market rent data to
establish a suitable market rent on which to base the Affordable rent.
9.4 When setting an affordable rent, prevailing rental market conditions will be
considered. When local private rents are increasing rapidly and significantly, it may
not be appropriate to set a rent at 80% of market rent as this may well push such
rents beyond affordability. In such cases, the rent should be set at the level indicated
within the business case for the scheme or property purchase in order to achieve
pay-back of the build/acquisition costs within the required time. This approach will
require approval by a senior manager.
Page 20

10 Service Charges
10.1 In addition to the rent due on their homes, tenants may also be liable for a
number of additional charges in relation to services which they receive above and
beyond the general occupation of a property.
10.2 Service charges usually reflect additional services which may not be provided to
every tenant, or which may be connected with communal facilities rather than being
particular to the occupation of a dwelling.
10.3 Any charge will only reflect the cost of providing those services and will be
reviewed and where appropriate adjusted annually. Tenants will be notified on
annual rent statements.
10.4 Service charges are not specifically covered by the RoSH policy statement,
however there is an expectation that they must not exceed the cost of services
provided and that any annual increase should be no more that CPI plus 1%.
11 Consultation
11.1 Tenants are consulted on the annual rent increase as set out in 6.7.
12 Equality and Diversity
12.1 Nottingham City Council is committed to promoting equality of opportunity in
respect of housing services by delivering housing services to the needs of the
community regardless of t age, disability, gender, marriage and civil partner status,
race, religion, belief or sexual orientation. To view the Council’s equality and diversity
Policy visit https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-forresidents/community/equality-diversity-and-inclusion/. This policy has been written
with regard to the policy.
13 Glossary of terms
Affordability – Ability of tenants to afford rent and associated service charges
Consumer Price Index – measurement of annual price increases
Affordable rent – charges levied for properties acquired or built as part of Affordable
Homes programme or funded by Right to Buy receipts.
Consumer Price Index – Office for national statistics (ONS) measurement of annual
price comparisons
Formula rent – Government policy to determine level of social rents
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) – A ring fenced account used for all
income and expenditure relating to housing properties and land.

Page 21

Regulator of Social Housing – regulatory body for registered social housing
providers
Rent convergence – process of ameliorating difference between council and
housing association rents
Rent flexibility – discretion allowed by government for housing providers to charge
up to 5 or 10 per cent above formula rents
Rent Standard – a regulatory standard for social housing rent levels
Service charges – charge for additional services above the occupation of a
dwelling.
Tenancy sustainment – being able to conduct and maintain a satisfactory tenancy

Page 22

Appendix 2
Properties outside HRA or owned by Nottingham City Homes and subject to a
separate rent policy
 Properties owned by NCH Registered Provider
 Properties owned by NCH Limited
 Properties owned by NCH Enterprise Limited
 Properties held within the General Fund or appropriated to the General Fund

Page 23

Appendix 3
Examples of social rents in Nottingham as at 2020/21 using the formula contained
within policy guidelines.
Calculation
70% of national
average rent (£54.62)
Multiplied by relative
county earnings
(£298.00/£316.40)
Bedroom weighting
Multiplied by
bedroom weight = (A)

Bedsit

1 bed
flat

2 bed
flat

2 bed
house

3 bed
house

4 bed
house

£38.23

£38.23

£38.23

£38.23

£38.23

£38.23

£36.01

£36.01

£36.01

£36.01

£36.01

£36.01

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.1

1.2

£28.81

£32.41

£36.01

£36.01

£39.61

£43.21

£16.39

£16.39

£16.39

£16.39

£16.39

£16.39

Plus
30% of national
average rent (£54.62)
1999 property value
(PV)
Multiplied by relative
property value
(PV/£49,750) = (B)
2000/01 Total (A + B)

£15,680 £20,580 £28,420 £33,761 £36,456 £47,530
£5.16

£6.78

£9.36

£11.12

£12.01

£15.65

£33.97

£39.19

£45.37

£47.13

£51.62

£58.86

2021/22 Total
(uplifted by 66.79%)

£56.66

£65.36

£75.67

£78.61

£86.10

£98.17

Plus 5% flexibility
Plus 10% flexibility

£59.50
£62.33

£68.63
£71.90

£79.46
£83.24

£82.54
£86.47

£90.40
£94.70

£103.08
£107.99

April 2022

Page 24

Agenda Item 5

Executive Board
21 June 2022
Subject:

Nottingham Youth Employment Joint Strategy

Corporate
Sajeeda Rose, Corporate Director for Growth and City
Director(s)/Director(s): Development
Portfolio Holder(s):

Councillor Cheryl Barnard, Portfolio Holder for Children,
Young People and Schools

Report author and
contact details:

Owen Harvey, Acting Head of Employment, Skills and
Economic Strategy
owen.harvey@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Other colleagues who
have provided input:
Subject to call-in:

Yes

No

Key Decision:
Yes
No
Criteria for Key Decision:
(a)
Expenditure
Income
Savings of £750,000 or more taking account of
the overall impact of the decision
and/or
(b)
Significant impact on communities living or working in two or more wards in
the City
Yes
No
Type of expenditure:

Revenue

Capital

Total value of the decision: Nil
Wards affected: All
Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder(s):
Relevant Council Plan Key Outcome:
Clean and Connected Communities
Keeping Nottingham Working
Carbon Neutral by 2028
Safer Nottingham
Child-Friendly Nottingham
Healthy and Inclusive
Keeping Nottingham Moving
Improve the City Centre
Better Housing
Financial Stability
Serving People Well

Page 25

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):
The joint Nottingham City Council and Department for Work and Pensions (DWP)
Youth Employment Strategy will address systemic failures in Nottingham’s Youth
Employment System, bringing together policy, expertise, and resource to tackle
structural inequalities that prevent underrepresented young people (particularly those
with protected characteristics such Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic (BAME) young
people, and young people with disabilities) aged between 16 and 24 achieving their
career potential.
Young people, especially those who have recently left education, have been hardest
hit by the economic impact of the Coronavirus pandemic. Young people are more
likely to have lost their jobs and experience long-term wage scarring, with the
economic slowdown and sectoral disruption meaning there are fewer opportunities
for them to find meaningful and sustainable work. Coronavirus has also deepened
existing inequalities for young people, particularly those with protected
characteristics.
Whilst the Council continues to reduce the number of young people not in education
or training (NEET) in the city, the NEET rate for Nottingham remains 1.8% higher
than the England average.
Does this report contain any information that is exempt from publication?
No

Recommendation(s):
1. To endorse the Joint Nottingham City Council and Department for Work and
Pensions Youth Employment Strategy.

1.

Reasons for recommendations

1.1 At a local level, the Nottingham Economic Recovery Plan, led by the Nottingham
Growth Board, sets out a bold vision for Nottingham’s post-Coronavirus economic
recovery and renewal, reimagining Nottingham as an inclusive, green, creative, and
digitally enabled city. The plan positions the city well for investment opportunities
emerging from the Levelling Up White Paper, including the UK Shared Prosperity
Fund, a central pillar of the Government’s levelling-up agenda.
1.2 Delivering the joint Youth Employment Strategy will help operationalise the
Nottingham Economic Recovery Plan, translating ambitions set out in the plan into
local delivery, increasing youth employment (particularly for those with protected
characteristics), improving skills attainment and creating better futures for young
people.
1.3 The Strategy and detailed delivery plan is aimed at: reducing the current
unemployment rate for 18 to 24-year-olds in Nottingham from 2.7% to 1.2% (a full

Page 26

percentage point below the pre-pandemic historic low for Nottingham of 2.2% and
2.3% below the current England average of 3.5%); and reducing Nottingham’s NEET
rate for 16 to 17-year-olds from 4.3% to the England average of 2.5%.
2.

Background

2.1 The Council and the DWP hosted the Nottingham Youth Employment Summit to
consult on the need to develop a joint strategy to reduce youth unemployment in the
city. The event included representation from across a broad spectrum of
stakeholders, including young people (including those with protected characteristics),
businesses, employment support organisations and skills providers.
2.2 The outcome of the consultation confirmed the need for joint coordinated action both
to support young people furthest away from the labour market to become work ready
and progress into employment and training and support employers to adopt inclusive
recruitment practices making jobs and skills opportunities more accessible to all 16
to 24-year-olds.
2.3 Young people, especially those who have recently left education, have been hardest
hit by the economic impact of the pandemic. Young people are more likely to have
lost their jobs and experience long-term wage scarring, with the economic slowdown
and sectoral disruption meaning there are fewer opportunities for them to find
meaningful and sustainable work. Covid-19 has also deepened existing inequalities,
particularly for those with protected characteristics.
2.4 Youth unemployment is decreasing in Nottingham. However, youth unemployment
remains 28.6% higher than in February 2020 and 70.2% higher than in January 2019
(which was the lowest figure recorded in the city since the beginning of this dataset
in 2013). Whilst the Council continues to reduce the number of the NEET young
people in the city, the NEET rate for Nottingham remains 1.8% higher than the
England average.
2.5 The impact of delivering the strategy will increase employment rates for 16 to 24year-olds, particularly those with protected characteristics, and will contribute to the
achievement of the following Strategic Council Plan 2021-2023 priorities of:
 increasing the number of Nottingham residents with Level 2 qualifications to
within 3% of the national average;
 creating 15,000 new jobs for Nottingham people;
 continuing to support residents into work through the Nottingham Jobs Hub
service;
 supporting1000 residents into work by securing external funding for programmes
across the city; and
 supporting 1,000 more Nottingham young people into learning and work with
businesses to create 500 new apprenticeships.
2.6 The Council and the DWP are two major providers of youth employment services in the
city, bringing together resource and coordinating action. The Council and DWP are also
large local employers and have the ability to play a leading role, setting the standard for
delivering better outcomes for young people. The Council and DWP will work to build

Page 27

youth employment support and job opportunities into a range of activities, including but
not limited to:
 supporting Council-owned companies (e.g., Futures and Nottingham City Transport)
to recruit and train young people;
 identify opportunities through procurement and supply chains to embed youth
employment support and job creation; and
 providing high-quality work experience and internship placements for local young
people, supporting work readiness.
2.7 The Strategy will build on existing good practice and work already underway to tackle
youth unemployment, ranging from the Council’s NEET Prevention Service, the DWP
Youth Offer, a citywide portfolio of European Social Fund youth employment support, the
Careers and Enterprise Company and the wider Nottingham Jobs offer.
2.8 The Strategy will be delivered in partnership with DWP and a number of local
organisations (specified in Appendix A to Enc. 1) utilising existing funded provision to
deliver better outcomes for young people, particularly those with protected characteristics.
As such, there are no budget implications for the strategy.
2.9 The Nottingham Employment Task Force is a joint Council and DWP-led strategic body
set up at the outset of the pandemic with representation including Community Voluntary
Sector partners, Skills Providers and Employers. The Employment Task Force will
provide oversight and accountability, monitoring performance. Periodic updates will be
provided to the Nottingham Growth Board, ensuring strategic alignment with delivery of
the Nottingham Recovery and Renewal Plan.
2.10 The Council and DWP will continue to work with young people through a range of forums
(e.g., DWP Listening Circles and the Nottingham Youth Parliament) to regularly review
accessibility and effectiveness of our actions creating a feedback loop for young people to
shape the provision landscape through coproduction.
2.11 Next steps:
 The Strategy and action plan will be launched in partnership with the DWP, with
delivery commencing Spring 2022.
 Quarterly performance updates will be taken to the Nottingham Employment Task
Force to measure progress and impact against the Performance Management
Framework and Key Performance Indicators.
 Biannual performance updates will be taken to the Nottingham Growth Board.
 Ongoing consultation will be undertaken with stakeholders and young people to
ensure the strategy and action continue to deliver added value.
3.

Other options considered in making recommendations

3.1 To not deliver the Nottingham Youth Employment Joint Strategy: this option is rejected as
young people in the city would miss out on the opportunity to benefit from much needed
employment support as we emerge from the Covid-19 pandemic.
4.

Consideration of Risk

4.1 The endorsement of this Strategy does not pose any significant risks to the Council.
Page 28

5.

Finance colleague comments

5.1 There are no finance implications to consider in relation to this Strategy.
Comments provided by Michelle Pullen, Commercial Business Partner, on 27 May 2022
6.

Legal colleague comments

6.1 There are no significant legal issues on the face of the report and proposal as detailed.
However, in the event that delivery of the strategy should give rise to additional budgetary
requirements, or delivery mechanisms beyond the scope of existing approvals, further
authorisations would be required. Such approval will need further legal support to
consider the requirements under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, Subsidy Control
Regime and the Council’s Contract Procedural Rules, as applicable to ensure
compliance.
Comment provided by Dionne Screaton, Solicitor – Contracts and Commercial, and
Richard Bines, Solicitor – Contracts and Commercial, on 31 May 2022
7.

Crime and Disorder implications

7.1 The Strategy will support young people to increase access to employment support, jobs,
skills and training, contributing to a possible reduction in youth-related criminal activity.
8.

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)

8.1 An EIA is attached as Enc. 2, and due regard will be given to any implications
identified in it.
9.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA)

9.1 A DPIA is not required because the Council will not hold any personal data on
individuals or businesses.
10. Carbon Impact Assessment (CIA)
10.1 A CIA is not required because, within all European Funded projects used to support
young people to gain employment, robust sustainability plans are in place ensuring
the Council and partners reduce carbon emissions, e.g., zero carbon working – no
travel, no paper, no waste and no consumption, and maximisation of the benefits of
hybrid working.
11. List of background papers relied upon in writing this report
11.1 None.
12. Published documents referred to in this report
12.1 Nottingham Economic Recovery and Renewal Plan

Page 29

12.2 Strategic Council Plan 2021-2023

Page 30

Nottingham City Council & The Department for Work & Pensions
Nottingham Youth Employment Strategy 2022 – 2024
1. Mission
Tackle youth unemployment, ensuring no young person is left behind as the City recovers from the COVID 19 pandemic, addressing youth inequalities, and
creating better futures.

2. Vision
Page 31

The joint Nottingham City Council (NCC) and Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) Youth Employment Strategy will address systemic failures in
Nottingham’s Youth Employment System, bringing together policy, expertise, and resource to tackle structural inequalities that prevent underrepresented
young people (e.g. BAME, those with disabilities) aged between 16 and 24 achieving their career potential.
The strategy and detailed delivery plan will:



Reduce the current unemployment rate for 18-24 year olds in Nottingham from 2.7% to 1.2% (a full percentage point below the pre-pandemic
historic low for Nottingham of 2.2% and 2.3% below the current England average of 3.5%)
Reduce Nottingham’s NEET (Not in Employment, Education or Training) rate for 16 – 17 year olds from 4.3% to the England average of 2.5%

3. Strategic Context
The Levelling Up White Paper provides an overarching policy framework outlining Government plans to reduce geographic economic, social and health
inequalities. The White Paper sets out twelve ‘missions’ for levelling up the UK by 2030, underpinned by four strategic objectives (boosting productivity
pay, jobs and living standards; spreading opportunity; restoring local pride; and empowering local leadership).
Government have also published a ‘Plan for Jobs’; a comprehensive and ambitious plan to help people back into work and develop the skills they need to
thrive as the UK emerges from the pandemic.
1

At a local level, The Nottingham Economic Recovery Plan , led by the Nottingham Growth Board, sets out a bold vision for Nottingham’s post Covid
economic recovery and renewal, reimagining Nottingham as an inclusive, green, creative, and digitally enabled city. The Plan positions the City well for
investment opportunities emerging from the Levelling Up White Paper, including The UK Shared Prosperity Fund, a central pillar of the UK Government’s
levelling up agenda.
Delivering the Nottingham Youth Employment Strategy will help operationalise the recovery plan, translating ambitions set out in the plan, into local
delivery, increasing youth employment, improving skills attainment, and creating better futures for young people.

4. Nottingham’s Challenge
Young people, especially those who have recently left education, have been hardest hit by the economic impact of the pandemic.
Young people are more likely to have lost their jobs and experience long-term wage scarring, with the economic slowdown and sectoral disruption meaning
there are fewer opportunities for them to find meaningful and sustainable work. Covid-19 has also deepened existing inequalities, particularly for young
people with protected characteristics (e.g. BAME, those with disabilities).
Whilst the City continues to reduce the number of the NEET young people in the City, the NEET for Nottingham remains 1.8% higher than the England
average.

Page 32

5. Barriers to Employment
The strategy will need to address a range of barriers that prevent young people from gaining meaningful employment including; GCSE and post 16 skills
attainment (which for Nottingham are both below the national average), increase uptake of high quality Careers Employability, Information, Advice and
Guidance (CEIAG) provision, tackle intergenerational unemployment, raise aspirations, help young people overcome health related barriers to employment,
provide financial assistance (e.g. travel to work) and simplify employment and skills pathways.
NCC and DWP will work collaboratively with partners to address these barriers with a particular focus on supporting economically inactive young people
furthest away from the labour market.

6. Strategic Priorities

2

The Council and DWP hosted the Nottingham Youth Employment Summit in December 2021 which provided a range of stakeholders, including young people
with protected characteristics (e.g. BAME, young people with disabilities), with an opportunity to co-produce the Strategy. The Council and DWP have
continued to engage with young people and wider stakeholders throughout development of the strategy.
Through co-production, the strategy has been developed in consultation with four key stakeholder groups from across the local youth employment system:
 Young People - Employed, unemployed, and inactive young people
 Employers - SME’s, large employers, anchor institutions and employer representative bodies
 Delivery Partners - Organisations that provide employment and skills support locally (e.g. ESF providers)
 Strategic Partners – Stakeholders that form part of the wider youth employment ecosystem (e.g. Public sector bodies, NCVS, FE/HE)
Our approach to realising our vision is focused on the delivery of three strategic priorities (or themes):

Page 33

i.

Ensure Nottingham’s youth employment system is integrated and grounded in communities, increasing access to services, removing barriers, and
improving the strategic and operational alignment of provision

ii.

Taking a sector approach, work with providers to develop coherent and inclusive skills pathways meeting the local needs of employers and supporting
young people to access post 16 skills at all levels

iii.

Develop and deliver a coherent offer for employers, unlocking inclusive recruitment pathways for young people to progress into and sustain high
quality employment

7. Delivering the Strategy
The strategy will be taken forward at pace and in partnership with organisations from across the public, private and community voluntary sectors and will
support delivery of the City’s Economic Recovery and Renewal Plan and wider D2N2 LEP Careers & Young People Strategy.
Underpinned and measured through a robust Performance Management Framework & Delivery Plan (appendix A) our strategic approach to delivery will
include:

THEME 1: Ensure Nottingham’s youth employment system is integrated and grounded in communities, increasing access to services, removing barriers,
and improving the strategic and operational alignment of provision

3










Developing a ‘One Service’ approach will make it simpler for young people, particularly those with protected characteristics (e.g. BAME, those with
disabilities) to navigate complex pathways, providing a single point of access, triaging individuals, and referring to the right support at the right time.
Young people will be engaged through targeted outreach (physical and via digital platforms), ensuring engagement penetrates deep into communities
and reaches those furthest away from the labour market. Outreach will provide wrap around holistic support, connecting young people to vital
services that address key barriers to employment (e.g. finance, digital exclusion, health, childcare, employability skills).
Young people will be supported to access to high-quality Careers, Information, Advice and Guidance delivered in partnership with Futures and the
National Careers Service.
The strategy will be delivered alongside the Council’s Children’s Services and Education Division ensuring it builds on existing activity providing a
pathway for vulnerable young people (e.g. care leavers, those on speech, language and communication pathways, alternative provision leavers) to
access vital employment support
Intensive support delivered by specialist services (e.g. Youth Offending Team, Targeted Families Service) will be aligned to address multiple and
complex needs.
Young people will be supported to prepare for the world of work and gain advantages needed to succeed via a network of DWP youth employability
coaches unlocking work experience placements, meaningful encounters with employers and high-quality coaching and mentoring.

THEME 2: Taking a sector approach, work with providers to develop coherent and inclusive skills pathways meeting the local needs of employers and
supporting young people to access post 16 skills at all levels

Page 34





Building on Nottingham College’s Strategic Development Fund Pilot, we will work with providers and employers to aggregate and improve skills
programmes
Create industry working groups of providers and employers to design bespoke initiatives that increase the number of young people, particularly those
with protected characteristics (e.g. BAME, those with disabilities) accessing training and employment in key sectors of the economy
Sector based Work Academy Programmes (SWAPs) and Traineeships, will connect young people to Apprenticeships and higher skills programmes,
supporting development of technical skills needed by employers

THEME 3: Develop and deliver a single coherent offer for employers, unlocking inclusive recruitment pathways for young people to progress into and
sustain high quality employment




The Nottingham Jobs Service, (an innovative trilateral partnership bringing together NCC, DWP and Futures) will deliver brokerage and engagement
support for businesses, ensuring young people, particularly those with protected characteristics (e.g. BAME, those with disabilities) benefit from job
creation and inclusive recruitment, supporting progressions into employment across growth sectors (e.g. digital, low carbon, health and care) and
sectors recovery from the impacts of the pandemic (e.g. hospitality, retail).
Work with Anchor Institutions to leverage Apprenticeship Levy, unlocking Apprenticeship opportunities within SMEs and more broadly harness the
power of industry to address youth unemployment (e.g. ring-fencing jobs, mentoring, work experience)

4

The Council and DWP are two major conveners within Nottingham’s Youth Employment System, bringing together resource and coordinating action. The
Council and DWP are also large local employers and have the ability to play a leading role, setting the standard for delivering better outcomes for young
people, particularly those with protected characteristics (e.g. BAME, those with disabilities).
The Council and DWP will work to build youth employment support and job opportunities into range of activities, including but not limited to:




Supporting Council-owned companies such as Futures and Nottingham City Transport to recruit and train young people
Identify opportunities through procurement and supply chains to embed youth employment support and job creation
Provide high quality work experience and internship placements for local young people

The strategy will build on existing good practice and work already underway to tackle youth unemployment, ranging from the Council’s NEET prevention
Service, the DWP Youth Offer, a Citywide portfolio of European Social Fund youth employment support, the Careers & Enterprise Company and the wider
Nottingham Jobs offer.

8. Governance

Page 35

The Nottingham Employment Task Force is a joint Council and DWP led strategic body set up at the outset of the pandemic and with representation including
the Community Voluntary Sector, Skills Providers. The Employment Task Force will provide oversight and accountability, monitoring performance. Periodic
updates will be provided to the Nottingham Growth Board, ensuring strategic alignment with delivery of the Nottingham Recovery & Renewal Plan.
The Council and DWP will work with young people through a range of forums (e.g. DWP Listening Circles, Nottingham Youth Parliament) to regularly review
accessibility and effectiveness of our actions creating a feedback loop for young people to shape the provision landscape through coproduction.

9. Stakeholder Engagement
Throughout the development of the Strategy we have built in strong links with a wide range of partners and stakeholders to ensure our plans for Nottingham
are truly shaped and owned by all our local partners across the City.
Stakeholders will engage with this work primarily through the City’s Employment Task Force, however, ‘task and finish’ groups will convene locally, providing
further opportunities for partners to engage with and support our work.

10. Next Steps
The Performance Management Framework & Delivery Plan (appendix A) set out a series of SMART objectives, outlining required inputs, actions, outcomes,
and impact, including demonstrating how success will be measured.
The delivery plan will be taken forward in partnership with stakeholders across the City with identified leads for key thematic activity.
5

In readiness for the conclusion of EU funded provision and introduction of the UK Shared Prosperity Funding, we will:



Map the current youth employment system identifying duplication, best practice, and gaps, setting out key strategic priorities underpinned by a
robust evidence base
Through co-production with young people and delivery partners, we will embed youth employment interventions into the Nottingham UK Shared
Prosperity Fund Investment Plan to ensure interventions respond to local need.

Page 36
6

Appendix A

Performance Management Framework & Delivery Plan & 2022 – 2024
Key performance indicators
Indicator

Target

18 – 24 Unemployment
Rate
Number of 18 – 24
Unemployed

1.2%

NEET Rate

2.5%

Jun 22

Sep 22

Dec 22

Mar 23

Jun 23

Sep 23

Dec 23

951

Delivery Plan
THEME 1: ENSURE NOTTINGHAM’S YOUTH EMPLOYMENT SYSTEM IS INTEGRATED AND GROUNDED IN COMMUNITIES, INCREASING ACCESS TO SERVICES, REMOVING BARRIERS, AND IMPROVING THE STRATEGIC AND OPERATIONAL
ALIGNMENT OF PROVISION

Inputs
1. Employment & Skills
Partnerships (ESAPs)

Page 37

Nottingham Jobs
ESF Providers

Objective

Priority Action

Outcome

Impact

KPI

Coordination of the Offer
& Referral Pathways –
ESAPs to facilitate
operational alignment of
youth employment
provision active in their
geography

Develop multi agency partnerships within and outside
of the youth employment system e.g. (health,
Criminal Justice System) to develop a coherent offer
for unemployed and inactive young people, with
clearly defined referral pathways

Better route-ways created for young
people, particularly those with protected
characteristics (e.g. BAME, those with
disabilities), ensuring providers work
together to reduce duplication and
deliver added value wrap around
employment support

Increased strategic and
operational alignment of
provision, improving
engagement of young people,
providers, and employers,
generating better outcomes
for young people, particularly
those with protected
characteristics (e.g. BAME,
those with disabilities)

Strategic action
ESAPs
plans in place for
all ESAPs
DWP

Engaging Young People &
Removing Barriers – ESAPs
to develop/deliver targeted
youth engagement plans,
focusing on removing
barriers to employment for
unemployed and
economically inactive
young people

Work with key youth services (NEET Prevention,
Nottm Jobs, DWP, Engage Nottingham) to identify
and engage unemployed and economically inactive
young people within communities

Young people, particularly those with
protected characteristics (e.g. BAME,
those with disabilities) connected to E&S
provision (e.g. SWAPs, CEIAG,
Traineeships, Jobs Brokerage)

Young people, particularly
those with protected
characteristics (e.g. BAME,
those with disabilities),
remove barriers to work and
progress into employment,
education, and training

Local youth
engagement
plans in place
across all ESAPs

DWP
Specialist Youth
Services (e.g. Futures,
VRU)

2. ESAPs
Nottingham Jobs
European Social Fund
(ESF) Providers
DWP
Specialist Youth
Services (e.g. Futures,
Violence Reduction
Unit)

Work with the Council’s Children and Education
Services to ensure young people, particularly
vulnerable young people (e.g. care leavers) receive vital
employment support

Young people with multiple and complex
needs (e.g. experience of the criminal
justice system, financial, disabilities)
access intensive support delivered by
Deliver an integrated youth employment offer (Nottm specialist services (e.g. Youth Offending
Jobs, ESF, DWPs Youth Offer, Equip to Succeed,
Team, Targeted Families Service) will be
Specialist Youth Services, VRU) virtually and physically aligned to address multiple and complex
within community hubs supporting young people to
needs.
remove barriers to employment

Delivery Lead

ESAPs
DWP

7

Deliver on-going DWP listening and mentoring circles
improving awareness of barriers to employment and
increase access to services

3. Futures (National
Careers Service)
DWP Youth
Employability Coaches

CEIAG – All unemployed
and economically inactive
young people offered high
quality CEIAG, coaching
and mentoring

Futures, working with wider system partners to
identify young people and deliver CEIAG through
Futures National Careers Service offer

Preparing for the World of
Work – Develop and
deliver an annual Citywide
Work Experience
programme for young
people

Deliver the Nottingham ‘What Next? WEX
Programme’ annually taking a multi-agency approach
to connecting young people to employers, careers
inspiration and labour market information

Careers & Enterprise
Company

Establish robust referral routes between NCS and
employment support services designed to progress
young people into employment

Young People, particularly those with
protected characteristics (e.g. BAME,
those with disabilities), supported to
access high quality CEIAG, coaching and
mentoring support, raising aspirations,
and understanding of the labour market

Young people, particularly
those with protected
characteristics (e.g. BAME,
those with disabilities) make
better informed career choices
based on robust labour market
intelligence, and are prepared
to enter the world of work

Coordinated
CEIAG offer in
place across the
City

Futures

Provide meaningful encounters with
employers and create bridges into jobs,
including traineeships and
Apprenticeships

Young People, particularly
those with protected
characteristics (e.g. BAME,
those with disabilities) are
better prepared for the world
of work

Annual Work
Experience
programme
delivered

Nottinghamshire
South Careers Hub

DWP

Nottinghamshire
South Careers Hub

4. Nottinghamshire
South Careers Hub
Futures
Careers & Enterprise
Company

Page 38

THEME 2: TAKING A SECTOR APPROACH, WORK WITH PROVIDERS TO DEVELOP COHERENT AND INCLUSIVE SKILLS PATHWAYS MEETING THE LOCAL NEEDS OF EMPLOYERS AND SUPPORTING YOUNG PEOPLE TO ACCESS POST 16 SKILLS AT
ALL LEVELS

Inputs
1. Nottingham Jobs

Objective

Priority Actions

Aggregating Sector Skills
For key sectors (e.g. Construction, Health & Care
Pathways – Aggregate skills etc), bring together industry working groups to
Employers
pathways to meet needs of aggregate local skills pathways setting out:
local employers
Skills Access Hub
 sector skills required
 where YP can access training (e.g. Nottm
Skills Providers
College, Futures etc)
 skills route-ways into employment including
Strategic Development
apprenticeships and traineeships
Fund Pilot
 support available to help young people to
navigate this process such as ESF provision,
D2N2 LEP
SWAPs etc.

Outcome

Impact

KPI

Delivery Lead

Simplification of skills and career
pathways

Increased number of young
people, particularly those with
protected characteristics (e.g.
BAME, those with disabilities)
entering the skills system

Sector skills
pathways and
support in place
for identified key
sectors

Nottingham Jobs

Navigation support in place for young
people ensuring skills pathways are
accessible

Skills Access Hub

Sector initiatives developed between
groups of providers and employers
Increased number of SWAPs, Skills
Bootcamps, and other targeted skillsrecruitment activities

8

2. ESAP
Skills Providers
Nottingham Jobs
Skills Access Hub

3. Skills Access Hub
Skills Providers

4. Nottingham Jobs
Skills Providers

Embedding Skills Pathways
into Communities &
Increasing Attainment –
Develop clear referral
pathways, supporting
young people to
upskill/reskill

Embed skills pathways into communities, ensuring
services that interface with young people (e.g.
Engage, DWP, NCS) are connected to skills providers
and have clear referral pathways in place for young
people

Apprenticeships &
Traineeships – Improve
and increase access to
Traineeship and
Apprenticeship Pathways

Deliver a series of SWAPs and other targeted
recruitment activities connecting young people to
Apprenticeships & Traineeships

Increased number of young people,
particularly those with protected
characteristics (e.g. BAME, those with
disabilities) referred on to and
completing skills training

Increased number of young
people, particularly those with
protected characteristics (e.g.
BAME, those with disabilities)
gaining skills qualifications

Skills attainment
for 16 – 24 year
olds in line with
national average

ESAP
Nottingham Jobs
Skills Access Hub

Skills growth in key sectors

Promoting Skills – Raising
Deliver bespoke sector skills campaigns promoting
the profile of the skills offer training opportunities linked to jobs in key sectors
locally

Increased number of young people,
particularly those with protected
characteristics (e.g. BAME, those with
disabilities) referred on to and
completing Traineeships and
Apprenticeships

Increased number of young
people, particularly those with
protected characteristics (e.g.
BAME, those with disabilities)
gaining Traineeship and
Apprenticeship qualifications

Apprenticeship
attainment for 16
– 24 year olds in
line with national
average

DWP

Increased awareness of skills
opportunities amongst job seekers,
employers and practitioners

Increased uptake of skills by
young people, particularly
those with protected
characteristics (e.g. BAME,
those with disabilities) and
employers

Skills attainment
for 16 – 24 year
olds in line with
national average

Nottingham Jobs
Hub

Skills Access Hub
Skills Providers

Page 39

THEME 3: DEVELOP AND DELIVER A SINGLE COHERENT OFFER FOR EMPLOYERS, UNLOCKING INCLUSIVE RECRUITMENT PATHWAYS FOR YOUNG PEOPLE TO PROGRESS INTO AND SUSTAIN HIGH QUALITY

EMPLOYMENT

Inputs
1. Nottingham Jobs
Skills Access Hub

2. Nottingham Jobs
DWP

Objective

Priority Actions

Outcome

Impact

KPI

Delivery Lead

The Employer Offer Develop and promote a
single offer to Employers
simplifying the provision
landscape

Nottingham Jobs Partnership and Skills Access Hub
to develop and promote a single coherent offer for
employers bringing together thematic support for
businesses (e.g. Recruitment Skills, Apprenticeship
Levy)

Simplified single for employers adopting
single points of contacts, project
agnostic language and clear realistic
‘asks’

Increased levels employer
engagement in skills and
employment provision
creating greater opportunities
for young people

Single offer to
employers in place

Nottingham Jobs

Supporting Young People
into Employment - Job
Creation, Candidate
Matching and Recruitment
Support for Employers

Nottingham Jobs and DWP to work with local
businesses to create and fill local job opportunities
for young people, ring fencing jobs for young people
where possible

Increase the number of accessible jobs
available to young people, particularly
those with protected characteristics (e.g.
BAME, those with disabilities)

Reduced youth
unemployment, particularly
for those with protected
characteristics (e.g. BAME,
those with disabilities) and the
number of hard to fill
vacancies

Unemployment for
16 – 24 year olds
falls reduced in line
with national
average

Deliver a series of SWAPs connecting young people
to jobs
Deliver ‘Kickstart+’ connecting young people to
employment opportunities as placements end
preventing unemployment

Increase number of young people,
particularly those with protected
characteristics (e.g. BAME, those with
disabilities) progressing into
employment

DWP
Skills Access Hub
Nottingham Jobs
DWP
Skills Access Hub

Nottingham Jobs and DWP to work with employers
to secure guaranteed interviews for 16-24 year olds

9

Nottingham Jobs and DWP case loading teams to
deliver a matching service, developing candidate
pools and connecting young people to jobs and
supporting employers to fill vacant roles

3. Nottingham Jobs
DWP

Inclusive Recruitment –
Developing inclusive
recruitment pathways for
young people

Through the Nottingham Jobs Service and DWP,
support employers to adopt the principles of
inclusive recruitment through workshops, listening
circles and SWAPs

Increase availability of accessible jobs for Reduced youth
young people in the City
unemployment, particularly
for young people with
complex and multiple needs
(e.g. health, experience of
criminal justice system)

Unemployment for
16 – 24 year olds
falls reduced in line
with national
average

Nottingham Jobs
DWP
Skills Access Hub

Page 40
10

Page 41

11

This page is intentionally left blank

Nottingham City Council

Equality Impact Assessment Form
screentip-sectionA

1.

Document Control
Control Details:
Title:

Page 43

2.

3.

Nottingham City Council & Department for Work and Pensions
Nottingham Youth Employment Strategy

Author:

Equalities Impact Assessment
Owen Harvey

Director:

Nicki Jenkins

Department:
Service Area:
Contact details:
Strategic Budget EIA: Y/N
(Does this EIA have an impact on the budget)

Economic Development
Development & Growth
07977963223
N

Exempt from publication: Y/N
(All EIA’s are published on Nottingham Insight for
public viewing unless specified. Exemption criteria is
available on the EIA section on the Intranet)

N

Document Amendment Record:
Version
Author
1
Owen Harvey

Date
15/05/2022

Approved

Contributors/Reviewers (Anyone who has contributed to this document will need to be named):
Name
Position
Date
Rosey Donovan
Equality and Employability Team
25/05/2022

1

Nottingham City Council

4.

Glossary of Terms
Term
NCC
DWP
SME
ESF
BAME
LGBT
SMART

Page 44

NEET

Description
Nottingham City Council
Department for Work and Pensions
Small Medium Enterprise
European Social Fund
Black Asian Minority Ethnic
Lesbian Gay Bisexual Trans
Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, Timely
Not in Education Employment or Training

screentip -sectionB

5.

Summary
(Please provide a brief description of proposal / policy / service being assessed)

NCC & DWP Nottingham Youth Employment Strategy

At a local level, the Nottingham Economic Recovery Plan, led by the Nottingham Growth Board, sets out a bold vision for
Nottingham’s post Covid economic recovery and renewal, reimagining Nottingham as an inclusive, green, creative, and digitally
enabled city.
The Plan positions the City well for investment opportunities emerging from the Levelling Up White Paper, including The UK Shared
Prosperity Fund, a central pillar of the UK Government’s levelling up agenda.
Delivering the Nottingham Youth Employment Strategy will help operationalise the recovery plan, translating ambitions set out in the
plan, into local delivery, increasing youth employment, improving skills attainment, and creating better futures for young people.
2

Nottingham City Council

The strategy and detailed delivery plan will:



Reduce the current unemployment rate for 18-24 year olds in Nottingham from 2,406 (3.5%) to the pre-pandemic historic
low of 1,414 (2.2%)
Reduce Nottingham’s NEET (Not in Employment, Education or Training) rate for 16 – 17 year olds from 4.3% to the
England average of 2.5%

TheThe strategy and delivery plan will contribute to the following Strategic Council Plan priorities:

Page 45







it will increase the number of Nottingham residents with Level 2 qualifications to within 3% of the national average;
it will create 15,000 new jobs for Nottingham people;
it will continue to support residents into work through the Nottingham Jobs hub service;
it will support 1000 residents into work by securing external funding for programmes across the city; and
it will support 1,000 more Nottingham young people into learning and work with businesses to create 500 new
apprenticeships.

3

Nottingham City Council
screentip -sectionC

6.

Information used to analyse the effects on equality:
(Please include information about how you have consulted/ have data from the impacted groups)

The potential of the NCC & DWP Nottingham Youth Employment Strategy to benefit a range of citizens, businesses and wider stakeholders is
clear.
It will benefit all young people with protected characteristics (BAME, people with disabilities, LGBT, Women) in the following ways:




Support people with protected characteristics increase access to jobs and skills
Support people with protected characteristics increase access Apprenticeships
Diversify the workforce representation and leadership roles in businesses through increasing the accessibility of skills support available to
young people

Page 46

Council officers have prevented any potential negative impacts that the NCC & DWP Nottingham Youth Employment Strategy might have on
protected groups by doing the following:







Ensuring the needs and requirements of all protected groups are considered when developing the NCC & DWP Nottingham Youth
Employment Strategy.
Officers have achieved this through taking the following steps:
- Hosting the Nottingham Youth Employment Summit which consulted with a range of delegates including young people with protected
characteristics
- Ensuring the NCC & DWP Nottingham Youth Employment Strategy project is delivered in line with the NCC corporate equality and
diversity policies
- Using extensive departmental knowledge and experience of delivering projects to priority groups to inform the development of the NCC
& DWP Nottingham Youth Employment Strategy
Exploring the potential impacts NCC & DWP Nottingham Youth Employment Strategy may have on protected groups
- Again, using the extensive departmental experience, officers have a solid understanding of what impact support can have on protected
groups
- Based performance data on a portfolio of economic growth provision, we know that this type of intervention supports priority groups
into employment, helps businesses grow and more broadly benefits communities
Where needed, individuals or organisations with additional support needs are provided with additional support

4

Nottingham City Council


7.

In order to increase the positive impact that the NCC & DWP Nottingham Youth Employment Strategy may have on protected groups, we
will use an evidence base to inform SMART actions e.g. data outlining uptake amongst BAME, LGBT groups and making necessary
amendments to ensure accessibility

Impacts and Actions:

screentip-sectionD

Could particularly benefit
X

Page 47

People from different ethnic groups.

x

Men

x

Women

x

Trans

x

Disabled people or carers.

x

Pregnancy/ Maternity

x

People of different faiths/ beliefs and those with none.

x

Lesbian, gay or bisexual people.

x

Older
Younger

May adversely impact
X

N/A
x

Other (e.g. marriage/ civil partnership, looked after children,
cohesion/ good relations, vulnerable children/ adults).
x
Please underline the group(s) /issue more adversely
affected or which benefits.

5

Nottingham City Council

How different groups
could be affected
(Summary of impacts)

screentip -sectionE

screentip -sectionF
Details of actions to mitigate, remove or justify
negative impact or increase positive impact
(or why action isn’t possible)

Provide details for impacts / benefits on people in different
protected groups.

Continue on separate sheet if needed (click and type to delete this
note)

Note: the level of detail should be proportionate to the potential
impact of the proposal / policy / service. Continue on separate
sheet if needed (click and type to delete this note)

Mitigation
N/A

Positive impact Impacts

Page 48

It will benefit all young people with protected characteristics (including all
groups identified in section 7, bar older individuals given this activity is
focused on 16 – 24 year olds) in the following ways:




Support people with protected characteristics increase access to
jobs and skills
Support people with protected characteristics increase access
Apprenticeships
Diversify the workforce representation and leadership roles in
businesses through increasing the accessibility of skills support
available to young people

6

Nottingham City Council

8.

Arrangements for future monitoring of equality impact of this proposal / policy / service:

The Council will continue to deliver the strategy in a way that prevents any potential negative impacts the project might have on protected groups
through regular monitoring and consultation with service users.

If negative impacts arise, the strategy will be resubmitted to EDI colleagues for comment
Page 49
9. Outcome(s) of equality impact assessment:
No major change needed
Adverse impact but continue

Adjust the policy/proposal
Stop and remove the policy/proposal

7

Nottingham City Council
10. Approved by (manager signature) and Date sent to equality team for publishing:
Approving Manager :
The assessment must be approved by the manager
responsible for the service/proposal. Include a contact tel &
email to allow citizen/stakeholder feedback on proposals.

Date sent for advice :
Send document or Link to:
equalities@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Approving Manager Signature :

Date of final approval :
25/05/2022

Owen Harvey
Economic Strategy M anager
07977963223

Page 50
Before you send your EIA to the Equality and Employability Team for advice, have you:
1. Read the guidance and good practice EIA’s
http://intranet.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/1924/simple-guide-to-eia.doc
2. Clearly summarised your proposal/ policy/ service to be assessed.
3. Hyperlinked to the appropriate documents.
4. Written in clear user-friendly language, free from all jargon (spelling out acronyms).
5. Included appropriate data.
6. Consulted the relevant groups or citizens or stated clearly, when this is going to happen.

8

Nottingham City Council
7. Clearly cross-referenced your impacts with SMART actions.

PLEASE NOTE: FINAL VERSION MUST BE SENT TO EQUALITIES OTHERWISE RECORDS WILL REMAIN INCOMPLETE.

Page 51
9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Executive Board
21 June 2022
Subject:

School Capital Maintenance Grant Allocations 2022-23

Corporate
Catherine Underwood, Corporate Director for People
Director(s)/Director(s):
Portfolio Holder(s):

Councillor Cheryl Barnard, Portfolio Holder for Children,
Young People and Schools

Report author and
contact details:

Caroline Butrymowicz, Project Manager – Major Projects
caroline.butrymowicz@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Other colleagues who
have provided input:

Robert Caswell, Programme Manager – Major Projects
Martin Williams, Commercial and Governance Manager –
Major Projects

Subject to call-in:

Yes

No

Key Decision:
Yes
No
Criteria for Key Decision:
(a)
Expenditure
Income
Savings of £750,000 or more taking account of
the overall impact of the decision
and/or
(b)
Significant impact on communities living or working in two or more wards in
the City
Yes
No
Type of expenditure:
Revenue
Capital
Date considered by the Capital Board: 18 May 2022
Total value of the decision: £3,329,416
Wards affected: All
Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder(s): 26 May 2022
Relevant Council Plan Key Outcome:
Clean and Connected Communities
Keeping Nottingham Working
Carbon Neutral by 2028
Safer Nottingham
Child-Friendly Nottingham
Healthy and Inclusive
Keeping Nottingham Moving
Improve the City Centre
Better Housing
Financial Stability
Serving People Well
Page 53

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):
The annual capital maintenance grant allocation from the Department for Education
(DfE) for 2022/23 was confirmed in April 2022. The total value of this grant is
£2,679,416, to improve the condition of school buildings maintained by the Council.
This report seeks approval to accept the 2022/23 grant and to approve the five
schemes that have already been prioritised using the draft strategy document (which
is a place-holding document that underpins the prioritisation of schemes ahead of
the full development of the of the Council’s Asset Management Strategy), as noted at
the 21 December 2021 Executive Board meeting. The schemes are listed in Enc. 2.
In addition, approval is sought to allocate a Health and Safety contingency of
£270,000. The Health and Safety contingency is to be delegated to the Corporate
Director for People to approve and authorise how this is spent, in accordance with
the criteria that was noted in the report approved at the 21 December 2021
Executive Board meeting.
Approval is also sought to allocate funding from the Building Schools for the Future
lifecycle fund for Rosehill Special School and Ellis Guilford School to allow
maintenance to be carried out at the respective schools, and to approve the transfer
of the Ellis Guilford School lifecycle fund to the academy.
Does this report contain any information that is exempt from publication?
No

Recommendation(s):
1. To accept the Capital Maintenance Grant for 2022/23 of £2,679,416 from the
Department for Education, and to approve the five schemes already prioritised
using the draft strategy document as set out at the 21 December 2021 meeting of
the Executive Board.
2. To approve a Health and Safety Contingency of £270,000 million and delegate
authority to the Corporate Director of People to approve and authorise how the
contingency is allocated, in accordance with the criteria as set out at the 21
December 2021 meeting of the Executive Board.
3. To authorise the procurement of any necessary contracts to carry out the
programme of schemes for 2022/23 and delegate authority to the Corporate
Director for People to award any such procured contracts.
4. To approve a payment of up to £150,000 from the Building Schools for the Future
(BSF) Lifecycle Reserve fund to Rosehill Special School to undertake condition
and maintenance works to the school building.
5. To approve a payment of up to £500,000 from the BSF Lifecycle Reserve fund to
Ellis Guildford School to undertake condition and maintenance works to the

Page 54

school building.
6. To delegate authority to the Corporate Director for People to enter into the
necessary documentation and make any necessary payments in relation to
changing the current contractual arrangement for the BSF Lifecycle Reserves in
relation to the Ellis Guilford Academy.

1.

Reasons for recommendations

1.1 The prioritisation of the annual school capital maintenance grant is based on
technical advice and a review of the condition of the Nottingham City school estate.
The process is articulated in the appended Business Case (Enc. 1) and the
prioritisation process and draft strategy document (which is a place-holding
document that underpins the prioritisation of schemes ahead of the full development
of the Council’s Asset Management strategy). There are two areas where funding is
prioritised:
 health and safety issues likely to impact on children and staff to ensure the
safeguarding of pupils within the school site, ensuring buildings are structurally
sound and the building can be safely evacuated in the event of an emergency;
and
 condition issues likely to impact on the operation of the school, to ensure that
school buildings are warm and dry to negate the potential of schools closing and
loss of learning for the pupils.
1.2 The programme of works is prioritised in line with the draft Capital Maintenance
Strategy for Schools. This will be reviewed and reflect the priorities that are included
within the overarching Corporate Asset Management Plan that is currently being
developed as part of the wider Corporate Landlord role.
1.3 The grant for 2022/23 has now been received for a value of £2,679,416
and will be used to deliver schemes for 2022/23. Five schemes that have already
been identified as high priorities and have been included as to delay these works
would impact the respective schools over the next year.
1.4 Delegating authority to the Corporate Director for People to approve and authorise
how the Health and Safety contingency is allocated will ensure a timely response to
any urgent health and safety issues that may arise.
1.5 Both Rosehill Special School (maintained) and Ellis Guilford School (academy) were
part of the Building Schools for the Future (BSF) programme and were significantly
remodelled and refurbished under the programme. As part of the programme, there
was an agreement with the DfE that a lifecycle fund would be held for 25 years to
pay for maintenance issues in that time period. Both projects completed over 10
years ago and it is becoming necessary to spend money on the maintenance of the
buildings to keep them to the original standard.
1.6 In the past, the ring-fenced BSF Lifecycle Reserve has been transferred upon a
school becoming an academy. In the case of Ellis Guilford School, when it originally
converted the academy, it left the responsibility of managing the lifecycle with the

Page 55

Council. Consultation is ongoing with the Academy Trust that runs the school to have
the lifecycle fund transferred to the Trust.
2.

Background

2.1 The Council receives an annual capital grant from the DfE to address the priority
condition and maintenance issues at Nottingham City schools and seeks Executive
Board approval yearly to both accept the grant and to carry out a list of prioritised
schemes. The grant for 2022/23 has been received for the value of £2,679,416 and five
projects have been prioritised. In addition to these schemes, a contingency allocation of
£270,000 has been identified to address any urgent Health and Safety schemes that may
arise and need addressing in 2022/23. This proposal seeks approval to delegate to the
Corporate Director for People the Health and Safety contingency allocation and authority
to approve and authorise how this is spent. The decisions under this delegation will be
published.
2.2 The grant is to improve the condition of school buildings maintained by the Council. The
highest priorities for approval relate to health and safety requirements, for example
ensuring the safeguarding of pupils within a school site, ensuring buildings are structurally
sound and the safe evacuation of a school building in the event of an emergency. The
next priorities are those condition issues that mean schools are not weather-proof or
warm in winter, which could lead to school closing temporarily and to a loss of learning.
This could include schools that need roof replacements, new windows, repair to existing
boilers or replacement heating systems or electrical infrastructure.
2.3 The overall condition liability for schools in Nottingham is approximately £23 million and is
significantly greater than the funding available. As there is insufficient funding to complete
all works, the Council has to ensure that all schemes are prioritised in a consistent
manner. The appended Business Case (Enc. 1) and prioritisation process explain how
schemes will be prioritised to support the health and safety and condition needs for pupils
in Nottingham City schools.
2.4 The (BSF) lifecycle fund, which is ringfenced for named schools, was established to
ensure that schools which were not funded via Public Finance Initiative (PFI) had
sufficient funding to be maintained over a 25-year period. Where schools converted into
academies prior to the BSF finishing, this was the responsibility of the academy. Several
schools converted to academy status after the completion of the BSF programme, where
this happen generally the lifecycle fund was transferred to the academy immediately. In
the case of Ellis Guildford, this was not what happened and the lifecycle fund remained
with the Council. There are currently consultations ongoing with Academy Trust to see if
they still want the Council to hold the reserve on their behalf or hand these and their
responsibilities that go with the reserves back to the Academy Trust.
3.

Other options considered in making recommendations

3.1 To combine the 2022/23 Schools’ Capital Maintenance Grant with the Basic Need funding
to address the shortfall of places across the city: this option is rejected as it could leave
schools at risk of temporary closure due to health and safety or condition issues. It could
also mean that school buildings continue to deteriorate and may be subject to forced
closure whilst emergency repairs are carried out.

Page 56

3.2 To do nothing with regard to the Rosehill and Ellis Guildford Schools: this option has been
rejected as whilst this would retain the funding within the lifecycle reserve, it would not
support the maintenance of the schools as a positive environment for education and
learning.
4.

Consideration of Risk

4.1 Construction inflation is high and there is continued pressure on both the supply and
labour market. In order to mitigate this, contingencies will continue to be allocated for all
future programme schemes above the level of construction inflation at the time. If
programmes of work are not carried out then there is a risk that temporary school
closures could have to be managed – for example if a school heating system fails. If
programmes of work are not carried out then schools may struggle to address
maintenance issues at a time when school budgets are under immense pressure. The
condition liability of the school estate will not be reduced if programmes of works do not
take place.
5.

Finance colleague comments

5.1 Capital Comments: Following the approval of this decision, projects will be set up and
funded from Capital Maintenance Grant as detailed in Enc. 2. The projects within this
decision formally commits £1.4 million from the awarded grant of £2.7 million. Allocating
the balance to projects will require formal approval.
5.2 The Health and Safety contingency of £300,000 will be added to the existing unallocated
Capital Maintenance Grant of £400,000, which has previously been delegated to the
Corporate Director for People for allocation. When the Corporate Director for People
either adjusts the projects or approves new schemes, copies of the relevant reports are to
be shared with Technical Finance, ensuring the Capital Programme is updated
accordingly.
5.3 The Capital Maintenance Grant has an allocation within the planned element of the
Capital Programme as approved at the 22 February 2022 Executive Board meeting of
£1.5 million, compared to actual grant award of £2.7 million. Following the approval of this
decision, the schemes will be moved into the approved stage of the Capital Programme
and the planned section of the programme will be amended to £2.1 million to take
account of the unallocated grant of £1.4 million plus the Health and Safety contingency of
£700,000.
5.4 The £700,000 BSF academy maintenance works within this report are funded from a
ringfenced reserve, as the projects in question relate to academy sites and therefore any
revenue implications of the works are the academies’ responsibility and the reserve is
ringfenced for this purpose. The projects as defined in this report are supported on the
basis that any risk of project overspend does not sit with the Council and is either funded
by the academy or via another request to use this reserve.
5.5 Revenue Comments: If the funding allocations are approved then any ongoing
maintenance costs which arise after the completion of capital works will need to be
funded from the schools budget.

Page 57

Comments provided by Tom Straw, Senior Accountant – Capital Programmes, on 27
May 2022
6.

Legal colleague comments

6.1 There are no significant legal issues arising under this decision. In addition to acceptance
of the funding, there is a request to procure contracts to carry out works at those schools
identified in Enc. 2 and have a contingency amount available for health and safety
matters arising. Spend of the remaining funding against future projects will be subject to
further approval.
6.2 Any procurement of contracts must be subject and in compliance with the Council’s
Contract Procedure Rules and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.
6.3 The proposed use of funding from the Building Schools for the Future is consistent with
the fund’s intended purpose and therefore raises no concerns. With regard to the
potential transfer of the fund across to the Ellis Guilford Academy, this needs to be done
in accordance with any fund conditions. Legal Services will provide support on this and
the drafting of appropriate documentation as required.
Comments provided by Naomi Vass, Team Leader – Contracts and Commercial, on 31
May 2022
7.

Procurement colleague comments

7.1 There are no significant procurement concerns with the recommendations set out it the
report. Procurement will work alongside the client to ensure that all procurement activity is
in line with Public Contract Regulations and the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.
Comments provided by Sue Oliver, Procurement Category Manager – Places, on 18 May
2022
8.

Building Services colleague comments

8.1 Building Services fully supports the school condition works 2022/23 programme.
Comments provided by Trevor Bone, Acting Head of Building Services, on 16 May
2022
9.

Property colleague comments

9.1 The Strategic Assets and Property team has not been involved in delivering these
proposals. The report states that there are two areas of funding where funding has been
prioritised, firstly health and safety issues likely to impact on children and staff and
secondly condition issues likely to impact on the operation of the school. The report also
advises that consideration will be given as to how carbon emissions can be reduced
during the design stage for any intended works (particularly in relation to heating
replacement schemes). This all seems a sensible approach. Going forward, it is

Page 58

anticipated that the Council’s emerging Asset Management Strategy will inform how such
matters will be managed, ensuring that there is a corporate approach.
Comments provided by Steve Sprason, Interim Head of Property, on 31 May 2022
10. Social value considerations
10.1 The proposed SCAPE framework procurement route for some of the schemes contains a
number of social value key performance indicators, such as diverting waste to landfill,
local spend and local employment targets, to which the schemes will be measured.
11. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)
11.1 An EIA is attached as Enc. 3, and due regard will be given to any implications identified in
it.
12. Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA)
12.1 A DPIA is not required because this programme of works will have limited data collected.
13. Carbon Impact Assessment (CIA)
13.1 A CIA is attached as Enc. 4, and due regard will be given to any implications identified in
it.
13.2 The carbon impact assessment wheel reflects a score of fifteen for this programme of
works and highlights the rationale for the scoring. Where applicable (and as articulated in
the business case) for the individual schemes proposed, post evaluation benefits
analyses will be carried out to establish the impact on the energy usage for schools by
way of reviewing utility bills. The key performance indicators submitted by contractors will
be monitored to measure carbon reduction indicators such as environmentally friendly
waste removal options. It will be ensured for any proposed schemes that, during the
design development stage, serious consideration will be given to how carbon emissions
can be reduced to support this outcome. For example, the practically of decarbonising
existing heating systems in schools by introducing carbon neutral heating interventions
where and when possible will be assessed.

Page 59

Waste and
Water
(+2)

Behaviour
and Culture
Change
(+3)

Built
Environment
(-1)

Transport
(↓↑ 0)

Resilience and
Adaptation
(+2)

Energy
(+2)

Generated
20/05/22
v1.1

+15

Consumption
(+3)

Business &
Internal
Resources
(+2)

Carbon
Removal &
Ecology
(+2)

Nottingham is aiming to become the first carbon neutral city
in the country by 2028 (5 years and 7 months away).

14. List of background papers relied upon in writing this report
14.1 None.
15. Published documents referred to in this report
15.1 None.

Page 60

Business Case

Project Title:
Proposals to deliver the
schools’ capital maintenance programme
2022/23.
Lead Department: Children and Adults

Page 61

Nottingham City Council
Business Case

DOCUMENT CONTROL

BC Author

Caroline Butrymowicz

Project Sponsor (contact details)

Catherine Underwood – Corporate Director for
People (Children and Adults)
Caroline Butrymowicz – Project Manager
( Major Projects)
V5 – Final 30.05.22

Project Manager (contact details)
Date

Version

Status

Revision
Date

Summary of Changes

Sign-Off

V1
V2
V3
V4
V5

Draft
Draft
Draft
Draft
Final

11.05.22
12.05.22
25.05.22
25.05.22
30.05.22

First draft
Comments RC
Further Amendments
RC further review
Final

CB
RC
CB
RC
CB

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 62

Page 2 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case

CONTENTS
Page
1.0 Introduction
2.0 Executive Summary.............................................................................................. 4
3.0 Strategic Fit (Strategic Case) ............................................................................... 5
3.1 Strategic Overview ............................................................................................ 5
3.2 Links to Strategic Objectives ............................................................................. 6
4.0 Project Information and Business Case................................................................ 9
4.1 Background to the Project ................................................................................. 9
4.2 Scope .............................................................................................................. 10
4.3 Constraints ...................................................................................................... 11
4.4 Dependencies ................................................................................................. 13
4.5 Key Risks ........................................................................................................ 14
4.6 Assumptions.................................................................................................... 17
4.7 Success criteria ............................................................................................... 17
4.8 Impact on Business as Usual .......................................................................... 17
4.9 Benefits realisation plan .................................................................................. 18
4.10
Environmental impact assessment .............................................................. 20
4.11
Data Protection Impact Assessment ............................................................ 20
4.12
Equality Impact Assessment ........................................................................ 21
5.0 Options Appraisal (Economic Case) ................................................................... 21
6.0 COMMERCIAL ASPECTS (Commercial Case) .................................................. 22
6.0 AFFORDABILITY (Financial case) ..................................................................... 23
7.0 ACHIEVABILITY (Management case) ................................................................ 25
7.1 Delivery team .................................................................................................. 26
7.2 Programme and Key Milestones ..................................................................... 26
7.3 Governance and reporting arrangements ....................................................... 26
7.4 Project Approach............................................................................................. 27
8.0 List of Appendices .............................................................................................. 28
9.0 SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER/[SPONSOR] SIGN OFF ............................ 30

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 63

Page 3 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
1.0

Introduction

This document defines the project’s Business Case and provides the baseline against
which the project is continually assessed. NB: For support in completing the following
financial sections either contact your financial representative or refer to the ‘Project
Appraisal Handbook’.
This first section should act as a statement that reflects how the Business Case will be
used.
This document sets out the business case and proposals for delivering the Capital
Maintenance programme 2022/23 for Nottingham City schools.
It will provide evidence for the need of this project and set out how the proposal links to
the outcomes of the Council Plan 2021-23 and the how the projects will be delivered.
The Business Case is a key supporting document for the Executive Board report which
is going for approval in June, the report will ask for the following to be approved:





2.0

Accept the 2022/23 grant allocation of £2,679,416 received from the Department
for Education (DFE) for school condition works to Nottingham City schools and
approve the five schemes that have already been prioritised
Approve the allocation of a Health and Safety contingency of £0.270m and to
delegate approval and authorisation of how this is allocated to the Corporate
Director for People.
Approve the delegation of the procurement routes of the 2022/23 schemes to
the Corporate Director of People in compliance with the Council’s Contract
Procedure rules and Public Contract Regulations ensuring value for money.
To note that proposals for the remainder of the 2022/23 grant will be brought to a
future Executive Board.
.

Executive Summary

Briefly state the purpose of the project, what the project sets out to achieve and when.
This section should be a short summary of the project and is often best completed last!

All local authorities receive an annual allocation of grant funding to support maintained
schools with managing the condition and health and safety of their school buildings.
This funding is known as the Capital Maintenance Grant. The funding is typically a
formulaic calculation determined by the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA),
who then confirm allocations to local authorities on an annual basis.
At Executive Board December 2021 approval was gained to use an uncommitted
balance of £1,400,000 in grant funding already received and secured in 2021/22 to
deliver ten schemes in the school summer holidays 2022 and to set aside £150,000 as
a contingency fund to address any urgent health and safety issues that may arise in
2022/23.
Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 64

Page 4 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case

In April 2022 the 2022/23 grant announcement was made providing a further sum of
£2,679,416. We have already prioritised five schemes that we are seeking approval to
go forward with and they are listed in Appendix 2 to the Executive Board report June
2022.
Approval will also be sought at Executive Board in June 2022 to delegate a Health and
Safety Contingency of £0.270m to the Corporate Director for People. This will mean
that the Corporate Director for People will have the authority to approve and authorise
how this is spent. This level of contingency has been increased in a direct response to
the increasing costs that are being seen in the construction industry.

3.0

Strategic Fit (Strategic Case)

3.1

Strategic Overview

Explain the context of the project and the reason why it is needed now – the business
need. This should be at an organisational level – i.e. to support the transformation of
the City centre, to ensure there are sufficient school places available.
Reference to any existing documents, approvals or publications can be summarised
here and attached as an appendix to the Business Case.
This section should demonstrate that a change is required.

The City has over the years taken a long term approach in prioritising and addressing
capital maintenance issues at schools using the yearly grant funding. The focus of this
project is to achieve the outcomes of keeping pupils safe and schools warm and dry to
mitigate the need for school closure and a resultant loss of learning. As school budgets
become increasingly stretched it is not possible for schools to afford to address major
issues such as for example safeguarding, health and safety works and heating failures.
To support the prioritisation process, the Major Projects team previously completed an
Estate Review Plan (ERP) for each Local Authority maintained school. The purpose of
this exercise was to understand how schools’ operate within the existing buildings,
manage building issues and how they deliver learning outcomes to children.
A focus of the ERP was to capture the known condition issues at schools and
understand how these are managed given the increased austerity schools are facing
and the very low level of direct funding they receive to maintain buildings. This exercise
served to reinforce that schools cannot afford to address significant maintenance and
capital issues themselves. The impact of issues such as leaking roofs and aging
heating systems were a constant risk to schools and have to be managed on a day to
day basis. The concern and risk around the potential of school closure and loss of
learning days due to maintenance problems and failures was echoed by all schools.
To support the ERP, a programme of condition surveys was commissioned to review
the site and buildings of each school. Within these surveys attention was paid to the
Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 65

Page 5 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
building fabric and mechanical and electrical elements of each school. Using these
surveys is assisting the Major Projects team to form a longer term strategic plan
identifying potential programmes of work over future years and how they will be
managed.
At the time of writing this report the ESFA have also commissioned a five year
programme to carry out independent condition surveys for locally maintained schools.
All schools will be surveyed between 2021 and 2026. Condition survey reports will be
issued directly to schools. Major Projects will continue to build on the excellent
relationships it has with schools in order to access the reports and collate the
information along with all the information they already hold on the NCC school estate.
The business need for this project links directly to outcomes specified in the Council
Plan 2021-23 and is explored below. Pupils need to continue to be kept safe, warm
and dry so they can learn and continue to grow and thrive in the school environment.

3.2

Links to Strategic Objectives

State how the project will contribute to the Council Plan, national policy or a
Department’s objectives and priorities.
http://intranet.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/news/council-plan-2019-2023
Also state the final outcomes expected.
This section must include a statement about how the project will support the objective
of becoming a Carbon Neutral city by 2028.
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/2620252/nottinghams-2028-carbon-neutralcharter-3.pdf
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/cn2028

This project links to the following outcomes in the Council Plan 2021-2023 :








Safer Nottingham
Clean and Connected Communities
Keeping Nottingham Working
Carbon Neutral by 2028
Child Friendly Nottingham
Healthy and Inclusive
Financial Stability

Safer Nottingham
We will contribute to providing safe and secure school buildings. We will prioritise
works that mean children and staff feel safe in their environment. These works will be
safeguarding interventions to the building and grounds to ensure intruder risk is
removed. Other examples of priority works could be the removal or making safe and
management of asbestos, structural repairs either to the frame or to the façade of the
building, the provision of automatic fire alarms and safe evacuation and provision of
Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 66

Page 6 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
intruder alarms.
It is paramount that children are safe and parents and carers know their children are
being taught in an environment that is both safe and secure.
Health and Safety and Safeguarding are one of the areas in a school that an OFSTED
inspection will investigate and report on impacting on the final grade the school will get.
We will work to prioritise schemes where safety or security measures are identified to
support the outcome that children will be taught in schools that are good or outstanding
in line with the Children and Young Peoples plan 2021-23.

Clean and Connected Communities
We will contribute to keeping communities clean. We will carry out interventions where
appropriate to improve the air quality of school buildings. For example we will review
and improve ventilation when replacing or repairing windows. We are fully aware of the
impact of Covid 19 and the necessity to create appropriate ventilation to reduce the risk
of germ spread. We are also aware that we need to consider the concentration of CO 2
in rooms and will install where possible automatic window openings to mitigate the
impact of CO2.
We will address where possible the impact of vehicular transport and emissions. For
example we will consider tree planting options as part of safeguarding/security
interventions as this will also serve to mitigate the impact of fumes created by traffic.
Keeping Nottingham Working
We will contribute to keep Nottingham working by assessing whether schemes can be
delivered with in house resource.
If we enter into contract with a contractor from the SCAPE regional framework for any
of the schemes we will monitor the contractual commitment to deliver the NCC KPIs
that focus on local spend, local employment and local apprenticeship targets. We will
collaborate with Nottingham Growth Hub to establish if there are any opportunities for
Nottingham citizens or local SMEs to be engaged in employment.
If we go forward with tendering options we will work with colleagues in NCC
Procurement to ensure that local employment targets are incorporated into the tender
packages and ask prospective contractors how they will achieve this outcome.
Carbon Neutral by 2028
We will contribute to making Nottingham carbon neutral by 2028.
We will support this outcome by ensuring that the schemes that are proposed for the
2022/23 programme and all future years will at the design development stage, consider
where possible interventions to reduce carbon emission. Environmentally sympathetic
construction options will be considered to increase sustainability where budget and
Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 67

Page 7 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
design permits. All planning and building control regulations now take account of
environmental and sustainability considerations and these will need to be adhered to in
the design process.
We will work with colleagues in NCC Energy Services to undertake school energy
surveys where appropriate and assess the viability of introducing energy saving
interventions where the business model stacks up. This could be for example by the
introduction of photovoltaic panels or added insulation on roofing projects.
If we remove asbestos or install new fire alarm systems consequential works tend to be
having to replace existing ceilings and lighting. When this opportunity presents we will
install LED lighting
We continue to review taking forward carbon reducing heating interventions. It must be
noted that the cost of sourcing alternatives to gas boilers is still extremely high and the
efficiency of any low carbon heating source relies on additional works to the fabric of
buildings, for example increasing insulation. This is to ensure the full benefit of the
lower carbon heating intervention comes to fruition. A desktop study completed by the
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy for the Nottingham City school
sector recommended that a whole school approach should be taken when addressing
decarbonisation of heating systems. Going forward we will look to future planning of
replacement heating systems that incorporates improvements to the fabric of the
building to ensure maximum efficiency and benefit.
We will ensure where possible that we will introduce smart heating controls to enable
end users to monitor energy usage and become more accustomed to energy
management.
Child friendly Nottingham
We will ensure that any safeguarding or health and safety schemes that are prioritised
will be taken forward for approval. Children will be protected and feel safe in their
school environment. Children will have an environment where they can learn safely and
thrive. The emotional and physical well-being of children will be at the forefront of any
such schemes. By maintaining and where possible improving school buildings we aim
to give every child in Nottingham the best start in life.
Healthy and Inclusive Nottingham
The June 2022 Executive Board report will be supported by an equality impact
assessment which will take account of any schemes that will impact on buildings and
ensure that accessibility adheres to building control standards.
This is specifically pertinent to any schemes that involve works or adaptations to the
building for example safeguarding or other health and safety schemes. The detailed
design stage of schemes will develop proposals to ensure that that all works meet
building regulations and ensure that buildings are accessible for all.
Financial Stability
Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 68

Page 8 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case

The condition liability of Nottingham City schools is estimated at £23m. The yearly
grant is limited and does not allow us to address all condition liability issues for
Nottingham schools.
Due to the limitations of the grant in comparison to the condition liability of Nottingham
City schools we have to be confident that we prioritise the right schemes and that the
selected method of procurement and delivery ensures the best value for money is
completed by the most appropriate contractor.
Programmes will include estimated costs identified for each scheme. Budget costs will
continue to be put together based on feasibility estimates to include contingency
amounts to allow for added uplifts for inflation and market trends. The contingency
amounts on each scheme will vary year on year as they will be linked to the rate of
construction inflation at the time. We are currently using 15% where possible.
We will continue to work with the selected contractor on each individual scheme to
refine and develop costs to enable us to be confident that we are working with robust
costings with allowances are made for risk, contingency, market trends and pricing
fluctuations. We will continue to monitor the spend on budgets throughout the schemes
development and work with the relevant contractors to challenge where necessary and
ensure we are receiving best value.
We will continue to work to ensure that the final accounts on all of the schemes will be
in line with the anticipated costs and we will always ensure to our best ability that
sufficient contingencies are in place to cover unknowns. We will ensure that the overall
programme costs are managed within the allocated annual grant funding.
4.0

Project Information and Business Case

4.1

Background to the Project

Provide any information relevant to understand the background to the project. This
should be at a project level and might include information about what already exists.
The annual capital maintenance grant allocation for 2022/23 schemes has been
received from the DFE for the value of £2,679,416.
The grant is to improve the condition of school buildings maintained by Nottingham City
Council. The highest priorities for approval relate to health and safety requirements, for
example ensuring the safeguarding of pupils within a school site, ensuring buildings are
structurally sound and the safe evacuation of a school building in the event of an
emergency.
The next priorities are those condition issues that mean school buildings are not weather
proof or that they are not warm in winter which could lead to schools closing temporarily and
a loss of learning. This could include schools that require roof replacement, new windows or
repair to existing, boilers, heating pipes and electrical infrastructure.
Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 69

Page 9 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case

The overall condition liability for schools in the City is significantly greater than funding
available and there is insufficient funding to complete all works. We therefore have to
ensure that the priority schemes are borne of these two categories listed.

4.2

Scope

Provide details of what this project will deliver (in-scope) and what it will not deliver (out
of scope) and why these decisions have been made.
Programme of works will deliver schemes that keep Nottingham pupils safe and secure
and/or mitigate the risk of school’s closing (for example through heating failure) which
would result in loss of learning to pupils. These are the conditions of the grant funding.
Major Projects have in place an accepted prioritisation process which is worked through
towards making the final recommendations for programme of works. This process is
frequently reviewed and refined where necessary. This process of prioritisation was
accepted in the report which was approved at Executive Board in December 2021. We
will continue our joined up approach by working with colleagues in NCC Building
Services and Health and Safety teams respectively to ensure we have all the relevant
information to enable us to prioritise appropriately.
If the delegation to the Corporate Director of People (Children and Adults) is approved
for the authorisation of the spending of the Health and Safety contingency 2022/23 we
will continue to ensure in line with our prioritisation process that the most urgent
schemes are taken forward.
The Executive Board report June 2022 identifies five schemes which have already been
prioritised and subject to approval:
Walter Halls Primary - re-roofing of Early Years Centre
In December 2021 Executive Board approved an allocation to investigate the cause of
leaks and carry out repairs. The cause of the leaks have now been identified. Interim
works have recently been carried out to manage the situation in the short term but the
only effective solution is to replace the roof.
We have received a feasibility cost and programme from the SCAPE framework
contractor and have engaged them to undertake the pre-construction works using the
funding approved at December 2021 Executive Board. In order to complete the works
we are seeking additional approval at June 2022 Executive Board.
Southwold Primary – roofing works
Southwold Primary is experiencing issues to an area of its roof. The school has tried to
manage this over the last few months by paying for several patch repairs. The
problems to the area are now escalating and becoming unmanageable. There is water
Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 70

Page 10 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
ingress into the main hall and some adjacent rooms. We have engaged a SCAPE
framework contractor who has provided a feasibility cost to rectify the problems and we
are seeking approval at Executive Board June 2022 to fund this work.
Forest Fields Primary – structural works to ceilings
Forest Fields Primary has structural problems with some of the ceilings to one of its
buildings. The building has now been closed off and no longer in use. We have
engaged a SCAPE framework contractor who has surveyed the areas and provided a
feasibility cost to rectify the problems and we are seeking approval at Executive Board
June 2022 to fund this work.
Hempshill Hall Primary – fire separation works
At Executive Board December 2021 funding was approved to investigate and scope
solutions to address the fire separation / compartmentalisation to a specific area of
Hempshill Hall school. This issue was brought to the attention of Major Projects team
by the NCC Schools’ Health and Safety Manager. We engaged a SCAPE framework
contractor who has provided a feasibility cost to carry out the works and we are seeking
approval at Executive Board June 2022 to fund this work. The work will be carried out
in the summer holidays 2023.
Hospital Home Education Learning Centre (HHELC)
This is a light touch refurbishment to bring a building on the Maid Marian Way site back
into operation, to be a temporary home of the HHELC while the Archway Trust remain
the main tenants for the site. It will include improvements to toilets, secure access,
effective broadband and appropriate heating and electrical systems.

4.3

Constraints

Provide details of any constraints (e.g. resources, legal and operational). What must be
taken into account and/or cannot be ignored? This section may also include the
parameters of the project.
This section might also cover the requirements from any statutory consultees, such as
Planning, the outcome of any consultation, the conditions of any grant funding, site
constraints.
Programme
Generally all schemes proposed have to be delivered during the school summer
holidays. Dependant on the nature of the works and length of programme there may be
a need to start some works prior to the summer holidays or complete into the new
academic year. In previous years when this has happened Major Projects have
collaborated with schools to ensure that this is carried out safely. Works are
programmed accordingly to minimise disruption on site and there is always robust
demarcation between the construction works and the school staff and pupils.
Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 71

Page 11 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case

Schools have always worked with Major Projects positively to offer flexibility in such
instances in order for the outcome to be delivered.
Legal/ regulations or requirements
If a contractor from the SCAPE framework is selected to deliver any of the schemes
and/or technical services we will require resource support from internal colleagues in
Legal Services and Procurement respectively to support us to enter into contract with
the framework contractor. Colleagues within these service areas will be engaged as
early as possible for them to be able to allocate resource to support Major Projects.
Planning and Building Control Statutory Authorities
We will require continued support of these authorities to advise us on aspects of the
design and to confirm that we are meeting our statutory obligations for relevant
schemes.
Operational
If any of the current schemes or future schemes have to start or complete on site during
term time the project team will ensure that a robust management plan is agreed
between the school and contractor to ensure that the site will function as normal and
safely. Any successful contractor(s) will be responsible for providing a construction
management plan which will include risk and method statements for the safe delivery of
the projects on site. At this time NCC does not have a CDM manager in post who can
support the school schemes. Major Projects have sourced this support externally from
a compliant framework. The CDM role will include assessing any impact that may affect
the day to day running of the school and will be discussed well in advance with
individual schools and will be subject to their agreement.
Delivery times will be agreed and formalised in the construction management plan. The
working day will generally start at 8am and finish at 5pm to mitigate any impact on local
residents by, for example, deliveries to site.
During the summer holiday period access is provided to site by individual school site
managers. There will always be a period when this is not possible due to annual leave
commitments. In these cases alternative arrangements will need to be made. This
does not usually pose a problem.
Financial
The 2022/23 Capital Maintenance Grant was received in April 2022 for a value of
£2,679,416. At this time we are seeking approval to deliver five schemes as listed in
Appendix 2 to the June Executive Board report and are seeking approval to delegate a
Health and Safety Contingency amount to the Corporate Director for People (Children
and Adults) who will approve and authorise how this is spent.
At the time of writing this report the long term impact of Brexit and Covid is still
Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 72

Page 12 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
impacting on the construction industry supply chain. Material prices continue to
increase above and beyond inflation rates and lead in times for delivery of materials are
unpredictable and have in some cases increased dramatically - currently construction
inflation is around 10%. This market position has been taken into account and will
continue to be taken into account where appropriate going forward with future
programmes of works. We will ensure budget costings are robust and take account of
the circumstances at the time. Appropriate contingency allowances will be allowed for
each scheme to take into account the current market positon and mitigate for any
further potential increase in the coming months. At the feasibility stage the importance
of a cost break down and the inclusion of a risk register with costs is essential. This
enables Major Projects to manage any changes due to increased costs and changes in
material lead times.
The rapid increase of costs in the construction industry has dealt a level of uncertainty
for future costs. In order to plan works for immediate and future programmes of work
we have used the relevant industry construction inflation positon plus an additional
percentage allowance for any potential market fluctuations or increases.
Please note that there are no revenue implications to Nottingham City Council for the
delivery of capital works within this programme. Any ongoing costs which arise after
the completion of capital works will need to be managed and funded from individual
school budgets.

4.4

Dependencies

Provide details of any dependencies that are outside the control of the project that
would or could impact on successful delivery.
This might be understood through a PESTLE or risk analysis, as well as identifying any
projects or activity that has interdependencies with this project.
This might include:
- Consultation outcomes
- Land ownership/ legal issues
- Formal processes – planning, for example

Approval from NCC Capital Board
Developing this proposal towards submission to Executive Board June 2022 is
dependent on approval from NCC Capital Board in May 2022.
NCC Legal and Procurement services
There is a requirement from both the Legal team and the Procurement Team to raise
the appropriate contracts.
Planning and Building Control
Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 73

Page 13 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
Programme of works will be dependent on any relevant planning permissions and
building control approvals being applied for and granted by Nottingham City Council.
Experience from previous years has illustrated that early discussions with both the NCC
Planning and Building Control colleagues is prudent.
Robust cost management
Robust cost management will be dependent on support from quantity surveying
services, whereby the person appointed to work with the project team is confident to
challenge contractors, advise Major Projects accordingly and be fully aware of market
/industry circumstances.
Support from schools and governing bodies
Delivering the proposed programme of works will be in conjunction with individual
schools and governing bodies. Major Projects will continue to build on the existing
positive relationships with the Nottingham Schools’ Trust and the schools themselves to
ensure the works are delivered collaboratively to the outcomes required.
4.5

Key Risks

Provide details of key risks to the Council and the project. How are risks managed?
This section should act as a summary of the risk register. The top 5 risks may be
outlined below. The table can be used to provide information if helpful.
The key risks are as follows:

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 74

Page 14 of 30

Risk
Number

1

Risk Description
Capital Board do
not approve the
proposals to be
taken forward to
June 2022
Executive Board.

Likelihood
Rating

Impact
Rating

RAG
Rating

Possible

Major

Red

Page 75

2

Market costs remain
at a high level for
goods and materials

Likely

Major

Red

3

Funding is
insufficient to carry
out all the priority
schemes identified

Likely

Moderate

Amber

4

Managing any
unknown urgent
health and safety
issues that may
arise later in the

Possible

Moderate

Amber

Risk Response
Ensure the recommendations are clearly articulated at
Capital Board. Also ensure the risk to not prioritising works
that fall into the two priority categories (keeping schools safe
and warm and dry) are clearly identified and by not doing
these works and the impact this will have on delivering the
statutory requirement for children to be taught.
Closed – Capital Board approved the programme on the 18th
May 2022.
Ensure robust quantity surveying services are appointed to
give confidence that costing of all schemes takes this into
account and allowances / contingencies are allowed for to
reflect the increase in market costs that are currently
prevalent and any potential further rises.
This is always a risk and it is acknowledged that not all
schemes will be able to be taken forward. Major Projects
will continue to carry out a robust prioritisation exercise to
enable the most urgent schemes to be taken forward that will
ensure schools are safe and warm and dry. Any schemes
not taken forward are always reassessed for future
programmes of work. Major Projects will contact the schools
where schemes have not been taken forward to explain why
and offer support as to how any issues can be managed in
the interim.
Major Projects will continue to retain a contingency amount
that will allow for any urgent issues that arise to be reviewed
and addressed accordingly. Such issues will form part of the
decision making delegation to the Corporate Director for
People (Children and Adults).

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
financial year.

Page 76

5

Works cannot be
completed during
the limited summer
holiday period

Possible

Moderate

Amber

6

Longer term impact
of Covid 19
infection on labour
resource and supply

Possible

Moderate

Amber

There is always the risk that on some of the projects the
scope of works may not be able to be fully delivered within
the school summer holiday period. Previous experience has
suggested that schools are very flexible in working with
Major Projects to carry out some works prior to or post the
summer holiday period. Robust plans and practices are
mutually agreed to ensure the safety of all concerns and any
impact on school’s operation is minimal.
Major Projects will continue to have a standard agenda item
at project meetings to gain assurance from contractors of
labour resource and request mitigations in the event of a
threat to project delivery due to operative absences through
illness or operatives that choose to isolate.

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Page 16 of 30

Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

4.6

Assumptions

Set out any assumptions that have been made. For example, it is assumed that the
client will be responsible for managing the relationship with their Portfolio Holder, or it
is assumed that the timescales of one development facilitate this project.

It is assumed that the support will be available from internal colleagues (for example
Legal and Procurement teams respectively) to work with Major Projects towards the
delivery of approved programmes of work.
It is assumed that Major Projects will continue to build on the good relationship it has
with the Nottingham School Trust and Nottingham City schools and governing bodies
to successfully deliver works.
4.7

Success criteria

Outline the success criteria for the project. How will you know it has been a success?
These should be end points, not a measure of progress and act as Key Performance
Indicators for the project. These may contribute to the benefits, but it is expected that
benefits will take a longer period to be realised and the success criteria should reflect
the preferred position when the project completes.

We will know programmes of work have been a success because we will have
delivered works that meet our two specific criteria to keep schools safe and warm and
dry.
Schools will tell us that they now feel safe and secure in their premises when they
complete the Major Projects’ end user client feedback form.
Schools will be able to access areas safely for maintenance needs.
Major Projects will receive reduced communications from schools reporting heating
issues or leaks to roofs. They will no longer contact us to say they are concerned
about their ability to fund constant repairs to heating systems or roofs that are failing.
Any loss of learning days through school closure (anecdotally mainly due to heating
breakdown) will be mitigated.

4.8

Impact on Business as Usual

Clarify what disruption this project may have on existing operations, including the
impact on stakeholders. This might be restricting access to an area for a period of time
or might affect the flow of traffic whilst some works are completed.

In general terms works are normally carried out during the school summer holidays

Page 77

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
which mitigates the disruption to school operation. However some schemes may have
to start or finish outside of the parameters of the school holiday period. If this is the
case then Major Projects have always worked with schools positively and schools
have been flexible with such requests. Health and Safety plans, risk and method
statements are developed in conjunction with the school, contractor and the CDM
Manager and agreed prior to commencement. There is always a clear demarcation
between the works the contractor is carrying out and the operational school.
There are times during the summer holiday period when the school site manager is not
available due to annual leave commitments. Schools have always worked with us to
make alternative arrangements and organise any communication with, for example,
alarm monitoring stations to ensure all the necessary bodies are aware that the site is
being managed by the contractor with an appointed contractor site manager present.
4.9

Benefits realisation plan

Provide details of the benefits that are expected to be realised in terms of efficiencies,
improvements, compliance, etc. - both financial and non-financial. Are the benefits
identified SMART- Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, Timely)?
The table below may help set out the benefits.

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 78

Page 18 of 30

Benefit

Measure
The value of the
Reducing
the works will be omitted
condition liability of from the overall
Nottingham
City condition
liability
schools.
value of schools.

How it will be assessed
Strategic fit
Timescale
The reduction in the liability Review of days lost Reduction in condition
will feed into overall condition through closure.
liability value will be
liability costs directly reported
seen immediately.
to the DFE.

Measurement
of
energy consumption
from
relevant
interventions
to
show
heating
systems are more
efficient and utility
bills are reduced for
schools.
Reduction
in
maintenance
bills
eg. For addressing
boiler failure issues,
repairs to roofs,
repairs to water
pipes
and
fire
alarms.
Keeping
schools
warm and dry and
therefore not subject
to closure due to
heating failure or
mechanical issues.
Children and staff
will feel safe and
secure
in
their
school environment.

Review of cost of energy bills Council
Plan Works will be generally
over a period of time by commitment to reduce be completed during
schools.
carbon emissions 2028. school
summer
holidays.
Relevant
schools will monitor
their energy bills for the
following months

Support
where
possible
the
Council’s ambition to
become a carbon
neutral city by 2028

Page 79

Reducing
spending
on general repairs
and maintenance by
schools.

Schools do not have
to close because of,
for example, heating
failure.

Keeping schools safe.

Review of school expenditure

To promote healthy
living and children to
learn and thrive in a
safe, warm and dry
environment.

Review over a specified
period of time eg. a
financial year. Major
Projects to link directly
with school business
managers.

Review of days lost through Minimising days lost so Collected
by
NCC
closure.
pupils can learn and colleagues
to
the
thrive at school.
established timeline.

Schools will tell us this in Council
Plan Immediate and ongoing
their client feedback reviews. commitment for a safer linking
to
Ofsted
Nottingham.
inspection outcomes.
Schools will not fail their
OFSTED inspection due to
safeguarding concerns.

4.10

Environmental impact assessment

Outline the impact of this project on the environment. This might include a summary of
any surveys undertaken, any sustainable measures include and reference to the
Carbon Neutral 2028 ambition in more detail. There may be no impact on the
environment, in which case this should be noted as not applicable.
As articulated in section 3.2 above and in the draft strategy document which was
accepted at Executive Board December 2021 we will include where possible
interventions that contribute to making Nottingham carbon neutral by 2028.
We will continue to review how we can improve insulation when we are carrying out
roofing projects and we will work with colleagues in NCC Energy Services to establish
whether there would be value in installing photovoltaic panels.
We will consider where possible the installation of smart meter controls to any new
boiler systems which will make the end user more aware of the energy they are using.
We will help schools become more aware and manage this in a better way.
We will ensure when we carry out works to windows that we will not only repair the
windows and make them safe we will improve the ventilation where at all possible.
4.11

Data Protection Impact Assessment

Identify if there is any impact on how data is collected, stored or used and how this will
be managed. If required, summarise the Data Protection Impact Assessment and
include the document as an appendix.
From project conception through to handover and closure, data pertaining to
programmes of work will be managed and stored by the project manager. It is not
anticipated that generally there will be any personal information held. Contact numbers
will be work business mobiles and will be stored on a project directory. The project
directory has to be available to all members of the team.
The only circumstance where personal data could be held is if a Headteacher issues
their personal phone number for contact during the school holidays to the project
manager. This will not be stored on the project directory. The project manager will be
the only person who holds this contact number and will not issue to any other members
of the project team or third parties.
All schools now have electronic visitor systems which means that there is reduced
visible exposure of a person’s details as was in previous times when signing in books
were common. It is the responsibility of individual schools to manage the electronic
storage of this data in line with Data Protection legislation.
Whilst the works are on site the contractor will have their own signing in process for
operatives and visitors. It is the duty of the main contractor to manage this information
in line with Data Protection legislation.

Page 80

Nottingham City Council
Business Case

4.12

Equality Impact Assessment

Outline the impact of this project on equality referencing the Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion strategy 2020-2023, where appropriate:
http://intranet.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/human-resources/equality-diversity-andinclusion/equality-diversity-and-inclusion-at-ncc/
Our Equality Objectives
1.
2.
3.
4.

Make sure that our workforce will reflect the citizens we serve
Create economic growth for the benefit of all communities
Provide inclusive and accessible services for our citizens
Lead the city in tackling discrimination and promoting equality

Confirm if an Equality Impact Assessment is required and how/ when this will be done.
Can be attached as an appendix (usually a requirement of a report).
Works will impact on young people and we will improve the safety, condition and
longevity of school buildings focussing on keeping children safe and warm and dry. The
latter mitigating the impact of potential loss of learning days. We will help children to be
taught in an environment that will enable them to both learn and thrive.
An equality impact assessment will be submitted as an appendix to the Executive
Board report June 2022 for approval.
5.0

Options Appraisal (Economic Case)

This section should be a narrative that summarises any formal options appraisal.
A template for options appraisals is included in the folder. This section should
demonstrate that chosen option demonstrates value for money, that a range of options
have been considered and that this option is the best balance of cost, benefits and risk.
If the project has included some element of design, the design team may wish to
comment on this section, and a feasibility may be added as an appendix.
Provide details of the options that have been considered, including ‘do nothing’, and
state clearly the preferred option. The details of each option should include:
 Outputs
 Timescale
 Innovation and
Collaborations
 Benefits
 Risk
 Outline Costs
 Deliverability

Major Projects will continue to carry out a thorough prioritisation process before making
the recommendations for programme of works, as follows:


The first step is to reconfirm the definition of the highest priority works – keeping
schools safe followed by keeping schools warm and dry to negate the loss of
learning time. This information is mostly obtained by reviewing the condition

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 81

Page 21 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case








6.0

surveys that were carried out for all schools in in 2019 along with the condition
surveys that are currently being carried out by the DFE. In addition to this we
work closely with colleagues in NCC Building Services to bring together technical
and inspection/service information for items such as boilers, heating systems
and fire alarms.
The second step is to review schemes from previous years that have not been
prioritised and to review their current status (ie. any further deterioration) of
these items. This information will be sought from the relevant technical parties
and cross referenced with condition survey information. Information obtained
from the Estate Review Plans carried out by Major Projects will also be
reviewed.
The third step is to consider the schemes that may have only been partially
completed in the previous year (or prior to this) due to phasing needs (eg.
heating schemes).
The fourth step is to draw on local information received from schools where they
have highlighted any costly condition issues they were managing and the
associated risk and threat to loss of learning. This is cross referenced with
evidence from relevant technical parties in NCC and condition survey
information.
The fifth step is to meet with the NCC Schools’ Health and Safety Manager to
discuss proposals and confirm that he is in agreement with the proposed
programme of works and also ascertain as to whether there were any further
issues he was aware of that needed to be brought to the table for review.
COMMERCIAL ASPECTS (Commercial Case)

Procurement colleagues may support with completing this section.
This section should demonstrate that the proposed option is viable.
This section should outline why the procurement and contractual route has been
chosen and what other options were considered. This should cover any aspects of the
project that are being procured, whether services or products.
Provide details of the contract and procurement strategy including:
 Requirements
 Risk allocation and  Personnel implications
transfer
(eg TUPE)
 Supplier Options
 State Aid
 Form
of
Contract  Timetable/
Value for Money
(terms,
duration,
 Charging mechanism
payment
mechanism  Quality implications
or funding strategy
and
performance
 Procurement method
incentives)
 Procurement
risks/
benefits
 Contract type

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 82

Page 22 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
Following on from the prioritisation of works we take the opportunity to review each
project individually and decide on the best procurement route at an individual scheme
level. This approach is taken as there are multiple factors for each scheme which have
to be considered to guide us to the most suitable procurement route. The options for
procurement are:






6.1

SCAPE Framework Agreement, employing a contractor as the Principal
Contractor who will obtain a minimum of three quotes for all sub-contractor and
specialist contractor works. The SCAPE Framework Agreement allows for early
contractor involvement and an opportunity for collaborative working, free
feasibility cost estimates, design and build option, limited lead-in times for firm
price quotation, building on-going working relationships and understanding of
NCC standards and requirements. The above are all well suited to the
compressed programmes and challenging site environments of school condition
works.
In house Building Services, who will design M&E schemes for renewal of boiler
and heating systems also renewal / installation of fire alarm systems, emergency
lighting and lighting replacement schemes. They will carry out a combination of
works themselves and tendering from a select list of contractors to achieve best
value. Building Services carry out routine maintenance and servicing of schools’
M&E plant and equipment and so have a good knowledge of requirements.
Tendering projects will allow us to obtain the most competitive price for schemes
and so maximise budget potential. This method could be used with a package of
works either for one year or for a number of years. This method can be used if
early budget approval is obtained and the lead time is available for specifications
to be produced and procurement procedures to be followed. The competitive
prices will need to be balanced against potential contractors unfamiliar with
schools work and potential unknown quality of work. A variation on this would be
to set up a framework by tendering a particular job but indicating that it would
feed into a longer term programme possible 3-4 years with a minimum value of
works.

AFFORDABILITY (Financial case)

Provide an assessment of affordability and state available funding details. This section should
demonstrate that the proposed option has realistic costs, funding is available and there is
support in place. Show proposed expenditure profile and whole life costs including:
 Year(s) of expenditure
 Total costs
 Efficiencies savings
 Revenue
 Funding (external)
 Whole Life Costings –
include breakdown for
 Capital
 Funding (Receipts)
complex projects in the
 VAT (partial exemption)  Overall affordability
Full business Case
NB: Best practice is to show information in tabular form with a breakdown of spend over
financial years with some supporting commentary. As the project is developed from outline to
full business case there would be an expectation to have a more detailed analysis. It might be
beneficial to outline any funding/ grant restrictions and the impact these have on the project.

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 83

Page 23 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
This section should also outline what approvals are required to progress the project.
This section might be completed with support from colleagues in the Finance team.
Project Budget
The prioritised schemes at the time of writing this report are listed in the table below. It is
anticipated that this work will cost approximately £1.080m. A contingency of £0.270m has
been allocated to address any urgent health and safety issues that may arise. The grant
funding received for 2022/23 is £2,679,416 and is subject to acceptance and approval at
Executive Board June 2022. Approval is sought for the delegation of the authorisation of the
Health and Safety contingency to the Corporate Director for People (Children and Adults). An
overview of the project budget at this stage is provided below.
Schools’ capital maintenance programme 2022/23– overview of project budget
Programme indicative budget costs:
Walter Halls Primary ( Early Years Centre) roofing

£450,000

Southwold Primary - roofing

£180,000

Forest Fields Primary – structural works

£200,000

Hempshill Hall Primary – fire separation works
Hospital and Home Education Learning Centre – Light Touch
Refurbishment to create an appropriate educational environment.

£150,000

Health and Safety Contingency

£270,000

Overall total :

£100,000

£1,350,000

The costs at this time are based on feasibility costs and allowances have been made for client
risk contingency. If the final costs are returned and over the indicative costs it will be the
project manager’s responsibility to carry out a value engineering exercise in conjunction with
relevant stakeholders.
6.2 Funding and approvals

This Business Case is an appendix to the approval being sought which recommends the
acceptance of the 2022/23 annual schools’ capital maintenance grant received , the approval
of five schemes already prioritised and the approval and the authorisation of how the Health
and Safety contingency is allocated is delegated to the Corporate Director for People .

.

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 84

Page 24 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case

Schools’ capital maintenance programme 2022/23 – overview of budget position
Overall budget required:
Programme of works ( inc health and safety contingency)
£1,350,000
Funding sources and amount:
Schools’ capital maintenance grant allocation 2022/23
Programme costs to date (estimated) for the above schemes and contingency

£2,679,416
£1,350,000

Uncommitted balance

£1,329,416

7.0
ACHIEVABILITY (Management case)
This section should demonstrate how achievable the option is, taking into account the
experience of the team/ organisation responsible for delivery and the systems/
processes in place.
Provide details of the capability and capacity to deliver the project including:


High level plan for 
achieving
desired
outcome
o Resource plan
o Milestone plan


Governance
and  Summary of control
reporting
structure
mechanisms (RIDCAL,
(including how the PMO
risks, issues, change,
will support)
decisions, etc.)
Outline
Contingency  Contract Management
Plan (how will you
strategy
manage risk?)
 Project team
 Post project evaluation
experience
method (lessons
learned)
The programme will be delivered by Major Projects. The Major Projects team have
considerable experience in delivering school projects and specifically capital projects
and have built up over the years a strong working relationships with Nottingham City
schools. The delivery team all hold the Association of Project Managers certificates.
A project management plan (internal document) is developed throughout the
programme process and because of the nature of a PMP it is ongoing and kept live
throughout the various stages of the project programme. The plan defines the project
and explains the journey the project will take and how it will be managed. Reference is
made to the supporting tools and documents necessary to ensure the project is
managed effectively and efficiently and how quality will be assured. Such documents
are in house project management tools such as the risk and issue log, lessons learned
log, change control log communication and stakeholder plan. The project management

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 85

Page 25 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
plan is a live document that sits alongside this business case and has clear
interdependencies.
7.1
Delivery team
- Confirm who will be included in the delivery team, whether they are an internal or
external resource and why this decision has been made. Where appropriate,
identify the experience of the delivery team (if a specialist is required, for
example). Outline the role of the delivery team in relation to the project.
The programme will be managed by a Project Manager reporting to a Programme
Manager within Major Projects. Major Projects are responsible for delivering all of the
significant projects within the City Council and all projects are subject to a number of
project assurance measures to ensure a high standard of project delivery. It is
expected that Major Projects will also deliver instruction, some technical support and
contract administrator duties for the schemes.
Major Projects will require support from colleagues in NCC Procurement, Legal
Services and Building Services.
Major Projects will ensure that Principal Designer and Principal Contractor roles will be
appointed to ensure that NCC fulfils its Construction and Design Management (CDM)
requirements.
Schemes within programmes are usually delivered by a blend of internal resources and
external contractors. Each individual scheme is assessed to ascertain the most
appropriate procurement route to take.
7.2
-

Programme and Key Milestones
Outline the programme for the project as a narrative and then provide a
summary of key milestones in a table. This might include approvals, contract
dates and a completion date.

Milestone

Date

Complete prioritisation exercise to establish list of
initial schemes for 2022/23 grant
Governance process
Executive Board approval
Detailed costings of initial schemes and design stage
( not including Hempshill Hall)
Start on site ( to be confirmed)
Completion on site ( to be confirmed for each
individual scheme)

March/April 2022
May/June 2022
June 2022
June/July 2022
July/August 2022
August/September/October
2022

It is anticipated that works to Hempshill Hall will take place in the summer holidays
2023
7.3

Governance and reporting arrangements

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 86

Page 26 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case

Set how the project will be governed and reported to the organisation including:
- Formal governance arrangements (Boards/ Steering Groups)
- Key stakeholders and how they will be managed
- Role of the PMO and Project Assurance (gate 0 review/ PAG/ MMR)
- Decision making
- Reporting processes
- Communication strategy/ plan

At the time of writing this report the recommendations and proposals have been
presented and approved at Officer Capital Group, Capital Board, Corporate Leadership
Team and Leadership Team and is due to go to Executive Panel prior to the presenting
of the report at Executive Board June 2022.
The programme of works will be managed by the Project Manager in conjunction with
the Programme Manager. The Programme Manager will update the Major Projects
Head of Service at the diarised one to one meetings or where and when necessary.
Any urgent matters outside of this reporting structure are raised on an ad hoc basis as
and when necessary. Any issues or risks that are likely to affect the scope or progress
of the project will be reported to the project sponsor through meetings or emails,
depending on the situation.
An update will be given to the NCC schools’ operational group when they sit or upon
request. This will consist of an update on progress, spend and highlight any risks and
mitigations appropriate.
Formal reporting is completed by way of a monthly monitoring report to the Major
Projects’ Project Management Office.
7.4

Project Approach

Set how the project will be delivered including:
- The project delivery team and their experience
- The project methodology used (APM/ Agile)
- Key documents and how they will be controlled/ signed off (configuration
management) (may be reference to PMP here)
- Change management
- Risk, issues and opportunity management
- Programme with key milestones, any phasing information
- Quality management
- Lessons learnt
- Project handover
Managing scope and quality

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 87

Page 27 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
The project scope will be managed through the individual schemes specific scopes,
which are compiled by joint working between Major Projects and the relevant
contractors and specialists procured.
The project scopes will include any requirements specified of the ESFA standards and
guidelines, City Council standards and all relevant requirements and guidelines. The
quality of design will be managed accordingly by technical specialists and where
appropriate the selected contractor respectively, throughout the process. Major Projects
will act as the Client Project Manager on behalf of the schools, responsible for
controlling the scope and delivery of the project within the timescales and budget
available. All decisions will be made by Major Projects in conjunction with the school
representatives concerning access and management.
Consultation and engagement
Major Projects will continue to work closely with all school and governing bodies in
delivering the projects in the programmes. Major Projects will continue to build on the
positive relationships it has developed with schools. A series of meetings will be held to
discuss and agree the programme of works, site operations, health and safety
management and the timing of progress meetings through the duration of the works.
Minutes of meetings will be recorded and issued in order to formalise discussions and
any decisions made going forward. Major Projects will work with individual schools
throughout the process concluding in handover of the schemes.
Project management
The project will be managed in line with Association of Project Management (APM)
principles using standard documentation developed by the Major Projects team. The
Project Manager will be responsible for ensuring that key project documentation is
developed and kept up to date to ensure the project is managed effectively, and lead
the project team to ensure the project progresses in line with key milestones and the
parameters set. Documentation to support the management of the process will be
project documentation such as the programme, risk registers, lesson learned template
(current and previous lessons learned) and change control management. The Project
Manager will be supported by a Programme Manager, who will have oversight of the
project and be able to support where issues and risks are identified. The project
approach will be formalised in an ongoing Project Management Plan and the
programme will be subject to a number of reporting and review requirements that
provide governance assurance that the project is well managed and offers value for
money.

8.0

List of Appendices to Executive Board Report

.
Appendix ref
Appendix 1:

Title
Business Case

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 88

Page 28 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case
Appendix 2:
Appendix 3:
Appendix 4:

Grant Allocations 2022/23
Equality Impact Assessment ( EIA)
Carbon Impact Assessment (CIA)

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 89

Page 29 of 30

Nottingham City Council
Business Case

9.0

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER/[SPONSOR] SIGN OFF

I confirm the information provided in this Business Case is the best information
available to me, as SRO/Sponsor, at the time of the application.
Signature:
Name:
Position:

Project: Proposals to deliver the schools’ capital maintenance programme for 2022/2023
Version: 5 Final 30.05.22

Page 90

Page 30 of 30

Capital Maintenance Programme 2022/23 – Grant Allocations
School
Walter Halls Primary ( Early
Years Centre)

Scope
Roofing works

Cost (£)
£450,000

Roofing works

£180,000

Structural works to ceilings

£200,000

Fire Separation works

£150,000

Light touch refurbishment.

£100,000

Southwold Primary
Forest Fields Primary
Hempshill Hall Primary
Hospital and Home Education
Learning Centre

Health and Safety Contingency

£270,000

Total

£1,350,000

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Nottingham City Council

Equality Impact Assessment Form
screentip-sectionA

1. Document Control
Control Details:

Page 93

Title:
If this is a budget EIA please ensure the title is
the same as the title used within the budget
booklet
Author:

Schools’ Capital Maintenance Programme 2022/23

Director:

Catherine Underwood

Department:
Service Area:
Contact details:
Strategic Budget EIA: Y/N
(Does this EIA have an impact on the budget)

Children and Adults
Major Projects
Caroline.butrymowicz@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
N

Caroline Butrymowicz

If yes, please include the reference number
Exempt from publication: Y/N
N
(All EIA’s are published on Nottingham Insight for
public viewing unless specified. Exemption criteria
is available on the EIA section on the Intranet)

2. Document Amendment Record:
Version
1

Author
Caroline Butrymowicz – Project
Manager

Date
05/05/22

Approved
Robert Caswell – Programme
Manager

1

Nottingham City Council

3. Contributors/Reviewers (Anyone who has contributed to this document will need to be named):
Name

Position

Date

Rosey Donovan

Equality and Employability Consultant

09/05/2022

4. Glossary of Terms
Term
DFE
NCC
SCAPE
EIA

Description
Department for Education
Nottingham City Council
Systems, Components, Architectural Products and Environments
Equality Impact Assessment

Page 94

screentip-sectionB

5. Summary
(Please provide a brief description of proposal / policy / service being assessed)
This report focuses on utilising annual grant funding received from the DFE to deliver the condition and maintenance works
programme for 2022/23 at Nottingham City Schools. The funding is to address health and safety and condition issues of
maintained schools. Works to improve roofs, windows, replace fire alarm systems, address heating systems, remove
asbestos and safeguarding issues will be undertaken if the report is approved.
screentip-sectionC

2

Nottingham City Council

6. Information used to analyse the effects on equality:
(Please include information about how you have consulted/ have data from the impacted groups)
There is no significant benefit or adverse impact on any groups as a result of the works. The works will improve the
condition and longevity of existing school buildings. The remit of these works is maintenance rather than improving
accessibility for particular groups.
If the report is approved then contractors will be procured using either the Scape Regional Framework, a competitive
tender process or by awarding to NCC Building Services. All of these are compliant routes for procuring works. The
Scape Regional Framework bands works into categories, depending on the value of the works. It is likely that there may
be a number of contractors appointed to carry out works. Contractors have key performance indicators in place to
ensure they monitor local spend and involve small to medium enterprises where possible. The information is monitored
by SCAPE and reviewed by the City Council Procurement team.
Page 95

7. Impacts and Actions:
screentip-sectionD

Could particularly benefit
X

May adversely impact
X

People from different ethnic groups.
Men
Women
Trans
Disabled people or carers.
Pregnancy/ Maternity
People of different faiths/ beliefs and those with none.
3

Nottingham City Council
Lesbian, gay or bisexual people.
Older
Younger
Other (e.g. marriage/ civil partnership, looked after
children, cohesion/ good relations, vulnerable children/
adults).
Please underline the group(s) /issue more
adversely affected or which benefits.

Page 96

screentip-sectionE

How different groups
could be affected
(Summary of impacts)

Provide details for impacts / benefits on people in different
protected groups.
Note: the level of detail should be proportionate to the
potential impact of the proposal / policy / service. Continue
on separate sheet if needed (click and type to delete this
note)

screentip-sectionF
Details of actions to mitigate, remove or justify
negative impact or increase positive impact
(or why action isn’t possible)

The schemes within the programme will be assessed for any
impact on equality from inception through to completion and
benefit realisation. This will be measured by liaising with the
relevant contractors and schools to ensure there have been no
adverse impacts on any particular group. This EIA will remain
a live document and Major Projects will keep the EIA updated
of any impacts and inform colleagues in the Equalities and
Employability service area.

The works will improve the condition of school buildings. It
is proposed that the scheme will be delivered by a blend of

4

Nottingham City Council
contractors who are internal collegues from Building Services, or The majority of the works will always be programmed to be
procured via the Scape Regional Framework (lower band) for the completed during the main school summer holiday period.
Midlands or who are appointed following competitive tender .
Structured phasing of the work will ensure any disturbance to either
pupils and staff will be kept to a minimum and not impact on the
The programme of work will ensure children in the City continue school operationally or learning.
to both learn and thrive in their school buildings, without disruption
to learning as a result of building issues. We are supporting schools
to address issues both building condition issues and health and
safety issues that they could not otherwise afford to resolve and
rectify themselves. .
The prioritisation of projects is based on keeping the buildings
and grounds safe and to identify where there is a risk that the
school will close unless the works are completed for example due
to heating failure
Page 97

8. Arrangements for future monitoring of equality impact of this proposal / policy / service:
Once the works are com pleted we will ask schools to com plete an end user feedback form on how w e
have performed and how the works were managed on site. As part of the benefit reali sation stage of the
project we will carry out p ost-occupancy review s. These will be undertaken to ensure that the project s
have met the needs of the individual schools.

5

Nottingham City Council

9. Outcome(s) of equality impact assessment:
No major change needed
Adverse impact but continue

Adjust the policy/proposal
Stop and remove the policy/proposal

10. Approved by (manager signature) and Date sent to equality team for publishing:
Approving Manager :
The assessment must be approved by the manager
responsible for the service/proposal. Include a contact
tel & email to allow citizen/stakeholder feedback on
proposals.

Date sent for advice:
Send document or Link to:
equalities@nottingham city.gov.uk

Page 98

Approving Manager Signature :
Date of final approval : 11 t h May 2022
Robert Caswell, Programm e M anager, Major
Projects.

Before you send your EIA to the Equality and Employability Team for advice, have you:
1. Read the guidance and good practice EIA’s
http://intranet.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/1924/simple-guide-to-eia.doc
2. Clearly summarised your proposal/ policy/ service to be assessed.
3. Hyperlinked to the appropriate documents.
4. Written in clear user-friendly language, free from all jargon (spelling out acronyms).
5. Included appropriate data.
6. Consulted the relevant groups or citizens or stated clearly, when this is going to happen.
7. Clearly cross-referenced your impacts with SMART actions.
6

Nottingham City Council

PLEASE NOTE: FINAL VERSION MUST BE SENT TO EQUALITIES OTHERWISE RECORDS WILL REMAIN INCOMPLETE.

Page 99
7

This page is intentionally left blank

Carbon Impact Assessment Dashboard Tool (v1.1)
Nottingham City Council (NCC) has taken the ambitious aim of becoming the first UK carbon neutral city, setting itself the target to achieve this by 2028. On the 13th January 2020, Nottingham City Council acknowledged the scale of this challenge by
declaring a Climate and Ecological Emergency at Full Council, recognising the immediate action required to achieve sustainable carbon neutrality. A key objective in Nottingham’s Carbon Neutral Action Plan is to develop a ‘carbon neutral by design’
ethos where everything that is proposed includes carbon reduction considerations/activities as a matter of course. This means that if you develop or change a policy, project, service, function, or strategy, you need to identify the impact of the activity
regarding the climate. Our preferred method for doing this is by conducting a Carbon Impact Assessment. This is similar to a risk assessment, or an equalities impact assessment; it is a structured report showing:
•What effects our activities have on the climate (mainly through our emissions of greenhouse gasses) and what we are doing to reduce these effects.
•What impacts a changing climate may have on our services and functions and what actions we will take to become more resilient and less vulnerable.
Use the 'cheat sheet' to the right hand side on the Input tab for quick instructions, and the Categories Guidance and Scoring Guidance tabs for further guidance on these. Full guidance can be found in the accompanying Guidance Notes document.

This Carbon Impact Assessment Dashboard (CIAD) has been adapted by Nottingham City Council from Chesterfield Borough Council’s (CBC) climate change impact assessment tool. CBC has developed this tool for internal use, and supplied this tool
“as is” with no warranty of any kind under a Creative Commons attributional, non-commercial licence.
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0

Page 101

Carbon Impact Assessment Dashboard Tool (v1.1)

Waste and
Water
(+2)

Report Name
Report date
Report author
Project Notes

Schools' Capital Maintenance Programme
2022/23
06.05.22
Caroline Butrymowicz
Proposals to be presented at Executive
Board in June 2022 .

Category

Impact

Behaviour and Culture Change
Behaviour and Culture Change

Communication & engagement
Wider influence

Behaviour and Culture Change

Working with communities

Behaviour and Culture Change

Working with partners

Built Environment

Building construction

Built Environment
Built Environment
Business & internal resources
Business & internal resources
Business & internal resources
Business & internal resources
Carbon Removal & Ecology
Carbon Removal & Ecology
Carbon Removal & Ecology
Carbon Removal & Ecology
Consumption

Building use
Switching away from fossil fuels
Developing green businesses
Marketable skills & training
Sustainability in business
Material / infrastructure requirement
Carbon storage
Biodiversity & Ecology
Bee friendly city
Carbon offsets
Food & Drink

Consumption

Products

Page 102

Consumption

Services

Consumption

Local and low-carbon production

Energy
Energy
Energy
Resilience and Adaptation
Resilience and Adaptation
Resilience and Adaptation
Resilience and Adaptation
Resilience and Adaptation
Transport
Transport

Local renewable generation capacity
Reducing energy demand
Improved energy storage
Green / blue infrastructure
Natural flood management
Drought vulnerability
Flooding vulnerability
Heatwave vulnerability
Staff travel requirement
Decarbonising vehicles

Transport

Improving infrastructure

Transport

Supporting people to use active travel

Transport

Reduced need to travel

Waste and Water
Waste and Water
Waste and Water
Waste and Water
Other
Other
Other
Other

Single-use plastic
End of life disposal / recycling
Waste volume
Water use
Other 1
Other 2
Other 3
Other 4

Generated
01/06/22
v1.1

Preview
Behaviour
and Culture
Change
(+3)
Built
Environment
(-1)

Transport
(↓↑ 0)

Resilience and
Adaptation
(+2)

Energy
(+2)

+15

Copy to
Save to
Copy alt-text

Business &
Internal
Resources
(+2)

Carbon
Removal &
Ecology
Consumption
(+2)
(+3)

Notes / justification for score / existing work
Score
(see guidance sheet or attached notes for more information)
(-5 to +5)
+1
This is an opportunity to engage further with schools to increase awareness.
Nottingham is aiming to become the first carbon neutral city in
No measurable effect
the country by 2028 (5 years and 7 months away).
This could be an opportunity to engage with partners who work with schools from both the community and other
+1
organisations .
+1
We will use this an opportunity to work with partners eg. Out of school clubs that operate
We will ensure that where possible we will incorporate interventions that improve buildings fabric in a more
environmentally friendly way and measure to BREEAM rating standards. For example we will increase insulation to
roofs where possible
Where appropriate we will include better lighting interventions and encourage lower carbon travel to site .
-1
For the 2022/23 programme of works we are expecting limited impact
We will link with main contractors to see if we can devleop better links with greener businesses if possible
+1
We will request and review all companies environmental policies and assesss acordingly.
Unaware at this time, as we have not entered the procurement stage
+1
We will only use necessary resources encourage recycling where possible
To be confirmed and developed during the scoping process
+1
We will not hinder the natural world. We will seek to improve it where we can .
+1
We will contribute to this in any schemes that involve planting eg, security hedges
Unknown
Not applicable
We will always check our suppliers environmental policy and ensure if we tender any works this will be part of the
+1
selection criteria
We will review this with the appointed contractor and sub contractors
Our long term draft strategy is to reduce carbon production by including interventions that will mitigate production of
+2
carbon for example by considering how we can install lower carbon heating interventions and carry out related works
to the fabric of buildings to ensure better insulation and retention of heat.
+1
We will include in scope renewable energy options where possible - eg. By the installation of solar panels.
+1
Any electrical systems will be more energy efficient eg. LED lighting
unknown at this time
+1
We will not negatively impact natural habitats and where possible we will create more water efficient systems
+1
When applicable to a scheme we will ensure we manage and improve flood risk
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
In future programmes and where applicable we will encourage and try to improve the number of lower carbon
+1
methods of travel
Not applicable to this programme of works .
Contractors will need to travel to site to deliver the works and at this time we do not have information on the type of
-1
energy used to power their fleet of vehicles.
+1
We will use sustainable materials and not use plastic
+1
We will work with subcontractors to ensure that we recycle as much waste material as possible.
Unknown
Unknown

Cheat Sheet
1. We are looking at the effects of this decision (not our past performance, or actions
that represent future decisions)
2. We are looking at the whole impact of the decision (regardless of geographical
location or organisational boundary)
3. We are only looking at the climate impact - other impacts, and social, economic,
wellbeing measures are recorded elsewhere.
4. We need to stay accessible. Click on the "copy alt-text" button above and then paste
the result into the alt text box for your infographic in word. Click here for a guide
5. Your report must include some explanation as well as the infographic. If the decision
will have consequences past 2028 you must say so in your report.
6. While there are no other specific rules for writing the summary, some of the things
you may want to discuss include:
• What are the biggest costs and benefits of this activity in terms of the climate?
• Are there things that we will have to include in future iterations of this action – do
you have a recommendation?
• Are there measures already included in your plan to minimise the costs and
maximise benefits with respect to climate change?
• Are there other costs and benefits which are outside the scope of the CIAD? For
example, does the project have high value in terms of economic or social benefit
which outweighs the climate cost? Is this a valuable climate action which has a cost
elsewhere?
• What are your ambitions for this activity – what is technically feasible and what do
you think we should be aiming for?
• If we were to carry out the activity in the best possible way for the climate, what
would that look like?
• What method(s) if any are available to monitor our climate performance on this
activity? This might include internal data (electricity bills, milage claims etc.) or an
external verification process. Is this feasible? If not, why not?
• What are the constraints which stop you doing more? Time, money, expertise,
political support, partner buy in, something else?
If you get stuck, please contact climatechange@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Click here to go to tutorial on
adding alt text

If an impact could reasonably be added in more than one place, then it is up to you to decide where it should go. It will then be included in the calculation, however just include it once to ensure you are not double-counting impacts.

Category

Impact

Behaviour and
Culture Change

Communication &
engagement

Behaviour and
Culture Change
Behaviour and
Culture Change
Behaviour and
Culture Change

Wider influence
Working with communities
Working with partners

Built Environment

Building construction

Built Environment

Building use

Built Environment

Switching away from fossil
fuels

Notes & examples
Does this activity increase awareness of climate change, and our actions to address climate change issues? Does it challenge climate change disinformation, and can we back up what we say
with good quality published science? Conversely, is this activity embarrassing from a climate point of view? Is there a climate cost to a positive action that we are delivering for other reasons?
Is this reasonable and justifiable?
Does this activity result in us gaining authority on a climate change issue, could we be a clear example to other local authorities, are we leading on this? A negative outcome would be us
missing opportunities, failing to engage with the wider conversation, or re-inventing existing work.
Does this activity help build awareness, willingness, and skills in our communities to address climate change? Does it have a cost or benefit in terms of our relationships with community
groups?
Are we taking steps in this activity to ensure that we are working with partners with similar values to ours in relation to climate change? Is this activity expanding or limiting our work with
partners more generally?
How is the building constructed? Positive impacts would include retrofitting existing buildings rather than demolition and replacement, construction using low carbon materials (e.g. low
concrete, additional timber) to high standard (BREEAM [Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method], Passivhaus etc.) the inclusion of high grade insulation, low
carbon heating, and microgeneration technologies. Negative impacts would generally be business as usual construction techniques. This is distinct from the building use impact in that it is
about the fabric of the building rather than how the building is used. If it is not clear whether an impact should be in this category or the building use category below, simply choose one, and
make sure you don’t report an item in both categories.
How is the building used? Positive impacts would include encouragement of low-carbon living and travel. This could be provision of bicycle storage, water fountains, recycling bins, automatic
lighting, or passive cooling etc. Negative impacts would include removal or omission of one or more of these modifications, or alterations that discourage low carbon use (removal of cycle
storage for example). If it is not clear whether an impact should be in this category or the construction category above, simply choose one, and make sure you don’t report an item in both
categories.
Does this activity involve an increase or decrease in static fossil fuel technologies (transport is covered later). For example, replacement of an existing gas boiler with a heat pump of an
equivalent rating would be a positive score. Installation of new fossil fuel systems represents a negative score in this category (even if they are more efficient than existing systems)

Page 103

Does the activity explicitly support the development of green businesses? This impact covers businesses which are focussed on delivering green technologies, research, services etc. NOT
Business & internal
Developing green businesses simply an existing business implementing incremental changes to established processes and supply chains (which would be counted under sustainability in business below). Examples might
resources
be development of a new business installing solar panels, providing energy audits, or manufacturing EV charging points. Negative scores would reflect adverse effects on these businesses
Business & internal
Marketable skills & training
resources
Business & internal
Sustainability in business
resources
Business & internal Material / infrastructure
resources
requirement
Carbon Removal &
Carbon storage
Ecology
Carbon Removal &
Biodiversity & Ecology
Ecology
Carbon Removal &
Bee friendly city
Ecology
Carbon Removal &
Carbon offsets
Ecology
Consumption

Food & Drink

Consumption

Products

Consumption

Services

Consumption
Energy

Local and low-carbon
production
Local renewable generation
capacity

Does this activity provide training to individuals and businesses in improving their climate change performance, or in developing marketable green skills? For example, this might include land
management, waste reduction, low carbon construction, microgeneration technologies etc. Negative effects are unlikely in this category, but could include closure of a local training provider
Does this activity support businesses in applying best practice and sustainable solutions in their existing business model and supply chains? This must be a quantifiable shift in business
practice to reduce climate impact (rather than a high score simply because the business is involved in some form of low carbon technology – this would be included under the developing green
businesses heading). Examples of this might be successful application to a new certification scheme (FSC, PEFC, ISO 14001 etc.) a switch to a less carbon intensive manufacturing process,
successful applications to government decarbonisation schemes etc.
Does this activity result in us using more or less of our existing infrastructure, supplies and council resources? Will this have an indirect impact on the climate change impact of other services?
Are we taking the appropriate steps to ensure that we are using the minimum necessary resource, and that it is at the highest possible environmental standard? Is there a clear constraint
stopping us from doing more?
Does this project result in a net increase or decrease in carbon storage? This might be land based or through building management practices, for example use of negative emission
technologies. Land carbon storage is likely to be directly correlated with the amount of timber (or mature trees) on the site, but may also be affected by peat use as a horticultural medium.
Remember trees take a long time to grow (!), so simply replacing a mature tree with a newly planted one would still result in a loss of carbon.
Does this activity help or hinder the natural world's ability to cope with climate change? Are we creating, destroying, or modifying habitats? Are we joining up species rich areas or cutting that
connectivity? Are there measures we could be taking to minimise the damage of our activities?
Does this activity help or hinder having a Bee Friendly city?
Does this activity help offset residual citywide emissions from hard to reduce sources?
Are we working to ensure that we specify lower carbon options when we buy in food and drink? Typically, we want to use food that is less land and carbon intensive to produce, process, and
transport. This means we should ideally be reducing red meat and dairy consumption, and keeping supply chains as short as possible (i.e. buying locally produced food where possible). How is
the food packaged? Is it wrapped in foil or plastic? Are we increasing the quantities we buy, or decreasing?
Are we increasing overall consumption of products or decreasing them? External businesses providing products have their own carbon emissions. Is the product absolutely necessary? Does
the supplier have an environmental policy? Is it better than their competitors? Are we maximising existing resources?
Are we increasing overall consumption of services or decreasing them? External businesses providing services have their own carbon emissions. Does this activity increase or decrease our
indirect emissions created by relying on these services? Is the service absolutely necessary? Does the supplier have an environmental policy? Is it better than their competitors?
Are we working to ensure we increase local and low-carbon production, or reduce the consumption of high carbon products?
Does the activity include changes to local capacity for renewable electricity / heat generation? This might include solar PV panels, heat pumps, biomass boilers, wind turbines, micro-hydro etc.
Negative effects would include decommissioning of local capacity, e.g. building on an existing solar farm.

Energy

Reducing energy demand

Energy

Improved energy storage

Resilience and
Adaptation

Green / blue infrastructure

Resilience and
Adaptation
Resilience and
Adaptation

Natural flood management
Drought vulnerability

Does the activity change overall energy demand? This might include installation of more efficient systems, or management to allow reduced heating or lighting energy demand. A negative
score would represent a net increase in heating or lighting energy demand.
Does the activity improve the capacity to store local low carbon energy?
This includes changes to the value of green / blue infrastructure in the built environment (excluding wider land use which is included below). Impacts may include habitat creation within a
building (nesting boxes or a green roof for example) the introduction of street trees or sustainable drainage from a development. These are measures which are implemented with good building
design but are not necessarily part of the building itself. Negative impacts would include habitat loss, impermeable drainage surfaces etc.
Is this activity reducing or increasing the risk of flooding due to changes in land use? Rough vegetation, woodland, and artificial flood storage areas will decrease the risk, impermeable
surfaces, open ground, and drainage directly into watercourses will increase it. Are there modifications we could make to the activity to improve its performance?
By 2050 we expect drier summers. How vulnerable is the activity to drought? (High vulnerability is a low score; low vulnerability would be a higher score)
By 2050 we expect the biggest rainfall events to be up to 20% more intense than current extremes (peak rainfall intensity). Average winter rainfall may increase by 23% on today’s averages.
This means that at their highest, the flow in watercourses could be 30% greater than current extremes. How vulnerable is the activity to flooding both from rivers and surface water? (High
vulnerability would result in a negative score, whilst low vulnerability would result in a positive score)
By 2050 we expect summer daily maximum temperature may be around 3.7°C higher compared to average summer temperatures now. Winter daily maximum temperature could be 2.9°C
more than the current average, with the potential for more extreme temperatures, both warmer and colder than present. How vulnerable is the activity to heatwaves? (High vulnerability would
result in a negative score, whilst low vulnerability would result in a positive score)
Does this activity mean that staff will need to travel more or less? Can this be reduced? Can we modify the project to change the mode of transport (public transport, cycling, walking, remote
working etc.) If not, why not?
Does this activity increase or decrease the use of fossil-fuelled vehicles? This may include decarbonisation of vehicles (e.g. shift to renewable fuels).

Resilience and
Adaptation

Flooding vulnerability

Resilience and
Adaptation

Heatwave vulnerability

Transport

Staff travel requirement

Transport

Decarbonising vehicles

Transport

Improving infrastructure

Does this activity increase or decrease the opportunities within the city for low carbon forms of travel? This may include increased provision of paths, cycle storage and repair facilities, lighting
on public rights of way etc. Conversely, does this activity make active forms of travel more difficult? Does it divert traffic, or block access, does it result in a net loss of training and facilities.

Transport

Supporting people to use
active travel

Does the activity provide support for people to use active forms of travel (mainly cycling and walking). This may include training and improvements to general health and fitness. Removal of
any of these services would result in a negative score.

Transport

Reduced need to travel

Does this activity increase or decrease the need to travel in the city? This may include redesigning processes to decrease travel needs, increasing load factor, increasing vehicle efficiency

Page 104

Waste and Water

Nottingham City Council are committed to phasing out single-use plastic where possible by 2023. Does purchase of this product increase or decrease our reliance on single-use plastic? Is
Single-use plastic
there an effective alternative? What does the supplier pack the product in?
Do you expect this activity to increase or decrease the proportion of waste which is recycled? Does it increase the amount of mixing of otherwise recyclable material? Does it make recycling
End of life disposal / recycling
easier and more efficient?
Waste volume
Will this activity increase or decrease the total volume of waste?

Waste and Water

Water use

Waste and Water
Waste and Water

Does this activity reduce water demand? E.g. through improving the efficiency of the water supply and water treatment, behaviour change. Conversely, does it increase total water demand?

All scores are based on an estimate of impact on a sliding scale from -5 to +5, based on the landmarks in the table below.
Remember you can use any values between -5 and +5 (including half points). For further guidance see the accompanying guidance notes document.
Score

-5

-3

0

Definition
A major climate cost which affects the whole of NCC and our neighbours, the entire city, or which will continue for at least a decade.
This might be a decision which has one or more of the following:
• A serious impact on our ability to become carbon neutral by 2028
• A significant impact increasing emissions at a city level
• A long-term increase in city emission of more than 100 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent per year (approximately 450,000 miles of petrol car travel)
• A substantial reduction in our ability to store carbon or manage climate change adaptations within the city (felling woodland for example.)
A significant climate cost which affects the whole of NCC, an entire ward (or equivalent), or which lasts longer than five years.
For example:
• A multi-year project with a large energy requirement
• A significant increase in waste through refurbishing a large number of buildings
• A permanent or long-term increase in city emissions of more than 10 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent per year (approximately 45,000 miles of petrol car travel)
• A substantial reduction in our ability to store carbon or manage climate change adaptations within the city, e.g. building on a greenfield site.
No measurable effect. Negligible change.

Page 105

A significant climate benefit which affects the whole of NCC, an entire ward (or equivalent), or which lasts longer than five years.

3

For example:
• Installation of renewable energy generation capacity within NCC buildings
• Reduction of fleet use, or reduced requirement for fossil fuel powered vehicles.
• A permanent or long-term decrease in city emissions of more than 10 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent per year (approximately 45,000 miles of petrol car travel)
• A substantial increase in our ability to store carbon or manage climate change adaptations within the city, e.g. the development of a natural flood management scheme.
A major climate benefit which affects the whole of NCC and our neighbours, the entire city, or which will continue for at least a decade.

5

This might be a decision which has one or more of the following:
• A significant reduction in emissions that requires no additional emissions to realise (‘no regrets’ change)
• A project or decision which could be considered an exemplar project for other local authorities
• A significant project decreasing emissions at a city level
• A long-term decrease in our emission levels of more than 100 tonne of carbon dioxide equivalent per year (approximately 450,000 miles of petrol car travel)
• A substantial increase in our ability to store carbon or manage climate change adaptations within the city (planting more than 1ha of woodland for example).

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Executive Board
21 June 2022
Subject:

Receipt of Funding for the Construction of High-Quality
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure

Corporate
Sajeeda Rose, Corporate Director for Growth and City
Director(s)/Director(s): Development
Portfolio Holder(s):

Councillor Audra Wynter, Portfolio Holder for Highways,
Transport and Parks

Report author and
contact details:

Keith Morgan, Principal Transport Planner
keith.morgan@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Other colleagues who
have provided input:
Subject to call-in:

Yes

No

Key Decision:
Yes
No
Criteria for Key Decision:
(a)
Expenditure
Income
Savings of £750,000 or more taking account of
the overall impact of the decision
and/or
(b)
Significant impact on communities living or working in two or more wards in
the City
Yes
No
Type of expenditure:
Revenue
Capital
Date considered by the Capital Board: 16 May 2022
Total value of the decision: £3,303,199
Wards affected: St Ann’s, Basford and Leen Valley
Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder(s): 5 April 2022
Relevant Council Plan Key Outcome:
Clean and Connected Communities
Keeping Nottingham Working
Carbon Neutral by 2028
Safer Nottingham
Child-Friendly Nottingham
Healthy and Inclusive
Keeping Nottingham Moving
Improve the City Centre
Better Housing
Financial Stability
Serving People Well
Page 107

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):
Delivering high-quality, sustainable, green transport will enable Nottingham to
become a resilient city that is able to cope with and tackle climate change. By
improving the liveability of our local neighbourhoods and creating healthier streets
that are co-designed with our communities, our residents (both young and old) will
benefit from a smarter, cleaner, better-connected and forward-looking transport
system, all designed to make Nottingham a better place to live, work, play and
invest.
To support this aim, through competitive bidding, the Council has successfully
secured just over £3.3 million of external grant funding directly from the Department
for Transport (DfT) and via the sustainable transport charity Sustrans.
This report is to approve the allocation of this capital funding to be spent on the
delivery of high-quality infrastructure conforming to the latest design standards along
the St Ann’s Well Road corridor; Lincoln Street, Basford; and the Beechdale Road /
Ring Road junction, which will enable and encourage more walking and cycling
journeys.
The three schemes are all on corridors that are seen as a strategic priority to the
cycle network. Investments of this nature will complement high-profile investments
into the cycling network that are taking place through previous Active Travel Fund
(ATF) bids and the Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) in the city centre, and on other
main road corridors into the City Centre, as well as the proposed new walking and
cycling bridge over the Trent. In doing so, this will support wider outcomes such as
health benefits and the carbon reduction ambition by reducing the need for
motorised transport.
Initial public consultation has shown that the provision of safe and accessible
infrastructure specifically for cycling and walking are wanted within the communities
where this investment will be made. The proposed schemes will be designed to
complement the public transport network and will enhance the look and feel of the
communities where the investment is made.
Does this report contain any information that is exempt from publication?
No

Recommendation(s):
1. To accept the Active Travel Fund allocation of £2,200,000 from the Department
of Transport (DfT) to deliver a segregated cycling corridor and associated
pedestrian improvements along St Ann’s Well Road.
2. To accept the DfT grant funding from Sustrans of £1,103,199 for the delivery of
walking and cycling improvements on Lincoln Street, Basford and on the
Beechdale Road / Ring Road junction.

Page 108

3. To commence consultation with residents, Ward Councillors and the Portfolio
Holder for Highways, Transport and Parks to inform the detailed design of the
schemes.
4. To note the requirement to work with Active Travel England on scheme design
and delivery, which is a condition of the grant funding.

1.

Reasons for recommendations

1.1 Recommendation 1: £2.2 million has been secured from a successful bid to the
DfT’s Active Travel Fund. This will be the third successive year of funding the
Council has secured from the fund. All costs associated with the delivery of the
scheme will be contained within the £2.2 million allocation the Council has been
awarded, with no additional funding required. By accepting the funding, the Council
will continue to work with the DfT and Active Travel England (ATE) to secure future
funding settlements for cycling and walking infrastructure. The scheme will be
delivered using in-house resources and approved framework contractors.
1.2 Recommendation 2: Two further projects have secured funding via the sustainable
transport charity Sustrans. Sustrans allocate grant funding on behalf of the DfT and
work with local authorities to identify where walking and cycling investment can be
best used. This investment has a particular focus on improving the National Cycle
Network (NCN), which they are custodians of. In Nottingham, NCN Route 6 runs
through the city and both schemes will support improvements to this route.
1.3 Sustrans will provide the Council with £451,980 for the Lincoln Street scheme in
Basford. The Beechdale Road junction with the Ring Road scheme is to receive
£651,219. The second of these schemes will complement wider improvements in the
area being delivered through the TCF programme. The schemes will be delivered
using in-house resources and approved framework contractors.
1.4 Recommendation 3: All schemes have had initial public consultation with support
shown for investment to improve cycling and walking. All three schemes will require
further consultation with the public, local businesses, the Portfolio Holder and Ward
Councillors to inform the detailed design and ensure local issues are addressed.
1.5 Recommendation 4: This is a positive move that has the potential to provide access
to funding, training and discussions around best practice in delivering walking and
cycling schemes and will be beneficial in developing bids for future funding and
ensuring the highest quality of scheme design is provided. It is a condition of the
funding that the Council works closely with ATE in working up the details of the
schemes.
2.

Background

2.1 Recommendation 1: A funding bid was submitted to the DfT in August 2021.
Funding was made available through a third tranche of the ATF (the Council has
accepted and delivered two earlier ATF programmes). Earlier rounds of ATF allowed
initial consultation and some investment to be made on these schemes prior to the

Page 109

funding bid to engage with communities and identify a need and appetite for
investment. All schemes are within the Nottingham Cycling Strategy that Nottingham
has developed with the other D2N2 Local Enterprise Partnership authorities to create
the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP).
2.2 The £2.2 million of funding that has been awarded will enable improvements for
walking and cycling along the St Ann’s Well Road. This corridor has been prioritised
as it serves the north and east of the city where cycling provision is currently lacking
compared to other areas. It has the support of the Portfolio Holder and Ward
Councillors. Design work for the scheme has been undertaken as part of the bid
process. There is no requirement to provide any match funding. The scheme is
scalable to ensure delivery without risk of an additional financial burden being
imposed on the Council.
2.3 Recommendation 2: The sustainable transport charity Sustrans is responsible for
working with Local Authorities to ensure the upkeep of the NCN. Sustrans has
recently upgraded the standard of infrastructure that is needed for a road to be
considered part of the NCN. This now requires cyclists to be segregated from traffic.
A section of NCN Route 6 is in Nottingham and has been identified as not
conforming to this new standard. To support the upgrade of the route Sustrans have
provided £451,980 to undertake improvement works.
2.4 The funding will be used to deliver improvements on Lincoln Street in Basford
(subject to public consultation). This supports improvements which have already
been made to the Ring Road (A6514) that has taken place through the TCF
programme.
2.5 Sustrans have also provided support for the TCF scheme on Beechdale Road.
£651,219 has been provided to enhance the connections of this route to the NCN.
This funding will be combined with existing budgets to enhance the TCF scheme and
the Council will work with Sustrans and ATE to ensure the scheme is designed and
implemented to the required design standards.
2.6 Recommendation 3: The consultation outlined in paragraph 1.4 will be taken
forward once funding acceptance has been agreed.
2.7 Recommendation 4: ATE is a new organisation established by the Government that
will work with Local Authorities on the design and delivery of active travel schemes. It
is expected that future funding contributions made for walking and cycling schemes
will be made to local authorities who actively engage with ATE.
2.8 The Council has arranged for lead officers from ATE to visit Nottingham to discuss
the schemes and future design requirements to ensure that the Council fully
engages and complies with the funding requirements and benefits from opportunities
that the organisation will bring to enhancing design and future funding opportunities.
3.

Other options considered in making recommendations

3.1 To not accept the DfT funding: the Council was offered an opportunity to bid for
funding and has worked with the DfT to agree a scheme. The scheme put forward

Page 110

has support from an initial public consultation and it forms part of the strategic cycle
network identified for improvement. The Council has a strong reputation for transport
scheme delivery and by entering into this funding agreement it will open up further
opportunities for funding as indicated in the grant letter. Not accepting the funding
would put future funding to deliver cycling and walking schemes at risk, so this option
is rejected.
3.2 To not accept the Sustrans funding: the Council has two schemes that form part of
the strategic cycle network where one is ready to construct with the funding that has
been offered and the other is in the process of being designed. By not accepting the
funding it would mean funding would need to be sought from an alternative source to
implement the scheme, or the scheme does not go ahead. It would damage the
Council’s reputation for delivery with Sustrans and risk potential funding
opportunities from Sustrans in the future, so this option is rejected.
4.

Consideration of Risk

4.1 In both cases, schemes will be delivered solely with the external funding and
therefore place no burden on Council budgets. The schemes are scalable and will be
managed to ensure costs do not exceed the budgets provided. The funding will
cover all elements of the project including construction, fees and officer time for
project management.
4.2 The DfT grant letter states that “Funding must wherever possible be committed by
the end of the 2022/23 financial year, and schemes delivered as soon as reasonably
possible thereafter, but where this is not possible authorities should discuss options
with the Department’s/ATE officials.” The project team will work to these timescales
and maintain a dialogue with the DfT if any issues arise.
4.3 Designs are required to comply with the Government’s LTN1/20 design standards.
The St Ann’s Well Road scheme was audited as part of the bid process and designs
are compliant. The Council has worked with Sustrans on the design of both schemes
to ensure design compliance. Sustrans are respected by the DfT and will be involved
in providing national training on LTN1/20 design standards and have audited the
design to ensure compliance.
4.4 It is a risk that consultation on the next stage of design shows that residents do not
support the schemes. However, initial consultation has taken place and there is an
appetite to make improvements. As with all transport schemes, views will be listened
to and, if necessary, amendments can be made to designs to take account of
comments.
5.

Finance colleague comments

5.1 The recommendations within this report have been endorsed by the Capital Board
and the Transport Capital Programme will be increased by £3.3 million following the
approval of the enclosed recommendations.

Page 111

5.2 The project manager is required to ensure that all expenditure is in accordance with
the grant conditions and meets the capitalisation criteria, support is to be provided by
Technical Finance where required.
5.3 All capital costs within this decision are required to be managed within the enclosed
grant awards and the supporting Transforming Cities grant. Within the
recommendations it confirms the projects are scalable if required, however any
potential overspend is required to be managed within the Transport Capital
Programme resources.
5.4 Once the works within this decision have been completed any additional revenue /
maintenance costs are required to be managed within current revenue budgets.
Comments provided by Tom Straw, Senior Accountant – Capital Programmes, on 5
May 2022
6.

Legal colleague comments

6.1 There are no significant legal issues arising from this report. There is no legal
prohibition from accepting the funding. The Council must be satisfied that it can meet
any funding obligations and ensure that the funding is used in accordance with such
obligations.
6.2 There are no specific procurement requirements in the report with the expectation
that the works will be carried out by the Council’s in-house Highways Team. Where
work needs to be sub-contracted this would be through the Council’s established
framework agreements and the ability to call-off from those has previously been
agreed at Commissioning and Procurement Executive Committee on 13 April 2021
and 15 February 2022. Should there be any additional contracting needs as the
works progress these will be subject to further approvals.
Comments provided by Naomi Vass, Team Leader – Contracts and Commercial, on
24 May 2022
7.

Procurement college comments

7.1 There are no significant procurement implications with the recommendations set out
within the report. Following discussions with the client the two schemes referred to
within the report will be delivered internally by the Council Highways Section and
again raises no significant procurement risks.
Comments provided by Sue Oliver, Procurement Category Manager, on 25 May 2022
8.

Crime and Disorder implications

8.1 Investment in the public realm will help improve how the city’s streets are used and
perceived and encouraging more walking and cycling ensures more people and
activity and has the potential to reduce crime.

Page 112

9.

Social value considerations

9.1 This investment will enhance areas and uplift the quality of streets.
10. Regard to the NHS Constitution
10.1 This funding will provide opportunities for more walking and cycling with levels
predicted to increase as a result of the expenditure. There are proven health benefits
for mental and physical health from walking and cycling.
11. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)
11.1 An EIA has been produced and is attached as Enc. 1, and due regard will be given
to any implications identified in it.
12. Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA)
12.1 A DPIA is not required because there are no DPIA implications associated with
accepting funding. When public consultation takes place on the schemes the
requirement for a DPIA will be assessed.
13. Carbon Impact Assessment (CIA)
13.1 The funding bid required a business case to be produced. This provided a value for
carbon reduction that building these facilities will provide through the substitution of
car trips to walking and cycling.
14. List of background papers relied upon in writing this report
14.1 None.
15. Published documents referred to in this report
15.1 None.

Page 113

This page is intentionally left blank

Nottingham City Council

Equality Impact Assessment Form
screentip-sectionA

1. Document Control
Control Details:

Page 115

Title:
If this is a budget EIA please ensure the title is
the same as the title used within the budget
booklet
Author:

Acceptance of capital funds to enable walking and cycling
infrastructure to be constructed.

Director:

Sajeeda Rose

Department:
Service Area:
Contact details:

Growth and City Development
Transport Strategy
keith.morgan@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
07929 667 400
N

Strategic Budget EIA: Y/N
(Does this EIA have an impact on the budget)

Keith Morgan

If yes, please include the reference number
Exempt from publication: N
N
(All EIA’s are published on Nottingham Insight for
public viewing unless specified. Exemption criteria
is available on the EIA section on the Intranet)

2. Document Amendment Record:
Version
1-0

Author
Ciaran Meyers

Date
09/05/2022

Approved

1

Nottingham City Council

3. Contributors/Reviewers (Anyone who has contributed to this document will need to be named):
Name
Keith Morgan
Rosey Donovan

Position
Principal Transport Planner
Equality and Employability Consultant

Date
23/05/2022
24/05/2022

4. Glossary of Terms
Term
Department for Transport

Active Travel England
Page 116

Local Transport Note 1/20
Active Travel Fund (ATF)

Description
The Government Department responsible for transport and
allocations of funding to local authorities for schemes of set out in
this EIA.
A new organisation established by the Government to work with
local authorities on raising the standard of provision for walking and
cycling infrastructure
The Governments latest design guidance showing best practice on
cycle scheme design.
A funding stream operated by the Department for Transport which
enables local authorities to bid for funding to build cycling and
walking highway infrastructure improvements

screentip-sectionB

5. Summary
(Please provide a brief description of proposal / policy / service being assessed)

2

Nottingham City Council
Nottingham City Council has been awarded £2,200,000 by the Department for Transport (DfT) through the Active Travel
Capital Funding Grant (2021-22) to deliver cycling and walking improvements along St Ann’s Well Road. In addition,
Sustrans have awarded a further £500,000 to deliver walking and cycling improvements on Lincoln Street in Basford.
The two schemes will encourage more people to make journeys by bike or on foot, reducing the need for motorised
transport and resulting in health benefits and a reduction in carbon emissions.

screentip-sectionC

6. Information used to analyse the effects on equality:
(Please include information about how you have consulted/ have data from the impacted groups)
Page 117

The proposals will be subject to agreement with the council’s Portfolio Holder for transport. Both schemes will also be
subject to consultation with key stakeholders including:
 Residents,
 Businesses,
 Ward members
 Disability Involvement Group
The schemes will be constructed in accordance with recently updated Government guidance on cycle schemes [
Cycle infrastructure design (LTN 1/20)]. Council officers will liaise with the Active Travel England (ATE), the Government's
new executive agency responsible for improving the standards of cycling and walking infrastructure in England, on the
design and delivery of both schemes.
All new cycle infrastructure will designed in accordance with the Nottingham Cycle Design Guide which has been
developed in consultation with a range of user groups to ensure new facilities benefit as many people as possible and do
not cause dis-benefits to anyone using the highway network. The guide aims to ensure the construction of cycle
infrastructure that is suitable for all types of bike including adapted and tricycles.
3

Nottingham City Council

7. Impacts and Actions:
screentip-sectionD

Could particularly benefit
X

May adversely impact
X

People from different ethnic groups.
Men
Women
Trans
Page 118

Disabled people or carers.
Pregnancy/ Maternity
People of different faiths/ beliefs and those with none.
Lesbian, gay or bisexual people.
Older
Younger
Other (e.g. marriage/ civil partnership, looked after
children, cohesion/ good relations, vulnerable children/
adults).
Please underline the group(s) /issue more
adversely affected or which benefits.

4

Nottingham City Council

How different groups
could be affected
(Summary of impacts)

screentip-sectionE

screentip-sectionF
Details of actions to mitigate, remove or justify
negative impact or increase positive impact
(or why action isn’t possible)

Provide details for impacts / benefits on people in different
protected groups.

Continue on separate sheet if needed (click and type to delete
this note)

Note: the level of detail should be proportionate to the
potential impact of the proposal / policy / service. Continue
on separate sheet if needed (click and type to delete this
note)
Page 119

People from different ethnic backgrounds
The scheme consultation material is not relevant or
understandable.

Action
All consultation material can be translated into alternative
formats and languages if required. Interpreters will be provided
if requested.
Action
The project team will work with Councillors and
Neighbourhood Officers to ensure if there is a known area of
the community that require scheme information in a different
language / format that this can be identified.
Action
The project team will work with partner groups such as
Ridewise and Sustrans to promote the cycling and walking
improvements to communities and groups where historically
cycling has had lower levels than the national average.

5

Nottingham City Council
Women and men
Although cycling levels in Nottingham have risen they are still
lower than the Council would like given the benefits cycling can
achieve in terms of health, reduced Carbon emissions, air quality
and congestion reduction. These schemes will enable more
people to consider cycling or walking as a mode for some or all of
their journey.

Action
The proposals include provision of off-carriageway routes that
are segregated from vehicular traffic, which helps tackle one of
the key barriers people cite for not cycling / not cycling more
often, the perceived danger of cycling on roads with other
vehicles.
Action
The proposals include the provision of additional / improved
crossing facilities, which help to provide a more pedestrianfriendly environment and encourage people to make more
journeys on foot.

Disabled people/carers
Page 120

Measures to increase cycling can benefit and dis-benefit to
disabled people. It is important to be aware of any potential issues
proposals may cause and address them as part of the design
process.

Action
The schemes will be constructed in accordance with the latest
Government guidance on cycle schemes [Cycle infrastructure
design (LTN 1/20)], which considers the needs of those with
disabilities and mobility impairments.
Action
The infrastructure will be designed in accordance with the Local
Transport Note 1/20 which has been developed in consultation
with a range of user groups to ensure new facilities benefit as
many people as possible and do not cause dis-benefits to
anyone using the highway network. The guide aims to ensure
the construction of cycle infrastructure that is suitable for all
types of bike including adapted and tricycles.
Action
The proposals will be subject to consultation with key
stakeholders including Disability Involvement Group, which will
6

Nottingham City Council
enable potential issues to be identified and appropriately
addressed at the design stage.
If any issues or changes that have not been considered come to
light from these discussions the EIA will be updated.

Lack of formal crossing facilities can be a barrier to travel
for people, particularly those with a disability or mobility
impairment, which can limit opportunities for education,
employment, shopping and leisure.

Page 121

Older people
Measures to increase cycling can benefit and dis-benefit to older
people. It is important to be aware of any potential issues that
proposed changes may cause and address them as part of the
design process.

Action
The proposals include the provision of additional / improved
crossing facilities, which help to provide a more pedestrianfriendly environment and encourage people to make more
journeys on foot. These facilities can remove the barrier to
travel for people caused by road segregation, particularly those
with a disability or mobility impairment.

Action
The proposals include provision of off-carriageway routes that
are segregated from vehicular traffic, which helps tackle one of
the key barriers people cite for not cycling / not cycling more
often, the perceived danger of cycling on roads with other
vehicles.
Action
The schemes will be constructed in accordance with the latest
Government guidance on cycle schemes [Cycle infrastructure
design (LTN 1/20)], which considers the needs of a range of
user groups including older people and those with disabilities
and mobility impairments which are more common in older
people.
Action
7

Nottingham City Council
The infrastructure will be designed in accordance with the
Nottingham Cycle Design Guide which has been developed in
consultation with a range of user groups to ensure new
facilities benefit as many people as possible and do not cause
dis-benefits to anyone using the highway network. The guide
aims to ensure the construction of cycle infrastructure that is
suitable for all types of bike including adapted and tricycles.
Lack of formal crossing facilities can be a barrier to travel for
people, particularly for older people who are more likely to have a
mobility, visual or auditory impairment and may require more time
to cross the road. Lack of such facilities can limit opportunities for
shopping and leisure.

Action
The proposals include the provision of additional / improved
crossing facilities, which help to provide a more pedestrianfriendly environment and encourage people to make more
journeys on foot. These facilities can remove the barrier to
travel for people caused by road segregation, which will benefit
older people.

Page 122

Younger people
Action
The lack of and poor cycle facilities can limit whether young
The project team will work with partner groups such as
people can safely travel to key destinations such as school.
Ridewise and Sustrans to promote the cycling and walking
Parents may be unwilling to allow their children to cycle due to the improvements to schools and school children.
perception of danger from vehicles.
Action
Lack of formal crossing facilities can be discourage parents and
The proposals include the provision of additional / improved
children from travelling on foot, particularly for journeys to/from
crossing facilities, which help to provide a more pedestrianschool.
friendly environment and encourage people to make more
journeys on foot. These facilities can remove the barrier to
travel for people caused by road segregation, which will benefit
younger people.

8. Arrangements for future monitoring of equality impact of this proposal / policy / service:
8

Nottingham City Council

There is a DfT requirement that all authorities are expected to participate in monitoring and evaluation activities for the ATF. Output
monitoring data to track progress and spend will be collected every 6 months and at 6 and 12 months after scheme completion.
All authorities are also required to formally evaluate schemes funded via the ATF grant. As one of the proposed schemes (St Ann’s
Well Road) costs more than £2m Nottingham City Council are required to design and implement their own monitoring and evaluation
processes to measure the outputs, outcomes and impacts of the intervention and submit these to DfT for review prior to the start of
construction. The council are in the process of preparing a monitoring and evaluation plan to submit to DfT for approval. This plan will
set out the collection and analysis of both quantitative and qualitative data, including the post-implementation equality impacts of the
scheme and will be shared with the Equality and Diversity Team for comment.

9. Outcome(s) of equality impact assessment:
Page 123

No major change needed
Adverse impact but continue

Adjust the policy/proposal
Stop and remove the policy/proposal

10. Approved by (manager signature) and Date sent to equality team for publishing:

Approving Manager :
The assessment must be approved by the manager
responsible for the service/proposal. Include a contact
tel & email to allow citizen/stakeholder feedback on
proposals.

Date sent for advice:
Send document or Link to:
edi@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Date of final approval :
Approving Manager
:
Cycling and W alking Infrastructure Manager

26 t h May 2022

9

Nottingham City Council
Before you send your EIA to the Equality and Employability Team for advice, have you:
1. Read the guidance and good practice EIA’s
http://intranet.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/1924/simple-guide-to-eia.doc
2. Clearly summarised your proposal/ policy/ service to be assessed.
3. Hyperlinked to the appropriate documents.
4. Written in clear user-friendly language, free from all jargon (spelling out acronyms).
5. Included appropriate data.
6. Consulted the relevant groups or citizens or stated clearly, when this is going to happen.
7. Clearly cross-referenced your impacts with SMART actions.

PLEASE NOTE: FINAL VERSION MUST BE SENT TO EQUALITIES OTHERWISE RECORDS WILL REMAIN INCOMPLETE.

Page 124
10

Agenda Item 8

Executive Board
21 June 2022
Subject:

Enhanced Partnership Scheme for Buses and Receipt of
Funding from the Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas Fund

Corporate
Sajeeda Rose, Corporate Director for Growth and City
Director(s)/Director(s): Development
Portfolio Holder(s):

Councillor Audra Wynter, Portfolio Holder for Highways,
Transport and Parks

Report author and
contact details:

Richard Wellings, Principal Public Transport Officer
richard.wellings@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Other colleagues who
have provided input:
Subject to call-in:

Yes

No

Key Decision:
Yes
No
Criteria for Key Decision:
(a)
Expenditure
Income
Savings of £750,000 or more taking account of
the overall impact of the decision
and/or
(b)
Significant impact on communities living or working in two or more wards in
the City
Yes
No
Type of expenditure:
Revenue
Capital
Date considered by the Capital Board: 12 July 2021
Total value of the decision: £15,200,000
Wards affected: All
Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder(s):
Relevant Council Plan Key Outcome:
Clean and Connected Communities
Keeping Nottingham Working
Carbon Neutral by 2028
Safer Nottingham
Child-Friendly Nottingham
Healthy and Inclusive
Keeping Nottingham Moving
Improve the City Centre
Better Housing
Financial Stability
Serving People Well
Page 125

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):
The implementation of the Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme (EPPS) for
buses will formalise commitments from local bus operators and the respective Local
Transport Authorities (LTAs) of Nottingham City and Nottinghamshire County
Council to improve the quality and reliability of bus services over the next five years.
In parallel, a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) will be delivered, which will
futureproof bus services for citizens whilst maintaining the Greater Nottingham bus
network’s long tradition of some of highest passenger satisfaction scores in the UK.
The Department for Transport’s (DfT) Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA)
funding will deliver electrification of Nottingham City Transport’s (NCT) Trent Bridge
Garage and support the roll-out of 78 new electric buses, beginning the transition of
Greater Nottingham’s commercial bus network to zero emission – a transition that
will support the delivery of local Air Quality objects and the delivery of transport
decarbonisation in line with Nottingham’s Carbon Neutral by 2028 (CN28) ambitions
and Nottinghamshire County Council’s declaration of a Climate Emergency.
Does this report contain any information that is exempt from publication?
No

Recommendation(s):
1. To accept £15.2 million from the Department for Transport’s (DfT) Zero Emission
Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) Fund.
2. To award Nottingham City Transport (NCT) the £15.2 million grant to deliver the
project submitted and approved by the DfT in the Full Business Case, and to
enter into a grant agreement with NCT to transfer the funding.
3. To approve the use of the Council procurement resource to undertake or support
NCT’s purchase of ZEBRA-funded electric buses and associated infrastructure,
as deemed appropriate.
4. To Delegate authority to the Corporate Director for Growth and City Development
to implement the Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme
for buses.

1.

Reasons for recommendations

1.1 Delivering high-quality, sustainable, green transport will enable Nottingham to become a
resilient city that is able to cope with and tackle climate change. By improving the
liveability of our local neighbourhoods and creating healthier streets that are co-designed
with our communities, our residents, both young and old, will benefit from a smarter,
cleaner, better connected, forward looking transport system that makes Nottingham a
better place to live, work, play and invest.

Page 126

1.2 Delivery of ZEBRA, BSIP and EPPS are critical strands in achieving Nottingham’s CN28
ambitions, Keeping Nottingham Moving and supporting the recovery of the bus network
from the Coronavirus pandemic.
2.

Background

2.1 Following the release of the National Bus Strategy in April 2021, all UK LTAs have
been mandated to produce a BSIP, which outlines an ambitious infrastructure and
network investment plan for their local areas. Nottingham’s Plan was submitted in
October 2021 and we have now had confirmation from the DfT of an indicative
allocation of £11.4 million (£7.9 million in capital and £3.5 million in revenue), subject
to a further business case and scheme sign-off by the DfT, to support the delivery of
the Greater Nottingham BSIP over the next three years. A further report will be
brought to Board confirm the BSIP programme when funding has been formally
signed off by the DfT.
2.2 In tandem with the completion of a BSIP, all LTAs have been mandated to
implement an EPPS for buses. The EPPS Builds on the existing Advanced Quality
Partnership Scheme (AQPS) for buses, which was implemented in 2020 (see Enc.
4). All future capital and revenue support for bus networks will be dependent on
LTAs having an EPPS in place.
2.3 The EPPS is a legal agreement between LTAs and Bus Operators that incorporates
historic investment in infrastructure, bus priority and digital information. It also sets
out the standards of service, vehicle emissions and ticketing acceptance
requirements for operators and the facilities and projects to be taken forward by the
LTAs to support the collective achievement of the targets around Passenger
Satisfaction, Passenger Growth, Reliability and Journey Times. It also includes a
Passenger Charter, which outlines what all bus passengers can expect from bus
services within the Enhanced Partnership Area. In line with DfT guidance, the City
and County Council will jointly produce an EPPS for Greater Nottingham, which
covers the existing Robin Hood ticketing area and will run for the next five years (see
Enc. 2).
2.4 The EPPS also outlines the governance arrangements for the implementation of the
BSIP programme and business as usual decision-making in relation to local bus
services. These governance structures are in line with the guidance and
expectations of the DfT. The Council will make and be the accountable LTA for the
EPPS, which will be a partnership between bus operators and the Greater
Nottingham Councils within the plan and scheme area, which will work to deliver
improvements to bus services collectively and report and monitor progress against
the targets in the Enhanced Partnership plan including passenger growth, reliability,
journey times and passenger satisfaction.
2.5 Progress will be reported at an Annual General Meeting. A stakeholder group will
meet regularly to discuss local buses services and recommendations will be taken to
the Enhanced Partnership Board for discussion and decision. The City and County
Councils retain a veto that can be invoked against decisions made by the Enhanced
Partnership Board (comprising bus operators and the LTAs) that are not deemed in
the public interest or anti-competitive. All Board decisions will also be subject to

Page 127

scrutiny via regular reporting through to the Joint Nottingham – Nottinghamshire
Transport and Planning Advisory Board initially, but given the breadth and
complexity of the work it may be necessary to set-up a dedicated Enhanced
Partnership Scrutiny Group in the long term (see Enc. 3).
2.6 The operator objection and statutory consultation period for making The EPPS have
been completed, with the EPPS now ready to be implemented.
2.7 Complementary to the above plans, which both have bus decarbonisation as core
themes, the Council, in partnership with NCT has secured funding of £15.2 million
from the DfT’s ZEBRA fund, following 12 months of co-development. The roll-out of
78 zero-emission, single-decker buses and electrification of NCT’s Trent Bridge
depot will be delivered with the project, completing in 2023/24, with buses brought
into service in three batches over the course of the project (see Enc. 1).
2.8 External Bus Capacity Funding from the DfT will be used to fund the use of the
Council’s procurement and legal resource to undertake or support purchase of the
electric buses and associated infrastructure as deemed appropriate, in order to
comply with legal subsidy control advice and ensure a compliant competitive
tendering exercise is completed. NCT will be responsible for contracting with
suppliers directly and ownership of the assets and infrastructure will sit with NCT.
2.9 The ZEBRA project will deliver significant reductions in carbon emissions (down
3,800 tonnes CO2e per annum) and significantly enhance the passenger experience.
Ride quality will improve and a relaxing on-board environment will be created
through the reduction in noise and vibration that the state-of-the art electric bus
technology will provide. Air Quality improvements both in terms of tailpipe emissions
and the onboard environment will also be realised.
3.

Other options considered in making recommendations

3.1 To not accept the ZEBRA grant award and not implementing the EPSS: this option is
rejected as the funding awards are critical to improving and decarbonising bus
infrastructure locally whilst supporting the recovery of the bus network from Covid19. Failure to implement an EPSS would mean that the LTA would no longer be
eligible for discretionary bus funding like BSIP and ZEBRA going forward.
4.

Consideration of Risk

4.1 The ZEBRA project presents a negligible financial risk to the Council. All match
funding will be provided by NCT through their standard financing channels and the
Council will not be required to provide a letter of guarantee as part of any financing
arrangement entered into by the company.
4.2 The grant agreement between the council and NCT will be structured to ensure that
funding for the project is only released as and when the delivery of agreed
milestones is realised. This will provide the DfT with full confidence that the Council
as the accountable body for the ZEBRA funding has financial controls in place to
ensure that the project is delivered fully in line with agreed Full Business Case.

Page 128

4.3 Significant project management resource will not be required as the project enters
the delivery phase and much of the groundwork in terms of procurement and project
initiation has already been completed. Independent legal advice has been taken from
Browne Jacobson as part of the business case development. There are no issues
around state subsidy or the EU-UK Trade Co-operation Agreement and the Council
has satisfied itself that the six principles test has been met. The level of aid intensity
to NCT is line with previous green bus schemes supported by the UK Government
and as an environmental scheme is a permissible use of subsidy.
4.4 Of the schemes being promoted as part of the EPPS, none are expected to increase
ongoing maintenance and revenue liabilities. NCT will be fully responsible for any
financial risks associated with the electric bus project, including cost overruns.
4.5 Existing Public Transport budgets including WPL, Tendered Services, Smart
Ticketing and Digital Information will also continue to provide valuable match-funding
to help secure the significant infrastructure investment in the commercial and
contracted network, which is necessary to ensure the local economy and city
residents continue to benefit from a comprehensive, high quality, public transport
network.
5.

Finance colleague comments

5.1 This project has no revenue implications for the Council, as detailed in section 4
above, as the responsibility for running and maintenance costs will sit with NCT. The
Project Team is required to ensure that the agreement between the Council and
NCT is sufficient to pass all of the financial risk to NCT, reducing the risk of grant
clawback.
5.2 Following approval of this decision, the Capital Programme will be updated
accordingly.
Comments provided by Tom Straw, Senior Accountant – Capital Programmes, on 11
May 2022
6.

Legal colleague comments

6.1 The Council must ensure that it complies with the grant terms and conditions
imposed upon it by the DfT for receipt of funding and in turn must ensure that the
grant agreement with NCT to pass the funding on, is reflective of these conditions to
ensure compliance.
6.2 The Council has obtained specialist legal advice with respect to subsidy control to
ensure the receipt and onward use of the grant funding is permitted with the new
regime and the proposals in this report are consistent with that advice.
6.3 It has been agreed that the Council will provide support to NCT on undertaking a
procurement process. This will ensure compliance with the requirement to undertake
appropriate competitive tendering for the purchase of the required infrastructure and
buses, which is necessary for the purposes of satisfying the requirements of the
subsidy control regime. NCT will be responsible for contracting directly with the

Page 129

chosen provider following the outcome of the tender for the goods and services
procured. The Council should establish a mechanism for inclusion in the grant
agreement, to transfer the funding in phases to control the use of the funding.
6.4 Procurement and Legal colleagues (including external specialist resource if
necessary) will need to provide continued support for this project and arrangements
will need to be established between the Council and NCT with respect to this as
deemed appropriate.
Comments provided by Dionne Screaton, Senior Solicitor – Contracts and
Commercial, on 6 May 2022
7.

Procurement colleague comments

7.1 Procurement will support in sourcing the buses required by utilising a range of procedures
throughout the life of the project. The initial procurement of the buses will be under the
terms of the CCS Vehicle Purchase framework (RM6060). Future competitions will be
held under the terms of the refreshed NCC ULEV framework, due for completion
November 2022.
Comments provided by Holly Fisher, Lead Procurement Officer, on 21 April 2022
7.2 There are no procurement issues with the decisions being sought. The Procurement
Team will continue to work with the client to ensure that all activity is undertaken in
accordance with Contract Procedure Rules and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.
Comments provided by Jonathan Whitmarsh, Lead Procurement Officer – Places, on 25
April 2022
8.

Crime and Disorder implications

8.1 The new buses will be fitted with CCTV to support passenger safety. Improving safety at
bus stops is also a key strand of the EPPS with improvements in areas such as lighting
and walking routes to and from bus stops also being reviewed and priorities identified as
part of the delivery of the EPPS.
9.

Social value considerations

9.1 Key Performance Indicators in relation to the electric bus infrastructure include targets in
relation to local employment and expenditure, women in construction and training and
apprenticeships. Once up and running, the Council will also work with NCT to facilitate
educational visits to depot for local schools and community groups.
10. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)
10.1 An EIA is has been produced and is attached as part of Enc. 1, and due regard will
be given to any implications identified in it.

Page 130

11. Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA)
11.1 A DPIA is not required because there are no Data Protection impacts in relation to
any of the projects being taken forward at this time. If any do emerge at the project
delivery / scheme design stage for the bus infrastructure projects, full DPIAs will be
completed. DPIA in relation to CCTV on the electric buses will be the responsibility of
NCT.
12. Carbon Impact Assessment (CIA)
12.1 A CIA has been produced and is attached as part of Enc. 1, and due regard will be
given to any implications identified in it. The ZEBRA project will make a significant
contribution to local transport decarbonisation.
13. List of background papers relied upon in writing this report
13.1 None.
14. Published documents referred to in this report
14.1 Delegated Decision 3844 – Implementation of Advanced Quality Partnership
Scheme for City Bus Services
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=52787&Opt
=0

Page 131

This page is intentionally left blank

Nottingham City Council
Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA)
Phase 2 Business Case

January 2022

Produced by:

With support from:

Contact:
Richard Wellings
Principal Public Transport Officer
Nottingham City Council
4th Floor, Loxley House
Station Street
Nottingham
NG2 3NG
0115 876 4896
Richard.Wellings@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Pagei 133

Document Control Sheet
Ver.
V1-0
V2-0
V3-0

Project Folder
Box: 3723
Box: 3723
Box: 3723

Description
First Draft
Revised Draft
Final Submission

Prep.
JP
JP
JP

Rev.
NT
NT
NA

App.
RW
RW
RW

Date
12/11/2021
10/01/2022
31/01/2022

Notice
This report has been prepared for Nottingham City Council in accordance with the terms and conditions of appointment.
Integrated Transport Planning Ltd cannot accept any responsibility for any use of or reliance on the contents of this report by
any third party.

Pageii 134

Executive Summary
Nottingham City Council (NCC) seeks £15,228,028 through the Department for Transport’s
(DfT’s) Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) fund to support delivery of a total of 78 new
electric bus vehicles that will operate in the city. Delivery will be phased over two years, with
all new vehicles operational within the fleet by the end of the 2023/24 financial year.
This proposal sets out our ambition to deliver the new battery electric vehicle (BEV) buses with
Nottingham’s dominant urban operator, Nottingham City Transport (NCT). These will replace
the operator’s entire single deck fleet, which will be sold, and support the company’s ambition
to become the UK’s first carbon neutral bus operator.
Great strides have been made locally in decarbonising the local bus network through the rollout of 120 biomethane double deckers and the pioneering electrification of Nottingham City
Council’s linkbus network. But now that e-bus technology has significantly matured and
battery range had improved dramatically, the time is right for Nottingham City Transport to
begin its transition to a full electric fleet at scale across the commercial network; delivering a
fully zero emission public transport system for Nottingham across bus and tram. This will
accelerate the delivery of transport decarbonisation, in line with complementary investment in
active travel and expansion of electric vehicle charging infrastructure across the city.

Changes from our expression of interest submission
We have made limited changes to our proposal since the initial Expression of Interest (EoI).
Based on advice from the ZEBRA Team at DfT and its advisers at Ernst & Young, key
amendments have been limited to:
 Removal of solar PV microgeneration array for installation at an NCT depot.
 Removal of battery energy storage infrastructure for installation at an NCT depot.
 Removal of the Nottingham City Council element, which was replacing 16 Optare Solo
buses with eight longer range new BEVs and the associated infrastructure costs to
upgrade existing chargers.
 Updated vehicle and infrastructure specification and associated costs, in line with more
in-depth supplier engagement since the EoI submission
While the above investments remain desirable, given their scope to improve the sustainability
and reduce the cost of powering our city’s growing BEV bus fleet, they are recognised as sitting
at the edge of the ZEBRA fund’s core objectives – which focus on the replacement of fossil fuel
buses with BEVs. As such we shall seek alternative sources of funding with which to implement
these measures. The 16 NCC-operated Optare Solos will continue to run in the short term, but
a longer-term solution to resolving their higher-than-average maintenance costs will need to
be identified within the next couple of years.
Removing these items from our proposal has decreased the total costs by about £11 million.
Further details and rationale behind these changes are included within the main Strategic Case.

Page
iii 135

Strategic Case
NCC has a proud tradition of investing in public transport, cycling and walking. As a result,
Nottingham is one of the least car-dependent cities in the UK and has some of the highest
bus use per head of any UK city outside of London.
Our ZEBRA objectives have been developed in accordance with the national programme aims
and wider DfT priorities, as well as local strategies and policies. They aim to:






Support the ambition of Nottingham’s Carbon Neutral Charter for 2028.
Improve local air quality.
Enhance operational efficiency of vehicle fleet.
Support local opportunities for jobs and skills.
Promote inclusive access to high quality bus services.

Decarbonising our transport operations is a critical element to our ambitious plan to be the
UK’s first carbon neutral city by 2028. While we have made significant progress in reducing
our carbon emissions to date, we need to drive our reductions faster than over the last 12
years if we are going to meet this target. Our Air Quality Strategy for Nottingham and
Nottinghamshire (2020-2030) sets out the need to act, with local deaths attributable to air
pollution higher than those related to alcohol consumption and road traffic accidents
combined.
Our proposal will deliver significant reductions in emissions (down 3,800 tonnes CO2e per
annum) from buses operating within the City Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), which
covers the full administrative area, and across the wider conurbation - including AQMAs in
County Council districts of Gedling and Rushcliffe. This can only be achieved if higher-emission
diesel buses are replaced with new Battery Electric Vehicles (BEVs) that make best use of the
latest electric propulsion and battery storage technology. Without ZEBRA funding from DfT,
the significant outlay costs and marginal commercial investment case for bus operators
(themselves recovering from the effects of sustained patronage reductions following the
COVID-19 pandemic) will combine to delay this switch in bus vehicle fleet makeup that is
needed to achieve our aims.
Nottingham has a longstanding Bus Quality Partnership, a comprehensive Advanced Quality
Partnership Scheme for the city centre, and is now committed to implementing an Enhanced
Partnership across the wider urban area by April 2022 (as part of our published Bus Service
Improvement Plan). The proposal has been developed in partnership with NCT and reflects the
vision of Nottingham’s 2020-25 Bus Strategy. It is both highly deliverable, aligned directly
to our strategic imperatives, and focused on sustaining and expanding a ‘fit for purpose’ 21st
Century bus network across the Nottingham urban area.

Pageiv 136

Economic Case
The economic appraisal work undertaken in relation to our ZEBRA proposal, using DfT’s
provided Greener Buses Model indicates that a Benefit: Cost Ratio of 1.21: 1 could be
achieved in the core scenario. This reflects a ‘Low’ value investment under the DfT’s Value for
Money framework, with additional non-monetised benefits pushing towards a ‘medium’
category.
Assumptions are considered robust and the resulting monetised economic values for the
proposal are set out below.
Economic Indicator
Carbon Savings

Core scenario
-64,605 (tonnes CO2e)

Present Value of Benefits (PVB)

£19,090,116

Present Value of Costs (PVC)

£15,741,571

Net Present Value (NPV)

£3,348,545

Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR)

1.21

VfM category

Low

Cost Effectiveness Indicator (CEI)

190.2

Sensitivity tests were undertaken using the Greener Buses Model (GBM) based on the guidance
document and identified key risks and uncertainties.
In addition to the monetised benefits, the scheme is also expected to generate additional key
benefits on noise, local landscape, journey quality and jobs and skills, that have not been
quantified and monetised within the Greener Buses Model analyses. These further strengthen
the monetised benefits and move the scheme towards a ‘medium’ value for money category.


Noise: Beneficial – Electric vehicles generate lower levels of noise when operating
compared to their internal combustion engine (ICE) equivalents. This will be a
particularly notable benefit of this proposal as the Trent Bridge depot is located within
‘The Meadows’ residential area. NCT has been approached by Environmental Health in
the past in relation to noise negatively affecting residents during late depot shifts.



Landscape: Beneficial – As well as BEVs being quieter to operate, attractive town
buildings can discolour through soot generated by traffic pollution. Diesel vehicles can
have oil and fuel leaks which can damage road surfaces over time which BEVs will not.



Journey quality: Beneficial – Electric vehicles can offer a physically smoother journey,
particularly benefitting passengers moving around the bus to find a seat or standing,
where any turbulence negatively affects the user experience.

Page
v 137



Jobs & skills: Beneficial – NCT Engineers and mechanics will become skilled in
maintaining and servicing electric vehicles, enhancing their employability. Local
colleges already interested in offering courses in the maintenance and servicing of
electric vehicles will now be able to develop local pathways into employment. This will
build on local growing expertise, with Nottingham University’s Centre for Advanced
propulsion and the Nottingham Electrical Vehicle Service Centre (see letter of support
in Appendix I).

Financial Case
The total cost of the proposal is £34,620,471. This is made up of £15,228,028 ZEBRA
funding ask and £19,392,443 private sector contribution from the operator, Nottingham City
Transport (NCT)1. The high value of private sector contribution from NCT is a key factor behind
the relatively low level of Net Present Benefits, and BCR, for our ZEBRA bid.
This spend is planned across two years with about 35% in 2022 and 65% in 2023. The funding
sought by this proposal aligns with the guideline proportions; the DfT funded element covers
75% of the infrastructure cost and 75% of the difference in the cost of purchasing BEV buses
in place of Euro VI diesel vehicles.


Total capital cost of the new buses is £30,819,057, reflecting an average total cost of
£395,116 per vehicle, where the DfT funded part is within the ceiling of 75% of the
difference in new electric bus cost, compared to an equivalent diesel. This cost includes
a standard level of warranty offered by the supplier.



Long-term part replacement costs and additional warranty allowances have not been
included in the grant ask.



The total cost of infrastructure is £3,801,4142 (reflecting £48,736 per bus), where 25% of
this is paid for by the operator (NCT) and the remaining 75% is the ZEBRA fund ask.



The total quantified risk is £706,267 (2% of the total base cost) and is included within the
figures above.

With the level of funding requested by this proposal, Nottingham City Council and operators
(NCT) are confident that our scheme is affordable and viable and that our scheme objectives
can be met. The operator commitment is evidenced by their letter of support in Appendix I.

1
2

all including a quantified risk allowance but excluding any optimism bias
including quantified risk allowance and excluding optimism bias

Pagevi 138

Commercial Case
NCC, on the behalf of NCT, will facilitate the procurement of the first batch of 26 buses and all
of the infrastructure via a Crown Commercial Services framework. The remaining 52 buses will
be procured via a new electric vehicle framework being developed by NCC that will include
manufacturers not available via Crown Commercial Services currently, including but not limited
to Wrightbus, Scania, Arrival, Caetano and Mercedes-Benz. This approach will give the project
team access to a wider range of manufacturers and allow the option to purchase buses that
have not yet come fully to market to be considered.
NCC will procure the buses and infrastructure and transfer the assets fully to NCT. Payments
will be made as each individual procurement exercise completes in line with agreed delivery
milestones.
Preparations and groundwork, both from a physical infrastructure (electrical supply upgrade)
and project management perspective, are well-advanced in relation to this proposal.
NCC’s Major Projects team is working with NCT to scope their requirements through soft
market-testing dialogue with potential infrastructure partners, including Western Power
Distribution, SWARCO and Zenobē, as well as their shortlisted electric bus manufacturers.
NCT’s staff are actively exploring opportunities to increase their knowledge and understanding
of electric bus operations across the UK, engaging with vehicle and power/energy providers
as well as other operators and attending EV conferences.
The infrastructure required for the electrical supply upgrade needed for vehicle charging at
the depot has been fully scoped. It builds on extensive renovations to NCT’s Trent Bridge depot
which have been made in readiness for electric bus operations.

Management Case
The scheme is strongly supported by key stakeholders, including the operator Nottingham
City Transport (NCT), Sustainable Transport Nottingham, the Local Enterprise Partnership
(D2N2) and the University of Nottingham.
The project will be delivered by experienced NCC and NCT staff in a defined project team
structure, with sufficient project support and dedicated assurance team members.
Project reporting will occur regularly, with the Project Management Office group attended by
the project Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) meeting and NCT Board exercising project
oversight, both meeting on a monthly basis.
We are confident that buses and infrastructure can be delivered by quarter 4 of 2023. Given
the current levels of preparedness at the Trent Bridge depot (garage reconfiguration works
complete) and discussions with bus manufacturers on their order fulfilment timescales, we are
assured that this proposal is deliverable within the scheme timescales. Assurances have been

Page
vii 139

received from bus manufacturers to deliver the buses on time. We also have assurances from
UK Power Networks, our local Distribution Network Operator (DNO), that it will be able to
expedite delivery of power connection upgrades.
The management of risk is an essential part of NCC’s programmes and project management
processes. The approach to managing risk is to establish an iterative and on-going cycle of
risk management activity, covering the identification, assessment, mitigation, reporting
(including escalation) and reviewing risk. Issues are to be recorded (utilising a Risks, Issues,
Actions and Decisions (RIAD) log) by the Programme Manager. Three key scheme specific
risks in relation to this project have been identified as follows:


First time implementation of Electric Bus Technology at scale by commercial operators with
little or no experience of operating this type of bus. This risk is mitigated by the pioneering
experience and knowledge accrued by NCC in relation to the operation and delivery of
infrastructure for one of the UK’s oldest electric bus projects. This is coupled with NCT’s
engineering department’s longstanding research, groundwork and trials in relation to
the technology.



Inadequate power supply. Work with Western Power Distribution has established that
there are two points of High Voltage power supply that can be connected into the Trent
Bridge Depot which will house the new fleet and infrastructure.



Insufficient patronage to support future operating and maintenance costs. Prior to the
reintroduction of Covid-19 restrictions, patronage had returned to 75% of normal and
was growing as working and learning from home reduced and leisure and hospitality
had re-opened. This provides confidence that sustainable levels of patronage will be
achieved to support the operation of the new fleet. New ticketing products to better
reflect new travel demand and working patterns have also been implemented and will
continue to be developed alongside a range of marketing campaigns targeted at various
passenger segments to “Get Back on Board” to help grown the market further and
provide reassurance to travellers that public transport is safe post-Covid. Investment will
and is being made into the network via the Transforming Cities programme and Bus
Service Improvement Plan initiative to further enhance the efficiency and attractiveness
of the network which will support the control of costs by local bus operators.

Pageviii140

Table of Contents
Executive Summary .......................................................................................................................iii
Strategic Case ............................................................................................................................................... iv
Economic Case .............................................................................................................................................. v
Financial Case ............................................................................................................................................... vi
Commercial Case........................................................................................................................................ vii
Management Case ..................................................................................................................................... vii

Table of Contents ...........................................................................................................................ix
1. Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 1
Changes Since Expression of Interest ................................................................................................... 2
Structure of the Remainder of this Document.................................................................................. 3

2. Strategic Case .......................................................................................................................... 4
Introduction .................................................................................................................................................. 4
Defining the Place ........................................................................................................................................ 4
Our Ambition, and the Case for Change .......................................................................................... 14
Scheme Objectives ................................................................................................................................... 33
Option Appraisal & Preferred Option ............................................................................................... 37
Summary ...................................................................................................................................................... 45

3. Economic Case: Value for Money.................................................................................. 47
Overview ....................................................................................................................................................... 47
Methodology .............................................................................................................................................. 48
Key Assumptions ....................................................................................................................................... 48
Economic Appraisal and Value for Money ...................................................................................... 51
Key Risks and Uncertainties ............................................................................................................... 52
Non-Monetised Impacts ....................................................................................................................... 55
Distributional Analysis of Forecast Benefits .................................................................................... 58
Summary – Value for Money ................................................................................................................ 58

4. Financial Case: Scheme costs .......................................................................................... 59
Overview ....................................................................................................................................................... 59
Project Costs ............................................................................................................................................... 59
Funding Profile ........................................................................................................................................... 60

Page
ix 141

Long-term Financial Viability ................................................................................................................ 65
Assessment of Financial Risk / Risk Management Strategy ...................................................... 67

5. Commercial Case: Procurement and Deliverability ............................................... 68
Overview ....................................................................................................................................................... 68
Commercial Strategy ............................................................................................................................... 68
Outline Procurement Strategy ............................................................................................................. 70
Market Engagement ................................................................................................................................ 77
Specification ................................................................................................................................................ 78
Marketing Strategy ................................................................................................................................... 88
Procurement, Subsidy Control and TCA Compliance .................................................................. 89

6. Management Case: Governance, Risks, Monitoring and Evaluation.............. 91
Overview ....................................................................................................................................................... 91
Deliverability / Governance ................................................................................................................... 91
Contract Management ............................................................................................................................ 99
Project Plan................................................................................................................................................ 100
Communications and Stakeholder Engagement Strategy ...................................................... 106
Risk Management ................................................................................................................................... 111
Monitoring and Evaluation .................................................................................................................. 112

7. Equality Impact Assessment Form ................................................................................ 118
Summary and Aims ................................................................................................................................ 120
Information used to Analyse the Effects on Equality................................................................. 120
Relevant Research/Data........................................................................................................................ 121
Impacts and Actions............................................................................................................................... 124
Potential Positive Equality Impacts................................................................................................... 125
Potential Negative Equality Impacts ................................................................................................ 127
Engagement with Stakeholders ......................................................................................................... 128

Pagex 142

List of Tables
Table 1-1: Changes since EoI ................................................................................................................................................... 2
Table 2-1: Breakdown of the Nottingham urban area bus market .......................................................................... 9
Table 2-2: Map of policy objectives relative to Nottingham’s ZEBRA scheme aims .......................................36
Table 2-3: Summary of preferred option rationale .......................................................................................................46
Table 3-1: Economic summary (PV, 2021 prices) ...........................................................................................................47
Table 3-2: Economic summary (PV, 2021 prices) ...........................................................................................................51
Table 3-3: Sensitivity test results (full results appendix D) ........................................................................................51
Table 3-4: Non-monetised impacts ....................................................................................................................................55
Table 4-1: Funding breakdown (£, 2021 prices) .............................................................................................................60
Table 4-2: Vehicle purchase cost (2021 prices, excluding quantified risk) ..........................................................62
Table 4-3: Infrastructure breakdown ..................................................................................................................................63
Table 4-4: Warranty information ..........................................................................................................................................65
Table 4-5: Single deck EV/diesel ownership fixed cost comparison (17 years) .................................................66
Table 5-1: Pros and cons of single contractor engagement .....................................................................................71
Table 5-2: Pros and cons of split or multi contractor engagement .......................................................................72
Table 5-3: Pros and Cons of infrastructure procurement routes .............................................................................74
Table 5-4: Bus routes to be electrified ...............................................................................................................................80
Table 5-5: Specification outcomes ......................................................................................................................................87
Table 6-1: project team members and their role ...........................................................................................................92
Table 6-2: project reporting – roles and responsibilities ............................................................................................98
Table 6-3: Key milestones linked to successful delivery .......................................................................................... 100
Table 6-4: Key dependencies .............................................................................................................................................. 102
Table 6-5: Work packages.................................................................................................................................................... 104
Table 6-6: Wider stakeholders and their involvement in the ZEBRA programme ......................................... 107
Table 6-7: Method of engagement with stakeholders and the public .............................................................. 109
Table 6-8: Data requirement and collection ................................................................................................................. 114

List of Figures
Figure 2-1: Overiew of Nottingham’s socio-economic and demographic makeup .......................................... 6
Figure 2-2: Nottingham’s Existing biogas and other bus routes .............................................................................11
Figure 2-3: Low emission network .......................................................................................................................................12
Figure 2-4: Proposed Electric Bus Routes .........................................................................................................................13
Figure 2-5: Highest passenger satisfaction results in england – transport focus bus passenger survey
2019 .................................................................................................................................................................................................14
Figure 2-6: Carbon Dioxide (as carbon), total emissions all sectors .....................................................................15
Figure 2-7: Nottingham City area CO2 emissions breakdown ..................................................................................16
Figure 2-8: Illustrative emission reduction pathways to meet 2028 commitment ...........................................18

Page
xi 143

Figure 2-9: Midlands Connect Strategy Focuses ...........................................................................................................19
Figure 2-10: Nitrogen Oxides as NO2 – total emissions all sectors ........................................................................20
Figure 2-11: 2019 Annual mean NOx – Roadside .........................................................................................................21
Figure 2-12: Nottingham 2020 NO2 air quality model forecasts .............................................................................22
Figure 2-13: Index of multiple deprivation for Nottingham......................................................................................27
Figure 2-14: Index of Multiple Deprivation for Nottingham (map) ........................................................................29
Figure 2-15: The relationship between our local ZEBRA objectives and those published by DfT .............33
Figure 2-16: Key policy and strategy documents ..........................................................................................................34
Figure 2-17: Proposed Electric Bus Routes.......................................................................................................................39
Figure 2-18: Nottingham LTA boundary ...........................................................................................................................41
Figure 2-19: Peak power analysis .........................................................................................................................................43
Figure 5-1: Project programme (procurement extract) ...............................................................................................71
Figure 5-2: Proposed electric bus routes .........................................................................................................................82
Figure 5-3: Charger specification .........................................................................................................................................84
Figure 5-4: Peak power analysis ...........................................................................................................................................85
Figure 5-5: Zonal charging example ...................................................................................................................................86
Figure 5-6: Example telematics system ..............................................................................................................................87
Figure 6-1: Project organisation organogram ................................................................................................................93
Figure 6-2: Project governance structure .........................................................................................................................98
Figure 6-3: Project programme.......................................................................................................................................... 103
Figure 6-4: Logic diagram .................................................................................................................................................... 113
Figure 6-5: Viriciti dashboard for in service electric bus 14 December 2021 .................................................. 117

Appendices
Appendix A – Nottingham carbon neutral by 2028 plan
Appendix B – Every journey matters: The future of public transport in our city
Appendix C – Nottingham bus strategy 2020-25
Appendix D – Greener buses model (and sensivitity versions)
Appendix E – Local-plan-to-improve-air-quality
Appendix F – D2N2 local cycling and walking infrastructure plan
Appendix G – Advanced quality partnership scheme
Appendix H – Proposed ZEBRA bus routes and operating area
Appendix I – Letters of support
Appendix J – ZEBRA risk issues actions decisions log
Appendix K – Proposed depot layout
Appendix L – Browne Jacobson LLP subsidy control advice
Appendix M – Financial calcualtions / quantified risk assessment
Appendix N – Electric vehicle specification requirements and quotations
Appendix O – Vehicle kilometre calculation
Appendix P – Diesel vehicle quote
Appendix Q – Electric charging and connection infrastruture quotations

Pagexii144

1.

Introduction

1.1

This document sets out the Phase 2 Business Case prepared by Nottingham City Council (NCC)
in response to the Department for Transport’s (DfT’s) Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas
(ZEBRA) fund. It builds on our successful Expression of Interest, submitted earlier in 2021, for
consideration through the standard process.

1.2

Our proposal will increase options for local residents, employees and visitors to reduce their
carbon footprint when travelling into, and around, the Nottingham urban area.

This

complements NCC’s published action plan to be the UK’s first carbon-neutral city by 2028.
1.3

This Business Case has been prepared in line with the principles of HMT Green Book appraisal
and DfT’s Major Scheme Business Case guidance (as set out in its online Transport Analysis
Guidance, or TAG), and structured around the five cases (Strategic, Economic, Financial,
Commercial and Management) for a business case of this nature. The make-up of the
investment packages, and our approach to preparing this business case, has been guided by
advice and support from DfT colleagues and its advisers from Ernst & Young. We have listened
to feedback through the co-development process, tailoring our submission accordingly in
conjunction with our delivery partners at local bus operator Nottingham City Transport (NCT).
We will welcome further feedback upon funding award and as we work to deliver our local
ZEBRA fund investments.

Page
1 145

Changes Since Expression of Interest
1.4

The main changes since the Expression of Interest (EoI) submission are set out in Table 1-1.
The financial implications of these changes are presented in the financial case.

Table 1-1: Changes since EoI
Expression of Interest

Business Case

Solar PV microgeneration array
for installation at an NCT
depot

These elements have been
removed and the proposal now
relies on establishing a suitable
grid connection to the depot.
However longer term the
aspiration for local electricity
generation remains, but funds
will not be sought as part of the
ZEBRA proposal

Based on advice from the
ZEBRA Team at DfT and its
advisers at Ernst & Young

Nottingham City Council
element, replacing 16 Optare
Solo buses with eight longer
range new BEVs and the
associated infrastructure costs
to upgrade existing chargers

This element has been
removed; the business case
now focuses solely on the 78
NCT buses to be replaced

Replacing first generation
electric buses with new
electric buses was not felt to
be an optimal use of the
grant funding as it would
not support the
decarbonisation of diesel
buses, nor deliver value for
money in the context of the
greener buses model.

Vehicle and infrastructure costs

More detailed and up to date
quotes for grid connection and
charging infrastructure have
been included.

This is in line with more indepth supplier engagement
since the EoI submission.

Extended warranties to cover
major component replacement
for up to 10 years

This has now been removed
from the initial purchase cost,
with the proposal including the
standard warranty cover
provided by the vehicle supplier

Based on updated vehicle
and component
replacement quotes, the
financial risk of not taking
out the extended warranty
no longer outweighs the
additional cost

Battery energy storage
infrastructure for installation at
an NCT depot

Page2 146

Rationale

Structure of the Remainder of this Document
1.5

The remainder of our Business Case is structured around the following sections:


Strategic Case (Section 2) – outlines how our proposal meets the core policy objectives
of ZEBRA and why we are pursuing this approach.



Economic Case: Value for Money (Section 3) – sets out the costs, benefits and value
for money assessment for our proposal, detailing how they were calculated.



Financial Case: Costs and Financing (Section 4) – sets out the capital and maintenance
costs associated with our proposal, and identifies sources of matched funding
contributions alongside spend profiles over the two years of the ZEBRA fund and the
vehicle life.



Commercial Case: procurement and delivery (Section 5) – demonstrates the market
engagement activities we have undertaken while developing this business case and our
expected approach to procuring the vehicles and associated infrastructure included.



Management Case: Governance, risks, management and evaluation (Section 6) –
explains how we will work to plan, deliver and monitor the programme based on triedand-tested approaches to reducing/mitigating risks and maximising sustainable mobility
impacts.



Equality Impact Assessment (Section 7) – sets out our consideration of the impacts of
our ZEBRA proposals on people who live and work in Nottingham in respect of the
Protected Characteristics defined in the Equality Act (2010).

1.6

A number of analytical documents and technical appendices are included in support of this
business case. They set out the calculations and methodologies which underpin our use of
the Greener Buses Model, as well as the governance, procurement and partnership working
arrangements that we will rely upon to deliver this scheme.

Page
3 147

2.

Strategic Case

Defining the Place

Introduction
2.1

Nottingham City Council has a proud tradition of investing
in public transport, cycling and walking and boasts one of

Ambition and the case for change
Decarbonisation

the highest bus patronage levels outside London3.
2.2

Air
quality

Sustainable
Transport

Economic
growth

Policy and strategy alignment

This proposal will deliver 78 battery electric buses and the
implementation of the required charging infrastructure at

Objectives

the Trent Bridge Depot to operate them, allowing NCT to
operate a 100% electric single decker fleet.
2.3

Our ambitions for transport in Nottingham, and specifically
the bus operations set out in this proposal, align with local
plans and policies, regional strategies and wider national

Options
Proposal / Preferred
Option

Situation without
investment

agendas. The ZEBRA proposal builds on our success and
plans adopted in our Local Transport Plan, our carbon-neutral action plan, BSIP and our
Transforming Cities Fund programme, which promote bus priority, technological solutions and
active transport use across the City.
2.4

The proposal aims to decarbonise Nottingham’s transport, improve air quality, level-up the
economy through building local skills and improve transport for the user.

2.5

The evidence set out in this section has directly shaped our proposal to ensure it offers a sound
strategic fit with identified fund objectives.

Defining the Place
About Nottingham
2.6

Nottingham is a city and unitary authority area in the East Midlands region. With an estimated
population of 332,900 people4. Nottingham’s wider economic area, being more accurately
representative of the city’s functional economy, includes the local authority districts of
Erewash, Rushcliffe, Broxtowe, Hucknall and Gedling. This wider conurbation has a population
of over 785,000 people, making the Nottingham urban area the largest in the East Midlands,
and the second largest in the Midlands region (after Birmingham).

3

https://www.nottinghaminsight.org.uk/
Office for National Statistics 2019 mid-year estimates

44

Page4 148

2.7

Nottingham is the 11th most deprived district in the country out of 317 across England5. While
it has relatively low levels of unemployment, the impact of the economic downturn has been
greater than in many other cities with long-lasting effects.

2.8

The proposed ZEBRA routes to be electrified will serve some of the most deprived communities
around Nottingham, providing connections between the City Centre and Cilfton, to the south
of the river, and on corridors to the north of the city, towards Bulwell and Bestwood.

2.9

Prior to the reintroduction of Covid-19 restrictions, patronage had returned to 75% of normal6
and was growing, as working and learning from home reduced and leisure and hospitality had
re-opened. This provides confidence that sustainable levels of patronage will be achieved to
support the operation of the new fleet. New ticketing products have been implemented and
are being developed to better reflect new travel and working patterns to further encourage
return to public transport locally. We are confident patronage levels will quickly return to
autumn levels and continue to strengthen over time as restrictions are lifted and public
confidence returns.

2.10

The buses will operate through and support connections to some of Nottingham’s most
socially disadvantaged areas including St Ann’s, The Meadows, Forest Fields and Hyson Green,
areas which have significant health inequalities which can be exacerbated by poor air quality
and also are home to significant BAME communities, low levels of car ownership and high
levels of unemployment.

2.11

Nottingham’s economic performance, when measured by Gross Disposable Income (GDI) per
head, appears low at approximately 70% of the national average. However, when measured
by Gross Value Added (GVA) per capita – the most commonly used measure of economic
output – it is the highest of any Core City, at £25,300.

2.12

Nottingham has the highest levels of net in-commuting in the East Midlands, with its extensive
public transport network, enabling the city to draw upon a wider economic area for its
workforce. The result is a productive city supporting a prosperous region, but with inner-city
socio-economic challenges typical of any major UK conurbations (see Figure 2-1)7.

using the Average Score measure - Indices of Deprivation 2019 - ONS
November 2021
7
Nottingham Growth Plan: http://documents.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/download/3499
5
6

Page
5 149

Figure 2-1: Overiew of Nottingham’s socio-economic and demographic makeup

Page6 150

Local transport
2.13

Nottingham City Council has a proud tradition of investing in public transport, cycling and
walking. This deliberate, and longstanding policy approach has helped NCC to develop a tram
network that is integrated with local and national rail services, as well as high quality and high
frequency urban bus networks. As a result, Nottingham is now one of the few UK cities to boast
rising public transport patronage. NCC’s introduction of the UK’s first, and only, Workplace
Parking Levy (WPL) further underlines our commitment to delivering on a sustainable mobility
vision.

2.14

The revenue generated by the WPL is invested in sustainable transport system improvements,
including the local Link Bus network (providing socially necessary services that would
otherwise be uncommercial). The £9m a year raised pre-pandemic by the WPL has supported
an extension to the tram network and investment in electric buses for Nottingham City
Council’s linkbus network which plugs gaps in the commercial bus offering. Whilst also
constraining congestion which has helped to support the reliability of bus services. The ZEBRA
investment can build on this success and benefit in particular from the experience accrued
from the operation of one of the longest standing fleets of electric buses in the UK and
accelerate the decarbonisation of buses locally from a firm foundation.

2.15

NCC is currently in the process of developing its latest Local Transport Plan (LTP4). This will
build on the success of our LTP3, which had at its heart the development of a world class
sustainable transport system as well as encouraging the use of Ultra Low Emission vehicles
and behaviour change.

2.16

The updated LTP will go further, by aiming
to ensure the Council makes full use of new
and

emerging

technologies

that

will

achieve substantial reductions in carbon
emissions from transport. We know that
the majority of carbon emissions from
transport in Nottingham come from road
transport and of those emissions the vast
majority come from cars. Encouraging the
use of walking, cycling, and local public
transport options as alternatives to driving
will again be central to our LTP, alongside
reducing the need to travel – building on
evolving lifestyles in the wake of the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Page
7 151

The customer
2.17

In Nottingham 20.7 % (69,100) of the population is aged 0-17 years old, 69.6% (231,600) are
of working age - 16-65 years old, and 11.6% (38,800) are over 65 years old. Our permanent
resident population is boosted by the presence of two internationally renowned universities.
Their combined student population of over 43,000 people means the city has one of the
youngest populations of any UK city.

2.18

Bus users are generally considered to reflect the demographics of the city as a whole. In the
city of Nottingham, this includes 18% of people who have long-term health problems that
limit day-to-day activities and 27% of the resident population belonging to Black and Minority
Ethnic (BAME) communities. Further demographic information can be found in the Equality
Impact Assessment (EqIA) in section 7.

2.19

The population of Nottingham City is comprised of 51% females and 49% males. Lone parents
are predominantly female and car ownership amongst lone parents tends to be low. There are
also a higher proportion of female carers when compared to male carers. This makes both
pushchair and wheelchair spaces particularly relevant on-board our buses.

2.20

The proposed investment will not only benefit bus users, but those inhabiting space around
the bus depot and routes vehicles will operate on. BAME groups more frequently face
socioeconomic disadvantages, which can correlate with living in more densely populated areas
where air quality is poor. Densely populated areas affected include St Ann’s, The Meadows,
Forest Fields and Hyson Green, where BAME communities represent 50.4%, 48.2%, 52.3% and
49.6% respectively. Some proposed bus routes that would be electrified during the ZEBRA
project operate through these areas.

2.21

These socio-demographic characteristics combine with our progressive, ‘pro-sustainable
transport’ policies to make Nottingham one of the least car-dependent cities in the UK. Two
out of every five residents do not have access to a car, while we also have the highest level of
bus use per-head of population across all UK cities outside London8.

Details of local bus operators and market share
2.22

With 489 buses in operation across Nottingham, around 60% of these are operated by
Nottingham’s dominant urban operator, Nottingham City Transport (NCT). They currently
operate 120 biomethane double-deckers alongside 185 Euro VI diesel buses and, at prepandemic levels of operation, carried 85% of all bus passengers in Nottingham. The addition
of electric buses to the fleet will continue their decarbonisation journey and support the
company’s ambition to become the UK’s first carbon neutral bus operator.

8

https://www.nottinghaminsight.org.uk/

Page8 152

2.23

By 2028 the company aims to have a 100% Zero Emission and Biogas fleet. With the transition
away from the purchase of Biogas Double Deckers beginning in 2025/26 as the remaining
Diesel Double Deckers begin to be replaced. Of the current stable of 185 Euro VI diesel buses
not replaced by this ZEBRA proposal, 23 new double deckers powered by Biogas will be
purchased with the remaining 84 double deckers set for replacement with Battery Electric or
Hydrogen from 2025/26 onwards.

2.24

TrentBarton, the other large operator in Nottingham, serves the majority of the rest of the
commercial bus network. It focuses primarily on catering for inter–urban travel between
Nottingham and Derby, as well as to the outlying towns and villages north and south of
Nottingham – which make up the city region’s hinterland.

2.25

As shown in Table 2-1, the rest of the city’s bus market is made up of a handful of commercial
services, Park & Ride routes, and the electric Linkbus network (operated by NCC and tendered
to CT4N) – many of which are tendered services that plug important gaps in the commercial
bus market.

Table 2-1: Breakdown of the Nottingham urban area bus market
Operator

2.26

Single Decker

Double
Decker

Nottingham City
Transport (NCT)

78 (Diesel)

120 (Biogas)

TrentBarton

125 (Diesel)

0

Nottingham City
Council

29 (Electric)

Stagecoach

Emissions
100% Euro VI

Total
Buses

Market
Share

305

85%

97% Euro VI

125

12%

0

Zero at tail
pipe

29

6 (Diesel)

0

100% Euro VI

6

CT4N

16 (Diesel)

0

100% Euro VI

16

Marshalls

4 (Diesel)

0

100% Euro VI

4

Centrebus

4 (Diesel)

0

Unknown

4

107 (Diesel)

3%

Based on the annual mileage operated by NCT’s single deck fleet (58,600 km per vehicle) and
using Copert (V5) modelling, the 78 Euro VI diesel buses that will be replaced are currently
estimated to generate in the region of 75,000 tonnes of CO2e annually.

Page
9 153

ZEBRA funding bid implications
The relatively high levels of bus use in Nottingham, and extensive bus fleets that operate into
and across the city, present considerable scope for effecting significant and near-term
reductions in Greenhouse Gas emissions that are typically associated with local bus
operations.

2.27

The maps below include the Robin Hood ticketing boundary, relevant infrastructure /
refuelling stations and key depots.



Figure 2-2 shows the existing low emission network, illustrating the complete bus
network in Nottingham and highlighting the biogas routes.



Figure 2-3 shows the biogas bus routes and the existing electric linkbus routes
operated by NCC.



Figure 2-4 shows the bus routes that are proposed to be electrified as a result of this
proposal.

Page10154

Figure 2-2: Nottingham’s Existing biogas and other bus routes

Page
11 155

Figure 2-3: Low emission network

Page12156

Figure 2-4: Proposed Electric Bus Routes

Page
13 157

Our Ambition, and the Case for Change
Passenger satisfaction and bus user / non-user feedback on zero emission buses
2.28

This section highlights the interrelationships between the ZEBRA funding proposal and our
wider ambitions in respect of decarbonising Nottingham’s transport systems, improving
local air quality, Levelling-up through economic growth, and delivering our ambitious Bus
Service Improvement Plans.

2.29

Nottingham has a long tradition of delivering of some of the best bus services in the UK, but
a recent passenger survey as part of the research for the Greater Nottingham Bus Service
Improvement Plan highlighted a number of areas that passengers identified that can be
addressed by this proposal.

2.30

An online survey was undertaken during July and August 2021 to gather opinions from both
users and non-users of buses in Greater Nottingham on how bus services could be improved
in order to attract more passenger trips. When asked what improvements would make them
use the bus at all/more - 64% of respondents agreed that electric / zero emissions vehicles
would encourage them to use bus services more often.

Figure 2-5: Highest passenger satisfaction results in england – transport focus bus
passenger survey 2019

Page14158

Decarbonising Nottingham’s transport systems
Current Position
2.31

Nottingham has been at the forefront of demonstrating what local authorities can achieve in
respect of transport decarbonisation. The Nottingham Climate Emergency Declarations and
our current strategies for energy transition and climate change mitigation drive our progress.
NCC’s actions have made a real difference to people’s homes, businesses, transport and to the
way the Council operates.
“We met our 2020 energy strategy emissions target, of reducing CO2 emissions by
26% from 2005 levels, ahead of schedule. The most recent monitoring figures,
from 2017, show a reduction of 41% for the city and 49% per person9.”

2.32

Despite this progress, Nottingham remains a significant source of carbon emissions.

Figure 2-6: Carbon Dioxide (as carbon), total emissions all sectors
Source: https://naei.beis.gov.uk/emissionsapp/
2.33

Figure 2-7 shows the extent to which the city’s emissions, both by sector and per-capita, have
been falling steadily since 2005. Total CO2 emissions for Nottingham in 2017 (as derived from

9

Nottingham 2028 Carbon Neutral Charter – a copy can be found in Appendix A

Page
15 159

government figures10) were 1,171,364 tonnes, which equates to approximately 6 billion miles
driven by the average new car in the UK11.
2.34

NCC is also on track to meet the target of generating 20% of the city’s energy demand through
low and zero carbon sources by 202012. This stems from the successful implementation of key
strategies and through our partnerships with local businesses, universities and other local
authorities, enabling many forward-thinking carbon reduction actions to take place.

2.35

However, despite considerable and ongoing investments in sustainable transport
infrastructure and service provision, the contribution of transport towards total emissions has
remained stable at around 400,000 tonnes of CO2 per annum, or 1.0 tonnes per person over
this time. In essence, transport-related emissions have actually increased as a percentage of
total carbon emissions – up from around 20% in 2005 to around 33% in 2017.

Figure 2-7: Nottingham City area CO2 emissions breakdown

Source: BEIS, 2019

https://data.gov.uk/dataset/723c243d-2f1a-4d27-8b61-cdb93e5b10ff/emissions-of-carbon-dioxide-for-local-authority-areas
https://www.theguardian.com/business/2018/feb/27/co2-emissions-from-average-uk-new-car-rise-for-first-time-since-2000
12
Nottingham Energy strategy (2010 to 2020)
https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&ved=2ahUKEwjf_trT45PkAhWGLFAKHeAcC50QFjAA
egQIABAC&url=http%3A%2F%2Fdocuments.nottinghamcity.gov.uk%2Fdownload%2F3497&usg=AOvVaw0e_b-PQzK2YyMUIJD3BD8
10
11

Page16160

Ambition
2.36

Nottingham City Council has responded to the climate and environmental crisis by setting an
ambition to become the first carbon neutral city in the UK by 2028. In keeping with
Nottingham’s proud tradition of climate leadership, this Charter sets out a vision for
sustainable carbon neutrality on behalf of the Council and the city’s Green Partnership. At the
heart of this shared vision is an approach that not only positively addresses wider
environmental challenges, but improves quality of life and builds a new form of clean growth
for our economy through a green industrial revolution.

2.37

Nottingham City Council has created an ambitious Carbon Neutral by 2028 plan (See Appendix
A) which identifies decarbonisation of public transport as a key objective, mirroring the
ambition of the city’s 2018 public transport vision “Every Journey Matters – The Future of Public
Transport In Our City” (See Appendix B) which called for every bus to be Euro VI or Ultra Low
Emission by 2020. This latter objective has been achieved but is one which we now want to
take to next level by accelerating the proportion of Zero Emission Buses in the fleet. These
plans are further cemented by Nottingham’s 2020-2025 Bus Strategy (See Appendix C), which
further commits the city to the decarbonisation of buses.

Future Trends
2.38

Figure 2-8 demonstrates that our current carbon reduction trend will not achieve our ambition
to reach net zero carbon by 2028, or Government’s wider aims to decarbonise by 2050.
Consequently, NCC is placing greater emphasis on reducing emissions as quickly as possible
to increase the chance of staying within our carbon budget and meeting our objective for
carbon neutrality by 2028.

2.39

If we want to build on our early successes in the industrial and domestic sectors and achieve
our ambition to be carbon neutral by 2028, then we need to drive our reductions faster than
we have over the last 12 years. This includes targeting transport emissions, given the lack of
tangible progress over the last 15-years.

2.40

To achieve this, we know we need to reduce emissions at a rate in excess of 22.3% each year.
This is the rate of emission reduction required to keep cumulative emissions up to 2100 within
5% of Nottingham’s total carbon budget. While we acknowledge the technical challenges
behind removing all emissions in our Carbon Neutral Action Plan and note that negative
missions technologies and offsetting could be used to neutralise remaining emissions, our
central aim is to reduce emissions at, or beyond, this level to stand the best chance of limiting
global warming to +1.5C above pre-industrial levels.

Page
17 161

Figure 2-8: Illustrative emission reduction pathways to meet 2028 commitment

Source: Carbon Neutral Nottingham: 2020 – 2028 Action Plan (June 2020) 13

2.41

The key point here is the urgency needed to act to reduce Nottingham’s emissions. Delaying
action by just one year means the minimum 12.5% annual reduction to remain below
Nottingham’s carbon budget becomes 13.5% and the 22.3% annual reduction to achieve the
commitment rises to 24.3%. Essentially, the longer we delay, the greater the effort needed in
ensuing years.
ZEBRA funding bid implications
Our immediate aim to decarbonise local transport networks can be directly supported by
converting as many Euro VI and first generation electric buses as possible over to the latest
Battery Electric Vehicle (BEV) bus technologies. We estimate that around 3,800 tonnes of CO2e
will be saved each year on average (See Appendix D).
Beyond the scope of this bid, our wider ambition is to install Solar PV arrays and battery
storage infrastructure at bus depots and bus stations across the Nottingham urban area. This
will maximise the value of the most significant bus network infrastructure assets by enabling
them to store electricity that can be used to rapidly charge our city’s growing electric bus
fleets. This will further support our decarbonisation goals and improve operational resilience
by reducing our reliance on third party energy tariffs and bringing down the cost of
commercial bus operations.

13

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/2619917/2028-carbon-neutral-action-plan-v2-160620.pdf

Page18162

Regional Policy: Midlands Engine / Midlands Connect
2.42

Attractively located at the UK’s heart, the Derby-Nottingham city region is home to major
global businesses. The Midlands Engine identifies Nottingham as a key location within the
area’s ‘Strategic economic hubs’ and ‘intensive growth corridors’14; together with Derby it is
one of four priority areas with potential to drive forward the Midlands economy15.

2.43

Midlands Connect has outlined the context for its refreshed strategy (due to be published later
this year), focusing on how regional transport and connectivity can help tackle the challenges
outlined in Figure 2-9. This ZEBRA proposal aligns with all three of these, promoting
decarbonised transport, better quality of life for our communities and supporting the economy
and bus passenger recovery.

Figure 2-9: Midlands Connect Strategy Focuses

ZEBRA funding bid implications
One of the key parts of the Midlands Engine Ten Point Plan for Green Growth is Net Zero
Transport and accelerating the shift to net zero vehicles16. This proposal will contribute to the
wider regional ambition to develop and promote the Midlands Engine as a centre of excellence
for battery electric vehicles and charging and refuelling technologies and building a skilled
workforce in this area.

Air quality
Nottingham’s current air quality challenge
2.44

In July 2017, the Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) published its
“UK Plan for tackling roadside Nitrogen Dioxide concentrations”. Nottingham City Council’s
administrative area was named in the document as having concentrations of Nitrogen Dioxide

Midlands Connect Strategy (2017): https://www.midlandsconnect.uk/media/1224/midlands-connect-strategy-march-2017.pdf
Delivering a Transport Strategy for the Midlands https://www.midlandsconnect.uk/media/1058/mc-transport-strategy.pdf
16
https://www.midlandsengine.org/wp-content/uploads/Ten-Point-Plan-for-Green-Growth-in-the-Midlands-Engine_V1.pdf
14
15

Page
19 163

(NO2) above the average annual legal limit of 40μgm-3. The City Council was then mandated
by the Secretary of State to produce a plan that would show how the Council would reduce
concentrations of NO2 to within the legal limits.
2.45

The Local Plan (See Appendix E) was submitted and approved by DEFRA in September 2018.
On the 21st November 2018 the Ministerial Direction (Environment Act 1995, Nottingham City
Council) Air Quality Direction 2018 came into force which compelled the Council to implement
its plan.

2.46

Notwithstanding the measures already delivered, the plan contained a commitment to go
much further in improving air quality than just meeting the air quality directive limit for NO2.
Acting on this commitment the Council extended one of our existing Air Quality Management
Areas for nitrogen dioxide to cover the entire City.

2.47

Air quality monitoring data for 2020 generally show a reduction in the annual average NO2
and particulate concentrations. When examined in detail, the monitoring data shows that the
lowest measured NO2 and particle concentrations coincided with the strictest periods of
‘lockdown’. However, on three key arterial routes (not identified in the detailed infraction
modelling), diffusion tube data continues to indicate NO2 concentrations in the range 39-43
ug/m3.

Figure 2-10: Nitrogen Oxides as NO2 – total emissions all sectors

Source: https://naei.beis.gov.uk/emissionsapp/

Page20164

Figure 2-11: 2019 Annual mean NOx – Roadside

Source: https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/data/gis-mapping/

Page
21 165

Air quality management
2.48

Figure 2-12 shows forecast nitrogen dioxide (NO2) levels in Nottingham, which are one of the
key metrics for air quality in urban areas. An Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) covers the
City’s boundary and monitors levels of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) in the air – of which exhaust
emissions from motorised vehicles are a primary source. When initially declared in 2002 the
AQMA was focused upon the Broadmarsh area, Maid Marian Way, and along the A6008 to
Upper Parliament Street. This was extended in 2019 to cover the entirety of NCC’s
administrative area17.

Figure 2-12: Nottingham 2020 NO2 air quality model forecasts

Source: Nottingham City Council (2018) Air Quality Annual Status Report

2.49

Nottingham was in the first wave of UK city authorities that are required to comply with EU air
quality limits in the shortest time. This has resulted in the preparation of Local Air Quality Plans
setting out measures to deliver air quality compliance.

17

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/details?aqma_ref=112

Page22166

2.50

Public consultation on the issue of air quality revealed the importance of this issue locally, with
90% of respondents supporting measures to improve air quality in the city and 88% believing
that improving air quality should be a key priority. Specific measures are underway to
accelerate compliance, including:


Retro-fitting 185 Nottingham City Transport buses with clean exhaust technology (68
of these previously retrofitted buses will now be upgraded to battery electric as part of
this ZEBRA proposal).



Requiring every taxi and private hire vehicle to be either Euro 6 or Ultra Low Emission
(ULEV).



Replacing the Council’s own specialist vehicles – such as cage tippers and vans – with
electric or other low emission vehicles.



Reviewing the city’s Clear Zone - which restricts access to the city centre - to include
emissions criteria and a taxi permit scheme.

2.51

In

combination

with

previously

implemented

measures; including the Workplace Parking Levy, NET
tram network, electric and biogas bus initiatives,
cycle ambition plan and travel behaviour change

Clean Bus
Technology
Fund: £2.7m

JAQU: £1m
(ULEV taxis and
infra)

programmes; the Government’s Joint Air Quality Unit
(JAQU) concurred that a charging Clean Air Zone was
not required in Nottingham.
2.52

Transforming
Cities Programme:
£99.4m
(£26.9m for Public
Transport projects
across Greater
Nottingham)

The City is participating in the delivery of the Go Ultra Low (OLEV funded) initiatives to increase
the uptake of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs), helping to contribute to air quality
improvements. This includes the creation of a publicly accessible charge point network across
the area, comprehensive support for businesses (advice and sustainable transport grants) and
events/campaigns to raise the awareness of electric and other ULEVs to the public.

2.53

Infrastructure for electric vehicles is becoming increasingly important as quarterly statistics
published by DfT and The Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders (SMMT) show that
plug-in vehicle registrations have been increasing significantly since 2017. According to a letter
from the Secretary of State for Transport (29th Oct 2019) which included ‘Zap-Map’ survey data,
the East Midlands’ average of public charge points per 100,000 of population is 15. The
comparable figure for Nottingham is 31.

2.54

The focus of these other investments is around decarbonising our activities and enhancing
sustainable travel choices. Our current bus fleet conflicts with these aims by producing carbon
emissions and polluting our local environment thus preventing maximum value of other
initiatives and investments in the city being fully realised. Without making changes to the

Page
23 167

majority of the bus services in the City, the increased levels of walking and cycling will suffer
from existing levels of poor air quality, and health benefits will be limited.
ZEBRA funding bid implications
Our ZEBRA-funded project will see the entire fleet of single deck diesel buses currently being
run by Nottingham City Transport electrified. This will deliver significant reductions in
emissions from buses that contribute to poor air quality – both within the City AQMA and
across the wider conurbation, including AQMAs in the County Council districts of Gedling and
Rushcliffe.
Based on pre-pandemic operated bus vehicle kilometres (calculated from November 2019
levels of operations) we estimate that on average around 1,829 kilograms fewer NOx emissions
and 46 kilograms fewer PM2.5 emissions18 will be emitted each year as a result of converting
the diesel-powered routes within this bid to electric buses.

Supporting an improving sustainable transport network
2.55

ZEBRA funding presents an opportunity to further improve the quality and sustainability of
Nottingham’s local transport networks. This necessitates that we further develop existing
transport infrastructure and build on high quality public transport services, such as the
Nottingham Express Transit (NET) tram, SkyLink bus services (that connect Nottingham to
East Midlands Airport and major employment areas nearby), and the extensive NCT, Trent
Barton and Linkbus networks.

2.56

This means evolving our mass transit system and key bus corridors, and capitalising on planned
and recently completed investments, (including A52 and A38 road capacity improvements, and
Nottingham’s rail and bus station upgrades).

We must also exploit and deploy new

technologies along key corridors that connect existing urban areas with emerging growth.
Encouraging wider public transport and cycling uptake
2.57

Our proposal forms part of a 360-degree approach to improving bus services in Nottingham,
as highlighted in the Nottingham 2020-25 Bus Strategy (see below). It is a key component of
improving the passenger experience through quieter, more comfortable, modern buses which
fit better within more people-focused ‘Healthy Street’ environments which prioritise walking,
cycling, e-scooter/micro mobility and clean public transport travel choices over other
motorised journey options.

18

Calculated within the Greener Buses Model (see Appendix D)

Page24168

2.58

This is particularly important given many Nottingham residents do not own or have access to
a car (0.76 cars per person), which is already reflected by high levels of public transport use
(over 40% of all trips in the city are by bus and tram).

2.59

Nottingham has bucked recent national trends for declining public transport use in English
core cities. This has been driven by the extended Nottingham Express Transit (NET) network,
a progressive Workplace Parking Levy, a highway network/city centre environment which
prioritises public transport connections, and the award-winning approach of our city’s two
main bus operators: Nottingham City Transport and Trentbarton. Consequently, the annual
number of passengers has increased to 82.75m (of which 17.73m were by tram) in 2018/1919,
representing a 24% increase since 2003/4.

2.60

Since its expansion in 2015, Nottingham’s tram network offers direct cross-city routes between
Clifton (South West of Nottingham) and Toton Lane (West of Nottingham) and
Hucknall/Phoenix Park to the north of the city20. It is complemented by a hub and spoke bus
network, which also offers a range of orbital and local ‘Link’ bus services.
Aligning investment to passenger growth

2.61

Despite these positive trends, historic infrastructure investment has not kept pace with local
growth. Central Government statistics (from 2015/16) show the East Midlands had the lowest
levels of public expenditure on transport – both in total and per capita21. This has contributed
to the Nottingham area not achieving its full potential, with productivity consistently below
the national average.

2.62

This historic shortfall in investment, particularly on transport connections serving major
employment growth locations on the edge of Nottingham’s urban areas, has contributed to
high levels of car dependence for trips outside of the urban centre – many of which travel
across the city on primary roads.

2.63

Many active travel projects including those being delivered through our Transforming Cities
Fund programme and identified in the Local Cycling Walking Infrastructure Plan (See Appendix
F) are integrated with bus priority corridors. These will provide dedicated bus lanes alongside
segregated cycle lanes and secure bicycle parking ‘hubs’ close to key bus stops. Improved
pedestrian facilities and links to support better access to bus stops are also being delivered
locally as part of public realm and wayfinding improvements across the city.
National bus strategy: bus back better

Nottingham City Authority Monitoring Report (2019): https://www.nottinghamshireinsight.org.uk/d/aAXDCdN
Nottingham Express Transit tram patronage figures (Nottingham City Council 2019):
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/light-rail-and-tram-statistics
21
East Midlands Council report: http://www.emcouncils.gov.uk/write/Levels_of_Public_Investment_in_East_Midlands.pdf
19
20

Page
25 169

2.64

In September 2019, the government set out how it would launch a revolution in bus services
– delivering a better deal for bus users and committing to publishing a National Bus Strategy.
This national strategy sets out the vision and opportunity to deliver better bus services for
passengers across England, through ambitious and far-reaching reform of how services are
planned and delivered.
Nottingham’s bus quality partnership and bus service improvement plan

2.65

Nottingham’s 2020-25 Bus Strategy identifies the importance of Nottingham’s longstanding
Bus Quality Partnership. NCC’s effective collaboration with key local bus and tram operators
has led to a comprehensive Advanced Quality Partnership Scheme for the city centre (See
Appendix G). Its members are now committed to implementing an Enhanced Partnership
across the wider urban area by April 2022 as part of the Strategy, which has evolved into our
Bus Service Improvement Plan.

2.66

The strategy identifies a number of work packages being taken forward as part of our £29m
Transforming Cities Fund Programme, which builds on the prior long-term investments in bus
priority and public transport information. Developed in partnership with the Bus Quality
Partnership and included within the Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP), these include:


Roll-out of traffic light priority for late running buses across all core high-frequency
bus corridors.



Upgrades to our digital public transport information systems and hardware.



Additional Bus Lanes and Bus Lane enforcement along key arterial routes.



A new Park and Ride site to the North of the city.



An operator pinch-point package.



Broadmarsh Bus Station, Victoria Bus Station and Bulwell Interchange upgrades.



Improvements to Robin Hood Multi-Operator Smart Ticketing and Contactless fare
Payment systems.

2.67

All of the improvements detailed above are being implemented along the core arterial
corridors across the network and will directly benefit the ZEBRA Routes outlined in this bid
delivering zero and low emission bus corridors with comprehensive bus priority, advanced
digital information, improved passenger waiting facilities and state of the art integrated
ticketing and payment.

ZEBRA funding bid implications
Quieter, zero-emission buses will deliver secondary benefits for NCC’s more people-focused
approach to redesigning its urban street networks. Their operation will help to create

Page26170

environments that are better-suited to higher levels of every-day walking, cycling and public
transport trip-making. The lower noise associated with zero emission buses supports NCC’s
BSIP aspirations to extend operating hours in some residential areas without disruption.
The new vehicles we intend to purchase will benefit from urban traffic control centrally
triggerred priority at traffic signals and key routes, and our back-office investments in realtime information and smart fare payment technologies.

Economic growth and levelling-up
2.68

The Indices of Deprivation measure relative deprivation in 32,844 neighbourhood areas, called
Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs), in England. Each area is given a score and a rank for seven
distinct metrics of deprivation, which are combined to calculate the overall Index of Multiple
Deprivation (IMD). Summaries are also provided at a Local Authority district level (aggregating
LSOAs to match administrative boundaries).

2.69

Nottingham ranks as the 11th most-deprived of the 317 districts in England using the Average
Score measure. Figure 2-13 shows that over half (57.2%) of the city’s LSOAs fall into the lowest
IMD quintile (lowest 20%) for the whole of England, and less than one-in-ten (8%) of
Nottingham’s LSOAs are in the top quintile (top 20%).

Figure 2-13: Index of multiple deprivation for Nottingham

Source: https://www.nottinghaminsight.org.uk/themes/deprivation-and-poverty/indices-of-deprivation-2019/

Page
27 171

2.70

While these trends are comparable with a number of other East Midlands’ cities, and also
reflect Nottingham City’s tightly drawn administrative boundary, they underline the critical
importance of levelling-up the local economy and providing access to employment
opportunities for Nottingham’s residents.

2.71

Figure 2-14 shows how these LSOAs are distributed across the City. The proposed ZEBRA
routes to be electrified will serve communities around Nottingham, providing connections to
the City Centre and key employment areas. Connections will benefit communities in the most
deprived areas of the city including in Cilfton, to the south of the river, and on corridors to the
north of the city, towards Bulwell and Bestwood.

Page28172

Figure 2-14: Index of Multiple Deprivation for Nottingham (map)

Source: https://www.nottinghaminsight.org.uk/d/a8AgQEL

Page
29 173

Zero emission agglomeration and retention of jobs
2.72

Recognising the Levelling-Up challenge, this proposal will continue Nottingham’s progress as
a national incubator and international model for zero emission vehicle technology. The
alternative fuel mix deployed across the city’s public transport network will yield useful
comparative operational data that can inform wider adoption of BEV bus technologies in other
towns and cities, feeding into wider monitoring and evaluation reports. It will simultaneously
drive economic growth and improving the liveability and attractiveness of the city and district
centres through significant reductions in air and noise pollution.

2.73

The electrification of Trent Bridge garage, which is located within The Meadows residential
area, will significantly reduce the noise impact of the garage. Increasing the available power
infrastructure within this residential area also opens up scope to create a neighbourhood
mobility hub. The bus depot on Turney Street could support co-located e-bike/e-scooter
stabling, electric vehicle charging points and an electric car share scheme. All of these would
benefit from the strengthened local energy grid delivered by the ZEBRA funding, whilst
affording new travel options for NCT staff and local residents alike.
Skills and jobs

2.74

The investment will also have an agglomeration
effect on the local economy and skills base.
Engineers and mechanics working for NCT will
become skilled in maintaining and servicing
electric vehicles, enhancing their employability.

2.75

Local colleges are already interested in offering
courses in the maintenance and servicing of
electric vehicles, and would be able to develop
pathways into skilled local employment with the possibility of local bus companies offering
apprenticeships and work experience connected directly to this new technology. Academic
institutions such as Nottingham University’s recently formed Centre for Advanced Propulsion
are well placed to benefit from close proximity to a real-world testbed.

2.76

Nottingham Electric Vehicle Services (NEVS) was created in 2020 and is the first publicly owned
MOT and maintenance centre exclusively for ultra-low emission vehicles. It is an early indicator
of the type of agglomeration benefit that previous investment in zero emission technologies
has helped to trigger locally. A letter of their support of our ZEBRA bid is in included in
Appendix I. It highlights their aspirations to create apprenticeship opportunities, on-going
engagement with other local garages to advise on staff training and local colleges to develop
new course for EV maintenance.

Page30174

2.77

Investment in electric buses will continue to protect jobs in the UK bus industry nationally,
whilst ensuring the attractiveness of bus travel on a local level by delivering a state-of-the-art
bus fleet which in turn protects jobs within the sector.

ZEBRA funding bid implications
The receipt of ZEBRA funding creates scope for local bus operators to enrich local skills and
offer more jobs focused around the city’s burgeoning zero emission centre of excellence status
– in doing so contributing to Levelling-Up the Midlands.
It will build the practical opportunities on offer locally, to work on electric vehicles and learn
with NEVS, local colleges and Nottingham University.

Improve transport for the user
2.78

The new electric bus vehicles will upgrade the full single deck midi bus fleet operated by NCT
in Nottingham. This will improve public transport options for all current users and any new
users by delivering the latest in accessibility standards and user technology.

2.79

NCT fleet specification standards will directly mirror those outlined in the scheme guidance in
relation to accessibility and will be applied to the procurement of any new buses. All buses
procured will be compliant with the Public Service Vehicles Accessibility Regulations (PSVAR,
2000). They will meet the enhanced accessibility requirements and will have:


Audio and Visual equipment visible and audible from priority seats and wheelchair
space



Induction loops in priority seats and the wheelchair space



provide an induction loop to aid direct communication between drivers and
passengers who use a hearing aid



Provide an additional flexible space in addition to the mandatory wheelchair space,
suitable for a second wheelchair user and/or at least two unfolded pushchairs or
prams.

2.80

Passengers and drivers will also benefit from the inclusion of CCTV on board, as installation of
CCTV will be included on all of the buses delivered within this project.

2.81

In addition, electric vehicles offer passengers an improved physical quality of journey
compared to their diesel counterparts. With quieter and smoother motors, journeys are more
comfortable and involve reduced vibrations. This particularly benefits passengers moving

Page
31 175

around the bus to find a seat or standing where any turbulence particularly impacts user
experience. Drivers also benefit from this improved journey experience.
2.82

Other road users can also benefit from electric vehicles on the road. Cyclists and pedestrians
experience reduced tailpipe emissions from buses, improving their journey quality from
reduced smell and exposure to harmful air borne pollutants.

2.83

Our proposal will deliver significant reductions in emissions (down 3,800 tonnes CO2e per
annum) from buses operating within the City Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), which
covers the full administrative area, and across the wider conurbation - including AQMAs in
County Council districts of Gedling and Rushcliffe.

Page32176

Scheme Objectives
Nottingham ZEBRA objectives
2.84

Recognising the issues and opportunities defined above, our proposal has been developed to address a set of ‘Nottingham-specific’
objectives that relate to those defined in DfT’s funding programme guidance. These are presented side-by-side in Figure 2-15 alongside
wider DfT priorities – demonstrating their clear alignment and appropriate strategic fit.

Figure 2-15: The relationship between our local ZEBRA objectives and those published by DfT

Page 177
33

Policy alignment: summary
2.85

As detailed throughout this chapter our ambitions for transport in Nottingham, and specifically
the bus operations set out in this proposal, align with local plans and policies, regional
strategies and wider national agendas. The policies and strategies listed below are ones which
directly relate, and align, with the aims and impacts of our ZEBRA proposals.

Figure 2-16: Key policy and strategy documents
Regional

National
•National Bus Strategy
•Transport
decarbonisation plan

2.86

•Midlands Engine /
Connect

Local
•Nottingham Bus
Decarbonisation Strategy
•Nottingham Bus Strategy
•Nottingham BSIP
•Nottingham Carbon Neutral
•Nottingham Local Air
Quality Plan

Plans for bus directly complement the city’s wider “Go Ultra Low Nottingham” transport
decarbonisation programme. This has delivered a comprehensive network of 400 charge
points for Ultra Low Emission Vehicles across the Derby – Nottingham area, electrification of
the Hackney Carriage fleet, conversion of the local public sector fleet including the UK’s first
electric Refuse Collection Vehicle and the city’s first dedicated ULEV only service and repair
centre. Work related to the local Future Transport Zone programme has also seen wireless taxi
charging and the initiation of a citywide E-Scooter trial with Wind Mobility. This ZEBRA funding
bid complements our ongoing decarbonisation work by adding power infrastructure to NCT’s
Trent Bridge depot – thereby establishing potential for an electric neighbourhood mobility
hub adjacent to the bus garages on Turney Street in Nottingham’s Meadows area.

2.87

Many active travel projects, including those being delivered through Transforming Cities and
identified in the Local Cycling Walking Infrastructure Plan are integrated with bus priority
corridors with dedicated bus lanes complemented with parallel cycle lanes and secure bicycle
parking hubs. Improved pedestrian facilities and links to support better access to bus stops
are also being delivered locally.

2.88

This proposal forms part of a 360-degree approach to improving bus services in Nottingham
as highlighted in the Nottingham 2020-25 Bus Strategy and is a key aspect of improving the
passenger experience through quieter, comfortable, modern buses which fit better with a
Healthy Streets approach to our neighbourhoods where public transport, walking and cycling
are prioritised.

Page34178

2.89

Table 2-2 illustrates the key themes of the strategic case, the direct relationships between local
and national objectives and how the Nottingham proposal will meet these aims.
Monitoring performance

2.90

These objectives and outcomes have been selected with a view to ensure effective monitoring
and evaluation is undertaken to review the impact of the scheme and wider policies that it
contributes to, such as Air Quality and Carbon Neutral Plans.

2.91

Further details on the approach to monitoring and evaluation, including partnership working
with the DfT in the wider national ZEBRA reviews, are set out within the Management Case
(Section 6).

Page
35 179

Table 2-2: Map of policy objectives relative to Nottingham’s ZEBRA scheme aims
Scheme
Objectives

Map to most relevant
DfT Strategic Priority

Map to most relevant ZEBRA Objectives

Alignment to other relevant local /
regional objectives / policies

Support the government’s commitment to
decarbonisation and to reduce the
transport sector's contribution to CO2
emissions


In line with decarbonisation plans and
climate emergency declarations across all
levels of authority. It also builds on the
other sustainable transport schemes being
implemented and developed across the
City.

New buses will remove an average of 3,800
tonnes of CO2e per year, total of 64,605 over the
appraisal period22

The Nottingham wide AQMA will monitor
the impact of the scheme. Proposals will
support the Local Air Quality Action Plan 
and align with other sustainable transport
schemes across the City.
The proposal supports efficient business 

New buses will remove 31 tonnes of NOx and 777
kilograms of PM2.5 during the appraisal period22

Reduces the negative
environmental impacts
of transport

To improve
local air
quality

Reduces the negative
environmental impacts
of transport

Support the government’s commitment
decarbonise transport

To enhance
operational
efficiency of
vehicle fleet

Support wider priorities
to grow and level-up
the economy

Supports the development of zero
emission bus technology

To support
local
opportunities
for jobs and
skills

Support wider priorities
to grow and level-up
the economy

Support the development of zero emission
bus technology

To promote
inclusive
access to high
quality bus
services

Support the wider DfT
priority to improve
transport for the user

Page 180

To support the
ambition of
our Carbon
Neutral
Charter for
2028

Supports the roll out of zero emission
buses across the country

Supports the roll out of zero emission
buses across the country

Supports the roll out of zero emission
buses across the country

Improves understanding of the challenges
involved in delivering ZEBs
Supports the roll out of zero emission
buses across the country and the NBS
Supports priorities set out in the National
Bus Strategy – raising the quality of and
patronage on public transport

practices that provide stable operations
and employment opportunities for the
future.

Links with existing AQMA and Air Quality strategy
monitoring
New buses will reduce maintenance costs by
minimising the regular servicing that diesel
engines require

The proposal supports the aims of the 
Midlands Engine to build a strong skills

and employment base for the future. There
is potential to link operations to local
colleges, offering students hands on
experience

NCT employees to be trained in EV maintenance
and servicing
Local college interest in delivering related course
will be able to develop new local pathways into
employment and apprenticeship opportunities

This supports the National Bus Strategy by
being a greener and more accessible and
inclusive mode of transport

All new buses will be compliant with the Public
Service Vehicles Accessibility Regulations 2000
and delivered to the Nottingham City Transport
Specification which includes, luxury seating, led
lighting, next stop audio and visual
announcements, USB charging and wifi, generous
legroom, two pushchair / buggy spaces to
complement wheelchair space provision.

Supports the roll out of zero emission
buses across the country

22

How do the outcomes of the scheme meet the
objective?

(see ‘O – Summary’ sheets of the GBM in Appendix D)
36

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Option Appraisal & Preferred Option
Options considered in this business case
2.92

One main ‘do something’ scenario has been considered and compared to a ‘do minimum’/no
investment situation. This preferred ‘do something’ option is to purchase 78 new BEV buses to
replace existing vehicles operating on the commercial (NCT-operated) network. This would be
part funded by the DfT and the operator, NCT. Further information can be found within the
Financial Case chapter.

2.93

The ‘do minimum’ alternative would see the continued operation of existing Euro VI vehicles
on NCT’s commercial network.

2.94

Hybrid vehicles were not considered the optimal solution for NCT operations in Nottingham;
the reasoning behind this decision is set out in this section.

2.95

In addition, a leasing option was previously considered. The annual lease cost from Zenobē
for an ADL/BYD E200EV based on a total vehicle price of £375,000 was £49,450 PA over 10
years totalling £494,500. This is higher than the overall vehicle purchase and infrastructure
cost set out in this bid and was thus discounted from consideration on cost-effectiveness
grounds. This option did include a battery management option which guaranteed that there
will always be an eBus battery that meets the minimum capacity requirements for the agreed
route. However, it was felt that the 7-year manufacturer warranty would be sufficient to cover
a midlife battery replacement.

Preferred option - our ZEBRA funding proposal
2.96

This option assumes that NCC secures the full ask associated with this ZEBRA proposal. It
covers NCT’s commercial operation with 78 new BEV buses, replacing 78 existing diesel
vehicles which will serve radial routes across the city. These represent the total existing midi
bus fleet, operated by NCT in Nottingham. Replacement of the midi bus fleet on the routes
selected is the most expedient way to roll out electric buses at a scale on the commercial
network locally, due to shorter route lengths and lighter frequencies than those delivered by
NCT’s double decker operation.
The total cost of the proposal is £34,620,471; this is made up of £15,228,028 ZEBRA funding
ask and £19,392,443 private sector contribution. This spend is planned across two years with
£12,614,711 in 2022 and £22,005,759 in 2023.

Page
37 181

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Proportion of electric buses to be operated within the proposal area
2.97

Discounting NCC’s non-commercial fleet (29 bus vehicles), 17% of Nottingham’s commercially
operated bus fleet will be electrified as a result of this option. This equates to 26% of NCT’s
entire fleet, which reflects a significant proportion of buses in service given their local market
share and operated mileage across Nottingham.
The average annual distance covered by the NCT midi buses that are to be replaced was 58,616
km23. Therefore, this would represent 4,572,048 annual km being electrified by the proposal.
Area covered by Nottingham’s ZEBRA proposal

2.98

This option will see full conversion of NCT’s single decker fleet to BEV bus operation. Electrical
supply infrastructure will be upgraded at NCT’s Trent Bridge Depot to facilitate charging of the
new buses, with a sustainable energy supplier set to be secured.

2.99

Figure 2-17 details the routes that will be covered and the Local Transport Authority areas
across Greater Nottingham that will be served by the new BEV buses, while Appendix H gives
a high-resolution version. These extend beyond the Nottingham City (NCC) administrative area
into a number of neighbouring districts and boroughs within the Nottinghamshire County
Council administrative area. All of these services operate into Nottingham City Centre and
serve a number of key destinations, including the city’s two hospitals, both league football
grounds, Trent Bridge cricket ground, local college and university sites, centres of employment,
district centres, parks and open spaces, suburban residential areas and key interchange points
between heavy and light rail.
Why the routes proposed?

2.100

These routes have been chosen as they are currently operated with NCT’s single deck fleet that
are proposed to be replaced. These routes align with other areas of public transport
investment and improvement across the City, building on investments in bus priority and
digital information which are being progressed as part of the TCF programme and BSIP
schemes.
Why the number of buses proposed?

2.101

78 vehicles have been chosen for the proposal as they represent the entire single deck fleet
operated by NCT.

NCT data - weekly scheduled mileage from November 2019 (both live and dead miles) and converted to an annual equivalent
per bus. This also excludes any unscheduled mileage (e.g. engineering dead miles) but these will be small in comparison.
23

Page38182

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Figure 2-17: Proposed Electric Bus Routes

Page
39 183

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Why only single deck buses chosen?
2.102

This proposal focuses on single BEVs as the range specification of currently available double
deck vehicles are not at the level that NCT would require to effectively operate BEVs on their
double deck routes.

2.103

In addition, the single deck vehicles were chosen as the optimum vehicles to be replaced as
they are nearing the end of their operational life (NCT usually operate vehicles up to around
12 years), and the average age of the fleet to be replaced is 10 years. This makes for a more
financially acceptable proposal for NCT to invest at this stage, as investment in new fleet is
only brought forward slightly from their usual practice.

2.104

Furthermore, the single deck vehicles are all operated from NCT’s Trent Bridge depot. This
grade 2 listed depot has already undergone £500,000 worth of extensive renovation works,
fully funded by NCT, in readiness for electric bus operations. Focusing the electrification of
fleet on one depot simplifies operations and reduces the per bus cost of infrastructure
investment. It also lays the foundations for other routes, operated by double deck vehicles,
to be operated from the Trent Bridge depot in the future as some of the key infrastructure,
such as the grid connection, will be in place to facilitate this.
Changes to preferred option since EoI

2.105

There have been some changes in the proposed preferred option since our Expression of
Interest, including:


Removal of the NCC Linkbus upgrade element – the City Council scheme to replace 16
Optare Solo buses with eight longer range new BEVs and the associated upgrade existing
chargers has been removed. This is following advice from DfT and Ernst & Young as well
as understanding that the aims and objectives of the scheme were focused on
environmental outcomes derived from the change in energy source, which the investment
in new EVs for the Linkbus network would have limited benefit on.



Removal of the extended warranty – Based on updated vehicle and component
replacement quotes, and the longer standard warranty offered by some suppliers the
financial risk of not taking out the extended warranty no longer outweighs the additional
cost.

2.106

Figure 2-18 shows the Local Transport Authority areas that the buses will operate in.

Page40184

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Figure 2-18: Nottingham LTA boundary

2.107

Our proposal will deliver significant reductions in emissions (down 3,800 tonnes CO2e per
annum) from buses operating within the City Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), which
covers the full administrative area, and across the wider conurbation - including AQMAs in
County Council districts of Gedling and Rushcliffe.
Vehicle specification

2.108

All vehicles will be operated and managed by NCT, who were the only operator locally who
wanted to take forward a ZEBRA bid at this point when we consulted our local bus partnership.
A vehicle specification has been developed based on NCC’s experience with operating electric
vehicles and NCT’s industry experience and research into the technology. This will ensure the
supplier will deliver vehicles to at least as high a specification as the existing fleet to be
replaced. Key elements include:


12 single deck electric buses with 40 seats and 66 single deck electric buses with 33 seats



Compliant with the Public Service Vehicles Accessibility Regulations 2000



The buses are expected to be maintained and operated for a minimum of 17 years

Page
41 185

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case



Minimum battery size of 420kWh, providing a worst-case minimum range of 300 km



Battery life is expected to be between 12 and 24 hours (subject to the same operating
conditions set out above).



Minimum standard warranty coverage on parts, including battery life and health –
different suppliers have different lengths of coverage for these

2.109

The first batch of buses will be procured via the Crown Commercial Service framework. Based
on the suppliers on this framework and NCT’s range requirements, Yutong and ADL- BYD are
the current front runners, subject to a fully compliant public procurement exercise

2.110

NCC’s existing Optare Solos, which will not be replaced as part of this ZEBRA bid, have a range
of 70 miles, whereas the new buses proposed to be purchased have a range of around 180
miles. Longer range buses would mean vehicles would not have to be swapped during the
middle of the day, as is this case with shorter-range first-generation electric buses. We would
therefore not have to rely as heavily on rapid charging, which quickly degrades batteries and
their range capabilities, making it difficult to maintain service levels.

2.111

This accrued knowledge and skills across the NCC – NCT partnership (which may not be as
well-developed elsewhere in the UK), is grounded in 10 years of technical experience of
operating electric buses. This provides foresight and ability to pre-empt challenges which will
support the efficient delivery of the roll-out of the technology.
Charging schedule and power

2.112

An infrastructure proposal has been drawn up by Zenobē. The layout of chargers in the depot
is shown in Appendix K, and associated costs presented in the financial case chapter.

2.113

The proposed infrastructure supplier will deliver 41 150kW DC Chargers which will be operated
by specialist grid management software. This optimises charging rates across the fleet
depending on vehicle operational times and running order, electricity rates and grid capacity
to maximise efficiencies in the charging schedule.

2.114

Vehicle charging would largely take place from 18:30 in the evening to 07:00 in the morning,
when vehicles are not in frequent operation. This would also take advantage of the lower rate
electricity which is in effect between 00:00 and 07:00, based on NCT’s current electricity deal.
Further details on the specification are include in the Commercial Case.

2.115

Zenobē’s estimated power analysis in Figure 2-19 illustrates the likely charging schedule. A
high voltage grid connection is included as part of the supporting infrastructure required to
support the operation of electric vehicles.

Page42186

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Figure 2-19: Peak power analysis

2.116

In current operations NCT seeks to obtain fixed price agreements on fuel resource costs for
their bus operations. This currently applies to both their diesel and bio-methane providers and,
once the electric infrastructure is installed and their electricity provider has observed data on
the amount of power that is being used at the depot, NCT will investigate the potential for a
fixed price agreement for electricity. This will be considered in relation to wider market
uncertainties and volatilities to achieve an optimum outcome for NCT. This could further bring
the costs of operating electric vehicles down and enhance the case for investment in BEVs.
Only the default BEIS for electricity resource cost as no more detailed information is currently
available.
Decommissioned vehicles

2.117

NCT currently operates a model based on running a fleet of buses up to about 12 years of age,
having purchased them when new (first registration). As an award-winning operator with a
primarily urban bus network, maintaining the most efficient vehicles is an important part of
NCT’s business model – hence they have a track record of retiring vehicles with retained value.

2.118

The existing 78 single deck vehicles that will be replaced will not be at the end of their
operational life and all have been converted to Euro VI emission standard. It is therefore
intended to sell all of the replaced buses for further service use elsewhere. NCT will follow
their established and previously successful route to sourcing buyers for their vehicles. NCT will
seek to obtain the best price for the vehicles through utilising their list of UK operators who
have purchased vehicles from them in the past.

2.119

However, it is likely that these vehicles will not have fully depreciated, therefore the demand
and, in turn, market value, for second hand single decker buses is such that they are unlikely
to sell for their residual net book value. This will result in a loss on disposal in NCT’s Profit &
Loss account which will be written off; no provision has been made for this loss in the ZEBRA
submission.

Page
43 187

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Omitted option - hydrogen
2.120

Replacing some of the fleet with new hydrogen buses was not considered a suitable option
for Nottingham.

2.121

At present hydrogen vehicles are only ‘zero emission’ at the tailpipe. When considering ‘well
to wheel’, the greenhouse gas emissions of hydrogen buses can be quite high depending on
the source of the hydrogen24. Limitations in the supply of ‘green hydrogen’ mean that the
potential environmental benefits of adopting this technology may be hampered. While any
electric buses would rely on the UK’s national grid reducing its carbon footprint to truly deliver
‘zero emission’ services, this is an established network that has growing momentum in green
energy. Furthermore, pursuing an electric fleet offers NCT the potential future opportunity to
invest in solar energy generation locally, at the depot, to reduce reliance on the grid
connection in future.

2.122

The initial purchase cost of a new hydrogen single decker bus is around £100,000 higher than
a comparable electric vehicle (for example the Caetano Citygold H2 is £495,000). With the invehicle technology largely similar to BEVs (using drive motors etc.), there are no particular cost
savings anticipated in relation to maintenance and vehicle parts that would outweigh this
additional expense.

2.123

The lack of mains power supply for hydrogen would mean NCT would be reliant on hydrogen
deliveries to the depot by truck. This would come with a number of reliability and risk factors
including truck and driver availability and journey time reliability in addition to potentially
undermining the environmental objectives of the scheme.

2.124

While range concerns for electric vehicles may prompt interest in the hydrogen alternative in
some areas, the inner-city bus network in Nottingham could be comfortably served with the
latest BEV technology.

2.125

NCT aims to be forward thinking and driven towards their net zero target, but also seeks to
minimise risk in commercial operations and ensure that the needs of the customer are
paramount. Therefore, the benefits of investing in a technology that is more understood and
has a proven track record locally and across the UK is a further reason that NCT is seeking to
purchase electric vehicles.

Situation without investment
2.126

In the event that Nottingham is unable to secure DfT’s support, through our ZEBRA funding
proposal, this option reflects the potential situation whereby foreseeable maintenance costs

Hydrogen Vehicle Well-to-Wheel GHG and Energy Study, ZEMO, October 2021 https://www.zemo.org.uk/newsevents/news,new-study-shows-most-promising-welltotank-routes-for-hydrogen-to-help-deliv_4262.htm
24

Page44188

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

are endured by NCT to continue operating their current fleets along the Nottingham urban
bus route network, albeit sub-optimally in both environmental and cost terms.
2.127

With the private sector unable to meet the costs of acquiring new electric vehicles without
support, and NCC budgets unable to deliver the quantum of finance needed, it is impossible
for the scale of vehicle improvements that the ZEBRA fund offers without central government
support. Thus, the existing 78 Euro VI diesel single-decker buses will remain in service for NCT
operations for the foreseeable future. In doing so they will continue to emit Greenhouse
Gasses through tailpipe exhausts, and have a relatively detrimental impact on local air quality
and Nottingham’s contribution to global climate change.

Summary
Case for change
2.128

The Nottingham ZEBRA proposal aligns with the:


National Bus Strategy and Transport Decarbonisation Plan



Midland Connect Strategy and Midlands Engine ambitions



City Council’s ambition to become the first carbon neutral city in the UK by 2028



Nottingham 2020-2025 Bus Strategy and Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP), with
electric buses operating on routes benefiting from wider bus priority and technology
investment



Targets of the City AQMA and AQMAs in the neighbouring County Council districts



The economic growth and levelling-up agenda – advancing local skills in this growing
sector and the city’s burgeoning zero emission centre of excellence status



Operator’s (NCT) ambition to become the UK’s first carbon neutral bus operator

Outcomes delivered by the scheme
2.129

The proposal aims to achieve a:


Reduction of 3,800 tonnes of CO2e each year on average



Reduction in 1,829 kilograms of NOx emissions each year



Reduction in 46 kilograms of PM2.5 emissions each year



Strengthened public transport patronage, aiding post-covid recovery – with high
quality fleet and accessibility standards (in line with the PSVAR, 2000 and the enhanced
requirments)

Page
45 189

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Preferred scheme and scheme objectives
2.130

Table 2-3 summarises why the preferred solution identified is the most suitable for meeting
the scheme objectives.

Table 2-3: Summary of preferred option rationale
Scheme Objectives
To support the
ambition of our
Carbon Neutral
Charter for 2028



To improve local
air quality








To enhance
operational
efficiency of
vehicle fleet








To support local
opportunities for
jobs and skills

To promote
inclusive access to
high quality bus
services









25

How does the preferred option meet the objective?
New buses will remove an average of 3,800 tonnes of CO 2e per year,
total of 64,605 over the appraisal period 25
Location of routes builds on TCF and BSIP scheme investment
locations
New buses will remove 31 tonnes of NOx and 777 kilograms of
PM2.5 during the appraisal period22
Routes with BEVs will operate within the City AQMA, and benefit
AQMAs of neighbouring districts
Trent Bridge depot is located within a residential area which will
benefit from improved air quality (as well as noise reduction)
New buses will reduce maintenance costs by minimising the regular
servicing that diesel engines require
New buses will have lower per km operation costs than the existing
diesel fleet
Single deck fleet are nearing their usual end of life within NCT
operations
Potential of new infrastructure, including grid connection, is
maximised by serving numerous vehicles in one location
Single deck specification available to serve selected route efficiently
(e.g. suitable battery range)
Purchasing in batches enables best use of procurement
arrangements and the latest models to be purchased
All in-depot charging makes use of night time electricity rates
NCT employees to be trained in EV maintenance and servicing Buses procured in batches to further facilitate this
Local college interest in delivering related course will be able to
develop new local pathways into employment and apprenticeship
opportunities
All new buses will be compliant with the PSVAR 2000 and enhanced
requirements and delivered to the Nottingham City Transport
Specification which includes, luxury seating, led lighting, next stop
audio and visual announcements, USB charging and wifi, generous
legroom, two pushchair / buggy spaces to complement wheelchair
space provision
Lower operational costs will support the commercial viability of
routes and support the longevity of the services for users

(see ‘O – Summary’ sheets of the GBM in Appendix D)

Page46190

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

3.

Economic Case: Value for Money

3.1

This section presents the Economic Case for funding our ZEBRA Proposal. It sets out a brief
description of the methodology and assumptions used to evaluate the proposal and includes
a summary of economic appraisal values for the preferred option.

3.2

The ZEBRA funding requirement for this scheme is £15.2 million26 across two years, which
covers 40% of the total vehicle purchase cost and 75% of the infrastructure cost. Private sector
bus operator contributions of £19.4million make up the remaining scheme funding, with
additional maintenance costs covered in future years by the operator.

3.3

Operational information, such as routes to be electrified and likely charging regimes can be
found within the Strategic Case, while specification details on charging infrastructure and
vehicles can be found within the Commercial Case.

Overview
3.4

The economic appraisal work undertaken in relation to our ZEBRA proposal, using DfT’s
provided Greener Buses Model indicates that a Benefit: Cost Ratio of 1.21 : 1 could be
achieved in the core scenario. This reflects a ‘Low Value’ investment under DfT’s Value for
Money framework.

3.5

Vehicles will mainly be charged in the evening and overnight. Infrastructure and vehicles will
be maintained by the operator, Nottingham City Transport (NCT).

Table 3-1: Economic summary (PV, 2021 prices)
Economic Indicator
Carbon Savings

Core scenario
-64,605 (tonnes CO2e)

Present Value of Benefits (PVB)

£19,090,116

Present Value of Costs (PVC)

£15,741,571

Net Present Value (NPV)

£3,348,545

Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR)

1.21

VfM category

Low

Cost Effectiveness Indicator (CEI)
3.6

190.2

In addition to the monetised benefits, the scheme is also expected to generate additional
key benefits on noise, local landscape, journey quality and jobs and skills, that have not been

These values include an allowance for quantified risk but exclude optimism bias, in line with the suggested presentation of
the funding profile for the Zebra scheme, as provided to our bid team by EY on 5th November 2021.
26

Page
47 191

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

quantified and monetised within the Greener Buses Model analyses. These further strengthen
the monetised benefits and move the scheme towards a ‘medium’ value for money category.


Noise: beneficial impact – scheme is expected to have a beneficial impact, with the
reduced noise from electric propulsion, compared to diesel, particular with routes
operating in residential areas.



Jobs and skills: beneficial impact – Investment will support job opportunities and our
local skills base in this rapidly growing technology.



Journey quality: beneficial impact – The scheme proposes to replace existing vehicles
before they would otherwise have been replaced, following NCT’s standard operations.
With the latest technology and accessibility standards, this will have a beneficial impact
on passenger journey quality and may lead to an uplift in patronage on some routes.



Landscape: beneficial impact – As well as BEVs being quieter to operate, attractive
town buildings can discolour through soot generated by traffic pollution. Diesel vehicles
can have oil and fuel leaks which can damage road surfaces over time which BEVs will
not.

3.7

Sensitivity tests were undertaken using the Greener Buses Model (GBM) based on the
guidance document and identified key risks and uncertainties.

Methodology
3.8

The economic impact of the ZEBRA investment has been appraised using the DfT’s Greener
Buses Model (GBM), with local values entered where possible.

3.9

All costs / values are presented in this Methodology section are in nominal prices and
excluding VAT and optimism bias, as entered into the GBM, unless stated otherwise.

Key Assumptions
Investment, operational and maintenance costs
3.10

Vehicle costs assume:


26 new electric buses purchased in 2022, 52 purchased in 2023



66 new 33 seat single deck battery electric buses (equivalent replacement for existing
fleet) at a base cost of £381,000 per bus (quotation can be found within Appendix N)



12 new 40 seat single deck battery electric buses (equivalent replacement for existing
fleet) at a base cost of £383,000 per bus (quotation can be found within Appendix N)

Page48192

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case



Costs of add-on technology (Induction loop and INIT passenger communication and
real-time equipment) is £10,187 per vehicle (quotations can be found within Appendix N)

3.11

A single round of battery replacement is assumed to be covered by the standard level of
warranty offered by the manufacturer. Given the procurement process to be taken for
acquiring the fleet, no specific details on what the warranty will cover can be provided at this
stage. However soft market testing undertaken to date has provided NCT and NCC with
assurance that a suitable level of cover is available from the shortlisted manufacturers. It is
understood that any further battery / part replacements will be borne by the operator, NCT.

3.12

The cost of an equivalent diesel bus is £181,862, which includes an allowance of £14,862 for
additional technology elements (CMS, Induction loop and INIT passenger communication
and real-time equipment) so that a like for like vehicle specification is compared to the
electric vehicle costs for the purpose of estimating funding share.

3.13

This proposal does not anticipate any notable difference in patronage levels between the
case with ZEBRA investment and without.

3.14

Infrastructure costs totalling £3,801,414 (reflecting £48,736 per bus) assumes:


High voltage grid connection costs of £487,054



£423,760 (roughly 11% of capital expenditure) allowance for infrastructure quantified
risk (see QRA for further breakdown)

3.15



Phase 1 Garage Side works totalling £1,593,600



Phase 2 Workshop Side works totalling £1,297,000

The impact of the super deduction announced in March 2021 has been reviewed, but is not
considered applicable for NCT, as a majority publicly owned organisation.

Economic appraisal assumptions
3.16

All costs have been evaluated and are consistent with the values presented in the Financial
Case. In line with the guidance in TAG Unit A1.2, the base costs have been adjusted in our
economic appraisal, so as to allow for:


3% Optimism bias has been used as cost estimates, with the additional quantified risk, are
deemed to be robust.



0.5% of capital expenditure allowance for on-going infrastructure maintenance costs. This
is considered a robust estimate based on experience from NCC as a BEV operator, whereby
only limited costs of regular servicing and minor parts replacements have occurred. A
breakdown of NCC maintenance costs incurred can be found in Appendix M.

Page
49 193

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case



The high voltage grid connection will become an asset of Western Power Distribution and
as such will not attract any maintenance costs for NCC nor NCT post installation. A formal
letter of quotation from WPD is included within Appendix Q.



Evidence from NCC’s experience maintaining existing EV charging infrastructure is
included within Appendix M. This shows a breakdown of the post installation spend on
rapid and BYD chargers to average £400-£450 per year per charger. Factored up to 41
chargers included in this proposal, this equates to about 0.5% of the total infrastructure
cost.

3.17

The proposal included the following assumptions entered into the ‘I-User Proforma’ and ‘IUser parameters’ sheets within the GBM:


17-year life expectancy of zero emission buses, as the standard length



58,616 km annual average per bus – this has been calculated from NCT operation
information on the routes that the new buses will operate on, using pre-covid (November
2019) timetables to best reflect average operations for the appraisal period. Evidence is
included in Appendix O.



Average age of vehicles to be replaced is 10 years, as of 2023 when the majority of existing
diesel vehicles will be replaced



Standard BEIS values for electricity resource cost have been used



Cost inflation set at GDP deflator rate as integrated in the GBM for all elements



‘Road Transport Urban Big’ selected as the geography



‘Basic BSOG rate + LCEB, AVL and Smartcard Uplifts’ – do minimum BSOG



‘Zero emission bus BSOG rate - 22p’ – do something BSOG



Vehicle maintenance cost technologies ‘ICE – Diesel’ for current fleet and ‘Battery electric’
for ZEBRA funded scenario



16.15 km/h – local average bus speed during operation, from NCT data



Databook percentages of emissions as GBM defaults

Page50194

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Economic Appraisal and Value for Money
3.18

The resulting values from the GBM are set out in Table 3-1 (repeated below); the
spreadsheet models are included in Appendix D.

Table 3-2: Economic summary (PV, 2021 prices)
Economic Indicator

Core scenario

Carbon Savings

-64,605 (tonnes CO2e)

Present Value of Benefits (PVB)

£19,090,116

Present Value of Costs (PVC)

£15,741,571

Net Present Value (NPV)

£3,348,545

Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR)

1.21

VfM category

Low

Cost Effectiveness Indicator (CEI)

190.2

Sensitivity testing
3.19

Sensitivity tests were undertaken using the GBM. These were developed based on the
guidance document and explore some key risks presented below. The results are presented
in Table 3-3 and these show a largely stable BCR, with the alternative carbon scenarios
having the biggest influence.

Table 3-3: Sensitivity test results (full results appendix D)
Scenario

Benefit Cost Ratio
(BCR)

Proposal – ‘core’ scenario

1.21

Sensitivity Test 1 - Forecast ZEB vehicle mileage increased by 10%

1.37

Sensitivity Test 2 - Forecast ZEB vehicle mileage decreased by 10%

1.06

Sensitivity Test 3 – 50% of additional round of battery replacement
costs (£120,000 per bus) incurred by NCT at vehicle age 10

1.01

Sensitivity Test 4 – 100% of additional round of battery replacement
costs (£120,000 per bus) incurred by NCT at vehicle age 10

0.80

Sensitivity Test 5 – BSOG based sensitivity, BSOG at 6p

1.41

Sensitivity Test 6 – High Carbon values

1.71

Sensitivity Test 7 – Low Carbon values

0.72

Sensitivity Test 8 – Optimism Bias included at 6%

1.18

Sensitivity Test 9 – 5% annual infrastructure maintenance cost

1.04

Page
51 195

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Key Risks and Uncertainties
3.20

This section details key risk and uncertainties that have been considered in the development
of economic sensitivity tests. More information on the approach to risks throughout the
project is included in the relevant chapters of this business case. The Management Case
includes details on risk management including the recording of project risks using the Risks,
Issues, Actions and Decisions (RIAD) log, risk owners and The Commercial Case includes a
review of key procurement risks.

3.21

The full Risk Register is included in Appendix J.

1: electric vehicle experience
3.22

The key risk in regard to this proposal, subject to a successful funding award, is that this will
be Nottingham City Transport’s first foray into the delivery and operation of electric buses and
the associated infrastructure.

3.23

Mitigation: This risk is mitigated by the pioneering experience and knowledge accrued by
NCC, in relation to the operation and delivery of infrastructure for one of the UK’s oldest
electric bus projects. Furthermore, NCT’s engineering department has invested in longstanding
research, groundwork and trials in relation to the technology. They have been researching
electric buses for a number of years and have advanced conversations with a number of the
main Original Equipment Manufacturers.

3.24

The operator, NCT, have also been active participants in the ZEMO partnership (formerly Low
Carbon Vehicle Partnership) bus working group with knowledge exchange on the subject of
electric buses between engineering directors being a key aspect of that discussion forum.
Further evidence of the experience and suitability of the project team is included within the
Management Case.

3.25

This coupled with the survey work carried out at Trent Bridge Garage identifying power and
infrastructure requirements, alongside information from Nottingham City Council’s Electric Bus
Project team on the pitfalls and benefits of this technology and advice from their
contemporaries within the bus industry, NCT are ideally placed to deliver a successful project,
and this key risk is fully mitigated.

2: Maintenance costs
3.26

The cost of replacing electric vehicle batteries is high, both in terms of sourcing them and the
financial cost.

3.27

Particularly as the vehicle gets older, there is a risk that the manufacturer goes out of business
and alternatives need to be sourced. This can increase the time taken to acquire the parts

Page52196

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

needed and have knock-on implications for operations (Increasing use of back up diesel
vehicles or removal of services) while the vehicle needing a part is out of service.
3.28

Mitigation: This has been partly mitigated with the standard warranty period offered by some
manufacturers, covering the first years of operation. The NCT vehicle specification, included in
Appendix N, sets out minimum warranty periods for key elements of the vehicle. It also states
that:


Any warranty repairs undertaken by NCT engineers/ technicians will be charged to the
vehicle supplier at a pre-agreed hourly rate; and



The vehicle supplier will be responsible for all vehicle recovery costs if the identified
fault is covered by the manufacturer warranty.

3.29

These reduce the risk that NCT will encounter large maintenance bills within the warranty
period.

3.30

The remaining risk has been accounted for in the sensitivity analysis, namely tests 3 and 4
which consider the impact of NCT funding the cost of replacing 50% of the fleet batteries and
a full replacement of batteries on the economic forecasts. These show that the BCR is likely to
sit between 0.80 and 1.01, should more than half of the barriers need replacing in order to
continue to run the vehicles at the proposed rate for the full 17-year vehicle life.

3.31

An additional test (9) considers the impact of increasing the expected infrastructure
maintenance costs ten-fold, to 5% of the capital expenditure annually. This illustrates that
significant increases in costs here will still result in a BCR over one.

3: Post COVID recovery is slow and patronage is affected
3.32

As a result of the impact of Covid-19 and new travel demand and work patterns have
influenced bus patronage. A service led economy with workers more likely to be able to work
from home has contributed to a reduction in bus use as has “Learning from Home” which has
impact on Student use. Prior to the reintroduction of Covid-19 restrictions, patronage had
returned to 75% of normal and was growing as working and learning from home reduced and
leisure and hospitality had re-opened. Providing confidence that sustainable levels of
patronage will be achieved to support the operation of the new fleet.

3.33

Mitigation: New ticketing products to better reflect new travel demand and working patterns
have been implemented and will continue to be developed alongside a range of marketing
campaigns targeted at various passenger segments to “Get Back on Board” to help grown the
market further and provide reassurance to travellers that public transport is safe post-covid.
Investment will and is being made into the network via the transforming cities programme and

Page
53 197

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Bus Service Improvement Plan initiative to further enhance the efficiency and attractiveness of
the network which will support the control of costs by local bus operators.
3.34

Therefore, we expect that, subject to forthcoming announcements, with the gradual removal
of restrictions mitigating the impact of the omicron variant, patronage levels will quickly return
to these autumn levels and continue to strengthen over time.

3.35

There is a risk that timetables need to be reduced for longer than anticipated, this would
impact the vehicle mileage and in turn the operation costs. This has been accounted for in the
sensitivity analysis, namely tests 1 and 2 which consider the impact of a 10% increase and
decrease in average vehicle mileage on the economic forecasts. These show that the scheme
BCR is likely to sit between 1.06 and 1.37. This is due to the comparatively low running costs
of a BEV compared to the existing diesel fleet.

4: Supply chain issues impact procurement
3.36

There is a risk that national supply chain issues impact the delivery of infrastructure and
vehicles and increase costs.

3.37

Mitigation: Staff at NCT are well experienced in managing the delivery of large projects. They
will be supported by NCC, with their electric vehicle experience. The implementation of the
project will follow clear and monitored timescales and processes so that early warnings can be
identified, and mitigations put in place where necessary to reduce the impact on delivery.

3.38

New vehicles will be ordered in batches, and potentially from multiple suppliers, spreading
risks to supply chain issues. Existing fleet are within their NCT life and are owned by the
operator, therefore suitable vehicles will be available to maintain route operation to
passengers should delays to new fleet be experienced.

3.39

A delay in delivery of either infrastructure or vehicles will mean that the new fleet will start
operation later than planned. Where possible vehicles can be stored at the supplier until the
NCT depot is ready to receive them. Although this will delay the realisation of benefits of
electrification, the overall economic benefit of investment will not be compromised as the life
of the scheme will still provide the forecast level of benefits.

3.40

There is a level of risk built into the cost estimates, in addition to the sensitivity analysis, namely
test 8, which considers the impact of an optimism bias rate double that of the guidance level,
at 6%, on the economic forecasts. This shows a BCR of 1.18.

Page54198

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Non-Monetised Impacts
3.41

As the Greener Buses Model does not capture every possible impact from a proposed
investment, some wider expected impacts from the proposal have been set out in Table 3-4,
following the headings of the TAG Appraisal Summary Table.

3.42

With no negative impacts, the net non-monetised benefit is considered to have a positive
impact on the PVB. These further strengthen the monetised benefits and move the scheme
towards a ‘medium’ value for money category.

Table 3-4: Non-monetised impacts
Headings

Impact

Environment
Noise

Beneficial – see additional information below

Air Quality

Beneficial – monetised within GBM, benefits observed within the AQMA
(where routes operate, and depot is located) and monitored

Greenhouse Gases

Beneficial – monetised within GBM

Landscape

Beneficial – BEVs are quieter to operate, attractive town buildings can
discolour through soot generated by traffic pollution. Diesel vehicles
can have oil and fuel leaks which can damage road surfaces over time

Townscape
Historic Environment
Biodiversity

Neutral

Water Environment

Neutral

Social
Commuting and Other Users
Reliability Impact on
Commuting and Other Users

Neutral – although users will benefit from wider bus priority
programmes being planned and delivered in the area, such as those
within the TCF Programme

Physical activity

Slight benefit / neutral – cleaner buses will make the roads more
attractive to active modes such as cyclists

Journey quality

Beneficial – users will benefit from the interior specification of the new
buses, and associated passenger information technology. Electric
vehicles can offer a physically smoother journey, particularly benefitting
passengers moving around the bus to find a seat, or standing where any
turbulence particularly impacts user experience.

Accidents

Neutral – see section on noise below for review of the impact of reduce
noise levels for safety of disabled groups in particular

Security

Neutral – installation of CCTV on all of the buses delivered within this
project will benefit passengers and drivers

Access to Services

Neutral

Affordability

Neutral

Severance

Neutral

Option and Non-Use Values

Neutral – service remains running as currently

Page
55 199

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Noise
3.43

Electric vehicles generate lower levels of noise when operating. Estimates suggest that electric
cars are 4-5 dB quieter than similar ICEs at low speeds27 for buses this could be 14 dB(A) 28. The
impact of this depends on the conditions of the road, where the buses operate and at what
time of day. In quiet residential areas, where the majority of these buses will be operated,
particularly those in lower trafficked roads, the average noise reduction when using electric
buses could be as high as 5 dB(A)26. A number of studies have linked noise pollution,
particularly in urban areas, to increased levels of anxiety, depression29, high blood pressure,
heart disease, and stroke3031.

3.44

The electrification of Trent Bridge garage will significantly reduce the noise impact of the
garage following the transition away from diesel fleet. This will be particularly effective as the
depot is located within ‘The Meadows’ residential area and NCT has been approached by the
council’s Environmental Health department in the past in relation to noise negatively affecting
residents during late shifts at the depot. Therefore, this proposal will have a beneficial impact
on the local community, particularly residents.

3.45

During consultation with Disabled Groups in the past in relation to previous implementation
of electric buses, concerns have been raised particularly in relation to the blind and hard of
hearing. This particularly concerns the reduced noise emitted by electric buses, which may
make it more likely for people in these groups to be at risk of being involved with accidents
with the new buses.

3.46

As part of current driver training packages, drivers are advised to pay special attention to those
with sight and hearing dogs and canes given the low noise of the buses. The council has
operated its electric bus fleet since 2012 and there have been no recorded accidents with the
visually or hearing impaired.

3.47

As discussed further in the Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) in section 7, Nottingham City
Council is committed to involving disabled communities at multiple stages of this project to
better understand the needs and preferences of disabled people. The council will also engage
with stakeholders, including the Disability Inclusion Group (DIG), about the use of an acoustic

https://www.toi.no/getfile.php/1340825-1434373783/mmarkiv/Forside%202015/compett-foredrag/Lykke%20Silent%20Urban%20Driving.pdf
28
Modelling noise reductions using electric buses in urban traffic. A case study from Stuttgart, Germany (2019)
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352146518306227
29
Residential Road Traffic Noise and High Depressive Symptoms after Five Years of Follow-up: Results from the Heinz Nixdorf
Recall Study. https://ehp.niehs.nih.gov/doi/10.1289/ehp.1409400
30
http://www.brainfacts.org/thinking-sensing-and-behaving/diet-and-lifestyle/2018/noise-pollution-isnt-just-annoying-its-badfor-your-health-062718 [retrieved 07.01.2022]
31
https://cleantechnica.com/2019/01/27/another-ev-benefit-less-noise-pollution%E2%80%A8%E2%80%A8%E2%80%A8/
[retrieved 07.01.2022]
27

Page56200

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

alert system and other measures to support mitigation such as activation at particular speeds
and/or in particular locations.

Jobs & skills
3.48

The investment will also have a beneficial agglomeration effect on the local economy and
skills base. Engineers and mechanics working for NCT will become skilled in maintaining and
servicing electric vehicles, enhancing their employability. Local colleges already interested in
offering courses in the maintenance and servicing of electric vehicles will now be able to
develop local pathways into employment with the possibility of the local bus companies
offering apprenticeships and work experience connected directly to this new technology.
Academic institutions such as the newly formed Nottingham University’s Centre for Advanced
Propulsion are well placed to benefit from close proximity to a real-world test bed and creation
of the Nottingham Electrical Vehicle Service Centre (see letter of support in Appendix I) are
early indicators of the type of agglomeration benefits that previous investment in zero
emission technologies has helped to trigger locally.

3.49

Investment in electric buses will continue to protect jobs in the bus industry nationally whilst
ensuring the attractiveness of bus travel on a local level by delivering a state-of-the-art bus
fleet which in turn protects jobs within the sector.

3.50

Users of electric bus services will also benefit from journey quality improvements. Many bus
passengers will use these services to commute, and having more pleasant journeys and
smoother, quieter ride to and from work will have a positive impact for them. This will improve
health and wellbeing, but also have ripple effects on their productivity at work as a result,
improving the performance of economy more widely.

Use of charging infrastructure
3.51

With the increase in power infrastructure set out in this proposal, there is potential for an
electric neighbourhood mobility hub to be developed adjacent to the bus garages on Turney
Street in the future. This could create wider mobility benefits for local residents and workers,
providing increased economic and social opportunities for local communities.

Further opportunities for decarbonisation
3.52

By electrifying the fleet, NCT has the beneficial opportunity in future to investigate potential
for local energy generation, such as solar PV. This would further reduce the vehicle operation
costs, reducing reliance on grid power prices, and increase operation efficiency as well as
contributing to further reductions in decarbonisation. This opportunity would not be a future
option without the ZEBRA support to electrify the fleet.

Page
57 201

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Distributional Analysis of Forecast Benefits
3.53

The anticipated benefits from our ZEBRA proposal will accrue primarily to transport network
users in the Nottingham area, benefitting from reduced pollutants (both noise and air). As well
as noise and air quality benefits, there are expected to be improvements associated with a
reduction in CO2 emissions, benefitting both the local communities and environment and the
wider global climate emergency agenda.

3.54

It is anticipated that there will be a largely even spread of social impacts, with bus routes
proposed to be operated by electric vehicles, spread across Nottingham, with routes focused
within the Air Quality Management Area.

Summary – Value for Money
3.55

Considering the calculated Benefit: Cost Ratio, sensitivity test results, non-monetised impacts
and the level of risk and uncertainty identified (summarised below), an overall value for money
for the proposal has been estimated.


Core Benefit: Cost Ratio – 1.21 : 1



Sensitivity test results shows the range of the BCRs that likely to result from the scheme.
These show that, accounting for the potential impact of risks and uncertainties, the
scheme is likely to achieve a ‘low’ value for money under most scenarios.



Non-monetised impacts – are considered to have an overall beneficial impact on the
economy, the environment and society, in addition to the monetised impact.



The level of risk and uncertainty identified is low, particularly given the mitigation
measures implemented/proposed

3.56

The value for money category has been determined as set out in the DfT’s Value for Money
framework. The Nottingham ZEBRA funding proposal is expected to represent a ‘low’
monetised value for money investment to DfT.

3.57

In addition to the monetised benefits, the scheme is also expected to generate further key
benefits, that have not been quantified and monetised within the Greener Buses Model.
These further strengthen the monetised benefits and move the scheme towards a ‘medium’
value for money category.

Page58202

4.

Financial Case: Scheme costs
Overview

4.1

The financial case sets out a breakdown of the £34,620,471 total scheme cost and
£15,228,028 ZEBRA funding ask. £30,819,057 covers the purchase of 78 electric buses, and
£3,801,414 for charging infrastructure. No additional warranty costs have been included, nor
additional battery replacement costs.

4.2

The level of funding ask has been calculated to align with the ZEBRA fund guidance and
reflects 75% of the infrastructure cost (grant ask of £2,851,060) and 75% of the difference
between the average cost of a new electric vehicle (£391,49432) and an equivalent diesel bus
(£181,86233) (£12,376,968 grant ask).

4.3

An assessment of the financial risk has been undertaken, and a quantified risk allowance of
£706,267 has been included in the total costs (representing approximately 2% of the total
scheme cost). The proposal has been developed to minimise the risks and present an
investment that is viable for the long term.

Project Costs
4.4

The total cost of the proposal is £34,620,471. This is made up of £15,228,028 ZEBRA funding
ask and £19,392,443 private sector contribution from the operator, Nottingham City
Transport (NCT)34. This spend is planned across two years with about 35% in 2022 and 65% in
2023. The spend is staggered to account for operational practicalities in receiving vehicles,
training staff and operating an effective bus service. The funding sought by this proposal
aligns with the guideline proportions; the DfT funded element is equal to 75% of the
infrastructure cost and 75% of the difference in vehicle cost between diesel and electric.

4.5

Additional maintenance and battery replacement costs will be borne by the operator and
have not been included in the ZEBRA scheme ask, nor total scheme cost.

4.6

The scheme is strongly supported by key stakeholders, including the operator Nottingham
City Transport (NCT), Sustainable Transport Nottingham, the Local Enterprise Partnership
(D2N2) and the University of Nottingham and letters of support are included in Appendix I.

Based on quotes received from suppliers included in Appendix N, includes CMS, Induction loop and INIT Passenger
communication and Realtime equipment. Reflects a weighted average of the two vehicle specifications
33
Estimated based on the 2019 quote received and included as Appendix P, includes CMS, Induction loop and INIT Passenger
communication and Realtime equipment
34
(all including a quantified risk allowance but excluding any optimism bias).
32

Page
59 203

4.7

With the level of funding requested by this proposal, Nottingham City Council and operators
(NCT) are confident that our scheme is affordable and viable and that our scheme objectives
can be met.

4.8

We have put together this proposal understanding the maintenance cost of electric vehicles,
our aim is to minimise this through procuring reliable new vehicles and securing longer term
warranties. This will help to ensure that we maximise the lifespan of our proposal.

Funding Profile
4.9

Table 4-1 sets out a breakdown and profile of the funding for the project. Prices are presented
in 2021 prices and are broken down by element, year, funder and risk allowance.

4.10

Quotes from infrastructure providers Zenobē and Western Power Distribution can be found in
Appendix Q. The calculations used to apply quantified risk and proportion the costs can be
found in Appendix M.

Table 4-1: Funding breakdown (£, 2021 prices)
Vehicles
2022
Number of Zero Emission Buses delivered
ZEBRA Grant required from
Government
Bus Operator contribution
Total cost of Zero Emission
Buses

2023

TOTAL

26

52

78

Base Cost
Risk Allowance
Total
Base Cost
Risk Allowance
Total
Base Cost
Risk Allowance
Total

4,087,838
37,818
4,125,656
6,091,013
56,351
6,147,363
10,178,850
94,169
10,273,019

8,175,675
75,637
8,251,312
12,182,025
112,701
12,294,726
20,357,700
188,338
20,546,038

12,263,513
113,455
12,376,968
18,273,038
169,052
18,442,089
30,536,550
282,507
30,819,057

Base Cost
Risk Allowance
Total
Base Cost
Risk Allowance
Total
Base Cost
Risk Allowance
Total

1,560,490
195,779
1,756,269
520,163
65,260
585,423
2,080,654
261,039
2,341,692

972,750
122,041
1,094,791
324,250
40,680
364,930
1,297,000
162,721
1,459,721

2,533,240
317,820
2,851,060
844,413
105,940
950,353
3,377,654
423,760
3,801,414

Base Cost
Risk Allowance
Total
Base Cost
Risk Allowance
Total
Base Cost
Risk Allowance
Total

5,648,328
233,597
5,881,925
6,611,176
121,610
6,732,786
12,259,504
355,207
12,614,711

9,148,425
197,678
9,346,103
12,506,275
153,381
12,659,657
21,654,700
351,059
22,005,759

14,796,753
431,275
15,228,028
19,117,451
274,992
19,392,443
33,914,204
706,267
34,620,471

Supporting Infrastructure
ZEBRA Grant required from
Government
Bus Operator contribution
Total cost of supporting
infrastructure

Total
ZEBRA Grant required from
Government
Bus Operator contribution

Total cost of scheme

Page60204

4.11

These levels of aid intensity are in line with those set by the Department. Additional
information is provided within the Commercial Case to demonstrate compliance with the TCA
principles and subsidy control advice.

Changes since EoI
4.12

There have been some changes, and a costing update, since our Expression of Interest which
influence the financial element of the proposal. These are listed below, along with their
implications on the financial case. The total funding ask has reduced by approximately £8.7
million and total scheme costs reduced by £11.5 million.


Removal of the NCC Linkbus upgrade element – the City Council scheme to replace 16
Optare Solo buses with eight longer range new BEVs and the associated upgrade existing
chargers has been removed. This is following advice from DfT and Ernst and Young as well
as understanding that the aims and objectives of the scheme were focused on
environmental outcomes derived from the change in energy source, which the investment
in new EVs for the Linkbus network would have limited benefit on.
This removes the previously quoted £3,753,608 vehicle cost and £180,000 infrastructure
cost is removed from the bid – removing £1,948,206 from the ZEBRA fund ask.



Removal of the extended warranty – Based on updated vehicle and component
replacement quotes, and the longer standard warranty offered by some suppliers the
financial risk of not taking out the extended warranty no longer outweighs the
additional cost. This reduces the initial vehicle purchase cost by £87,894 per bus.



Additional cost allowance for on-board technology – The progression of market
engagement and gathering of quotes and vehicle specifications has increased
understanding of on-board technology. This increases the cost per bus by about
£10,000 (excluding quantified risk and optimism bias). This is funded by the operator,
NCT as it represents an equivalent cost for the replacement of diesel alternatives. Quotes
for the INIT and AV equipment can be found in Appendix N.



Update to infrastructure costs – This includes the removal of Solar PV and battery
storage from the infrastructure element. This remains our aspiration for the Trent Bridge
depot but is considered to be more suited to an alternative funding stream at this time.
We have progressed conversations with potential infrastructure providers and thus have
updated the associated costs; providing more cost certainty as these are more recent and
more detailed in terms of work to be undertaken (infrastructure quotes are included in
Appendix Q). These reduces our infrastructure cost ask by approximately £1.5million.



Inclusion of more refined quantified risk allowance – This has added approximately
£700,000 to the total scheme cost. The RAID log is Appendix J and QRA calculations can be
found in Appendix M.

Page
61 205

Vehicle costs
4.13

The cost of bus purchase is estimated based on quotes (included within Appendix N) received
from suppliers:


66 new 33 seat single deck battery electric buses (equivalent replacement for existing
fleet) at a base cost of £381,000 per bus



12 new 40 seat single deck battery electric buses (equivalent replacement for existing
fleet) at a base cost of £383,000 per bus



Additional technology elements outside the EV specification – Induction loop and INIT
Passenger communication and Realtime equipment, totalling £10,187 per vehicle

4.14

The funding split for the initial vehicle purchase cost, based on quotes included in Appendix
N, has been calculated in Table 4-2 and reflects contributions of:


40% ZEBRA grant from the DfT for electric buses



60% Bus Operator, NCT, investment

Table 4-2: Vehicle purchase cost (2021 prices, excluding quantified risk)
32/33 Seat
(66 vehicles)
- per bus
£ 381,000
£ 167,000

40 Seat (12
vehicles) per bus
£ 383,000
£ 167,000

£ 29,742,000
£ 13,026,000

Average per
bus (across
78 vehicles)
£ 381,308
£ 167,000

CMS
Induction loop
INIT Passenger communication and
Realtime equipment

£4,675
£1,056
£9,131

£4,675
£1,056
£9,131

£364,650
£82,368
£712,182

£4,675
£1,056
£9,131

Electric Vehicle Cost (inc. tech)
Equivalent Diesel Vehicle (inc. tech)

£391,187
£181,862

£393,187
£181,862

£30,536,550
£14,185,200

£391,494
£181,862

Difference
ZEBRA Funding
(75% of the difference)

£209,325
£156,994

£211,325
£158,494

£16,351,350
£12,263,513

£209,633
£157,225

Outstanding Amount
(NCT Contribution)

£234,193

£234,693

£18,273,038

£234,270

£10,361,588
£15,456,724
£25,818,312

£1,901,925
£2,816,313
£4,718,238

£12,263,513
£18,273,038
£30,536,550

£157,225
£234,270
£391,494

Vehicle Purchase Costs and
Funding (exc. OB)
Electric Vehicle Cost*
Diesel Vehicle

Total ZEBRA Funding
Total NCT Contribution
Total Scheme Vehicle Cost
* includes CMS

Page62206

TOTAL

4.15

The savings from the decommissioning of the existing diesel fleet will offset a small
proportion of the electric vehicle costs by:


Selling the vehicles – The buses that will be replaced will not be at the end of their
operational life (they will be at most, 12 years old) and all have been converted to Euro
VI emission standard. It is therefore intended to sell all of the displaced buses for further
service use elsewhere. Although vehicles will not be fully depreciated and therefore sale
value is unlikely to cover their residual net book value.
NCT will follow their established and previously successful route to sourcing buyers for
their vehicles. NCT will seek to obtain the best price for the vehicles through utilising
their list of UK operators who have purchased vehicles from them in the past.
Net book value as of June 2022 suggests that the replaced midi buses will be worth
£36,900 each, representing a fleet value of £2.88 million.



Maintenance cost savings – the average age of the diesel vehicles to be replaced is 10
years, therefore some significant maintenance and parts costs would be expected over
the next few years, which would not be borne should funding for new fleet be received.

Infrastructure costs
4.16

The total cost of infrastructure is £3,801,41435 (reflecting £48,736 per bus), where 25% of
this is paid for by the operator (NCT) and the remaining 75% is the ZEBRA fund ask.

4.17

A breakdown of the infrastructure costs is shown in Table 4-3. The evidence behind these
figures is included in quotes from Zenobē and Wester Power Distribution in Appendix Q, with
the additional quantified risk calculated within Appendix M.

Table 4-3: Infrastructure breakdown
Item

35

Cost

Power Connection (WPD)

£487,054

Phase 1 Garage Side (Zenobē)

£1,593,600

Phase 2 Workshop Side (Zenobē)

£1,297,000

Base cost total

£3,377,654

Quantified risk allowance

£423,760

Risk adjusted infrastructure cost

£3,801,414

including quantified risk and excluding optimism bias

Page
63 207

Power connection
4.18

The high voltage cable connection costs have been provided by WPD and cover the electricity
connection requirements of two 1.8mva supplies for new bus chargers. The cost of these works
is £487,054 (excluding VAT).

4.19

The quote included in Appendix Q shows two alternative costs. There are a number of parties
interested accessing in the nearest (and therefore cheapest) high voltage connections, and a
limited network capacity. Access to the connection further away from the depot is not
contested to the same degree and therefore the cost of this connection has been included in
the proposal. This is considered the most likely outcome and captures the risk and uncertainty
of interest from other parties.
Depot works / charger installation

4.20

A quote for charger purchase and associated installation works at the depot has been received
and is broken down into two phases aligning to the parking and equipment layout shown in
Appendix K. All Civil Works has been included in the proposal which includes LV works, civil
works, switchgear, panel, cabling.

4.21

The quote (Appendix Q) shows the requirement for each phase, with 24 150kM DC chargers
installed in phase 1 and 17 installed in phase 2. These phases cost £1,593,600 and £1,297,000
respectively.

Warranty Costs
4.22

Since the expression of interest further information on major component costs has been
gathered from potential suppliers. This has informed the decision to exclude the extended, 10year, warranty from the scheme. This results in a lower initial vehicle purchase cost and
potential increased maintenance / component replacement costs for the operator in the
future.
Information on the warranty cover options has been gathered from BYD (based on the E200
EV) and Yutong. The coverage, warranty extension options and associated pricing is set out in
Table 4-4. This shows a maximum extended battery and drivetrain warranty to total period of
10 years at a cost of £87,894 per vehicle. This additional cost was included at expression of
interest but, as set out in the key changes section, is no longer considered the most
appropriate way forwards.

Page64208

Table 4-4: Warranty information
Supplier
Yutong –
standard

ADL – BYD
standard

ADL – BYD

Warranty Info












extensions (E200
EV)



ADL – BYD




further
extensions (E200

Whole Vehicle Warranty – 24 months 150,000km
Electrical system and Electrical driveline components – 5 years or
400,000km
Battery Warranty guarantees 70% of the original capacity up to 8 years
Chassis general - 2 years/200,000 km
Chassis structural - 12 years/unlimited km
Battery (basic warranty) - 5 years/500,000 km*
Battery (75% SOH guarantee) 5 years/350,000 km^
Drivetrain - 5 years/500,000 km
Starter batteries - 1 year
Standard battery warranty 5 years/500,000 km for basic defects, with 75%
SOH guarantee capped at 350,000 km
Extended battery warranty to total period of 7 years/700,000 km for basic
defects, with 75% SOH guarantee capped at 490,000 km £17,594
Extended battery warranty to total period of 10 years/1,000,000 km for
basic defects, with 75% SOH guarantee capped at 700,000 km £30,504 In
addition to 7-year warranty
Standard drivetrain/HV component warranty 5 years/500,000 km
Extended drivetrain warranty to total period of 10 years/1,000,000 km
£39,796

EV)
4.23

The EY funding profile template has been completed and can be found as part of Appendix
M.

Long-term Financial Viability
4.24

NCC and NCT take responsibility for estimating and controlling all project costs. We do not
expect that our ZEBRA grant will be increased post submission of the final business case. NCT
as the operator, accepts financial responsibility for the project going forward and accepts that
cost risk increases will not be met by increased further grant needs to be included. This is
supported by their letter included in Appendix I. There are no budgetary considerations for
the LTA as all risk will be transferred to the operator, NCT.

4.25

NCT will source their contribution through an established company process for procurement.
A financing arrangement will be put in place, tendering from different finance providers to
ensure the best deal is identified.

4.26

Comparative costs of diesel parts will offset some of the additional spend for operators, in
addition to the day-to-day operation cost savings, making the long-term financial viability of
the scheme more stable.

Page
65 209

4.27

The operational costs of the new fleet of electric buses vs those of a diesel bus have been
analysed by NCT’s Engineering department in the table below. The significantly reduced costs
will be critical factor in supporting the maintenance of a comprehensive bus network in
Nottingham, with high frequencies as it recovers from the impact of depressed patronage
during the pandemic. Table 4-5 provides an overview of the planned maintenance of both ICE
and electric vehicles and compares across a 17-year vehicle lifespan; illustrating that, long
term, the cost of operating an electric vehicle will be more sustainable than the diesel
alternative and therefore is a viable model to operate for NCT.

4.28

In October patronage levels across Nottingham were about 70-75% of their pre-pandemic
levels. This shows a steady increase in the last six months and provides confidence around
NCT’s revenue streams which will enable long term spending to maintain the new fleet.

Table 4-5: Single deck EV/diesel ownership fixed cost comparison (17 years)
Fuel and Fixed parts and labour costs
Vehicle Purchase Price
Diesel cost
Electricity cost
AdBlue
Engine Oil
Engine Oil Filter
Air Filter
Fuel Filter
Gearbox Oil
Gearbox Filter
DPF Filter Cleaning
DPF Filter Replacement
Drive Motor
Engine
Gearbox
Battery Replacement

kpl/kWh/price Annual Usage

3.186 kpl
1.1 kWh/km
£41.31
£14.02
£16.90
£38.80
£73.32
£9.80
£150

18398
64478
184
3
3
3
3
1
1
2

Units

Litres
kWh
Litres
Changes
Changes
Changes
Changes
Changes
Changes
Changes

Lifetime
Usage/Cost
312766
1096119
3128
£2,107
£715
£862
£1,979
£1,246
£167
£5,100
1
1
1
1
1

Units

Labour Hours Annual Labour
Allocated per job
Hours

Lifetime labour
Cost @ £21p/h

Litres
kWh
Litres

Cost Per Unit

£0.7378
£0.14
£0.44
1.5

4.5

76.5

£1,607

0.25
0.5

0.75
1.5

12.75
25.5

£268
£536

1.5

1.5

25.5

£536

1.5
1.5
7.5
37
7.5
15

3

51
1.5
7.5
37
7.5
15

£1,071
£32
£158
£777
£158
£315

Total Fixed Parts and Vehicle Costs
Total Planned Labour
Returns from government schemes
Government ZEBRA vehicle purchase price
contribution 75% of difference between EV
and Diesel
Annual BSOG (6p/Km Diesel - 22p/km EV)
Lifetime BSOG
Total returns from government schemes over vehicle life
Estimated vehicle life cost
Figures are based on planned maintenace costs. Unplanned maintenace on the ICE vehicle is expected to be significantly higher over it's lifetime

4.29

Lifetime
Labour

£692
£8,500
£18,500
£3,500
£150,000

Diesel Bus
Euro 6

Electric Bus Zero
Emission

£180,000
£230,759
N/A
£1,376
£2,107
£715
£862
£1,979
£1,246
£167
£5,100
£692
N/A
£18,500
£3,500
N/A

£381,000
N/A
£153,457
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
£8,500
N/A
N/A
£150,000

£447,003

£692,957

£4,982

£473

N/A

£150,750

£3,517
£59,788

£12,896
£219,224

£64,770.57

£370,446.34

£382,231.96
£322,510.35
estimated saving per electric vehicle £
59,722

The midi bus routes that the new electric fleet will operate are commercially operated routes,
with no subsidy support from local government, other than where a minority of routes have
been requested to extend into neighbouring villages. This illustrates the viability of these
routes in the long term.

Page66210

Assessment of Financial Risk / Risk Management Strategy
4.30

We have aimed to get up-to-date cost estimates directly from suppliers to minimise any
uncertainties. Therefore, no contingency has been included in these estimates.

Quantified risk assessment
4.31

For the financial assessment, a level of quantified risk was calculated using likelihood and
impact ratings from the project Risks, Issues, Actions and Decisions (RIAD) log (Appendix J),
applying an additional cost as a proportion of the base costs. The resulting cost of the risks
were summed together to form an overall scheme quantified risk.

4.32

The quantified risk added to the base cost is £706,267 (reflecting approximately 2% of the
total base cost). This has been broken down by year, funder and scheme element within Table
4-1.

4.33

This quantification of risk has been apportioned out across the scheme elements, year of spend
and funders based on considered risk and base funding profile. Where 60% of the risk lies with
the infrastructure elements and 40% with the vehicle purchase.

Treatment of risk across the business case
4.34

Elements of risk and risk management have been included across the business case.


The Economic Case lists key risks and uncertainties which have been used to inform the
approach to sensitivity tests.
A 3% optimism bias was entered into the GBM in the ‘core’ scenario, with an additional
sensitivity test considering the impact of a 6% rate of optimism bias (see Risk 4 in the
Economic Case).

This allows for an additional degree of cost contingency over the

elements of the Nottingham ZEBRA programme.
Additional tests were undertaken within the economic case which assessed the impact of
the inclusion of an additional round of battery replacement cost (see Risk 2 in the Economic
Case). This considers the impact of NCT bearing 50% and 100% of a battery replacement
in year ten of the new vehicle’s lifecycle.


The Management Case includes details on risk management including the recording of
project risks using the Risks, Issues, Actions and Decisions (RIAD) log, risk owners.



The Commercial Case includes a review of key procurement risks.

Page
67 211

5.

Commercial Case: Procurement and
Deliverability
Overview

5.1

The preferred procurement strategy will use council approved frameworks. The grant will be
passed on by the Council to the operator, NCT. A multi-contractor approach will appoint
suppliers separately for the delivery of a high voltage grid connection, installation of chargers
at the depot and two rounds of BEVs. Following acquisition, NCT will own and operate the
depot infrastructure and vehicles, while Western Power Distribution will adopt the high voltage
grid connection.

5.2

Extensive market engagement has been carried out to date by the project team, this has
informed the preferred procurement and commercial strategy, and worked to minimise the
level of risk and uncertainties within the proposal. Conversations with both vehicle and
infrastructure suppliers have been on-going throughout the preparation of the bid.

5.3

This is further supported through the continuous collaboration between NCT and the Council,
who already own and operate a number of electric vehicles within Nottingham.

Commercial Strategy
5.4

The project will be managed by Nottingham City Council in collaboration with Nottingham
City Transport (NCT), which will manage and operate the vehicles. It is a large enterprise and
NCC is a majority shareholder owning 82% of the shares in NCT36. Preparations and
groundwork, both from a physical infrastructure (electrical supply upgrade) and project
management perspective, are well-advanced in relation to this proposal.

5.5

NCC’s Major Projects team is working with NCT to scope their requirements through soft
market-testing dialogue with potential infrastructure partners, including SSE, SWARCO and
Zenobē, as well as their shortlisted electric bus manufacturers. Whilst a decision on the
preferred bus vehicles is yet to be taken, the infrastructure project associated with the electrical
supply upgrade (need for vehicle charging at the depot) has been fully scoped. It builds on
extensive renovations to NCT’s Trent Bridge Depot which have been made in readiness for
electric bus operations.

5.6

As set out in Table 4-1, NCT will provide a 56% contribution to the cost of acquiring the new
buses. The remaining 44% will be drawn from the ZEBRA grant covered by this application.

36

https://www.nctx.co.uk/about-nct

Page68212

NCT is best placed to own the vehicles, given they will be operated, staffed and maintained by
them day-to-day.
5.7

The infrastructure works includes the charging points. NCT will pay 25% of the total cost of
the infrastructure works. ZEBRA will fund the remaining 75% of the cost of the infrastructure
works. The infrastructure will be owned and operated by NCT.

5.8

NCT will bear the cost of all the energy consumed through charging the vehicles (an
operational cost in lieu of conventional fuels), and the vehicles will only be charged at the Trent
Bridge Depot. NCT will also cover the on-going maintenance costs for vehicles and
infrastructure (as incurred beyond the warranty life or scope).

5.9

Current commercial relationships with resource suppliers involve NCT seeking to obtain fixed
price agreements on fuel resource costs for their bus operations. This currently applies to both
their diesel and bio methane providers, and, once the electric infrastructure is installed and
their electricity provider has observed data on the amount of power that is being used at the
depot, NCT will investigate the potential for a fixed price agreement for electricity. This will be
considered in relation to wider market uncertainties and volatilities to achieve an optimum
outcome for NCT. This could further bring the costs of operating electric vehicles down and
enhance the case for investment in BEVs.

5.10

The funds for the vehicles and infrastructure will be spent in the two-year period, 2022 and
2023. It is anticipated that funds will not be provided by DfT until the certificate of compliance
with the current UK Bus Test Cycle procedure has been sent to NCC and the DfT. The
manufacturer will be able to provide assurance on the expected performance from the UK Bus
Test Cycle procedure. The shortlisted buses (Yutong and BYD) already have full ULEB
Certification37 so have already passed the UK Bus Cycle Certification

5.11

The spending profile is shown in Table 4-1. This equates to a spending profile that sees:


33% of vehicle costs spent in 2022, with the remainder disbursed in 2023 (when the
majority of the new bus vehicles are to be delivered).

5.12



62% of supporting infrastructure costs spent in 2022, with the remainder incurred in 2023.



36% of total costs expected in 2022, with the remaining 64% to be incurred in 2023.

The spending profile has been set out in this way due to operational considerations. It allows
an initial tranche of vehicles and infrastructure to bed in and for full staff familiarisation to
complete in a real-world environment.

5.13

This reflects that the bulk of preparatory charging infrastructure works – and in particular the
upgraded electrical connection to the depot – needs to be in place before the new electric bus
vehicles can enter service and be charged on a daily basis.

37

https://www.zemo.org.uk/work-with-us/buses-coaches/low-emission-buses/ultra-low-emission-bus-certificates.htm

Page
69 213

Outline Procurement Strategy
5.14

The following shortlist of options has been considered for procurement and are detailed
within this section:


Single contract



Multi contract (Preferred)
o

Vehicles - Crown Commercial Service Vehicle Purchase Framework and/or a
Nottingham City Council, Electric Vehicle Framework. Both options involve
Nottingham City Council procuring the vehicles and transferring the assets to the
operator, NCT, on completion of the procurement exercise.

o

Infrastructure - Crown Commercial Service Vehicle Charging Infrastructure
Solutions dynamic purchasing system OR a Competitive Procedure with
Negotiation run by the Council's Procurement Team

5.15

A leasing option for vehicles was also considered, but the quotes received did not present a
more attractive option to purchasing. Further information is provided within the vehicle
procurement section.

5.16

No other alternatives have been considered because external legal advice provided by Browne
Jacobsen to NCC suggested that a fully compliant public procurement route would be an
appropriate way of ensuring any unlawful state subsidy was avoided (See Procurement,
Subsidy control and TCA compliance sub-section for further details).

5.17

The vehicle and infrastructure procurement routes secure the economic, social and
environmental factors outlined in the strategic and economic case as they all operate through
the city of Nottingham which is an Air Quality Management Area (see EQIA for further detail
on social and economic factors). The buses will serve areas of high deprivation and health
inequalities so will support better health outcomes and access to jobs and opportunities in
areas with low car ownership and high unemployment.

5.18

All goods and services, including the bus fleet and infrastructure required, will be procured in
full compliance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015.

Procurement programme
5.19

Work Packages 1 – 3 set out the ambitious but realistic timeline and key milestones for
procurement of vehicles and infrastructure. Figure 5-1 presents an extract of the full project
programme (complete version in Figure 6-3) listing the key activities involved in
procurement and the critical path elements.

Page70214

Figure 5-1: Project programme (procurement extract)

Single contract
5.20

The first option considered by NCC is to appoint a single contractor responsible for the delivery
of the complete project. The contractor would be responsible for engaging suitable subcontractors to deliver clearly defined contracted packages of work:

Table 5-1: Pros and cons of single contractor engagement
Pros

5.21

Cons



Easier to manage a single
contractor than multiple ones



Using a single contractor is an 'eggs in one
basket' approach; if issues arise with the
contractor it may affect delivery of the entire
scheme



All downstream appointments of
subcontractors are the
responsibility of the prime
contractor



Potentially less control over appointing specialist
subcontractors (though can be mitigated
through the procurement and appropriate use of
contract)



Overall cost may be lower if the
prime contractor is managing the
project efficiently



May prove to be a false economy if NCC/NCT
experience issues with the preferred supplier

This scenario would exceed the Public Contracts Regulations (2015) threshold, so will require
a fully compliant procurement process.

Page
71 215

Multi-contract
5.22

This alternative approach would split the project into two or more component parts. The
procurement of the electric bus vehicles could form one element, while the infrastructure
works may take the form of one (or more) contracts.

Table 5-2: Pros and cons of split or multi contractor engagement
Pros



5.23

Cons

Smaller contract values allow for different
options to appoint contractors, e.g. the
electrical supply works could be allocated
to the relevant Distribution Network
Operator, with other works (including the
installation of EV charging points within
the depot) awarded to a specialist
contractor



Some elements could potentially be
undertaken by in-house functions (e.g.
highways / electrical engineers) at NCC /
NCT



Enables purchases from multiple bus
suppliers, and flexibility in acquiring the
latest technology and models as they
become available



Smaller cost packages of work mean a
wider range of procurement options are
available



More contracts to manage, therefore
greater workload for the contract
manager(s)



More interactions between contractors
engaged separately could increase the
chances of something going awry



Potentially reduced efficiencies could lead
to higher costs



Options not involving formal
tenders/quotes may fall foul of subsidy
control issues



Compatibility considerations

The works will be packaged below the value in which the threshold at Part 2 of the Public
Contracts Regulations (PCR) 2015 applies. This allows for a wider range of options to appoint
(e.g. direct awards, quotes rather than tenders, using existing NCC contracts or frameworks for
some elements). Different approaches could be taken for the different elements, e.g. a direct
award to Western Power Distribution for the DNO works, and a competitive tender for the
Workshop/Garage installations at NCT’s depot.

5.24

This multi-contractor approach has been selected as the preferred option because it enables
the most appropriate vehicles to be selected through the most efficient channel and enables
purchase from multiple bus suppliers should this be deemed the preferred option. With tight
timescales to achieve the programme milestones, an efficient route to procurement will reduce
the risk of costly delays.

5.25

Any compatibility concerns will be mitigated within the initial vehicle and infrastructure
specifications, which will highlight the need for any products supplied to be compatible with
other components of the scheme.

Page72216

5.26

The selected procurement route will aid the achievement of objectives as they will enable NCT
/ NCC to acquire the vehicles which will be used to operate through the city of Nottingham
which is an Air Quality Management Area, serving areas of high deprivation and health
inequalities. These will therefore support better health outcomes and access to jobs and
opportunities, particularly in areas with low car ownership and high unemployment. In
addition, the selection of vehicles will support the operator’s objective to be the UK’s first
carbon neutral bus operator as well as Nottingham’s Carbon Neutral Charter for 2028.

Procurement route: vehicles
5.27

An Open tender exercise was considered but this would take an estimated 6 months minimum
to complete in comparison to a min-competition run through the crown commercial services
framework which can be completed in a much shorter 2–3-month timescale.

5.28

In procuring the 78 BEVs, we are looking to use the Crown Commercial Service Vehicle
Purchase Framework (RM6060) Lot 5: Buses and Coaches to procure the first 26 buses.

5.29

The framework allows access to a full range of new motor vehicles, including those which are
currently available and those being developed and brought to market during the term of the
framework. It covers cars, light commercial vehicles, motorbikes, heavy goods vehicles (HGVs),
buses and coaches. Customers can also obtain bespoke conversions which manufacturers are
able to provide as part of a turnkey solution38.

5.30

There are eight bus and coach suppliers listed within this framework; including suppliers of a
range of suitable electric bus vehicles including suppliers who have been able to meet NCTs
bus specification and provide assurances on manufacturing.

5.31

The remaining 52 buses will be procured using a Nottingham City Council, Electric Vehicle
Framework which will be in place from June 2022 and have additional bus manufacturers not
named on the Crown Commercial Service framework. This will enable the project to maximise
its procurement options after the 1st phase of bus deliveries, access any new entrants to the
market and benefit from any technological advances that are realised in the next few years.
Whilst also maintaining a compliant public procurement route. Suppliers such as Wrightbus,
Scania, Caetano and Arrival not currently named on the CCS framework will be included in the
Nottingham City Council, Electric Vehicle Framework.

5.32

Financing and leasing opportunities, including turnkey solutions, have also been discussed
with OEMs such as BYD-ADL, Caetano, Scania, Wrightbus and Yutong, alongside organisations
such as Zenobē Energy. The annual lease cost from Zenobē for an ADL/BYD E200EV based on
a total vehicle price of £375,000, was £49,450 per-annum over 10-years, totalling £494,500.
This is higher than the overall vehicle purchase and infrastructure cost set out in this bid and

38

https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/agreements/RM6060

Page
73 217

has thus been discounted from consideration on cost-effectiveness grounds. Lease costs from
some of the other Bus OEMs were in a similar ballpark.
5.33

Staggering procurement into three packages of 26 vehicles enables flexibility of supplier,
spreading the risk and minimising the impact of delays form any one source. It also reflects
the usual procurement approach of NCT whereby the whole fleet of 78 will not operationally
be able to be received at once. Staggering purchase / delivery allows time for staff training
and smooth switching of equipment ensuring service disruption is minimal to passengers.

5.34

On successful completion of the bus procurement exercise by NCC, full ownership of the
vehicle assets will be transferred to NCT.

Procurement routes: infrastructure
5.35

Two options are being considered for the procurement of associated infrastructure. Table 5-3
identifies some of the key pros and cons of both of these routes.

Table 5-3: Pros and Cons of infrastructure procurement routes
CCS: dynamic purchasing system


Pros



Suppliers included can meet
operator requirements



Access to a range of products and
services



Appointment would be made in
accordance with the terms of the
framework/DPS, and could limit
some of the options available

Cons

5.36

Quicker route to market, with
framework already established

Competitive Procedure with Negotiation



Details controlled in house



Ability to contact suppliers not on
CCS framework



Competition elements lengthen
timescales



Use of in-house procurement
resource



More limited control for operator

The first involves using the dynamic purchasing system (DPS) marketplace, Crown Commercial
Service Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Solutions (VCIS) (RM6213). The DPS provides Central
Government and the Wider Public Sector the opportunity to access Vehicle Charging
Infrastructure Solutions and offers suppliers a route to market which is adaptable as their
capabilities develop. It includes 156 large and Small and Medium Sized Enterprise (SME)
suppliers and all of the lead players in the market including but not limited to Siemens, Swarco,
SSE, Veolia, Arup, Zenobē, BP Chargemaster, Centrica, EDF Energy, Hitachi, Npower, and
Ubitricity.

5.37

It offers access to a range of products and services including, but not limited to:

Page74218

5.38



Consultancy and feasibility



Civil design and installation



Provision, installation, maintenance of hardware



Software and back-office solutions



Lease and Purchase of commoditised products



Full end-to-end service

The appointment would need to be made in accordance with the terms of the framework/DPS,
which may limit some of the options available under a whole-market competitive tender.

5.39

The alternative option would use a tender procedure run by NCC's Procurement Team using
a Competitive Procedure with Negotiation. A tender procedure executed and managed by
NCC's Procurement Team would be appropriate and give more control over the appointment,
including setting criteria, selection of contractors, and progress of the procedure. If this option
were selected a Competitive Procedure with Negotiation would be the best approach.

5.40

Based on our soft market engagement, all of the infrastructure suppliers who can deliver our
project are available to be appointed via the DPS Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Solutions
framework. This is the route we will follow for our infrastructure procurement and will speed
up the procurement process.

5.41

On completion of the infrastructure procurement exercise full ownership of the assets will be
transferred from NCC to NCT.

Procurement risks
5.42

This is the first project in which NCT will have delivered and operated electric buses and the
associated infrastructure. However, NCT is an active participant in the ZEMO partnership
(formerly Low Carbon Vehicle Partnership) bus working group, with knowledge exchange on
the subject of electric buses between engineering directors being a key aspect of that
discussion forum. NCT staff leading the project are actively exploring opportunities to increase
their knowledge and understanding of electric bus operations across the UK; by engaging with
other operators, visiting EV depots and attending EV conferences to inform their prospective
electric bus purchasing decisions.

5.43

NCC, who have extensive experience in the field through their operation of one of the UK’s
longest standing electric bus fleets, is also in place to advise NCT of potential pitfalls based on
their 10 year experience of operating electric buses. This experience helps to further mitigate
the risks associated with this investment through its own research into electric buses, and
advanced conversations with a number of the main Original Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs)
over a number of years. Advice from NCC’s Electric Bus Project team regarding the pitfalls and

Page
75 219

benefits of the technology has been supplemented by insights from NCTs contemporaries
within the bus industry.
5.44

A risk assessment summary has been undertaken which has categories, risk description, an
action owner, risk mitigation, dates and status. The risks will be tracked in accordance with
NCC’s corporate risk management principles, which draw upon the PRINCE2 methodology.
The strategy requires the identification and recording of risks, an evaluation of their likelihood
and any mitigation actions. This approach ensures that all risks are captured and processed in
a consistent manner. Without mitigation, these could result in increased costs to the
programme, reductions in the quality of outputs and slippages in timelines, all impacting the
overall benefits and outcomes the bid seeks to deliver.

5.45

An experienced Programme Manager will be appointed from the Council’s Major Projects
Team on receipt of the award; they will be responsible for maintaining the risk register. These
risks will be subject to on-going monitoring and mitigated through effective programme
management and partnership working, with updates reported to a joint NCC and NCT
Programme Board. Issues may arise as the projects develop so their impacts, and any
subsequent action to manage them, are to be discussed between the Project Leads and
Programme Manager at the earliest opportunity after the issue has been identified. Issues are
to be recorded (utilising a Risks, Issues, Actions and Decisions (RIAD) log, included in Appendix
J) by the Programme Manager.

Skills and personnel implications
5.46

Health and Safety is the primary concern when maintaining any vehicles but even more so
when talking about Electric Vehicles and the high-voltage propulsion and charging equipment
with which they are fitted. NCT and its staff will be specifically trained on first aid procedures
relating to high voltage electricity. NCT will also purchase specialist equipment to maintain
the buses, ensuring safe working areas for staff and clear protocols for dealing with any
emergencies that may occur.

5.47

In procuring the new vehicles, NCT specifies that technical training should be included for all
levels of engineering staff by the supplier. Training will be given to staff working across the
Trent Bridge depot, covering:

5.48



More in-depth training for technicians



Component training for support staff attending roadside incidents and breakdowns



Vehicle safety training for cleaners

The technical knowledge needed by NCT staff will need to migrate from being primarily
mechanical to primarily electrical. As such, technicians will be retrained to better understand
electrical fault diagnosis. NCT is already actively looking for an EV safety course to start sending

Page76220

their engineering staff on in anticipation of the change to BEVs. There is allowance in the
project programme for staff training, which is part of the critical path to delivery.
5.49

It is anticipated that the current frequency of safety inspections will be maintained (every 4
weeks), despite electric buses may require less maintenance than the current diesel buses.
They will also create less waste from lubricating oils than generated from diesel vehicles,
making for a cleaner and safer workshop and enabling NCT to make savings from reduced
levels of waste disposal.

Market Engagement
5.50

A number of soft market testing and project scoping discussions have taken place with Energy
companies including both Distribution Network Operators (DNO), Energy Suppliers, turnkey
solution providers and smart charging providers. The range of potential project partners
engaged include Scottish and Southern Electricity, Swarco, Western Power Distribution,
Zenobē Energy and BYD. This has included site visits to the Trent Bridge Garage to consider
technical feasibility, with a particular focus on power requirements and charger layouts. Copies
of letters of support are contained within Appendix I.

5.51

In developing the expression of interest, all members of the local bus partnership were
engaged to see whether they wanted to take a project forward but other operators declined
at this time. We hope to work with other local operators on future rounds of ZEBRA.

5.52

We will be open to engaging with potential bus manufacturers and infrastructure providers,
and invite them, and any other parties, to continue provide (at their expense) information to
support our evaluation of tenders in our oversight role.

5.53

NCT’s staff are actively exploring opportunities to increase their knowledge and understanding
of electric bus operations across the UK; engaging with vehicle and power/energy providers
as well as other operators and attending EV conferences. The NCT team leading the project to
date, Gary Mason (Director of Engineering) and Liam O’Brien (Head of Engineering) have:


Visited National Express depot at Yardley wood where they operate 19 ADL double deck
electric vehicles and had discussions with their project manager to better understand
the challenges they have faced in implementing and operating EVs



Received EV demonstrations from Yutong, ADL, Caetano and Mercedes and NCT’s driver
training team have carried assessments for each vehicle. Additional trial vehicles from
ADL and Yutong are planned for autumn 2021.



Attended a ZEMO conference in Glasgow hosted by McGills, who operate a large EV fleet
and are in the process of receiving over 60 new EVs, speaking to their MD and senior
managers about their EV experience so far.

Page
77 221



Participate in a quarterly EV forum where operators of electric vehicles from all over the
country share information on EV vehicle and infrastructure to better understand
common problems being faced by the industry.



Attended an IRTE (Institute of Road Transport Engineers) northern region engineering
committee meeting at the ADL factory in Scarborough and had the opportunity to see
their EV single and double deck vehicles in build and had various presentations from
their sales and engineering teams on their EV journey.



Planned visits for November 2021 to Wrightbus, Optare and Pelican Engineering
(Yutong). NCT is in constant contact with ADL as they are the main vehicle supplier
currently.



Had extensive discussions on infrastructure with Zenobē energy and have detailed
parking and charging plans for the Trent Bridge depot using 41 150kw Phihong DC
chargers and a charging management system to monitor and balance the charging of
the vehicles overnight.



Had conversations with SSE, Swarco and Siemens (less advanced than the Zenobē
discussions).

5.54

NCC can also draw upon considerable organisational experience and capacity from similar
public transport rolling stock purchases, including specification, infrastructure design and
delivery. This includes the procurement and operation of numerous types of BEVs (Optare and
BYD) and supporting infrastructure at the Queens Drive depot.

5.55

The ‘go to market’ approach will utilise both the Crown Commercial Service Vehicle Purchase
Framework (RM6060) and the Nottingham City Council Electric Vehicle Framework. This will
shape future market engagement, with purchase of the first batch of buses focused on
manufacturers included in the CCS framework, and the subsequent batches open to other
additional manufacturers. This will enable the project to make best use of the speed that the
CCS framework can be enacted, enabling the ambitious but realistic programme to be met,
and the range of manufacturers and latest models that could be procured under the
Nottingham framework.

Specification
Vehicle specification
5.56

This proposal will see full conversion of NCT’s single decker fleet to electric bus operation. In
order to replicate the existing provision, 12 of the new buses will have 40 seats and be
approximately 12 meters long, while 66 vehicles will have 33 seats and be approximately 10.8
meters long. The actual length of the vehicles will depend on the chosen supplier, but seating
capacity will remain the same.

Page78222

5.57

The two seat capacity specifications reflect the different route requirements. Smaller buses
have more manoeuvrability which is required on certain routes, particularly through residential
areas where on-street parking is problematic. All vehicles will be operated and managed by
NCT.

5.58

The vehicle specification requirements developed by NCT (Appendix N) specifies that all buses
procured will needs to be compliant with the Public Service Vehicles Accessibility Regulations
(PSVAR) 2000 and the enhanced requirements and will be fitted with:


INIT Passenger communication and Realtime equipment / Audio Visual route and next
stop announcements, at a cost of approximately £9,100 per vehicle (quote in Appendix N)



Induction loops to support driver – passenger interactions on boarding and in wheelchair
and priority seating, at a cost of approximately £1,100 per vehicle (quote in Appendix N)



Supplementary space in addition to the mandatory wheelchair space, suitable for a second
wheelchair user and/or at least two unfolded pushchairs or prams

5.59

The impact of these specifications has been reviewed as part of the Equality Impact
Assessment (EqIA) form included within section 7.

5.60

The buses are expected to be maintained and operated for a minimum of 17 years. Given the
procurement route to be taken, a definitive electric vehicle specification cannot be detailed at
this stage. Appendix N details the specification requirements for the electric buses that will be
sought which comprises:


12 single deck electric buses with 40 seats and 66 single deck electric buses with 33 seats



Compliant with the Public Service Vehicles Accessibility Regulations 2000



Minimum battery size of 420kWh



Battery life is expected to be between 12 and 24 hours (subject to the same operating
conditions set out above).

Page
79 223

Route requirements
5.61

The area coverage and bus services that will be covered by the ZEBRA bid are indicated in Table 5-4 and Figure 5-2. They all operate through the
city of Nottingham which is an Air Quality Management Area (see EQIA for further detail on social and economic factors). The buses will serve
areas of high deprivation and health inequalities so will support better health outcome and access to jobs and opportunities in areas with low car
ownership and high unemployment.

Table 5-4: Bus routes to be electrified
Route(s)

Connecting

Time taken (into
Nottingham)
Monday
9am

Page 224

3,5,7,8,9 3 Clifton to Nottingham via Wilford Lane,

Roughly
every:

Monday 1pm

Frequency: (into Nottingham)
Monday AM
(07:0008:59)

Monday BP
(09:00-15:59)

Monday EP
(16:0017:59)

Hours of
operation (time
of first and last
service to
Nottingham)

41mins

41mins

30mins

5

14

4

7:00-18:07

5 Gamston (Morrisons) to Nottingham via West
Bridgford, Melton Road

26mins

26mins

30mins

4

14

3

6:52-17:37

7 7B Gamston (Morrisons) to Nottingham via
West Bridgford, Abbey Park

26mins

26mins

30mins

4

14

4

6:39-23:17

8 8B Wilford Hill & Compton Acres to
Nottingham via West Bridgford

33mins

33mins

30mins

5

13

4

6:17-22:44

9 9B Compton Acres & Wilford Hill to
Nottingham via West Bridgford

21mins

21mins

30mins

1

14

3

8:57-23:44

11, 11C

Lady Bay to Nottingham via Meadows

23mins

23mins

12mins

10

34

9

6:12-23:42

30, 31, 39

30: Wollaton to Nottingham via Ilkeston Road

30mins

29mins

15mins

7

28

6

6:18-22:33

39: Carlton Valley to Nottingham via
Thorneywood

31mins

31mins

10mins

12

42

12

5:59-23:33

Ruddington

80

Route(s)

Connecting

Time taken (into
Nottingham)
Monday
9am

40, 41,
42, 46,
47, 48

Roughly
every:

Monday 1pm

Frequency: (into Nottingham)
Monday AM
(07:0008:59)

Monday BP
(09:00-15:59)

Monday EP
(16:0017:59)

Hours of
operation (time
of first and last
service to
Nottingham)

Page 225

40 40B 40X Edwards Lane Estate to Nottingham
via City Hospital, Sherwood, Winwood Heights,
St Ann's

42mins

42mins

30mins

5

15

3

5:09-22:02

41 St Ann's to Nottingham via St Ann's Well
Road

13mins

13mins

10mins

13

42

12

06:35-23:46

42 St Ann's to Nottingham via Abbotsford
Drive

15mins

15mins

30mins

5

14

3

06:38-22:18

46 47 Woodborough & Lambley to
Nottingham via Mapperley Plains

30 / 33mins
respectively

30 / 33mins
respectively

30mins

3

14

4

05:52-22:16

48 48X Clifton (Nobel Road) to Nottingham via
Meadows, Electric Avenue

35mins

34mins

10mins

12

43

11

04:53-23:14

53, 54

53 53B 54 54B Clifton to Arnold via QMC, Ring
Road

59mins

59mins

30mins

5

16

4

05:13-18:48

70, 71

70 70B 71 71B Bulwell (Morrisons) to
Nottingham via Norwich Gardens, Old Basford,
Sherwood Rise

37mins

37mins

15mins

9

28

7

05:36-23:16

87, 88

87 87B Arnold to Nottingham via Edwards
Lane, Redhill

33mins

33mins

15mins

9

29

6

06:12-22:45

88 Top Valley & Warren Hill to Nottingham via
Edwards Lane

37mins

37mins

15mins

8

29

6

06:22-23:09

81

Figure 5-2: Proposed electric bus routes 39

39

Higher quality image available in Appendix H

Page82226

Infrastructure specification
5.62

Infrastructure will be installed in the Trent Bridge depot to support the operation of the 78
new BEVs. This includes charger installation, high voltage grid connection, lighting and
software systems.

5.63

Opportunity charging on route was considered but does not meet NCT’s operational
requirements and layover locations around the network do not lend themselves to its
installation. NCT schedulers and dispatchers have also determined that overnight depot
charging would be the most effective way to manage the fleet operationally.

5.64

A quote to upgrade the incoming power supply has been provided by Western Power
Distribution (WPD) (see details in Appendix Q). This will connect the depot to a high voltage
cable that will support the needs of charging the full midi bus fleet.

5.65

Alternative power options were considered such as battery storage and PV but were not
progressed as an appropriate High Voltage connection could be procured which meets the
needs of the depot, with two 1.8mva supplies for new bus chargers.
Charging specification

5.66

Following market engagement, a proposed specification and quote for charging infrastructure
to support the delivery of 78 battery electric buses at the Trent Bridge depot has been
prepared by Zenobē (see details in Appendix Q). This includes:

5.67



On-Site HV Works



Main LV Panels



41 150kW DC Chargers



EV charging systems, comms and software



Lighting (HV + Charger Lighting)

The bus operating schedule has been assessed to understand charging requirements and the
period of time available overnight to recharge each bus vehicle, based on the length of each
buses working duty cycle. The time taken to charge the fleet of vehicles will depend on a
number of factors. The proposed charging schedule will be operated by specialist grid
management software which optimises charging rates across the fleet depending on:


Vehicle operational times and running order – prioritising vehicles that leave first in the
morning



Electricity rates – maximising energy use overnight when rates are lower



Grid capacity – managing power supply and promoting slower charges to maintain
battery health and grid function

Page
83 227

Figure 5-3: Charger specification

5.68

As set out in the Strategic Case, Zenobē’s estimated power analysis in Figure 5-4 illustrates the
likely charging schedule and indicates that there is sufficient charging capacity to recharge all
78 bus batteries before the start of the new day.

Page84228

Figure 5-4: Peak power analysis

5.69

The potential to support other businesses to operate electric vehicles has been considered.
The new infrastructure provides opportunities for other public sector fleet such as city council
electric refuse collection vehicles, local logistics firms etc. to charge their fleet where there is
spare network capacity.

5.70

An additional cost to upgrade the incoming power supply has been provided by Western
Power Distribution (WPD) (see details in Appendix Q). This will connect the depot to a high
voltage cable that will support the needs of charging the full midi bus fleet.

Mitigating charging risks
Vehicles not being fully charged overnight
5.71

An infrastructure supplier will be appointed that can supply a remote monitoring system. This
system would alert the operator if there are any charging issues with any of the buses. For
example, Zenobē Energy provides a remotely monitored solution where a call centre monitors
charging through the night and contacts the depots directly should an issue occur.

5.72

NCT staff would also be monitoring the charging through the night. This will minimise the
impact of a problem with the charging infrastructure, by raising warnings early when there is
an issue. It will also reduce the likelihood that the depot would open on a morning to an
uncharged fleet of buses, given NCT staff can respond to any issue promptly, when discovered.

5.73

Charging would be controlled through a depot management system that charges the vehicles
in blocks, depending on which buses are first to run out in the morning. This system ensures
that the right buses are fully charged ready for service – thereby optimising the flow of
available electricity into the depot. The example in Figure 5-5 illustrates the zonal charging
system at another operator.

Page
85 229

Figure 5-5: Zonal charging example

5.74

NCT will seek a service level agreement that guarantees the operation of the infrastructure and
has financial penalties should an infrastructure failure lead to buses not being ready for service,
placing the ownership of the risk with the infrastructure supplier.

5.75

Should a total power cut occur then the vehicles would not be able to be charged and would
miss service until they could be sufficiently charged. Fortunately, power cuts are rare and the
electricity supply to the depot is quite stable. This is a risk that is currently endured by the
depot, as the diesel pumps are powered by electricity and so the proposal does not increase
the impact of a significant power cut. Longer term, this risk could be further mitigated by the
installation of locally generated and stored energy, with solar power cells installed on the dept
roof, thereby reducing reliance on grid connection.
Buses not having sufficient charge to complete a full day’s operation

5.76

The buses will each require telematics systems that actively monitor them during the day’s
operations. Upon procurement, NCT have specified a minimum battery size of 420kWh (see
vehicle specification in Appendix N). At an average of 1 kWh/km this will allow most midi bus
routes to run all day on an overnight charge. Buses on the remaining routes will be swapped
over mid-operation to allow the rest of day’s timetable to be completed.

5.77

Zenobē also offers this system and an example from another operator is shown in Figure 5-6.
This detailed information will allow the operator to make informed decisions as to when the

Page86230

buses need to be changed over and reduce any impact charging schedules have on their
service to customers.

Figure 5-6: Example telematics system

Specification summary
5.78

Table 5-5 sets out a summary of NCT’s BEV bus specification / requirements in relation to the
scheme objectives and desired outcomes defined in the Strategic Case for this bid.

Table 5-5: Specification outcomes
Scheme Objectives
To support the ambition
of our Carbon Neutral
Charter for 2028

How specification achieves the strategic case outcomes





Improvements in carbon efficiency of electric energy compared to
diesel fuel
Electric vehicles will reduce the emissions from NCT operations by
New buses will remove 31 tonnes of NOx and 777 kilograms of PM2.5
during the appraisal period22




Improvements in vehicle energy efficiency compared to diesel fuel
Reduce per km operation cost of energy



Increase skills of NCT staff - maintaining and servicing electric



To improve local air
quality

To enhance operational
efficiency of vehicle
fleet

Further opportunities to decarbonise with potential for local energy
generation
Electric vehicles will reduce the carbon emissions from NCT
operations by 3,800 tonnes CO2e per year over the appraisal period

vehicles.
To support local
opportunities for jobs
and skills



Opportunities for local pathways into employment for colleges
interested in offering courses in the maintenance and servicing of
electric vehicles



Build on agglomeration benefits that previous investment in zero
emission technologies has helped to trigger such as Nottingham
University’s Centre for Advanced propulsion

To promote inclusive
access to high quality
bus services



Vehicles adhered to the requirements of the Public Service Vehicle
Accessibility Regulations (PSVAR) 2000

Page
87 231

Marketing Strategy
5.79

The provision of new electric buses is an important component in tackling climate change and
reducing GHG emissions from transport. NCC wants residents and businesses to be made
aware of the measures being introduced to tackle climate change, raise awareness of the
sustainable transport options available and increase bus use patronage, which would result
from a clear and proactive marketing strategy.

5.80

The marketing of the electric buses and associated infrastructure benefits from a partnership
approach between the City Council and the operator, NCT. The marketing strategy requires
clear communication objectives and messages. How those messages are to be communicated
to achieve the objectives is an important factor.

5.81

Time is included in the project programme for the development of a full marketing and
communication strategy by NCC and NCT. This will be undertaken between January and March
2023, and delivered ahead of the electric bus operations commence in autumn 2023. This
section outlines the likely approach to the development of such as strategy.

5.82

The communication strategy objectives are to:


Reach 705,000 social media accounts with details of successful funding announcement



Obtain local press coverage with the successful funding announcement



Obtain national press coverage with the successful funding announcement



Obtain trade press coverage regarding successful funding announcement



Reach 705,000 social media accounts with details of delivery and introduction of first
electric buses

5.83



Obtain local press coverage when first new buses are delivered and become operational



Obtain trade press coverage when first new buses are delivered and become operational

The key messages of the strategy are to:


The electric buses will support the ambition of to become Carbon Neutral Charter for
2028



The electric bus will help improve local air quality



The new electric buses will enhance operational efficiency of vehicle fleet



The new buses will support local opportunities for jobs and skills



The new buses promote inclusive access to high quality bus services



New electric vehicle charging points are being installed



The project is being funded by the Department for Transport, NCC and NCT



The project is in line with the Bus Service Improvement Plan and the Enhanced
Partnership

Page88232



The increase in sustainable transport will aid Nottingham’s economy, environment and
visitor experience.

5.84

The way those messages will be communicated are:


Local/regional people – media engagement, social media campaigns, council web pages



National audience – partnership with DfT and other Government departments



Trade audience – engagement of trade press



Council staff and Councillors – direct email, websites, publication, intranet



Businesses and staff – e-newsletter

Procurement, Subsidy Control and TCA Compliance
5.85

NCC has taken advice from its legal advisers (Browne Jacobson LLP) in respect of potential
subsidy control and compliance issues associated with the UK-EU Trade and Cooperation
Agreement (TCA) and NCC’s proposed use of the ZEBRA grant. As documented elsewhere in
this Business Case:


The grant will cover 75% of the cost of the infrastructure and 75% of the cost difference
between an electric and diesel bus, which will be applied to the purchase of 78 electric
buses if the grant is secured.



In addition to the 78 electric buses, the grant will be applied to associated infrastructure
for NCT, which will consist of any required upgrades to substations, high/low voltage grid
connections and associated civil engineering works. NCT will own all the infrastructure
installed on their premises.



All local bus operators were afforded an opportunity to participate in this bid, through
discussion at Nottingham Bus Quality Partnership group meetings. Only NCT expressed a
desire to participate.

5.86

The summary advice provided by Browne Jacobson LLP is appended to this Business Case
(Appendix L) and is being disclosed to the DfT on a non-reliance basis for the purposes of
verifying the subsidy control position. The summary advice confirms the following key views
in relation to the TCA’s conditions regarding how a subsidy is considered to arise:


If this ZEBRA funding application is successful, NCC’s proposed pass through of the grant
to NCT is considered to confer an economic advantage on the bus operator – reflecting
its current status as a large enterprise and major commercial bus operator in the
Nottingham urban area and certain surrounds, with approximately 85% market share.



It is considered prudent to assume there is a low possibility the pass through of grant
funding to NCT may give rise to a form of subsidy, therefore necessitating that the Council
considers the impact of the subsidy in light of the provisions of the TCA.

Page
89 233



The provision of grant funding to NCT is not a prohibited subsidy within the meaning of
Article 367 of the TCA. However, its relation to energy and environment requires NCC and
NCT to demonstrate compliance with Article 367 (14) of the TCA, which in turn requires
the subsidy to be aimed at, and incentivise enhanced environmental protections
compared to what would otherwise occur without the subsidy.



This is clearly achieved through NCT’s proposed replacement of diesel fuelled buses with
zero emission electric buses funded through the grant – an outcome that would not
otherwise be achieved without the subsidy. It is also recognised that NCT will make a
significant match-funding contribution in addition to the grant.



NCC’s analysis of the subsidy’s compliance with the six principles set out in Article 366 of
the TCA is set out in Annex A to Appendix L. Coupled with the points discussed above, it
confirms NCC’s view that the prospective subsidy to NCT can be granted without having
a material effect on trade or investment between the parties.

5.87

The summary and conclusion of the legal guidance with respect to NCC receiving the grant
from DfT (as sought by NCC is): ‘The receipt of grant funding by NCC on behalf of NCT will
not give rise to a subsidy to NCC because the funding will be passed through to NCT and
therefore no benefit which could amount to an advantage within the meaning of the TCA will
be retained by NCC. Accordingly, the receipt of grant funding by NCC will not give rise to a
subsidy.’

Page90234

6.

Management Case: Governance, Risks,
Monitoring and Evaluation
Overview

6.1

Experienced staff from NCC and NCT form the project team, with identified roles and
responsibilities. Clear governance arrangements form effective reporting lines for delivery,
operation, monitoring and evaluation of the project.

6.2

A project plan sets out the timelines for the project, with a critical path and key milestones
identified. Suppliers for the infrastructure and vehicles will be appointed in spring 2022, with
installation of depot charging infrastructure complete in spring 2023 and vehicles ready to
commence operation from September 2023.

6.3

Contracts will be arranged using council approved frameworks and managed in accordance
with the NEC4.

6.4

The project team regularly review the risks and dependencies and identify suitable mitigations,
utilising a Risks, Issues, Actions and Decisions (RIAD) log shown in Appendix J.

Deliverability / Governance
6.5

The project will be led by Steve Tough of NCC, who will be the Senior Responsible Officer
(SRO) and will report to the Head of Major Projects in NCC’s Major Projects Programme
Management Office. The Project Manager will be Liam O’Brien of NCT. A project organisation
organogram is indicated in Figure 6-1 and within Table 6-1

6.6

The Senior Supplier responsible for the buses and infrastructure is not known at this stage.
Once the Senior Supplier is appointed details will be provided. Project support will be provided
by NCC legal, procurement and finance officers. As the operator and owner of the buses and
infrastructure, NCT will provide finance and operations support. Project Assurance will be
provided by NCC undertaking the monitoring and evaluation.

Page
91 235

Table 6-1: project team members and their role
Name

Role

Responsibilities

NCC, Major Projects
Programme
Management Office

Head of
Major
Projects



Review progress and co-ordination with wider council
programmes

Steve Tough, Head of
Transport Projects,
NCC

Senior
Responsible
Officer



Reporting to Head of Major Projects

Richard Wellings,
Principal Public
Transport Officer, NCC

Senior
User/Client





Responsible for liaison with consultants and DfT
Reporting to Head of Transport
Stakeholder engagement and co-ordinating
communication strategy
Co-ordinating monitoring and evaluation


Bus Manufacturer &
Infrastructure
Provider(s) - TBC

Senior
Supplier(s)




Responsible for production and delivery of fleet vehicles
Responsible for design and installation of charging
infrastructure

Liam O’Brien, Head of
Engineering, NCT

Project
Manager



Approving contractor work in depot and infrastructure
installation
Operator contribution and covering on-going budgets /
maintenance costs
Reporting to NCT management and co-ordinating with
NCC




Robert Sutcliffe,
Engineering Project
Manager, NCT

Project Team






Market engagement
Appointing and overseeing contractor work and
infrastructure installation
Organising appropriate NCT depot and driver staff
training
Responsible for data sharing with NCC evaluation team

Page92236

Figure 6-1: Project organisation organogram

Head of Major Projects
NCC Major Projects Programme Management Office

Senior User / Client
Richard Wellings, Principal Public Transport Officer, NCC

Senior Responsible Officer

Senior Supplier
Bus Manufacturer & infrastructure Provider

Steve Tough, Head of Transport Projects, NCC

Page 237

Project Support
NCC Legal, Procurement and
Finance
NCT Finance and Operations

Project Assurance
DfT and NCC monitoring and
Evaluation

Project Manager
Liam O Brien Head of Engineering, Nottingham City Transport

DfT
Monitoring and Evaluation
Lead

Senior Accountant Capital
Programmes (NCC)

Principal Officer

Charlotte Perkins

David Astill
Managing Director - NCT

Thomas Straw

Dr Simon Dale

Public Transport Operations
Support Officer

Dionne Screaton
Senior Solicitor (NCC)

Rob Hicklin
Finance Director - NCT

Project Team
Jonathan Whitmarsh

Robert Sutcliffe, Engineering Project Manager

Lead Procurement Officer
(NCC)

Project Assurance – Team
Members
Key

Sue Oliver
Category Manager (NCC)

Core Project Team Lines of Accountability
Project Support Teams Work Flows

Holly Fisher
Procurement Officer (NCC)

Project Support – Team Members

93

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

6.7

The relevant experience / credentials of some key team members are outlined below,
providing assurance and rational behind why these are the best people to support the
delivery of the ZEBRA proposal.
Steve Tough - SRO

6.8

Head of Transport Projects and Operations at Nottingham City Council, remit covers public
transport operations, management of the NET tram Concession, and the project management
of transport project delivery.

6.9

Steve has had major roles as a project manager in the development and implementation of
NET Phase Two, which involves 17km of new tramlines in the south and west of the City (2000
– 2018), and the Robin Hood Line railway line between Nottingham, Mansfield and Worksop,
which opened in phases between 1993 and 1998 were carried out. In between these major
projects, Steve played a major role in the production of Nottinghamshire County Council’s first
Local Transport Plan.

6.10

With earlier stints working in bus tendering at Oxfordshire and Essex County Council’s, Steve
has experience across all the main modes in the public transport market.
Richard Wellings – Senior User / Client

6.11

Principal Public Transport Officer at Nottingham City Council with a remit that covers bus
strategy, partnerships and zero and low emission buses.

6.12

Currently the lead and client for the public transport work packages within Nottingham’s
Transforming Cities Programme, which includes roll-out of traffic light priority for late running
buses, new bus lanes, upgrades to digital real-time information and enhancements to smart
ticketing and contactless payment. Richard has also led on the development of the Greater
Nottingham Bus Service Improvement plan.

6.13

With a strong working relationship with Nottingham City Transport, Richard has been involved
over a number years with several major projects, delivered in partnership with the bus operator
including the Low Emission Bus Fund and Ultra Low Emission Bus Fund supported Biogas bus
project, which delivered 120 Biogas double deckers and infrastructure, and the Clean Bus
Technology Fund which saw the remaining diesel buses within the NCT fleet upgraded to Euro
VI.
Liam O’Brien –Project Manager

6.14

Head of Engineering at Nottingham City Transport with a remit that covers all company
engineering operations and new vehicle purchase

6.15

Liam has been in the motor industry for 27 years with roles at Volvo, Mercedes-Benz, Optare,
First Bus and Arriva before joining Nottingham City Transport in 2018.

Page94238

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

6.16

Liam planned the introduction of 67 new Biogas buses in 2019 along with 10 single deck low
emission diesels. Liam also oversaw a project that saw the implementation of 188 exhaust
retrofits making Nottingham City transports fleet fully Euro VI compliant. Liam has recently
been involved in the specification and ordering of a further 23 Biogas buses due for delivery
in 2022.

6.17

Two big technology projects were undertaken by Liam in 2020 that saw all engineering
operations digitised with the Freeway fleet maintenance system and Tranzaura providing
digital driver defect reports. At the same time Liam ran a £500k regeneration project on NCT’s
grade 2 listed Trent Bridge depot to improve operational efficiency and create room to enable
electric vehicle infrastructure to be installed.
Robert Sutcliffe – Project Lead

6.18

Robert is the newly promoted Engineering Project Manager at Nottingham City Transport with
a remit covering all engineering projects.

6.19

Robert has been a part of the NCT family for 18 years starting with the company as an
apprentice straight out of school and qualifying as a Vehicle Technician. Rob rose to the role
of Technician team leader where he excelled in running the workshop teams.

6.20

Robert assisted in the introduction of the first Biogas buses into Nottingham and oversaw the
introduction of all 120 currently in service. Rob has assisted the Head of Engineering in the
implementation of the digital workshop systems and in the latest order of 23 Biogas buses.

6.21

His dedication to his role at Nottingham City Transport saw Robert promoted to Engineering
Project Manager in the autumn of 2021.
Council experience

6.22

NCC can draw upon considerable organisational experience and capacity from similar public
transport rolling stock purchases, including specification, infrastructure design and delivery.
Examples include:


Nottingham Express Transit which opened in March 2004. The project included the
design and delivery of tram infrastructure including power supply and the specification
and purchase of rolling stock.



Optare solo buses purchased in 2012. The four buses use trickle chargers at the
Sherwood depot.



Optare solos and Versas electric buses. Ten of each type of bus were purchased in 2014.
7 double trickle chargers, 10 single trickle chargers and three rapid chargers were also
installed at the Queens Drive compound.

Page
95 239

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case



17 Optare solos were purchased in 2015 at an expanded EV compound at Queens Drive.
The infrastructure works included the conversion of seven single trickle chargers to
doubles and four additional rapid chargers.



In 2016 13 BYD and four Optare solos were purchased. The infrastructure works included
a new EV compound at Queens Drive, 12 BYD fast chargers and 4 rapid chargers.



In 2019 the park and ride services were commercialised. Working with NCT the electric
bus network was reconfigured.

Lessons learnt from council projects
6.23

A number of lessons have been learnt from the delivery of NCC’S electric bus project, which is
one of the longest running in the UK. The most important is that limited range electric buses
that require rapid charging during the day are not suitable for deployment on a high frequency
commercial network. As such they add a layer of complication to scheduling and dispatching
that can be avoided if longer range buses, with overnight charging, are deployed. This has
been central to the specification of the vehicles that has been developed for the proposal, it
has also shaped the scope of the proposal, to focus on the single deck fleet.

6.24

Access to a high voltage power supply is also key to the delivery of the charging infrastructure
for a project of the magnitude of an electric bus installation. Furthermore, reinforcement of
parking and charging bays within the depot is required due to the increased weight of the
electric buses compared to a standard diesel.

6.25

Communication protocols between the vehicles and chargers can be problematic, so time
should be spent at the commissioning phase of the vehicles and infrastructure to get this
absolutely right. This is something the ZEBRA proposal has considered in the development of
the project timeline and plan.

6.26

NCC has also discovered the importance of good battery management and ensuring batteries
remain balanced is essential to maintain battery range. Telematics systems are vital for
managing the buses operationally, they help massively in allaying both driver and dispatcher
range anxiety as State of Charge can be monitored in real-time. This ZEBRA proposal has
sought this type of system and detailed conversations have taken place with a supplier,
Zenobē, on the implementation of this type of system within NCT operations.

Stakeholder project support
6.27

NCT indicated their support for the opportunity to work with NCC to operate new electric
buses and convert the Trent Bridge depot to electric bus operation. NCT recognise the benefits

Page96240

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

of the electrification to the city’s ambition to become carbon neutral by 2028. As a bus
operator their mission is to become the UK’s first carbon neutral bus operator. A copy of the
letter is contained within Appendix I.
6.28

The project has received support from the D2N2 Local Enterprise Partnership (see Appendix I).
The Chief Executive Officer indicated in a letter of support, that the LEP would work
collaboratively with Nottingham to enable delivery of the project and assist where possible.
The LEP recognise the benefits of the scheme and that it compliments to the funding they
have granted and provides added value.

6.29

Joint Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Transport Delivery board will meet on a quarterly
basis. The meeting will be attended by Transport Cabinet / portfolio holders (who are
councillors), the Senior Officers (Nottingham City and Nottinghamshire Councils), the project
SRO and Project Manager. As well as reporting on progress and issues requiring senior
intervention, the board will be able to provide any necessary direction to enable successful
delivery.

Project reporting
6.30

The Project Management Office group would meet on a monthly basis. The meeting would be
attended by the SRO, Project Manager, Senior Users and monitoring officers. A monthly
monitoring report to update on progress and current spend, alongside a RAG rating for
project’s progress in terms of time, cost and scope, and include a section on lessons learned
will be produced. This information will be consolidated into a programme report, which will
be circulated to Board members each month.

6.31

As part of the project approvals and assurance process, in the event of an exception occurring
the Programme/Project Manager will produce an exception report to provide information
about any issues or risks that could affect the delivery of the programme or reputation of the
councils. Any change will need to be considered in terms of its impact on time, cost and quality,
and its effect on other interdependent elements within the programme. The report will be
tabled at the Board and depending on the scale of the exception; these reports may be
escalated to the Joint Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Transport Delivery board or through
the approved delegated decision makers or individual Council Transport Delivery
Board(s)/Infrastructure Board/Executive Board(s)/Cabinet as appropriate.

6.32

The NCT Board would also meet on a monthly basis to exercise project oversight. NCT is part
funding the project and would monitor expenditure and scheme delivery. The Transport board
is comprised of Company Directors and representatives of NCC and Transdev, who are the
shareholders.

Page
97 241

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Figure 6-2: Project governance structure

6.33

The reporting arrangements are listed in Table 6-2.

Table 6-2: project reporting – roles and responsibilities
Group
Joint Nottingham and
Nottinghamshire
Transport Delivery board

Attendees
Transport Cabinet / portfolio holders (Cllrs)

Frequency
Quarterly

Senior Officers (Nottingham City and
Nottinghamshire Councils)
SRO and PMO

Project Management
Office

SRO, Senior User and PMO Monitoring
Officers

Monthly

NCT Board

Company Directors, Shareholders
representatives (NCC and Transdev)

Monthly

Page98242

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Contract Management
6.34

The project is split into two distinct elements; the specification and purchase of 78 electric
buses and the necessary infrastructure which will consist of any required upgrades to
substations, high/low voltage grid connections and associated civil engineering works. The
project is likely to be delivered in two contracts, one for the purchase of the buses and the
others for the infrastructure works. The SRO is responsible for the successful execution of the
organisations engaged under the signed terms and conditions of both contracts.

6.35

The contract will include penalty clauses set against delivery milestones to minimise the
likelihood and impact of delays within the programme. It will also aim to maximise operational
performance by including provision for infrastructure “uptime” guarantees alongside agreed
timescales for parts delivery for both the buses and the charging unit alongside provision of a
dedicated service centre function by all suppliers involved in the project. This will maximise
financial performance and reduce the financial risk of the project

6.36

The purchase of the first batch of 26 buses will be undertaken using the CCS RM6060 Vehicle
Purchase framework (Lot 5). The remaining 52 will be purchased using the Nottingham City
Council Electric Vehicle Framework which will be in place by June 2023 and will include
manufacturers such as Wrightbus, Caetano, Scania, Mellors and Arrival that are currently not
included on the CCS framework. This will allow new entrants to market to be considered and
provide the opportunity for NCC and NCT to take advantage of superior technologies that
may be introduced to the market during the lifetime of the project. The infrastructure will be
procured either through the CCS DPS Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Solutions or a
Competitive Procedure with Negotiation run by the Council’s Procurement Team.

6.37

Contracts will be managed by NCC in line with the NEC4. NEC4 is a well-known and used form
of contract on infrastructure schemes. The NEC contracts are designed using the following
three key unique characteristics:


to stimulate the good management of the relationship between the two parties to the
contract and, hence, of the work involved in the contract;



the ability to be used on a wide variety of commercial situations, for a wide variety of types
of work and in any location; and



Clear, simple and written in plain English using language and a structure which is
straightforward and easily understood.

Page
99 243

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Project Plan
6.38

We are confident that buses and infrastructure can be delivered by quarter 4 of 2023. To
achieve this a set of realistic key milestones, based on conversations with internal procurement
teams and engagement with suppliers, have been set out and are detailed in Table 6-3.

6.39

The required infrastructure will be implemented during 2022/2023, which is to align with the
phased manufacture and delivery of the buses from the third quarter of 2022/2023 through
to the third quarter of 2023/2024.

6.40

Given the current levels of preparedness at the Trent Bridge depot (garage reconfiguration
works complete) and discussions with bus manufacturers on their order fulfilment timescales,
we are assured that this proposal is deliverable within the scheme timescales. Assurances have
been received from bus manufacturers to deliver the buses on time. We also have assurances
from UK Power Networks, our local Distribution Network Operator (DNO) that it will be able
to expedite delivery of power connection upgrades. Letters of support from these
organisations are included in Appendix I.

6.41

Market engagement has indicated that our timeline is achievable, and procurement will ensure
contractual financial penalties are in place if milestones are not achieved. Use of frameworks
will also allow for bus procurement to expedited quickly. Contingency has been built into the
project plan and NCT has previously delivered this type of DfT-funded major project to time
and budget as evidenced by their previously delivery of the Biogas bus and infrastructure
project which was funded by both the Low and Ultra Low Emission Bus Schemes.

Table 6-3: Key milestones linked to successful delivery
Milestone

Date

Organisation

ZEBRA Fund announcement

February 2022

DfT

NCC Exec Board and Capital Board approval secured to
accept grant funding and commence procurement

March 2022

NCC

Bus Manufacturer Appointed

April 2022

NCC - NCT

Infrastructure Provider Appointed

May 2022

NCC - NCT

Training of operations and engineering staff delivered

January 2023

NCT

Bus driver training delivered

March 2023

NCT

Installation of depot charging infrastructure complete

April 2023

NCT

Delivery of 78 Electric Buses

April 2023

NCT

(in batches of 26)

June 2023
September 2023

Buses enter service

September 2023

NCT

Agree Reporting mechanisms and Schedule

October 2023

NCC-NCT

Page100244

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Key risks and dependencies
6.42

A series of key dependencies are noted relating to the projects which, if missed or not realised
in time, could impact the delivery programme tolerances of cost, time or quality. Impacts may
be felt in delays to implementation, compromised quality outputs, resource not in place in
time to realise maximum benefits or missed opportunities.

6.43

As there will be multiple parties involved in delivering the project, interdependencies among
all these parties have been identified and management techniques of such interdependencies
should be reviewed on an on-going basis through-out the project. Table 6-4 sets out a few
initial dependencies involving external parties and identifies ways in which the project team
will manage these. These dependencies also reflect the risks include in the Risk Log (included
as part of Appendix J).

6.44

Risks in relation to this project have been split into three categories and reviewed at a
programme level, scheme level and scheme specific level using a PESTLE (Political, Economic,
Sociological, Technological, Legal, Environmental) categorisation methodology. The log
captures the Political, Economic, Sociological and legal risks that Nottingham City Council will
mitigate and the Economic and Technological risks that NCT will need to mitigate as the
project delivery partner.

6.45

The 3 key scheme-specific risks in relation to this project have been identified as follows:


First time implementation of Electric Bus Technology at scale by commercial
operators with little or no experience of operating this type of bus. This risk is
mitigated by the pioneering experience and knowledge accrued by NCC in relation to
the operation and delivery of infrastructure for one of the UK’s oldest electric bus
projects. Coupled with NCT’s engineering department’s longstanding research,
groundwork and trials in relation to the technology.



Inadequate power supply. Work with Western Power Distribution has established that
there are two points of High Voltage power supply that can be connected into the Trent
Bridge Depot which will house the new fleet and infrastructure.



Insufficient patronage to support future operating and maintenance costs. Prior to
the reintroduction of Covid-19 restrictions, patronage had returned to 75% of normal
and was growing as working and learning from home reduced and leisure and hospitality
had re-opened. This provides confidence that sustainable levels of patronage will be
achieved to support the operation of the new fleet. New ticketing products to better
reflect new travel demand and working patterns have also been implemented and will
continue to be developed alongside a range of marketing campaigns targeted at various
passenger segments to “Get Back on Board” to help grown the market further and

Page
101 245

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

provide reassurance to travellers that public transport is safe post-covid. Investment will
and is being made into the network via the transforming cities programme and Bus
Service Improvement Plan initiative to further enhance the efficiency and attractiveness
of the network which will support the control of costs by local bus operators.

Table 6-4: Key dependencies
Independent
variable

6.46

Dependent variables

Large number of
stakeholder
interests at play

Need to consider needs of each
stakeholder and the impact of the
scheme, management of
expectations, risk of failing to
meet objectives

Number of
potential
suppliers to coordinate and
manage

Management of suppliers and
engagement activities,

Internal resources

Potential delays if NCC / NCT
teams are not sufficiently
resourced to manage the project

Potential for knock-on impacts of
delays from one stage of work to
another

Involved
parties
NCC / NCT
Internal and
external
Stakeholders
NCC / NCT
Suppliers /
contractors

NCC / NCT
Suppliers /
contractors

Interdependency measures
Co-development of
communications plan, with clear
responsibilities and action
owners
Collaborative working between
delivery partners, with regular
meetings and updates, one clear
project programme shared with
all parties
Collaborative working between
delivery partners, maintaining
live risk log and early warnings
of potential issues

The critical path has been identified within the Project Programme, Figure 6-3. This links the
ZEBRA funding announcement, appointment of a bus manufacturer and infrastructure
provider, delivery of the infrastructure and delivery of staff training. A delay to any of these
elements could have direct implications for achieving operation of the new electric buses by
quarter 4 of 2023.

6.47

If infrastructure delivery is delayed or any early warnings are issued by the project manager in
relation to the delivery of this work package discussions will be had immediately with the OEM
about the bus manufacturing schedule and provisions will be built into the contract with the
OEM to allow for this eventuality. Conversations and plans are well advanced with NCC’s
procurement team which should ensure appointment of bus and infrastructure manufacturers
can be delivered in a timely fashion. Similarly, NCT is already gearing up their staff across a
range of disciplines in preparation for the operation of the electric bus fleet.

6.48

The start of the forward project critical path is dependent on ZEBRA funding award; the
remaining timeline runs up to the new buses entering service in 2023.

Page102246

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Figure 6-3: Project programme

Page
103247

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

6.49

Table 6-5 details how the Work Packages outlined above will be delivered and by whom.

Table 6-5: Work packages
Work Package

Work Package Delivery Team

1. Project

Richard Wellings,

Formal political sign-off will be sought to accept the grant

initiation

Transport Strategy, NCC

funding from DfT and proceed with the delivery project and
proceed with the procurement exercise for the buses and
infrastructure. This will be achieved via the submission of an
Exec Board report and sign off by NCCs Capital
Programmes Board.

2. Procurement

Holly Fisher,

Initial batch of 26 buses will be procured by NCC via the

and Delivery of

Procurement, NCC.

existing Crown Commercial Services framework with

78 Electric Buses

Liam O’Brien, Head of
Engineering, NCT
Richard Wellings,
Transport Strategy, NCC

ownership of the Asset transferring to NCT upon delivery.
The remaining buses will be procured via a Nottingham City
Council Electric Vehicle Framework which NCT and other
local bus operators will be named on. This will allow
manufacturers that are not on the crown commercial
services framework to be appointed compliant with public
procurement rules.

3. Procurement

Jonathan Whitmarsh,

Infrastructure will be procured using the Crown Commercial

and Delivery of

Procurement, NCC

Services Dynamic Purchasing System

HV Grid
Connection and
Charging

Liam O’Brien, Head of
Engineering, NCT

Infrastructure

Richard Wellings,

4. Nottingham

Liam O’Brien, Head of

Through Liaison with NCTs Workforce Development and

City Transport

Engineering, NCT

Training Team and the bus and infrastructure OEMs a

Transport Strategy, NCC

Staff Training

complete package training and orientation programme will

and Orientation

be developed for both the engineering and operations
team.

5. Marketing

Anthony Carver-Smith,

A joint comms and marketing plan will be developed using

and

Marketing Manager,

multiple channels to disseminate updates on the progress

Communications

NCT

of the delivery of the project, benefits of the technology,

Catherine Middleton,
Transport Strategy, NCC

and outcomes / outputs of the full roll-out of the fleet to
both stakeholders and local citizens.

Page104248

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Work Package

Work Package Delivery Team

6. Monitoring

Dr Simon Dale,

Data collection protocols will be put in place to collate

and Evaluation

Transport Strategy, NCC

information from vehicle telematics systems to support local

Richard Wellings,

monitoring and evaluation and feedback to DfT.

Transport Strategy, NCC
Charlotte Perkins, Public
Transport Operations,
NCC
7.Operational

Liam O’Brien, Head of

Will oversee the final commissioning stages of both vehicles

Delivery

Engineering, NCT

and charging infrastructure in line with all relevant safety

Robert Sutcliffe,

protocols.

Engineering Project
Manager, NCT

6.50

If possible, we aim to deliver the project earlier than planned. The following factors will
enable the delivery of the project and provide the benefits at the earliest opportunity:


The governance structure will ensure clear, unambiguous assignment of
accountabilities and responsibilities of the multiple parties involved in this project, and
timely and transparent reporting of progress, risks and issues



A common single project plan will be provided that provides one source of truth to
align all delivery activities to identify and manage dependencies



Risk management will ensure that problems are identified early and that they can be
comprehensively managed and mitigated by all the delivery organisations



The approach adopted will incorporate opportunity and value management, placing
opportunities to deliver faster, better, and more cost-efficient outcomes at its heart.



The Stakeholder engagement not only has secured support for the scheme but will be
used to aid delivery where possible. The stakeholder engagement will also be used to
identify and address any potential issues.



The Councils successful delivery of other electric bus scheme, which is an important
component to meet the projects timelines

6.51

Confidence in delivery is supported by commitments from potential private sector suppliers
of vehicles and infrastructure suppliers to meet the project deadline. A combination of
Executive Board and Capital Board sign-off will form the key assurances / gateways and be

Page
105249

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

required in relation to gaining political approval to accept the grant award and grant capital
funding to NCT.

Communications and Stakeholder Engagement Strategy
6.52

As set out in the EQIA (see section 7), at this stage, Nottingham City Council will contact key
stakeholders, to explain the funding for which we are applying and that involvement from
groups would be appreciated to better understand the diverse preferences of stakeholders.
Nottingham City Council already work closely with the Disability Involvement Group (DIG) to
identify any areas of concern with ongoing and upcoming projects. The same will take place
with the ZEBRA project.

6.53

Included in the project programme is time allocated for the development of a full marketing
and communication strategy by NCC and NCT. This will be undertaken between January and
March 2023 and delivered ahead of the electric bus operations commence in autumn 2023.
This section outlines the likely approach to the development of such as strategy.

6.54

The communications strategy will identify target audiences for information about the project
and facilitate dialogue and feedback between the project team and the local community and
other affected stakeholders. To do this the following exercises will need to be carried out:


Stakeholder mapping to identify others not already known or engaged as part of the
scheme development;



Geographical mapping of affected area – this includes those properties directly affected
or potentially affected, either negatively or as beneficiaries;



Consultation exercises on the proposals;



Formal engagement and dialogue with key stakeholders; and



Follow-up surveys using social media and bus user groups to ascertain how the BEV buses
have been received by bus users.

6.55

6.56

The communications plan should have the following objectives:


To disseminate information and foster an understanding of the scheme.



Ensure that the public can discuss the scheme through a range of communication formats.



To ascertain whether the principles of the scheme is supported or not by the public.



To provide the executive board with public feedback regarding the scheme.

It is envisaged the project team will lead stakeholder engagement and consultation for the
project; this will be the responsibility of the Senior User at Nottingham City Council, Richard
Wellings. The plan aims to identify key stakeholders, recognise their respective influence and

Page106250

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

requirements, plan to keep relevant stakeholders informed and engaged, help maintain
consistent communications and plan activities and drive structured continuous improvement.
6.57

Table 6-6 lists the wider group of stakeholders and their involvement in the project.
Coordination of input, consultation and feedback will be sought from these groups on a
regular basis, defined for each stakeholder within the communications plan according to key
project milestones and aligned with existing regular meetings / reporting where possible /
appropriate. Discussions have already taken place with stakeholders as part of the
development of this bid, details of which are included in the Strategic Case.

6.58

This framework of stakeholder management and engagement will be continued throughout
the programme to inform the communications and dissemination activities. Offering a flexible,
collaborative approach, our work will be directed to involving and communicating with
stakeholders to become more interested if it can add to the success of the project.

Table 6-6: Wider stakeholders and their involvement in the ZEBRA programme
Stakeholders

Involvement

D2N2
Investment
Board

Provides linkages with the D2N2 Strategic Economic Plan including business
representation, with potential to enhance the reach of local investment
announcements in respect of the low carbon economy impacts associated
with our ZEBRA funded BEV bus investments.

Public
Transport
Integration
Board (PTIB)

The PTIB is made up of senior officers of the council, the local bus, coach and
tram operators. The purpose of the group is to set the strategic vision and
action plan for investment in public transport for the area.

Bus Quality
Partnerships

Coordination of the bus quality partnership initiatives, which are made up of
the local bus operators. The purpose of the group is to coordinate public
transport provision and support the delivery of bus priority measures,
electronic information, integrated ticketing, services and interchange of
modes.

Robin Hood
Operators
Group

Public transport operator and stakeholder partnerships that oversees the work
of the bus partnership and multi-operator smart-ticketing.

Transport Focus

Represent transport user interests and will be interested in the delivery of
public transport interventions.

Disability, Older
people and
inclusion
groups

Represent Nottingham’s disabled community and support groups. Will be
consulted to ensure inclusion and accessibility considerations for disabled and
older people are fully embedded within the BEV bus rollout – notably around
silent vehicle operations and detecting the approach of a BEV bus.

Page
107 251

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Stakeholders

Involvement

Neighbourhood Coordination of Council delivery within local areas, liaising with community
Managers
representatives and the public.
Nottingham EV
Owners Club

Following the award of the Go Ultra Low City funding, a number of EV drivers
have gradually reached out to support initiatives and participate in organised
vehicle showcases. As a result a number of drivers have formed a EV Owners
Club currently with over 150 members with the aim of organising events, meet
ups and encouraging the growth of EV ownership.

Infrastructure
provider

Promotion of any highway/electrical works in advance, and any
communication with members of the public / local stakeholders who may be
affected by the works. Statutory liaison with NCC in relation to any works
carried out in the public highway/footway, and passing over/beneath privately
owned land.

Vehicle Supplier Promotion of new vehicles and engagement with Council officers / potential
bus users / NCT technical staff, coupled with contractual liaison with NCT in
respect of the manufacture and supply of agreed bus vehicles. Instruction to
NCT technical staff on appropriate care and maintenance of the vehicles.

6.59

NCT (and its
shareholders)

Dialogue with passengers about new vehicles, liaison with NCC over
disbursement of grant funding received from DfT and appropriate
documentation of investment outputs and outcomes associated with the new
EV bus fleet.

NCT Staff

The drivers, engineers, cleaners etc. who will work to run the new buses shall
be engaged through training and good practice materials from the
manufacturer and NCT (as a responsible employer) in respect of the due care
and diligence required to maintain and operate the new bus vehicles.

Besides local passenger groups, we receive regular communications from local school children
and others asking what the Council is doing to advance the cause of electric buses and
decarbonisation more widely in Nottingham. Regular enquiries are also made to elected
members formally via Councillor Casework and through engagement on social media. The
public interactions with the Council indicate that there is popular support for electric buses.

Page108252

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

6.60

The method of engagement with stakeholders and the public is contained within Table 6-7.

Table 6-7: Method of engagement with stakeholders and the public
Consultee

Method of Engagement

Key messages

Political:
DfT

Regular progress reports, emails

Public
Transport
Integration
Board (PTIB)

Reports at key milestones; Chair
stakeholder email; one-to-ones.

Bus Quality
Partnership

Reports at key milestones; Chair
stakeholder email; one-to-ones.

Focused on key milestones linked to
the delivery of EV bus charging
infrastructure and the roll-out of new
vehicles.
Successes and lessons learnt, key
installation, procurement and
operational experiences.

Stakeholders:
Robin Hood
Operators
Group

One-to-ones; stakeholder meetings.

Transport Focus

e-comms; stakeholder newsletter

Disability
Inclusion
Groups

One-to-ones; stakeholder meetings.

Focused on key milestones linked to
the roll-out of new EVs. Highlighting
the benefits of the fleet’s high
accessibility standards

Neighbourhood
Managers

One-to-ones; stakeholder meetings.

Focused on key milestones linked to
the roll-out of new EVs. Highlighting
the benefits of the fleet’s high
accessibility standards and AQ benefits

Nottingham EV
Owners Club

One-to-ones; stakeholder meetings.

Focused on key milestones linked to
the roll-out of new EVs.

Trade Press and
Media

Publicity at key milestones; press
releases.

Focused on key milestones linked to
the roll-out of new EVs. Highlighting
the benefits of the fleet’s high
accessibility standards and AQ benefits
and forecast carbon reduction

Page
109253

Focused on key milestones linked to
the delivery of EV bus charging
infrastructure and the roll-out of new
vehicles.
Successes and lessons learnt, key
installation, procurement and
operational experiences.

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Consultee
NCT

Method of Engagement

Key messages

Ongoing engagement through BQP
meetings, monthly ZEBRA
programme progress meetings, and
regular reporting to DfT.

Focused on more detailed milestones
linked to the delivery of EV bus
charging infrastructure and the roll-out
of new vehicles.
Including reporting and engagement
activities.

NCT Staff

Training from manufacturers
coordinated by NCT leadership
team.

Information on driving experience,
training requirements and key
milestones, including any depot
disruption and additional safety
considerations during installation.

Bus Users

Social media, press release local
media and radio, posters and leaflets
with distribution to include local
travel centres, local community
groups, council website

Focused on key milestones linked to
the roll-out of new EVs. Highlighting
the benefits of the fleet’s high
accessibility standards and AQ benefits
and forecast carbon reduction

Visually
impaired

Through disability inclusion groups,
social media, press release local
media and radio, local community
groups, council website

Focused on key milestones linked to
the roll-out of new EVs. Highlighting
the benefits of the fleet’s high
accessibility standards

Local schools
and colleges

Leaflets, social media, posters,
newsletters

Focused on key milestones linked to
the roll-out of new EVs. Highlighting
the benefits of the fleet’s high
accessibility standards and AQ benefits
and forecast carbon reduction

Local residents
and businesses

Press release, Council website, social
media, posters and leaflets
distributed along key bus routes
including health and community
centres

Focused on key milestones linked to
the roll-out of new EVs. Highlighting
the benefits of the fleet’s high
accessibility standards and AQ benefits
and forecast carbon reduction

Local Press and
Media

Publicity at key milestones, press
releases, editor briefings

Focused on key milestones linked to
the roll-out of new EVs. Highlighting
the benefits of the fleet’s high
accessibility standards and AQ benefits
and forecast carbon reduction

Public:

Page110254

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Risk Management
6.61

The management of risk is an essential part of NCCs programmes and project management
processes. The approach to managing risk is to establish an iterative and on-going cycle of
risk management activity, covering the identification, assessment, mitigation, reporting
(including escalation) and reviewing risk. Issues are to be recorded (utilising a Risks, Issues,
Actions and Decisions (RIAD) log shown in Appendix J) by the Programme Manager. The RAID
log includes the likelihood and severity of the risk, identifies a risk owner, how each risk will be
monitored and identified mitigation.

6.62

To support the effective management of risks, issues and opportunities, NCC uses a systematic
approach collecting a database for all risk information including risk mitigation actions, preand-post mitigation assessments, qualitative and quantitative cost, time and other impacts.

6.63

Going forward, the common principles of risk management will be followed:


Risks are identified and recorded;



Responsibility for risk management is assigned to the relevant party;



Risks are analysed and evaluated in terms of their likelihood and impact estimates. This
assessment covers – cost, schedule, reputation, and magnitude. This will be supported by
the regular production of quantitative risk assessments;



Relevant action is taken to mitigate, treat, or accept the risks; and



Risks are monitored and updated through project development.



An important principle is that the risk owner should be the person best able to manage
the risk. This is often the person, with the appropriate accountability, that is closest to the
risk. Where an individual does not have accountability, the risk will need to be escalated
and managed at a higher level. Risks may also require escalation if they cannot be resolved
within the delivery team or if the risk has wider impacts beyond the scope of the project
or programme area.

6.64

Risk escalation levels are shown below. Risks flow upwards from 1-4: The project at this stage
has not required formal or informal risk escalation to be required.
1. Project Manager;
2. Senior Responsible Owner and Scheme Sponsor;
3. Programme Board; and
4. Client Representative Level.

6.65

Once the scheme reaches the point of delivery, the project risk team will support the delivery
manager to ensure the most effective management of risk. The Risk Register will be in place

Page
111 255

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

by this point and NCCs team has a proven track-record of overseeing risk management activity
for all projects delivered by the organisation.
6.66

The Risk Manager assists the Project Manager in the co-ordination and facilitation of the Risk
Management process. The identified Risk Owner has the overall responsibility for managing
the overall risk and can suggest and implement mitigation measures. They will assign an Action
Owners to ensure that specific risk mitigation actions and activities deemed necessary are
implemented. Risk Owners are responsible for raising any need for support for the Action Plan
activities with the Risk Manager, Work stream Manager or overall Project Manager.

6.67

The general principal in risk management is that risks should be passed to the party best able
to manage them.

This project’s risks lie between NCC, Nottingham Transport and the

stakeholders and suppliers (contractors).

Monitoring and Evaluation
6.68

An outline evaluation plan is presented in this section. It is recognised that this will be codeveloped into a full evaluation plan with the DfT colleagues, post-funding award.

Project objectives
6.69

Our ZEBRA objectives have been developed in accordance with the national programme aims
and wider DfT priorities, as well as local strategies and policies. They are set out within the
Strategic Case and aim to:

6.70



Support the ambition of Nottingham’s Carbon Neutral Charter for 2028.



Improve local air quality.



Enhance operational efficiency of vehicle fleet.



Support local opportunities for jobs and skills.



Promote inclusive access to high quality bus services.

A logic diagram that links project objectives to outputs and shows existing monitoring /
evaluation processes for each output is included in Figure 6-4.

Page112256

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Figure 6-4: Logic diagram

Data requirements and collection
6.71

Table 6-8 sets out the monitoring data that will be employed to gather and report to be shared
with the Department on a quarterly basis and collated by the programme-level evaluator. Data
will be collected on a monthly basis and collated into quarterly and annual reports.

6.72

Baseline data on fleet performance will be gathered by NCT and NCC for the period up to the
operation of the new EV fleet. This will be used to provide an up-to-date picture of the metrics
before operation and allow evaluation of future data to be compared against the situation
without the scheme. A full year of data will enable evaluation to allow for seasonal differences
when reporting by month or quarter.

6.73

All required data will be reported to DfT in an electronic format, using a common format
such as CSV or Microsoft Excel.

Page
113 257

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Table 6-8: Data requirement and collection

Data to inform analysis of carbon
impacts

Scheme costs

ZEBs and charging
infrastructure outputs

Theme

Data Requirement

Collection Method / Data Source

Frequency

Number of ZEBs purchased

NCT procurement records / supplier invoice

At milestones

Number of ZEBs in operation

NCT operation records

At milestones

Number and type of internal combustion engine
(ICE) buses replaced

NCT fleet records

At milestones

Number (and capacity) of charging facilities
introduced

NCT procurement records / supplier invoice

At milestones

Performance of charging methodology (in-depot)

NCT procurement records / supplier invoice

Initially daily within
NCT, reported quarterly

DC charging

NCT procurement records / supplier invoice

At milestones

Purchase cost per ZEB

NCT procurement records / supplier invoice

At milestones

Purchase cost per equivalent ICE bus

NCT procurement records / past diesel
invoices

At milestones

Average operational cost (incl. maintenance and
infrastructure) per ZEB (£ per month)

NCT financial records

Monthly

Average operational cost (incl. maintenance and
infrastructure) per ICE (£ per month) (if ICE buses
operational in fleet)

NCT financial records (historical
comparisons) or comparative during EV rollout where single deck fleet is a mix

Monthly from past
records

Cost of electric fuelling infrastructure

NCT financial records

At milestones

Average daily ZEB mileage

NCT fleet records

Daily, reported annually
or as requested

Average daily ZEB energy consumption

NCT electricity usage / on board telematics

Daily, reported annually
or as requested

Average daily diesel mileage and fuel
consumption for each route (i.e. baseline /
comparator data)

NCT previous records (historical
comparisons)

Daily, reported annually
or as requested

Average ZEB well-to-wheel greenhouse gas
emissions

NCT / NCC calculations based on ZEB
operational mileage

Calculated annually, or
a requested

Average battery state of charge before / after
charging

NCT fleet records

Collected regularly,
reported quarterly

Time of day ZEB charged and electricity tariff
(including electricity generation source)

Electricity supplier information and
telematics information

Collected regularly,
reported quarterly

Resourcing and governance
6.74

Reporting will flow from the monthly project meetings through the governance structures set
out above. A monthly report will go to the NCC Project Management Office covering operation
costs, finance, carbon / air quality, passenger satisfaction reporting, with the intention being
to issue quarterly and annual reports based on that monthly reporting to the joint Nottingham
– Nottinghamshire Transport Delivery Board. These reports will also be issued to the NCT
Board for completeness

Page114258

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

Expected milestones
6.75

Co-design of monitoring and evaluation data capture using vehicle telematics and back-office
charging systems will be developed ahead of electric bus operations in September 2023. A
complete reporting mechanism and schedule will be agreed with NCT, NCC and DfT in line
with this also.

6.76

As set out in the Project Programme, formal monitoring and evaluation will take place quarterly
and annually from October 2023. This will be followed up with annual and three-yearly
consolidated monitoring and reporting.

Proposed evaluation approach
6.77

The logic map, above, provides a framework for evaluation as well as supporting the business
case. This approach is suited to the Nottingham ZEBRA programme as it provides an efficient
way for information to flow from the data source, to all stakeholders.

6.78

The indicators are designed to track progress towards the Nottingham ZEBRA Bid and wider
national ZEBRA programme objectives. The data will also be analysed with a view to assessing
the value for money of the scheme and are itemised and cross referenced to the relevant
objectives.

6.79

Such interventions are highly suited to Theoretical Evaluation approaches as they take into
account temporal contextual change, as well as allowing for causal attribution, i.e. they
demonstrate to what extent observed change is due to the implementation of an intervention
rather than exogenous factors. The suggested approach builds on the traditional application
of the ToC approach and enhances it by inserting individual mechanisms of change into the
logic maps at key points to explain why particular linkages occur. The ToC approach thus
identifies a theory of change for the intervention being evaluated, which will show each step
on the causal pathway from scheme implementation to the eventual desired impacts, and the
mechanisms explain how progress from one step to the next is to be achieved.

6.80

This evaluation approach provides a more detailed explanation of change. Contextual
differences could make exporting the approach more or less effective than that demonstrated
in Derby-Nottingham and thus, an understanding of the interaction of the mechanisms by
which change is achieved and the impact of context on their effectiveness, is crucial in the
design of future similar interventions.

6.81

The change observed in the indicators will be subject to further research to take into account
exogenous changes which could impact the ability of the package to meet its objectives and
thus to determine if the observed changes can truly be attributed to the ZEBRA fund. While
this will need to be considered more carefully in the evaluation plan and co-developed with

Page
115 259

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

the DfT, techniques that could be employed to achieve this with schemes of this nature are as
follows:


Quasi experimental approaches – indicators in the area subject to this scheme are
compared to those from other similar urban areas or other parts of the D2N2 area
isolated from the scheme.



Time series analysis – subject to data availability, it should be possible to use a simple
time series model to establish a statistical link between a relevant dependent variable
and other independent variables, including one which acts as an intervention variable.



Direct interview surveys of public transport users – to ask if they have changed
their travel behaviour over the evaluation period and why. This will be essential to
evidence improved access to employment and attribute any observed mode switch to
the scheme.



A comparison of actual change – as measured by wider transport trends, public
transport patronage, and other metrics that may be influenced by TCF programme
interventions, according to the logic map.

6.82

The evidence from one or more of the above research methods, together with the changes to
the indicators, will be triangulated to generate robust conclusions as to whether the package
has met its objectives, which will then be detailed in the quarterly and annual monitoring
reports.

Monitoring and evaluation internal resources and expertise
6.83

NCC will coordinate the monitoring and evaluation activities alongside colleagues at NCT. It
has a proven in-house monitoring and evaluation capability having been responsible for
numerous evaluation projects including two major evaluations for the Workplace Parking Levy
(WPL) and the Nottingham Ring Road Improvement Scheme (NRRIS).

6.84

The WPL evaluation was based around a hybrid Theory of Change/Realistic Evaluation
approach, but also used quasi experimental components and was conducted in partnership
with Loughborough University with oversight from the DfT. The NRIS evaluation conformed to
the DfT’s Standard Monitoring as mandated for schemes of this value and outlined in the 2012
DfT Guidance, Monitoring and Evaluation Framework for Local Authority Major Schemes,
published in September 2012.

6.85

Leading the coordination will be the Highway Metrics team with over 40 years’ experience in
delivering evaluations following both standard DfT guidance but also, in the case of the WPL,
producing high quality evaluation projects based on bespoke evaluation frameworks satisfying
academic standards of rigour.

Page116260

Nottingham City Council – Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA) – Phase 2 Business Case

6.86

An annual resource budget of £25,000 will be allocated to monitoring and evaluation. This
felt sufficient due to the sophisticated level of data that can now be provided by vehicle
telematics and back-office charging infrastructure systems, which can be easily analysed and
collated into any number of reporting templates. The Viriciti telematics system deployed in
Nottingham’s current electric bus fleet, for example, can provide a wealth of information and
reports on operations, emissions and energy usage (as shown in Figure 6-5).

Figure 6-5: Viriciti dashboard for in service electric bus 14 December 2021

Commitment to Department for Transport programme level monitoring and
evaluation
6.87

We are fully committed to participating in all Monitoring and Evaluation activity as required
by the Department of Transport and have a long track record of doing so in relation to previous
low and ultra –low emission bus funding awards. We will also fully engage with any DfT
information exchange forums and network and with other local transport authorities and
operators to share knowledge and experience to support the roll-out of zero emission bus
technology.

Page
117 261

7. Equality Impact Assessment Form
Document Control
Title:
If this is a budget EIA please ensure the title is the same as the title used within
the budget booklet

Zero Emission Regional Bus Areas (ZEBRA) – Electric Bus
Project

Page 262

Author:

Richard Wellings

Director:

Sajeeda Rose

Department:

Development and Growth

Service Area:

Transport Strategy, Major Projects

Contact details:
Strategic Budget EIA: Y/N

N

(Does this EIA have an impact on the budget)
If yes, please include the reference number
Exempt from publication: Y/N

N

(All EIAs are published on Nottingham Insight for public viewing unless specified.
Exemption criteria is available on the EIA section on the Intranet)

118

Document Amendment Record:
Version

Author

Date

Approved

V1-0

CP

January 2022

RW

Contributors/Reviewers (Anyone who has contributed to this document will need to be named):
Page 263

Name

Position

Date

Richard Wellings

Principal Public Transport Officer

Charlotte Perkins

Public Transport Operations Projects Support Officer

Glossary of Terms
Term

Description

Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas (ZEBRA)

Government Funding Scheme for Electric Buses

119

Summary and Aims
Nottingham City Council is currently bidding for circa £20m of funding to support the delivery of 78 electric buses and supporting infrastructure
across both Nottingham City Transport’s and Nottingham City Council’s bus fleets.
If the bid is successful, 78 electric buses will enter Nottingham City Transport’s commercial bus fleet, replacing all of the bus operator’s diesel
single decker buses. Electric bus charging infrastructure will be installed at the company’s Trent Bridge Depot to support the operation of the new
buses.
Improvements to the quality of public transport in Nottingham will support the delivery of equality outcomes. These will be delivered through
increased accessibility, improvements in the quality of transport to places of work and education, improvements in air quality for the citizens of
Nottingham, and will strongly support the Carbon Neutral Nottingham 2028 ambitions. The investment could also support strengthening
communities, sustainable town centres within the Greater Nottingham area, and connect disabled and isolated people.

Page 264

Information used to Analyse the Effects on Equality
A number of transport surveys carried out by the local authority have indicated support for the deployment of electric buses locally, citing
decarbonisation and improvements in air quality. The most recent survey carried out in relation to Nottingham’s Bus Service Improvement Plan
indicated that 61% of those surveyed supported the adoption of this technology a “great deal” or “to some extent.” Of those surveyed, 19%
considered themselves disabled, 8% BAME, 58% were women and 1% gender neutral with support for the technology from these respondents
slightly higher than overall average at 63%. Whilst this survey indicates some general support for electric buses from a number of impacted
groups, it is necessary to engage locally with groups such as the Disability Involvement Group (DIG) and representatives of the BAME and LGBTQ+
community to ensure any concerns or unrecognised impacts of the electric bus proposal will be captured. This will be achieved by engaging with
local stakeholders and citizen groups via Nottingham City Council’s Equalities team and the ZEBRA proposal will be added to upcoming meeting
agendas so it can be fully discussed.

120

More generally, there is also a wealth of published data available demonstrating the benefits for those experiencing health inequalities and
particularly respiratory illness that the move to electric vehicles and the resultant cleaner air deliver. This data echoes the benefits the technology
delivers in relation to decarbonisation and climate change for all citizens and the environment generally.
Investment in the buses will have wider benefits to the residents of Nottingham as a whole. As the local bus network recovers from the impact of
the Covid-19 pandemic over the next couple of years, the rollout of state of the art of the buses will act as an incentive to draw people back onto
public transport. Coupled with the operational cost savings that can be achieved through the operation of electric buses, the local bus network, its
commercial viability and access to jobs and opportunities for some of the city’s most vulnerable residents, will be protected further. Electric bus
rollout will also, due to operationally efficiencies, help to protect local jobs in the bus industry and foster new pathways to employment and skills
in relation to maintenance and operation of the technology.

Page 265

Relevant Research/Data
Age –
Nottingham City age group demographics:
•
•
•
•
•

Under 15 – 18.1%
16-24 – 21.7%
25-44 – 28.7%
45-59 – 15.6%
60+ - 15.9%

Older people are at a higher risk of poverty, which increases the likelihood of this age group travelling by bus. For example, in 2019, people in the
lowest real income quintile made more local bus trips on average than any other income quintile. Those in the highest income quintile made the
least number of local bus trips.

121

Car ownership in Nottingham is also significantly lower than the average in England, with the 2011 Census suggesting that only 43.7% of
households in the city have access to a car, compared to 25.8% in England. Car ownership is also particularly low amongst pensioners living alone
as well as lone parents. With car ownership or access to car low in the city, importance is placed upon buses to provide access to work and
education, and to limit levels of social isolation.
Disability –
In Nottingham City, 18.1% of people have long-term health problems that limit day-to-day activities. Data collected by Transport Statistics (2019)
found that people with a disability make fewer trips by car. Simultaneously, disabled people are also less likely to be a car driver, placing further
importance on accessible public transport to instil independence. Better employment outcomes for disabled people can also be achieved by the
provision of accessible buses.
Sex –

Page 266

The population of Nottingham City is comprised of 51% females and 49% males. Lone parents are predominantly female, which affects
socioeconomic status and access to their own cars. As previously mentioned, car ownership amongst lone parents tends to be low. There are also a
higher proportion of female carers when compared to male carers. This makes both pushchair and wheelchair spaces particularly relevant onboard buses.
With women more likely to report concerns for safety on public transport, CCTV will be installed as standard on all of the buses delivered within
this project. In a ‘Perception of Safety’ survey carried out by the council in 2020, 80% of respondents cited feeling safety as a result of the presence
of CCTV on-board buses in Nottingham. Of these respondents, 64% identified themselves as female.
Race –
27.2% of the total resident population of Nottingham belong to BAME communities. BAME groups more frequently face socioeconomic
disadvantages, which can correlate with living in more densely populated areas where air quality is poor. Densely populated areas could include St
Ann’s, The Meadows, Forest Fields and Hyson Green, where BAME communities represent 50.4%, 48.2%, 52.3% and 49.6% respectively. Some
proposed bus routes that would be electrified during the ZEBRA project operate through the aforementioned areas.

122

The ZEBRA project also has the potential to complement the BAME Inequalities place-based approach for Nottingham City. Within this placebased approach, there are ambitions to reduce health inequalities amongst BAME communities of Nottingham, some of which could arise as a
result of poorer air quality in some urban areas.
Gender Reassignment –
There is currently no robust data about the number of transgender people in the United Kingdom.
Religion or Belief –
In Nottingham City, the percentage of the population belonging to religious or spiritual belief groups are as follows: -

Page 267

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Christian – 44.2%
Buddhist – 0.4%
Hindu – 1.5%
Jewish – 0.3%
Muslim – 8.8%
Sikh – 1.4%
Other religion – 0.5%
No religion – 35%

Sexual Orientation –
Currently, there is no robust data about the number of LGB people in the UK. However, Stonewall estimates that one in 10 people identify as LGB.
Other evidence which might be relevant –
There is emerging evidence that suggests air pollution can be associated with poorer mental health conditions. This includes potential links
between air pollution exposure and increased rates of both depression and anxiety disorders.

123

Impacts and Actions
Could particularly benefit
X
People from different ethnic groups (race).
Men
Women
Trans people (gender reassigned)
Disabled people or carers.
Pregnancy/ Maternity

Page 268

People of different faiths/ beliefs and those with
none.
Lesbian, gay or bisexual people (sexual
orientation).
Older
Younger
Other (e.g. marriage/ civil partnership, looked
after children, cohesion/ good relations,
vulnerable children/ adults).
Please underline the group(s) /issue more
adversely affected or which benefits.

124

May adversely impact
X

No significant impact
X

Potential Positive Equality Impacts
In line with the ZEBRA funding requirements all of the buses procured will be expected to comply with the Bus and coach accessibility and the
Public Service Vehicle Accessibility Regulations (PSVAR) 2000. This compliance will ensure that all buses that are delivered as part of this project
will have:

Page 269










a space for a wheelchair with suitable safety provisions
a boarding device to enable wheelchair users to get on and off vehicles
a minimum number of priority seats on buses for disabled passengers
the size and height of steps handrails to assist disabled people
colour contrasting of features such as handrails and steps to help partially sighted people
easy to use bell pushes throughout
a bus audible and visual signals to stop a bus or to request a boarding
device equipment to display the route and destination

In addition, the PSVAR requires that bus drivers or conductors provide reasonable assistance to disabled people, including wheelchair users, to
board and alight. These requirements are incorporated within the existing bus partnership scheme, which governs bus services in Nottingham,
alongside a commitment by all bus operators to be fully trained to meet the needs of all passengers.
Young people –
The air quality gains realised by this implementation of the electric buses as part of a wider package of measures to support increased use of
public transport and improve Nottingham’s air quality are particularly beneficial to the young and old. Poor air quality is known to impact on lung
development of younger people.
Bus charging infrastructure implemented as part of this project will enable future further deployment of electric buses locally, which will extend the
benefits both to younger and older people as full electrification of the bus fleet locally is completed. The savings realised as a result of decreased
maintenance costs on the electric buses when compared to the previous diesel fleet will strengthen the viability of existing commercial services,
and enable Nottingham City Transport to sustain the connections that young people have to jobs and opportunities.

125

Young people under the age of 19 currently have access to cheaper fares, whether that be through season cards, pay-as-you-go cards or on-bus
tickets, directly from the operator or through the Robin Hood network. Through other work streams, the Council is working with operators on the
feasibility of introducing cheaper fares for young people under the age of 22, and the savings achieved through cheaper vehicle maintenance will
provide further momentum to this.
Older people –
People within this group may see benefits linked to improved air quality and subsequent improvement to lung function of older people,
particularly those with respiratory illness or asthma. Poor air quality has also been directly linked to Alzheimer’s.
Older people will also benefit from the on-board screens that show the next three bus stops, the audio stop announcements and on-board route
information. This will instil confidence into older users who may not have experience using the bus frequently, or lack confidence when travelling
alone.

Page 270

Women (particularly lone parents or carers) –
Safety provisions on the single deck electric buses will improve the confidence that women have to be able to use the bus. Reliable bus services
will also enable lone parents, who are statistically more likely to be women, to instil trust into the buses to take their children to school and travel
to their place of work.
Wheelchair spaces and other means of accessibility such as on-board departure screens and priority seats will positively impact female carers and
those who are in their care. These measures will make travelling on the bus to medical appointments, places of leisure and the shops easier.
The savings realised as a result of decreased maintenance costs on the electric buses when compared to the previous diesel fleet will strengthen
the viability of existing commercial services, and enable Nottingham City Transport to sustain the connections that women have to jobs and
opportunities.
Pregnancy/Maternity –
People within this group may experience benefits from the pushchair spaces on the buses, as well as the priority seats at the front of the vehicle
that are prioritised for those with limited mobility, which extends to those who are pregnant. For those who do not have access to a car, the bus
could provide vital links to medical appointments and healthcare facilities.
Disabled people or carers –

126

Disabled people and the people who care for them will benefit from the requirements of Bus and coach accessibility and the Public Service Vehicle
Accessibility Regulations (PSVAR) 2000. In addition to these measures, on-board screens showing the next three bus stops, and other on-board
route information will be of particular benefit to this group. The services that will be operating will also provide important links to medical
appointments, leisure facilities and allow for socialisation.
The savings realised as a result of decreased maintenance costs on the electric buses when compared to the previous diesel fleet will strengthen
the viability of existing commercial services in a post-Covid climate and enable Nottingham City Transport to sustain the connections that disabled
people have to jobs, opportunities and healthcare facilities.
Race –
Health inequalities amongst BAME communities that live in densely populated urban areas will improve following the reduction in air pollution
that will result from having cleaner, electric buses operating on the routes that serve these areas. Such benefits could include reduction in NOx and
PM pollutants that can have a significant impact on individuals living with asthma and other respiratory conditions.

Page 271

The introduction of electric buses to NCT’s fleet will result in decreased maintenance costs when compared to their current diesel fleets. The
savings realised by this will strengthen the viability of existing commercial services, particularly in a post-Covid climate where recovery of bus
patronage remains uncertain, and enable Nottingham City Transport to sustain the connections that all of the above groups have to jobs and
opportunities.

Potential Negative Equality Impacts
Disabled people or carers –
During consultation with Disabled Groups in the past in relation to previous implementation of electric buses, concerns have been raised
particularly in relation to the blind and hard of hearing. Particularly in regard to the reduced noise emitted by electric buses which may make it
more likely for people in these groups to be at risk of being involved with accidents with the new buses.

127

Mitigations to Negative Impacts
Disabled people or carers –
As part of current driver training packages, drivers are advised to pay special attention to those with sight and hearing dogs and canes given the
low noise of the buses. The council has operated its electric bus fleet since 2012 and there have been no recorded accidents with the visually or
hearing impaired. Nottingham City Council are committed to involving disabled communities at multiple stages of this project to better
understand the needs and preferences of disabled people. The council will also engage with stakeholders, including the Disability Inclusion Group
(DIG), about the use of an acoustic alert system and other measures to support mitigation such as activation at particular speeds and/or in
particular locations.

How the impact on equality will be monitored throughout the lifetime of the proposal
Page 272

Regular passenger surveys will be undertaken, and air quality and carbon saving data will be made publicly available to assess the impact of the
buses. Regular consultation with groups with protected characteristics will continue via Nottingham City Council’s equalities teams and their
scheduled meetings and existing relationships that public transport team has with the local Disability Involvement Group (DIG) will be maintained
to ensure any unforeseen issues that arise following roll-out are addressed in a timely fashion. Continuous evaluation and engagement with other
stakeholders will be maintained to ensure that any queries or concerns about the project are addressed quickly. Current information systems such
as complaints and feedback received through the council’s travel centre as well as through Nottingham City Transport’s travel centre will provide
crucial insight into the public’s opinion of the project as it is rolled out across the network.

Engagement with Stakeholders
At this stage, Nottingham City Council will contact key stakeholders, to explain the funding for which we are applying and that involvement from
groups would be appreciated to better understand the diverse preferences of stakeholders. Nottingham City Council already work closely with the
Disability Involvement Group (DIG) to identify any areas of concern with ongoing and upcoming projects. The same will take place with the ZEBRA
project.
Other stakeholders that Nottingham City Council will engage with and seek feedback from will include, but is not limited to:

128

Page 273

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Disability Nottinghamshire
My Sight Nottinghamshire
Reach Learning Disability
Nottingham BAME Counselling Hub
Nottingham Community and Voluntary Service
Turning Point Nottingham
Age UK Nottingham
BAME Climate Champions
LGBT+ Service Nottinghamshire
Notts LGBT+ Network
Nottingham Women’s Centre
Nottinghamshire Clubs for Young People
Nottinghamshire Women’s Aid

Outcome(s) of equality impact assessment:
No major change needed
Adverse impact but continue

Adjust the policy/proposal
Stop and remove the policy/proposal

Approved by (manager signature) and Date sent to equality team for publishing:
Approving Manager:
The assessment must be approved by the manager responsible for
the service/proposal. Include a contact tel & email to allow
citizen/stakeholder feedback on proposals.

Date sent for advice:
Send document or Link to:
equalities@ nottinghamcity.gov.uk

Approving Manager Signature:

Date of final approval:

129

Prepared by:

With support from:

January 2022

Page 274

Contents:
Part A: Greater Nottingham (Robin Hood Area) Enhanced Partnership Plan 2022/23-2032/33
1. Definitions…………………………………………………………………………..p.3
2. Introduction…………………………………………………………………………p.7
3. Extent of the Nottingham Enhanced Partnership………………………………p.9
4. Bus network overview……………………………………………………………..p.11
5. Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership Plan Objectives…………………p.31
6. Enhanced Partnership governance arrangements…………………………….p.37
7. Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variations
(For Area-Wide Facilities, Measures & Requirements)…………………………..p.44

Part B: Greater Nottingham (Robin Hood Area) Enhanced Partnership Scheme
1 - 2022/23-2027/28
8. Scheme Summary………………………………………………………………….p.46
9. Scheme Measures, Monitoring & BSIP Targets………………………………...p.47
10. Enhanced Partnership Scheme – Legal Definitions…………………………..p.49










Schedule 1 – Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership Scheme Area
Schedule 2 – Scheme Facilities, Measures and Requirements
Schedule 3 – Standards of Service
Schedule 4 – Local Services Excluded From The Scheme
Schedule 5 – Maintenance of Facilities
Schedule 6 – Bus Lanes Incorporated in the Enhanced Partnership Scheme
Schedule 7 – Affected Services
Schedule 8 – Enhanced Partnership Scheme Delivery Projects
Schedule 9 – Enhanced Partnership Scheme Operator Sign-Up Proforma

Appendices
Appendix 1 - Bus Stop Specification
Appendix 2 - Nottingham City and Beeston Town Centre Bus Stop Infrastructure
Appendix 3 - Slot Booking System
Appendix 4 - City Centre and Beeston Town Centre Stop Allocation System
Appendix 5 - Greater Nottingham Bus Passenger Charter
Appendix 6 - Bus Stop Infrastructure Outside Nottingham City and Beeston Town
Centre
1

Page 275

Appendix 7 – Robin Hood Marketing Group Terms of Reference

2

Page 276

Part A: Greater Nottingham (Robin Hood Area) Enhanced Partnership Plan (1
April 2022 – 31 March 2032)
The Nottingham City Council Enhanced Partnership Plan for buses is made in
accordance with section 138G(1) of the Transport Act 2000 by:
Nottingham City Council
1. Definitions
In this Enhanced Partnership Plan and any Schemes made pursuant to it, the
following terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them below:
1.

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

“bus stand clearway”

“bus stop”
“bus stop clearway”
“bus stop clearway
(regulated)
“bus stop clearway
(non-regulated)
“Commencement Date”

“Core Local Service”
“Complementary Local
Service”
“the Council”
“DDA”
“double stop” (regulated
or non regulated)
“Excluded Services”

shall mean a bus stop clearway as defined in accordance
with paragraph 1(a) of Part 1 to schedule 19 of The Traffic
Signs Regulations and General Directions 2002 but which
will permit a local bus to stand within the clearway for as
long a may be necessary up to a maximum period of 10
minutes.
means all bus stops within the Scheme Area, including bus
stand clearways and bus stop clearways;
shall have the meaning given to it paragraph 1(a) of Part 1
to Schedule 19 of the Traffic Signs Regulations and
General Directions 2002 (SI3113/2002);
shall mean a bus stop clearway as defined in Appendix 3
to the Scheme;
shall mean any bus stop clearway other than a bus stop
clearway (regulated);
means the date of commencement of the Scheme
pursuant to clause 2.1, or such later date as the Scheme
may commence following any postponement of the
Scheme under section 117 of the Transport Act 2000;
means a Local Service operating at a frequency of four or
more buses an hour between 0800 and 1800 Monday to
Friday;
means a Local Service other than a Core Local Service;

Nottingham City Council, Loxley House, Station Street,
Nottingham NG2 3NG;
means the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (as
amended) and “DDA compliant” shall be construed
accordingly;
shall mean a Double stop as defined in Appendix 3;
shall mean the category of Local Services listed in
Schedule 4;

3

Page 277

“Greater Nottingham
Bus Quality Partnership
Meeting”
“Local Service”
“NET”
“Non-Regulated” stop
“Regulated” Stop
“Scheme Area”
“Service Change Dates”

means the Greater Nottingham Bus Quality Partnership
Group, which meets quarterly each year in March, June,
September and December;
has the meaning set out in Section 2 of the Transport Act
1985, (but excluding any Excluded Services);
means Nottingham Express Transit;
shall mean a Non-Regulated Bus Stop as defined in
Appendix 3;
shall mean a Regulated Bus Stop as defined in Appendix
3;
means the area marked on the map at Schedule 1;

“TRO”
“1985 Act”

means the closest Sunday to the following: Last Sunday in January
 Sunday before May Day Bank Holiday
 End of School Summer Term
 Start of the new School Year
means the Slot Booking system which operators pursuant
to the Scheme are required to comply with pursuant to
Schedule 3 and Appendix 3 to the Scheme;
means an Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme made
pursuant to the provisions of Section 138A of the Transport
Act 2000 as amended;
means the standards of service set out in Schedule 3
(Standards);
has the meaning set out in Section 82(1) of the Public
Passenger Vehicles Act 1981. (For the purposes of this
Scheme this is the Traffic Commissioner for the North
Eastern Traffic Area);
means a Traffic Regulation Order;
Transport Act 1985

“2000 Act”

Transport Act 2000

“2017 Act”

Bus Services Act 2017

“Bus Operators (or
Operators)”

All Large Operators, Medium Operators and Small
Operators running Qualifying Bus Services taken
collectively.

“City Council”

Nottingham City Council

“County Council”
“Enhanced Partnership
Scheme Variation”

Nottinghamshire County Council
A formal variation of the relevant Enhanced Partnership
Scheme as a result of the voting mechanism set out in
section 7. Which will then constitute a formal variation of
the relevant scheme for the purposes of s.138E(1) of the
2000 Act.

“Slot Booking”
“Enhanced Partnership”
“Standards of Service”
“Traffic Commissioner”

4

Page 278

“Facilities”

Those facilities referred to in Schedule 2 which shall be
deemed such for the purposes of s.138D(1) of the 2000
Act.

“Greater Nottingham
Bus Partnership”

The committee of selected Nottingham Bus Operator
representatives, City and Council representatives and
responsible for formulating recommendations to be put
forward to the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership
Board and including specific Enhanced Partnership
Scheme Variations using the mechanism in section 7.

“Greater Nottingham
Enhanced Partnership
(or Enhanced
Partnership)”

The Enhanced Partnership covering the geographic
extent of the administrative of the “Robin Hood” travel
zone at Figure 1.

Greater Nottingham Bus The committee of all Greater Nottingham Bus Operators
Partnership Board
and City and County Councils responsible for making
decisions in relation to recommendations made by the
Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership (in line with the
Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership governance
arrangements).
Large, Medium or Small
Operator

Any single Bus Operator with registered commercial
mileage representing the following proportions of total
registered mileage for Qualifying Bus Services in the
Scheme Area will be classified as follows:
25%+: Large
15%-25%: Medium
0-15%: Small

Measures

Those measures referred to in Part B, sections 8 and/or 9
which shall be deemed as such for the purposes of
s.138D(2) of the 2000 Transport Act.

Non-qualifying Bus
Service

Services excluded from classification as Qualifying Bus
Services.

Qualifying Bus Service

A registered local bus service with one or more stopping
place within the geographical area of the Enhanced
Partnership, with the exception of:
• Any schools or works registered local bus service not
eligible for Bus Service Operators Grant
• Any cross-boundary registered local bus service with
less than 10% of its registered mileage within the
Enhanced Partnership area

5

Page 279

• Any services operated under section 22 of the 1985 Act
•Any registered local bus service which is an excursion or
tour
•Any other registered local bus service that the Operators
(through the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board
voting mechanism in section 7) and City and County
Councils decide should be excluded from all or specific
requirements of the Enhanced Partnership Scheme.

For the avoidance of doubt, a list of Qualifying Bus
Services will be published at the start of each City and
County Council financial year.
Requirements

Means those requirements placed upon Bus Operators to
the extent that the same operates Qualifying Bus
Services identified as such within Schedule 2 & 3 and
meeting the requirements of s.138C of 2000 Transport
Act.

Traffic Commissioner
Powers

‘Relevant registration functions’ of Traffic Commissioners
to the extent that they relate to a ‘relevant service’ both
within the meanings given to them under section 6G(10)
of the 1985 Act.

6

Page 280

2. Introduction
The City Council and bus operators in Greater Nottingham have been members of a
Advanced Quality Partnership Scheme (Formally known as a Statutory Quality
Partnership Scheme), for over 15 years with the County Council also present as a key
stakeholder. During this time, the partnership has delivered significant improvements,
which have raised the quality of bus services and passenger facilities in Greater
Nottingham and beyond, contributing to growth in patronage across the public
transport network (bus and tram) and maintaining Greater Nottingham’s position as a
national exemplar for public and private partnership working. Achievements, include
Robin Hood multi-operator smart ticketing, extensive roadside digital information
covering almost all bus stops in the city and extensive bus priority on all arterial routes.
Alongside early adoption of low and zero emission bus technologies including electric
and biomethane buses which have delivered a Euro VI or better bus fleet in the city
centre since 2021, making a significant contribution to improving air quality and
Nottingham’s ambition to be carbon neutral by 2028.

Following new powers introduced by the 2000 Act (as amended by the 2017 Act), the
requirement for all Local Transport Authorities (LTAs) to produce a Bus Service
Improvement Plan (BSIP), alongside the attachment of both covid recovery funding
and future government infrastructure and revenue funding to the implementation of an
Enhanced Partnership Scheme. The City and County Councils in partnership with local
bus operators have agreed to an evolution of the current partnership arrangement into
an Enhanced Partnership which will extend beyond the city core into Greater
Nottingham and will offer benefits to the travelling public and wider community which
could not be achieved with the current Status Quo.
The principal objectives reflect those contained in the Greater Nottingham Bus
Service Improvement Plan is as follows:


Maintenance of pre-covid high frequency level of services and accessibility
across the bus network



Roll-out of further bus priority across the network ensuring buses have
priority over inefficient transport modes



Delivery of measures to address operator pinchpoints on the network.



Upgrades to the existing real time information estate



Improvements to bus stop waiting infrastructure in district centres



Roll-out of the new smart ticketing and contactless payment products



Bus station and interchange improvements



Extension of camera enforcement, traffic regulation orders and new red
routes



Delivery of an enhanced Robin Hood Network marketing campaign
7

Page 281



Deliver “Levelling Up” through better access to jobs and opportunities



Support the governments Transport Decarbonisation plan at a local level

The Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership will supersede the existing Advanced
Quality partnership and acquires substantially greater legal status. Benefits include
the enhancement of quality standards, for the benefit of passengers and access to
funding for investment in public transport-related projects and activities which might
not otherwise be available.
The Greater Nottingham Bus Service Improvement Plan, taken together with this
Nottingham Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme, will make a substantial
contribution to the implementation of Local Transport Plan policies. It will bring benefits
to passengers using local bus services in Greater Nottingham by improving the quality
and efficiency of the public transport network and support the efficient use of the road
network and the delivery of sustainable growth, limiting the impacts of additional traffic
congestion, air pollution and carbon emissions.
Drawing on the Greater Nottingham Bus Service Improvement Plan and City and
County Council Local Transport Plans, this document fulfils the statutory
requirements of an Enhanced Partnership as set out in the 2000 Act (as amended),
including:
• A map of the geographical area it covers
• All the relevant factors that the parties consider will affect, or have the potential to
affect, the local bus market over the life of the plan
• A summary of any available information on passengers' experiences of using bus
services in the area and the priorities of users and non-users for improving them
• A summary of any available data on trends in bus journey speeds and the impact of
congestion on local bus services
• What outcomes need to be delivered to improve local bus services in the plan area
• What overall interventions the partnership believes need to be taken to deliver
those outcomes.
2.3 The Competitions and Markets Authority has also been consulted on the proposals
as required by section 138F of the 2000 Act.

8

Page 282

3. Extent of the Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership
The Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership in line with the Greater Nottingham
Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) will cover the geography of the existing Robin
Hood Ticketing Area and incorporate the entire Nottingham City Council Local
Transport Authority Area alongside a number of urban areas that sit within the
Nottinghamshire County Council Local Transport Authority Area, as illustrated in the
map below.

Figure 1. Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership Scheme Area

9

Page 283

This Enhanced Partnership Plan will be in place for 10 years from adoption (1 April
2022 to 31 March 2032). Enhanced Partnership Scheme 1 will be in place for 5 years
from adoption (1 April 2022 to 31 March 2027). A full review of the effectiveness of the
Enhanced Partnership Plan (including its extent, objectives and partnership
governance) and Scheme 1 (including measures and facilities provided, and
requirements imposed) and compliance of both with competition legislation will take
place during the 12 months prior to 31 March 2027, recommending changes to the
Enhanced Partnership Plan and details of an Enhanced Partnership Scheme 2 for
adoption from 1 April 2027 using the scheme variation mechanism in section 7.

10

Page 284

4. Bus network overview
Around 97% of Nottingham’s current bus network is operated by commercial services,
with Nottingham City Transport (the dominant urban operator) having a market share
in patronage terms of 85% (71% of mileage operated), trentbarton (18% of mileage
operated) (the key inter-urban operator) and others including Stagecoach, Marshalls,
CT4N and Centrebus operate the remaining 12% of commercial bus services. The
remaining 3% of the network is run under tendered contracts, with financial support,
service specification and fares determined by the City and County Councils under the
linkbus and NottsConnect brands. The Easylink dial-a-ride service is also supported
by the two local transport authorities.
There is a limited suburban rail network but the bus network is complemented by a
fully integrated tram system with 3 routes which prior to the pandemic carried just
under 20 million passengers a year. The local public transport network is supported
by two bus and 6 tram-based park and ride sites. With a new bus park and ride site
and expanded existing tram site to the north of the city planned as part of the
transforming cities programme. The alignment of the BSIP against the Robin Hood
Ticketing Area ensures that the Greater Nottingham conurbation is incorporated in one
plan, covering the “Robin Hood Network” and ensures that the logical travel to work
area for urban bus services is packaged together in an Improvement Plan that reflects
how the current bus network operates and how passengers use the bus system locally.
The area covered by this Enhanced Partnership Plan outside of the city of Nottingham
falls wholly within Nottinghamshire and Nottinghamshire County Council has been
integral to its development and ensuring compatibility and coordination with the BSIP
being produced for the rest of Nottinghamshire.
Demographics
Nottingham
The population of Greater Nottingham is estimated as 505,207 (based on a 2019
estimate from Nomis). Nottingham City ranks 11th most deprived out of 317 districts
in England. Of the total population of Nottingham City 13% of people are over the age
of 65, which is 5% lower than the UK national average, which is not too surprising
given the city -focus. 30% of the population are aged 18 to 29; full-time university
students comprise around 1 in 8 of the population. Despite its young age-structure,
Nottingham has a higher than average rate of people with a limiting long-term illness
or disability.
Nottinghamshire
The county of Nottinghamshire ranks 9 out of 26 shire counties in England (with 1
being the most deprived). Between 2015 and 2019 it changed ranks by -2, indicating
that it is in the lower half of deprived counties, and that it is falling behind other counties
in recent years. The average unemployment rate is 5.2% in Nottinghamshire (0.6%
higher than national average), with 25-49 year olds having an unemployment rate of
6.2% (1.6% higher than the national average). It is also an aging county, where the
number of people over 65 years old is 3% higher than the national average. The
11

Page 285

average salary in Nottinghamshire ranges between £28.6k and £37.0k across the
districts compared to a national average of £38.6k. In terms of car ownership 20.9%
have no access to a car or van (4.9% lower than the national average), 43.4% have
access to one car or van (1.2% higher than the national average), 28.1% have access
to 2 cars or vans (3.4% higher than the national average) and 7.7% had access to
three or more (0.2% lower than the national average). So in summary, car ownership
is higher than the national average overall, with disparity between different areas.

As of September 2021, Nottingham City has 15,982 unemployed people, with the
highest affected age group being 25-49. The unemployment rate is 6.9% compared to
the national average of 4.6%.
In terms of car ownership, 56.3% of households have access to a car or van compared
to nationally, where just under three quarters of households have access to a car or
van.
Levelling Up
Nottingham
The delivery of this plan and the improvements to bus services it will facilitate are key
to delivering the Levelling Up agenda locally in Nottingham, which has identified the
city as a priority one area.
The figure below shows that over half (57.2%) of the city’s Local Super Output Areas
(LSOAs) fall into the lowest IMD quintile (lowest 20%) for the whole of England, and
less than one-in-ten (8%) of Nottingham’s LSOAs are in the top quintile (top 20%).
Index of Multiple Deprivation for Nottingham

Source: https://www.nottinghaminsight.org.uk/themes/deprivation-and-poverty/indices-of-deprivation-2019/

12

Page 286

While these trends are comparable with a number of other East Midlands’ cities, and
also reflect Nottingham City’s tightly drawn administrative boundary, they underline
the critical importance of levelling-up the local economy and providing access to
employment and education opportunities for Nottingham’s residents through
Nottinghamshire
With a low Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) ranking, higher unemployment, and
lower salaries than the national average, Nottinghamshire requires some ‘Levelling
Up’. The delivery of this plan and the improvements to buses it will facilitate, are key
to delivering the Levelling Up agenda locally in Nottinghamshire, improving access to
employment and access to wider opportunities. A report by Onward concludes that
“Broken transport networks have a ‘crippling effect’ on access to jobs.” It shows that
chronic transport connectivity puts employment opportunities out of reach and
describes the “shocking transport gap” between North and South. This undermines
wages, reduces regional productivity, and leads to worse social outcomes. Therefore,
improving connectivity between city centres and outlying towns, will be key to the
success of levelling up economic opportunity.
What do people think about buses in Greater Nottingham?
An online survey was undertaken during July and August 2021 to gather opinions from
both users and non-users of buses in Greater Nottingham as to how bus services
could be improved in order to attract more passenger trips. The data was split to only
include those residents within the confines of this BSIP area and attracted 1,720
responses, spanning both users and non-users.
65% of respondents used the bus 2 days or more a week, and the most common
reasons for bus travel were for social activities and shopping. People choose to use
the car over the bus mainly because the car is more convenient; and the car is
significantly quicker than the bus. 76% of respondents who use the car said it was
easy or fairly easy to park their car.
When asked what improvements would make them use the bus at all/more, the key
issues identified were:
•

Better bus stops and shelters (78%) and improved bus information (71%)

•
More frequent services (70%) to more destinations (72%), with better
connections between services (71%)
•
Multi operator ticketing (76%) to make it easier to transfer between services,
along with lower fares (72%) and contactless payment (71%); and
•

Reduced delays (71%)

Additionally, surveys undertaken by Transport Focus also show that satisfaction
across a range of factors is already higher than the national average for the main
operator, Nottingham City Transport compared to other operators nationwide, and this
has consistently been the case over the last 5 years (currently standing at overall
satisfaction of 94% against other operators’ scores ranging between 71% and 97%).
13

Page 287

Bus Network Integration and Bus Priority
Nottingham City Transport (NCT) is the main bus operator in Greater Nottingham,
accounting for 85% of the market. Other operators serving the area include trentbarton
(12%), with Stagecoach, CT4N, Marshalls and Centrebus and Nottingham City &
County Council (tendered services) making up the remaining 3% of the market. There
is also an ‘Easylink’ service operated by CT4N across the City (funded jointly, and
open to registered users and Concessionary pass holders.) which is a traditional diala-ride service and is complementary to the public transport offer but not fully integrated
in to the Robin Hood Multi-Operator ticketing offer. There are also a number of
Community Transport/Voluntary Car Schemes within the conurbation for registered
users. They are Rushcliffe CVS, Gedling Voluntary Travel Scheme and The Helpful
Bureau.

14

Page 288

The map below shows the extent of the network, highlighting the hourly link frequency
at the AM peak, showing the combined frequency of bus services along each road,
regardless of service or operator.

15

Page 289

These services complement the rail and tram network, and there is good coordination
of services at key interchange points. The map below shows the key interchange
points in the area.

16

Page 290

The area is currently well-served by bus, with 77% of the population within 400m
of a frequent (10 minutes or more) bus service during the weekday. 53% of the
population live within 400m of a 15-minute frequency service in the weekday
evening, and 63% live within 400m of a 15-minute frequency service on a
Sunday. These are illustrated below.

17

Page 291

18

Page 292

The percentage of population within 400m access to these services is set out in
the table below.
Population (2019
Estimate)

% of Population
with access

Weekday morning

10min

387,698

76.7%

Weekday evening

15min

269,049

53.3%

Sunday

15min

316,521

62.7%

19

Page 293

There are 26km of bus lanes in the area, (with a further 2km planned as part of the
current Transforming Cities programme) illustrated in the map below. Each of these
sections of bus lanes has encountered challenges of infringements by private cars,
and some are only operating during restricted hours.

Map showing bus lanes in Nottingham City

20

Page 294

Map showing bus lanes in Nottinghamshire County (within Greater
Nottingham BSIP)

Nottingham City and Nottinghamshire County Councils, in partnership with
Nottingham City Transport, were early adopters of Traffic Light Priority (TLP),
deploying fixed units at six Scoot junctions in 2011 that communicated with on-board
radios and delivered a material improvement in bus reliability. Investment in 71
junctions within Greater Nottingham followed, giving the region one of the largest TLP
networks outside of London. Seeking to extend the benefit of TLP to other bus
operators, Transforming Cities has delivered a centralised TLP system that will not
only roll out TLP to more junctions at lower cost, but also deliver the benefits to buses
operating in Derby and Derbyshire as part of a D2N2 regional system.

21

Page 295

Passenger information
Operators in the Greater Nottingham area provide information through their own
websites, social media, and apps including: Journey planning; Route maps;
Timetables; Real-time information; Service disruption updates; and Journey capacity.
Nottingham City Council also provides a consolidated journey planning and travel
information service for Greater Nottingham via the Transport Nottingham website, and
the Robin Hood network also provides details on services, routes, fares and ticketing.
Travel Information Centres are also located within the City to allow face to face
customer interaction and access to printed and online materials and tickets.
Timetables and integrated maps are also provided through individual operators and
the Robin Hood marketing group. The City coordinates the printing of information
materials for distribution to outlets across the area (e.g. libraries, bus stations, local
centres etc.). Operators provide and install information at bus stops for their own
individual services.
Although Nottingham is characterised by high quality information for bus passengers,
there is always a need to continuously improve, with the ambition to further improve
the bus stop and waiting environments in district centres, and the development of
mobility hubs to allow better and more seamless transfer between modes.
Marketing of the Robin Hood Card is agreed jointly between the Council’s and
operators, but otherwise the partners approach marketing in different ways and to
different degrees. Although there are some good examples of marketing initiatives,
such targeted marketing/promotion campaigns including ticketing offers for specific
services or user-groups, there is no Greater Nottingham-wide approach to marketing
at present.
There are currently around 1,500 RTPI screens at stops across the BSIP area –
which is roughly 60% of all stops.

The City Council has sought to consider its Local Transport Plan, Nottingham Bus
Strategy, Transforming Cities Programme and this accompanying Greater Nottingham
Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme, all relevant factors that it and those parties
consulted considered will affect, or have the potential to affect, the local bus market
over the life of these plans.
The City Council also considered the bus registration information it manages in its
policy development. In summary these factors are:
• Congestion and the impact of significant planned housing growth and travel
demand, and its relationship with nationally declining bus usage
• The statutory framework and de-regulated bus market in England outside London,
with the involvement of many Operators and authorities in commercially operated
and contracted bus services
• Nottingham City Council’s Local Transport Plan and the existing Nottingham
Advanced Quality Partnership Scheme and Bus Partnership
22

Page 296

• New mobility services, technology and air quality and the city of Nottingham’s
Carbon Neutral by 2028 ambition.
The City Council and Bus Operators strive to engage with bus passengers through
bus user groups who are represented in the existing bus quality partnership and
comprehensive passenger surveys delivered by the individual partnership members
and wider transport focus surveys. Bus passengers and user groups have been
consulted during preparation of and throughout implementation (including during the
reviews mentioned in 3.3) of the Enhanced Partnership. Passenger surveys including
participation in the national Transport Focus annual bus user survey, and monitoring
data associated with the Nottingham Bus Strategy and Enhanced Partnership Plan
and Scheme, will be used to evaluate the success of the partnership as it is
implemented to inform reviews. It will also be necessary to further consult the public,
in line with usual procedures, on specific proposals which are taken forward (for
example changes to highway infrastructure) in accordance with these proposals.
Patronage and Congestion Trends
For over 15 years Greater Nottingham has been working towards providing a low
emission, high quality, integrated, attractive, and affordable public transport system.
The successful public transport network pre-pandemic carried 83 million passengers
a year across Greater Nottingham and 62 million in the city of Nottingham itself
(Nottingham City Council, 2019). Since 2003 the number of passengers has increased
significantly and unlike many other UK cities, growth in bus use has been delivered,
reflecting the high standards of quality and high levels of passenger satisfaction.
Nottingham’s tram network has also been heralded as one of the most successful light
rail project in the country, carrying nearly 20 million on 3 routes. This is of course set
in the context of a limited suburban heavy rail network within the Greater Nottingham
area, but is still a significant achievement.

23

Page 297

Whilst England saw a decrease in patronage of 12% between 2007/8 and
2018/19, patronage on Nottingham’s bus and tram network saw an increase in
patronage of 9% (bus patronage alone only decreased 2% during this time,
mainly through the introduction of the tram and transference of passengers).
As witnessed across the UK, the Covid pandemic and associated government
guidance and social distancing has had a large impact on bus patronage. On
average, services lost 65% of their patronage during 2020/21 compared to
2019/20. City centres have been impacted more due to changing retail behaviour
and the number of office commuters who have been working from home; a blend
of home and office working is likely to continue which is likely to impact on
patronage in the future. In addition, Concessionary pass holders are not
travelling as much as they did pre-pandemic (currently at around 50% of prepandemic levels), and travel patterns in general will have changed indefinitely.
As such, it is unlikely, that patronage will return to pre-pandemic levels in the
near future. As of October 2021, patronage is around 75% of pre-pandemic
levels.

24

Page 298

Congestion, traffic levels and average speed.
The maps below show the average traffic speed, and the traffic levels, on key links in
the Greater Nottingham area; and the areas where buses encounter reliability
problems. Particularly congested “hotspot” or unreliable areas where bus priority
improvements have been identified include:


Mansfield Road, junction with Forest Road



Hucknall Road, junction with Arnold Road



Edwards Lane, junction with Oxclose Lane (inbound)



Edwards Lane, junction with Oxclose Lane (outbound)



Moor Bridge

With extended priority also required along the following corridors necessary to address
wider network congestion issues:


A52 – Derby Road (Priory island link)



A52 West Bridgford



A60 - Nottingham Railway Station to Central Avenue, West Bridgford



A60 – Mansfield Road – Front Street Arnold



Upper Parliament Street to Victoria Centre



A609 – Ilkeston Road to Wollaton Road



Edwards Lane



Hucknall Road

Traffic congestion in Nottingham increased between 2011 and 2014 and has since
largely been constrained, while overall traffic flow has, despite annual variations of
around +/- 1.75% remained around 916 million vehicle km pa between 2011 and 2019
(due to lockdowns the traffic levels fell considerably during 2020). Although congestion
has in broad terms been kept from growing, it still creates a strain on the road network.
Both Nottingham and Nottinghamshire have a street works permit system in place
which prevents unplanned works and imposes penalties on contractors who overrun
allotted works schedules.

25

Page 299

26

Page 300

The map below shows the main pinch-points for buses within the Greater
Nottingham area.

Congestion has had a negative impact on the operation of services over the
years, leading to increased journey times for the passenger and the need for
additional vehicles to be utilised, simply to maintain the existing frequency, for
example:
-

The running time for the Threes service along the A60 has increased by 26%
since 2009, and requires an additional 1PVR to maintain the timetable.

27

Page 301

-

Journey time has increased by 18% on the Rainbow 1 service, and current
punctuality is 61.8%. An additional 6 vehicles are required to maintain
reliability on this service and service 9 combined, costing approximately
£900k per year to operate.

-

NCT has added in additional vehicle resources on services 44, 45, 46, 47 and
58 to accommodate the longer journey times experienced in these areas at
peak times, costing an additional £520k per annum

The existing AQPS has provided an effective forum for allowing operators and the
authority to share experiences and concerns, and to jointly address identified
congestion hotspots with targeted bus priority improvements. As this forum will
continue under the new Enhanced Partnership arrangements
In addition to the traffic currently, more trips will be added to the network in response
to the high level of development planned in the area, the location and size of which
are illustrated below. Although S106 monies will be used to mitigate this impact, wider
measures will be required to support bus priority measures across broader corridors,
and hence make bus more attractive for new residents.

Fares and Ticketing Offer
A report by TAS Partnership, setting out the findings of a national fares survey
undertaken in 2019 shows that the average single fare in Great Britain is £2.48 (£2.45
in urban East Midlands; £2.62 in rural East Midlands); average day fare is £5.21 (£5.92
in urban East Midlands; £6.93 in rural East Midlands); and average weekly fare is
£18.03 (£21.49 in urban East Midlands; £23.48 in rural East Midlands).
Single fares vary within the Greater Nottingham area, given the varying lengths of
route, ranging from a flat £2.30 on NCT, to variable singles based on route length on
Stagecoach (Nottingham to Arnold is £2.20) and Trentbarton services. Network and
day caps vary from a cap of £4.20 on NCT services, to a cap between £6.60 - £10.10
on a Trentbarton service, depending on the time of day, and area, as these fares are
calculated using a tap on tap off (TOTO) system, and £7.20 for a Stagecoach network
ticket.
The Robin Hood multi-operator, multi-modal ticketing scheme enables travel on all
operators across Greater Nottingham. A day cap of £4.80 is available for adults. Paper
day tickets, ITSO smart season cards and Pay as You Go (ITSO) with complex single
and multi-operator day capping provide a comprehensive range of travel products to
cater for most travel needs for adults, under 19’s and students. In addition to this,
Nottingham contactless will offer multi operator capping from November 2021. The
multi-operator offer broadly mirrors the commercial offer, however, there are some
areas of inconsistency and elements of the scheme which require improvement:
•
Not all operators in Greater Nottingham are involved in all areas of the scheme
– most (but not all) bus operators sell and accept paper day tickets and smart season
28

Page 302

cards, but fewer operators are involved in the Pay as You Go scheme, and fewer still
in Nottingham Contactless.
•
The Robin Hood pricing mechanism leads to wide ranging premium differential
across the product range compared to commercial operator prices. Some prices are
higher than they should be, while other prices are lower than they should be, including
undercutting a very small number of commercial operator prices for the equivalent
product.
A range of tickets are available by different operators, focussed on attracting different
markets according to the types of service they operate. Different products cater for
different demographics, travelling at different frequencies.
Although there is some consistency in tickets across the main operators, for instance,
Robin Hood, NCT, TB and CT4N all offer U19 tickets, different operators offer different
discounts. For instance, under 19 ticket discounts range from 23% - 50% off the cost
of an adult equivalent ticket; student ticket discounts range from 10% - 20% off the
cost of an adult equivalent ticket. Some day tickets are available for 24 hours from
purchase, others available for the day of purchase only.
Tickets are available for purchase on-bus; on-line; and via apps for the main operators
(NCT; trentbarton; Stagecoach; CT4N and Robin Hood). Contactless payment is
available on all services, although the type of contactless payment differs. Some offer
retail transactions (old school Model 1) only, while others offer a tap and cap model
(old school Model 2) with single operator day capping in an Account Based Ticketing
(ABT) environment. Multi-operator contactless ticketing across bus and tram is due to
go live in November 2021. However, although available, there are some restrictions to
the use of contactless, where some operators restrict the type of ticket which can be
purchased via contactless, others have a daily spending cap on contactless payments.

Increased congestion results in reduced reliability and punctuality, and increased
journey times require increased resources to maintain a high frequency network.
In the view of the City and County Council, the above evidence, taken together with
the Bus Service Improvement Plan Objectives, makes a compelling case for
strengthening the existing Advanced Quality Partnership Scheme. Using statutory
Enhanced Partnership powers, the City Council and the Bus Operators will work
together to identify and implement schemes designed to reduce journey times and
increase reliability, as well as undertake other activity to increase the attractiveness of
local bus services.
These initiatives are intended to stabilise and grow the market for commercial bus
services in Nottingham by encouraging modal shift from the private car. It will not be
acceptable in environmental, social or economic terms to sustain the substantial
planned population growth in Nottingham through continued car reliance. Increased
use of the bus network will contribute significantly to mitigate and reduce this effect as
well continued investment in the tram and active travel.

29

Page 303

30

Page 304

5. Nottingham Enhanced Partnership Plan Objectives
The Nottingham Enhanced Partnership Plan has the following objectives, which align
with the Greater Nottingham Bus Service Improvement Plan:
Table 1: Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership

Bus Service Improvement Plan
Objectives
Approach
1.

Maintenance of pre-covid high
frequency level of services and
accessibility across the bus
network







2.

Roll-out of further bus priority
across the network ensuring
buses have priority over
inefficient transport modes and
address operator pinch points

Support the network as it
recovers from the pandemic
through revenue support until it
reaches full commercial
sustainability
Introduce bus shelters and/or
upgrade bus shelters to common
standards at bus stop locations
Maintain existing interchange
provision and explore potential
sites for new interchanges across
the Greater Nottingham network
Develop business cases to
convert comprehensive bus
priority on all arterial corridors
into Bus Rapid Transit style
routes. With the aim of delivering
new bus priority on the following
corridors:
o A52 – Derby Road (Priory
island link)
o A52 West Bridgford
o A60 - Nottingham Railway
Station to Central Avenue,
West Bridgford
o A60 – Mansfield Road –
Front Street Arnold
o Upper Parliament Street to
Victoria Centre

31

Page 305

o A609 – Ilkeston Road to
Wollaton Road
o Edwards Lane
o Hucknall Road
Extend traffic light priority for late
running buses
Review of Permit Schemes to
minimise network disruption
Identification of pinch points not
picked up by existing projects
Roll-out and extension of yellow
box enforcement using new
powers
Review of Bus Lane operational
times to reflect new travel
patterns
Camera enforcement of Bus Stop
Traffic Regulation Orders and
bus stop clearways (in the
conurbation) at key locations
Investment in staff resource to
improve enforcement of bus stop
clearways.
Engage with relevant partners to
review loading restrictions to
minimise impact on buses and
investigate the potential to
implement red routes.
Review on-street parking,
particularly in district centres that
impacts negatively on efficient
bus operations.

4.

Upgrades to the existing real
time information estate

Upgrade LED Displays to TfTs on
key corridors into Nottingham City
Centre.

32

Page 306

Provide Realtime displays at all
stops within Greater Nottingham.

Formalise digital passenger
transport control hub that oversees
the provision of AVL-TLP and
RTPI services and distribution of
bus service data across
Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire.
5.

Improvements to bus stop
waiting infrastructure in district
centres

Upgrade to shelters in district
centres to include green roofs, off
grid power and PV glass.

Ensure all district centres are
well connected and integrated (
with mobility hubs comprising:
bus, tram, train, cycle, walk, emobility).

Improved lighting and CCTV
safety measures at stops and
review of safety guidelines for
stop design included in LTA
street design guides.

6.

Continued development of the
Robin Hood App (Journey
Planner and Ticketing) to support
seamless journeys.

Roll-out of the new smart
ticketing and contactless
payment products

Introduction of new fare products
Integration of init and ticketer
contactless payment system via
new national back-office
33

Page 307

(NB. Cash payment options will
be retained for the lifetime of this
plan)
7.

Delivery of world class bus
interchange for Bulwell.

Bus station and interchange
improvements

8.

Extension of camera
enforcement, traffic regulation
orders and new red routes

9.

Delivery of an enhanced Robin
Hood Network marketing
campaign

Improvement to Passenger
waiting facilities at Victoria Bus
Station.
Deployment of additional and
upgrade of camera enforcement
along with new TROs and red
route at hotspot locations
following a full review of the
Greater Nottingham network.
A refresh of the Robin Hood
Network Marketing Plan and
additional resource to heighten
levels of activity as part of the
recovery from the pandemic.
Standardisation of maps and
promotional information at all
stops in the Greater Nottingham
Area with the Robin Hood Brand.
Upgrade of bus stop flags and
bus stops in Nottinghamshire to
the Robin Hood specification.
Greater use of the new TFT bus
stop displays to market the
Robin Hood Network offer.
Inclusion of up to date
timetables at every stop
alongside fares info and network
connection info at all major
stops.

34

Page 308

10.

Help deliver the governments
Transport Decarbonisation plan

Work with local operators and
government to deliver 167
Electric buses and 60 Hydrogen
Buses.
Agree with local bus operators
that from 2030, all new bus
purchases, will be Zero Emission.

Deliver “Levelling Up” through
better access to jobs and
opportunities

11.

Provide an enhanced Jobseekers
travel scheme across Greater
Nottingham and Mobility Card
scheme in the city of Nottingham.

The objectives and approach of the Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership Plan
have been selected to achieve the following outcomes for passengers:
1. Increases in bus priority both digital and physical.
2. “Turn-up and go” reliable bus frequencies that keep running into the evenings and
weekends on main corridors.
3. Fully integrated services with simple multi-modal ticketing across bus and tram.
4. High quality information for all passengers in more places.
5. Genuine passenger engagement.
6. Year on year passenger growth.

- Objective 1 will improve bus journey times, improve reliability and enable
operators to maximise the efficient us of their operational resource.
-

-

Objective 2 will make bus travel attractive and competitive with other modes
by providing good connectivity and reduced passenger dwell time at stops at
interchanges.
Objective 3 will make the network simpler to use and understand and extend
the range of travel options open to passengers.
Objective 4 will make the network more coherent and simpler to use through
harnessing the power of modern technology.
Objective 5 will increase passenger ownership of the network and support its
future development.
Objective 6 will support the long term sustainability of the network and support
operator and local transport authority investment in the network.
35

Page 309

Funding arrangements
The Enhanced Partnership will draw on multiple funding sources to deliver the
desired outcomes of the Enhanced Partnership Scheme:
•
•
•
•
•

City and County Council capital funding
City and County Council revenue funding
Developer contributions
Reinvestment of operator revenue generated by schemes
Other external funding opportunities i.e. Transforming Cities Programme,
Bus Service Improvement Plan fund, Zero Emission Bus Regional Areas

36

Page 310

6. Enhanced Partnership governance arrangements
For decision-making purposes, the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership will be
governed by 3 bodies:
a) Great Nottingham Bus Partnership– Independently chaired and in which all
Operators will be entitled to participate and be invited, but attendance will be voluntary.
b) Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board - With the mandate to take decisions
using the Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variation mechanism (Section 7) on issues
put to them by the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership, and other issues identified as
being relevant to partnership delivery. Will report to the Joint Nottingham –
Nottinghamshire Transport and Planning Advisory Board.
c) Joint Nottingham – Nottinghamshire Transport and Planning Advisory Board – Will
monitor and have oversight of the work of the Greater Nottingham Enhanced
Partnership Board, be the accountable body for all funding decisions and ratify all
decisions and recommendations made in relation to partnership delivery.
The Robin Hood Marketing Group will also make recommendations to the partnership
and board in relation to the Marketing of Network, particularly in relation to the multioperator ticketing offer. See appendix 7 for its Terms of Reference.

Summary of Governance Structures

Bus users will be surveyed at least annually on the performance of the BSIP and
meeting of objectives and detailed data on performance against targets will provided
37

Page 311

to all scrutiny groups to assess the performance of the network areas of review will
include but not be limited to passenger satisfaction and complaints, journey times and
reliability, decarbonisation, marketing reach and network development.
6.1 Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership – Role and Responsibilities
The Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership will provide opportunities for discussing
issues of all kinds affecting the Nottingham bus network, consulting with and building
consensus across the various stakeholders and making recommendations to
Enhanced Partnership Board to inform decisions and reporting to the joint NottinghamNottinghamshire Transport and Planning Advisory Board for scrutiny and review.
Membership of the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership will comprise the following:























All Bus Operators running Qualifying Bus Services
Nottingham City Council (Transport Strategy and Public Transport
Operations)
Nottinghamshire County Council (Transport and Travel Services)
Sustainable Transport Nottingham
DVSA
Representatives of Protected Characteristics and Business groups
Broxtowe Borough Council
Rushcliffe Borough Council
Gedling Borough Council
Nottingham Trams Limited
Tramlink
East Midlands Railways
Northern Rail
Cross Country
Independent Chair
Derby City Council
Derbyshire County Council
Leicestershire County Council
Nottingham Business Improvement District
Nottinghamshire Chamber of Commerce
Nottingham University Hospitals
D2N2 LEP

Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Annual General Meeting (AGM):
The final Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership meeting of each financial year will be
the designated Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership AGM. All Operators will be invited
to self-nominate or nominate other willing Operators for Greater Nottingham Enhanced
Partnership Board membership, to represent themselves and all other Operators in
their category. Ahead of the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership AGM. A ballot will
be organised by the City and County Council at the Annual General Meeting to select
38

Page 312

Operators’ preferred Greater
representatives (section 6.2).

Nottingham

Enhanced

Partnership

Board

Meeting arrangements
Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership meetings will take place quarterly. Greater
Nottingham Bus Partnership meetings will be arranged, minutes taken by the City
Council and normally held at Loxley House. The meetings will be chaired
independently. Meeting length will vary according to agenda content but ordinarily
expected to be one to two hours.
Agendas and meeting papers (including a copy of minutes and outcomes of decisions
taken at the previous Partnership meetings) will be circulated by the City Council no
less than one week in advance of each meeting, and draft minutes circulated no more
than two weeks after each meeting. Draft minutes will be approved at the next Greater
Nottingham Bus Partnership meeting.
6.2 Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board – Role and Responsibilities
The Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board will be the decision-making body of
the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership.
Certain decisions of the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board may constitute
Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variations pursuant to section 7 hereof if the
requirements therein are met. Membership of the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership
Board will comprise the following representatives:








1x Large Operators (voting)
1x Medium Operators (voting)
1 x Small Operators (voting)
1 x Nottingham City Council (voting)
1 x Nottinghamshire County Council (voting)
Independent Chair (non-voting)

Board meetings will require a quorum of 3 Operator representatives, with a minimum
of one per category (Large/Medium/Small) and one City and County Council
representative. An Operator representative may, if necessary, arrange for an alternate
or deputy from the same category to participate with voting rights.
Voting should take place at Board Meetings where possible but should a voting
member wish for the vote to be conducted via Microsoft teams within a requested
number of days of the meeting the independent chair should not unreasonably deny
such a request to allow operators to discuss within their business, other operators
within their voting group or seek further approvals as may be required.

39

Page 313

Terms of Reference
As the key oversight body of the Greater Nottingham (Robin Hood Area) Enhanced
Partnership. The board will:










monitor the progress of the Enhanced Partnership in delivering the EP Plan and
BSIP;
monitor the effectiveness of implemented Schemes in achieving the EP Plan
and BSIP objectives;
work with the Councils to respond to Government or other funding opportunities
that may arise for delivery of bus service improvement interventions;
review, discuss and agree priorities for delivery of interventions to achieve the
EP Plan and BSIP;
review, discuss and agree programmes of preparatory work (feasibility studies,
business case preparation, design, public consultations, impact assessments
etc.) for interventions that may be taken forward as Scheme variations or new
Schemes;
oversee the process of preparing and developing detailed requirements leading
to a variation to an existing Scheme where this will be subject to the bespoke
scheme voting procedure incorporated in any Scheme where that is applicable;
consider fully detailed proposals for EP Scheme variations or new EP Schemes
that are the responsibility of the Councils having regard to s.138L of the 2000
Act, once all relevant preparatory work has been completed, and make
recommendations to the Councils for their adoption (or otherwise).
The Board shall be entitled to keep under review the these terms of reference
and further develop them being responsible for all decisions relating to
administration of the affairs of the Board including frequency of meeting, requests
for the attendance at meetings of the Board by individuals and representatives
of organisations that are capable of contributing to the work of the Board and the
manner in which and methods by which reporting of the affairs of the Board are
made to all Operators.

Operator representative selection
Operator representatives will be acting on behalf of all Operators in that category,
not on behalf of their own company alone. Representatives will be responsible for
ensuring attendance at all Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership Board
meetings in that year, and ensure they have:
(a) Fully reviewed and understood all meeting papers in advance of attendance
(b) The required mandate from the Operators they represent.
Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board decision making:

40

Page 314

Decisions of the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board will be made by way of
a vote through a show of hands. Unless stated otherwise in this document, decisions
will be passed by way of a simple majority of all members of the Board entitled to
vote (on a one Operator representative, one vote basis). Operator representatives
not exercising their vote will be deemed to have voted in favour unless they explicitly
state they want to abstain.
Operators will be entitled to make known their concerns in writing to the City and
County Councils if they object to a particular vote of the Greater Nottingham Bus
Partnership Board.
The Independent chair will review the circumstances and consider whether these are
such that consideration of the use of the veto is required as provided for below.

6.2.1 Nottingham City Council and Nottinghamshire County Council veto:

These controls ensure that the voting system does not allow an individual Operator to
influence the Enhanced Partnership to its own commercial benefit or to harm
competitors; there is no opportunity for a group of Operators to vote in a co-ordinated
manner to mutual benefit on a sustained basis; there is no discrimination between
Operators; and that actual or potential competition, entry to new services and by new
Operators, or innovation, is not inhibited. The Council may, in exceptional
circumstances, exercise a veto over the Enhanced Partnership Board decisions which
it may reasonably believe or suspect as having anti-competitive implications or being
otherwise significantly against the public interest or there exist circumstances under
which the Council would be unable to comply with any obligations that would be
imposed upon the Council were the decision to be implemented.
In order to limit any circumstances in which a veto may be required where any proposal
is to be taken forward by the Enhanced Partnership Board that would lead to a
variation to an existing Enhanced Partnership Scheme or would lead to a requirement
for the Councils to make a further Enhanced Partnership Scheme or would result in
any other material commitment required of the Councils. The Councils shall prepare
and deliver to the Enhanced Partnership Board a brief summary document setting out
the Council’s opinion concerning the feasibility of the proposal should it be
implemented. The summary document may refer to matters such as:







the availability or non-availability of funding to support implementation of the
proposal including the Councils ability to provide for any future expenditure that
the Councils would be required to incur;
the compatibility of the proposal with policies that the Councils have committed
to follow including in particular policies supporting the Councils equalities
duties;
should the proposal be implemented the Councils would in consequence be in
breach of any contracts or other legally binding obligations that it is subject to;
the proposal requires the co-operation of third parties such as a District Council
41

Page 315



Any governance related considerations that the Councils require to take into
account.

For avoidance of doubt the existence of matters raised by the Councils need not be
taken as reason for the Enhanced Partnership Board to decline to deal with the
proposal and the Councils shall indicate in the summary document or in any other
manner at a subsequent date the extent to which it supports the proposal and is willing
and able to work with the Enhanced Partnership Board in order to progress the
proposal on a basis that is not anticipated to lead to the Councils exercising their veto.

Meeting observers:
Any other Bus Operator, City, County, Borough Council representatives who are
members of the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership will be able to attend the Greater
Nottingham Bus Partnership Board meetings as observers but will not have the right
to vote. Observers may be invited to make comments or ask questions of the Greater
Nottingham Bus Partnership Board at the Chair’s discretion or be invited to defer these
until the next Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership meeting. Other Stakeholders will
also be able to attend as observers on ad-hoc basis as required, but this will be at the
discretion of the Voting members and subject to approval by means of a majority vote.
Meeting arrangements:
Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership board meetings will take place not less than twice
per year at regular intervals between each Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership
meetings, with provision for additional meetings as required to take decisions which in
the opinion of the Chair cannot be deferred to a scheduled meeting, provided that a
quorum can be achieved, with not less than one week’s notice being given. Meetings
will be arranged, chaired and minutes taken by the City Council and will normally be
held at Loxley House. Meeting length will vary according to agenda content but
ordinarily be one to two hours. All decisions will then be ratified and reported at the
next concurrent Joint Nottingham – Nottinghamshire Transport and Planning Advisory
Board.
Agendas and meeting papers will be circulated to all Board members no less than one
week in advance of each meeting date, and draft minutes circulated no more than two
weeks after each meeting. Copies will also be distributed to all Greater Nottingham
Bus Partnership members so any issues or concerns can be discussed with the
relevant Operator representative, to be raised at the Greater Nottingham Bus
Partnership Board meeting. Draft minutes will be approved at the next Greater
Nottingham Bus Partnership Board meeting.

42

Page 316

6.3 Implications for small and medium sized operators
Given the variety of bus operators involved (in terms of market share, fleet size,
company turnover and structure), it is important to ensure that the effects of the
partnership do not unduly impact upon smaller operators’ ability to engage or to
comply with requirements.
The Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board will therefore allocate operator votes
based on a small, medium or large market share, measured as a proportion of total
registered mileage. In addition, Bus Operator Requirements will not be placed upon
certain categories of service (Non-qualifying Services), which represent many smaller
operators’ main commercial interests.

6.4 Joint Nottingham – Nottinghamshire Transport and Planning Advisory
Board – Role and Responsibilities
Will monitor and have oversight of the work of the Greater Nottingham Enhanced
Partnership Board, be the accountable body for all funding decisions and ratify all
decisions and recommendations made in relation to partnership delivery.
Membership includes:
Senior Transport Strategy and Planning Officers – Nottingham City Council and
Nottinghamshire County Council.
Senior Cllrs, Portfolio Holders and Cabinet Members – Nottingham City Council and
Nottinghamshire County Council.

43

Page 317

7. Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variations (for Area-wide Facilities,
Measures and Requirements)

Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variations to area-wide Facilities, Measures and
Requirements described in schedule 2 will be subject to the bespoke voting
mechanism as set out in this section 7.
The following process (Figure 2) will be used to adopt Enhanced Partnership Scheme
Variations to area-wide Facilities, Measures and Requirements (and any other aspect
of the Enhanced Partnership), in place of the default objection mechanism that is
required to be used when the Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme is made under
s.138G of the 2000 Act.
Any Enhanced Partnership Variation requires both of the following conditions to be
met:
• A simple majority vote of the Nottingham Bus Partnership Board in favour of the
same; and the Councils veto on the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board has
not been invoked in response to such a vote.

Variation proposal
discussed at Greater
Nottingham Bus
Partnership

Enhanced Partnership
Variation circulated by
the Councils to Greater
Nottingham Bus
Partnership and comes
into effect from date
stated

Greater Nottingham Bus
Partnership discussion
captured,
recommendation
recorded by the Councils

Once accepted by a
majority vote of the
Board and not vetoed by
the Councils becomes
formal Enhanced
Partnership Variation

Variation
recommendation
presented by the
Councils from the
Greater Nottingham Bus
Partnership to Greater
Nottingham Bus
Partnership Board

Recommendation
accepted, subject to
variation, or rejected by
Greater Nottingham Bus
Partnership Board

Figure 2: Process of Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variation

This process will also be the normal process for making decisions on behalf of the
partnership which do not constitute formal Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variations.
If as part of any variation, a package of investment (In either Measures, Facilities or
reciprocal Requirements) is agreed between the Councils and the Bus Operators, an
Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variation Agreement will be signed by the parties
44

Page 318

concerned. This agreement, once signed, will represent a statutory variation of the
relevant Enhanced Partnership scheme under s.138E of the 2000 Act.

7.1 Enhanced Partnership Scheme revocation or other variations
The Nottingham Bus Partnership Board will review the governance arrangements of
the Enhanced Partnership following the first 12 months of operation, and may
suggest variations for adoption using the section 7 process on the following matters:
• Definition of Large, Medium and Small Operators
• Processes in sections 7 and 7.1 for Enhanced Partnership Variations
• Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board structure and Operator representation
A summary of monitoring measures for all elements of the Enhanced Partnership
Scheme will be reported by the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board at the end
of each financial year. If the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership considers that any
elements of any Enhanced Partnership Scheme are not meeting the defined outcomes
of the relevant Enhanced Partnership Scheme, recommendations will be made to the
Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board for action to address them. The Greater
Nottingham Bus Partnership Board must consider these recommendations and use
the voting mechanism defined in section 7 to determine whether to make formal
variations of a defined Enhanced Partnership Scheme to address these
recommendations.
In accordance with the section 7 process, should a variation be recommended which
may pose conflict with competition legislation, the Councils will invoke their veto in
response to such a vote.
In the event that the Greater Nottingham Partnership Board recommends through a
section 7 vote that appropriate action would be to revoke the Enhanced Partnership,
the default Operator objection mechanism set out in the Enhanced Partnerships and
Schemes (Objections) Regulations 2018 as may be varied from time to time will be
used to determine if that course of action should proceed.
7.2 Any other variation proposals
For the avoidance of doubt, any other variation proposals not covered in 7 or 7.1 will
follow the default Operator objection mechanism set out in the Enhanced Partnerships
and Schemes (Objections) Regulations 2018 as may be varied from time to time, to
determine if that course of action should proceed.

45

Page 319

Part B: Enhanced Partnership Scheme (2020/22-2026/27)
8. Scheme Summary
The table below details the outputs the Greater Nottingham (Robin Hood) Enhanced
Partnership Plan and Scheme will deliver:

City and County Council Enhanced
Partnership Scheme Facilities

Operator Enhanced Partnership
Scheme Reciprocal Requirements

Bus Priority Measures

Vehicle Enhancements and Investment

Realtime information (Displays and
Back Office)

Participation in Robin Hood ticketing
and marketing schemes

Other infrastructure enhancements

Service Quality and Emissions
standards

Protect and upgrade bus interchange
facilities

City Council Enhanced Partnership
Scheme Measures
External funding bids
Feasibility Studies
Roadworks Management
Facilitate the Enhanced Partnership

46

Page 320

9. Scheme Measures, Monitoring and BSIP Targets

The scheme measures below will be monitored and reported through the
governance structures detailed in section 6 of the Enhanced Partnership Plan:

Measure
Real time information

Other infrastructure
enhancements
Bus interchange facilities
External funding bids

Monitoring
Number of real time passenger
information screens and
improvements to the back –
office infrastructure
number of accessible bus
stops, Improvements to district
centre waiting facilities
number of bus interchange
facilities
number of funding bids
submitted

Bus priority feasibility studies

number of bus priority feasibility
studies completed

Roadworks management

number of planned roadworks
reported by Operators not
previously notified in advance

Robin Hood app and website
upgrades
Partnership Support
Planning consultation
Robin Hood Marketing

Delivery of meeting schedule
and governance arrangements
proportion of planning
consultations
Extension of the Brand

Target

Complete
Complete

Monitoring of the above measures will also reported alongside progress against the
the BSIP targets outlined below at the AGM:
Baseline

202223

2023-24 2024-25

203031

Passenger Satisfaction

95% (2019)

93%

95%

96%

97%

Passenger Growth

61.39m
(2019)

-10%

0%

2%

10%

Reliability

91.5%
(2019/20)

92%

93%

94%

95%

Journey Time

16.15 kph
or 3 min 43

16.2
kph

16.5
kph

17 kph

17.2
kph

Core Indicators

47

Page 321

sec per bus
km
(Oct 2021)
Additional Monitoring
Value for Money

78% (2019)

78%

79%

80%

81%

Punctuality

81% (2019)

80%

82%

83%

84%

Public Transport
Information

73% (2020)

74%

75%

76%

78%

48

Page 322

10. Enhanced Partnership Scheme – Legal Definition
THE FIRST GREATER NOTTINGHAM (ROBIN HOOD AREA) ENHANCED
PARTNERSHIP SCHEME IS MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTIONS 114 – 123
OF THE TRANSPORT ACT 2000 (as amended) BY NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL
(the “Scheme”) BY:
Nottingham City Council, Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham NG2 3NG.

1.

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

“bus stand clearway”

“bus stop”
“bus stop clearway”
“bus stop clearway
(regulated)
“bus stop clearway
(non-regulated)
“Commencement Date”

“Core Local Service”
“Complementary Local
Service”
“the Council”
“DDA”
“double stop” (regulated
or non regulated)
“Excluded Services”

shall mean a bus stop clearway as defined in accordance
with paragraph 1(a) of Part 1 to schedule 19 of The Traffic
Signs Regulations and General Directions 2002 but which
will permit a local bus to stand within the clearway for as
long as may be necessary up to a maximum period of 10
minutes.
means all bus stops within the Scheme Area, including bus
stand clearways and bus stop clearways;
shall have the meaning given to it paragraph 1(a) of Part 1
to Schedule 19 of the Traffic Signs Regulations and
General Directions 2002 (SI3113/2002);
shall mean a bus stop clearway as defined in Appendix 3
to the Scheme;
shall mean any bus stop clearway other than a bus stop
clearway (regulated);
means the date of commencement of the Scheme
pursuant to clause 2.1, or such later date as the Scheme
may commence following any postponement of the
Scheme under section 117 of the Transport Act 2000;
means a Local Service operating at a frequency of four or
more buses an hour between 0800 and 1800 Monday to
Friday;
means a Local Service other than a Core Local Service;

Nottingham City Council, Loxley House, Station Street,
Nottingham NG2 3NG;
means the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (as
amended) and “DDA compliant” shall be construed
accordingly;
shall mean a Double stop as defined in Appendix 3;
shall mean the category of Local Services listed in
Schedule 4;

49

Page 323

“Greater Nottingham
Bus Quality Partnership
Meeting”
“Local Service”
“NET”
“Non-Regulated” stop
“Regulated” Stop
“Scheme Area”
“Service Change Dates”

means the Greater Nottingham Bus Quality Partnership
Group, which meets quarterly each year in March, June,
September and December;
has the meaning set out in Section 2 of the Transport Act
1985, (but excluding any Excluded Services);
means Nottingham Express Transit;
shall mean a Non-Regulated Bus Stop as defined in
Appendix 3;
shall mean a Regulated Bus Stop as defined in Appendix
3;
means the area marked on the map at Schedule 1;

“TRO”
“1985 Act”

means the closest Sunday to the following: Last Sunday in January
 Sunday before May Day Bank Holiday
 End of School Summer Term
 Start of the new School Year
means the Slot Booking system which operators pursuant
to the Scheme are required to comply with pursuant to
Schedule 3 and Appendix 3 to the Scheme;
means an Enhanced Partnership Plan and Scheme made
pursuant to the provisions of Section 138A of the Transport
Act 2000 as amended;
means the standards of service set out in Schedule 3
(Standards);
Has the meaning set out in Section 82(1) of the Public
Passenger Vehicles Act 1981. (For the purposes of this
Scheme this is the Traffic Commissioner for the North
Eastern Traffic Area);
means a Traffic Regulation Order;
Transport Act 1985

“2000 Act”

Transport Act 2000

“2017 Act”

Bus Services Act 2017

“Bus Operators (or
Operators)”

All Large Operators, Medium Operators and Small
Operators running Qualifying Bus Services taken
collectively.

“ The Councils”

Nottingham City Council and Nottinghamshire County
Council

“City Council”

Nottingham City Council

“County Council”
“Enhanced Partnership
Scheme Variation”

Nottinghamshire County Council
A formal variation of the relevant Enhanced Partnership
Scheme as a result of the voting mechanism set out in
section 7. Which will then constitute a formal variation of
the relevant scheme for the purposes of s.138E(1) of the
2000 Act.

“Slot Booking”
“Enhanced Partnership”
“Standards of Service”
“Traffic Commissioner”

50

Page 324

“Facilities”

Those facilities referred to in Schedule 2 which shall be
deemed such for the purposes of s.138D(1) of the 2000
Act.

“Greater Nottingham
Bus Partnership”

The committee of selected Nottingham Bus Operator
representatives, City and Council representatives and
responsible for formulating recommendations to be put
forward to the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership
Board and including specific Enhanced Partnership
Scheme Variations using the mechanism in section 7.

“Greater Nottingham
Enhanced Partnership
(or Enhanced
Partnership)”

The Enhanced Partnership covering the geographic
extent of the administrative of the “Robin Hood” travel
zone at Figure 1.

Greater Nottingham Bus The committee of all Greater Nottingham Bus Operators
Partnership Board
and City and County Councils responsible for making
decisions in relation to recommendations made by the
Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership (in line with the
Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership governance
arrangements).
Large, Medium or Small
Operator

Any single Bus Operator with registered commercial
mileage representing the following proportions of total
registered mileage for Qualifying Bus Services in the
Scheme Area will be classified as follows:
25%+: Large
15%-25%: Medium
0-15%: Small

Measures

Those measures referred to in Part B, sections 8 and/or 9
which shall be deemed as such for the purposes of
s.138D(2) of the 2000 Transport Act.

Non-qualifying Bus
Service

Services excluded from classification as Qualifying Bus
Services.

Qualifying Bus Service

A registered local bus service with one or more stopping
place within the geographical area of the Enhanced
Partnership, with the exception of:
• Any schools or works registered local bus service not
eligible for Bus Service Operators Grant

51

Page 325

• Any cross-boundary registered local bus service with
less than 10% of its registered mileage within the
Enhanced Partnership area
• Any services operated under section 22 of the 1985 Act
•Any registered local bus service which is an excursion or
tour
•Any other registered local bus service that the Operators
(through the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board
voting mechanism in section 7) and City and County
Councils decide should be excluded from all or specific
requirements of the Enhanced Partnership Scheme.

For the avoidance of doubt, a list of Qualifying Bus
Services will be published at the start of each City and
County Council financial year.
Requirements

Means those requirements placed upon Bus Operators to
the extent that the same operates Qualifying Bus
Services identified as such within Schedule 2 & 3 and
meeting the requirements of s.138C of 2000 Transport
Act.

Traffic Commissioner
Powers

‘Relevant registration functions’ of Traffic Commissioners
to the extent that they relate to a ‘relevant service’ both
within the meanings given to them under section 6G(10)
of the 1985 Act.

52

Page 326

2.

DATE AND PERIOD OF OPERATION

2.1

The Scheme will be made on and come into operation on 4 April 2022.

2.2

The Scheme will operate for a period of 5 years from the Commencement
Date notwithstanding any postponement of any Requirements, Measures of
Facilities referred to in the Scheme and subject to bespoke variation or
revocation in accordance with Section 138E of the Transport act 2000 (as
amended).

3.

SCHEME PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES

3.1

The Scheme aims to bring benefits to persons using Local Services by
improving the quality of those Local Services operating in the Scheme Area
and restricting the use of the bus stops in Nottingham City Centre and Beeston
town centre to those Local Services that meet a given quality standard. The
Councils are satisfied that both the provision of the Facilities and the provision
of Local Services to the required standard will achieve this aim.

3.2

The Scheme aims to enable bus operators to achieve more reliable and
punctual services in accordance with bus service registrations as part of their
commitments to the Traffic Commissioner. Measures and funding will be put
in place, using funding from the Transforming Cities Fund and £1.2bn Bus
Service Improvement fund to support bus journey speeds, with a view to
maintaining and improving on existing journey times. Interventions will include
extended traffic light priority and the development of a bus operator pinch
point package which will be co-developed with operators. Revenue from the
Workplace Parking Levy will continue to be invested in bus and bus related
infrastructure for the duration of this scheme.

3.3

The Scheme purpose and objectives are:












Maintenance of pre-covid high frequency level of services and
accessibility across the bus network
Roll-out of further bus priority across the network ensuring buses have
priority over inefficient transport modes and address operator pinch
points
Upgrades to the existing real time information estate
Improvements to bus stop waiting infrastructure in district centres
Roll-out of the new smart ticketing and contactless payment products
Bus station and interchange improvements
Extension of camera enforcement, traffic regulation orders and new red
routes
Delivery of an enhanced Robin Hood Network marketing campaign
Help deliver the government’s Transport Decarbonisation plan
Deliver “Levelling Up” through better access to jobs and opportunities
Grow Bus Patronage
Improve the range of destinations served by bus routes and in
particular to better serve major new developments including Broad
53

Page 327




marsh Centre, Nottingham Station, Eastside, Netherfield, Gamston
and Sharp hill.
To reduce pressure on congested bus priority streets and bus stops to
help improve journey reliability and reduce delays.
Provide management of on street stops in Nottingham City and
Beeston Town centre on a similar basis to bus station management,
with the introduction of a Slot Booking System.

4.

SCHEME AREA

4.1

The Scheme Area covers the Greater Nottingham (Robin Hood) Area as
shown in Schedule 1 with the slot booking system see section applicable to
Nottingham City Centre and Beeston Town Centre, as shown in Appendix 3.

4.2

The Scheme shall apply to operators of Local Services operating with the
Scheme Area. Unless exempted under the provisions of the Scheme (or when
implementation of any Requirement in respect of Bus Operators is postponed
under the provisions of the Scheme until the date specified as the date upon
which it has effect).

4.3

A summary of all Local Services operating in the Scheme Area at the date of
making of the Scheme is set out in Schedule 6 (“Affected Services”). The
Council will update the summary of Affected Services when required for every
service change date and the Council will make copies available to the Traffic
Commissioner and all operators of affected Local Services. For the
avoidance of doubt, such list of Scheduled Services will be an indicative list
only of those Local Services which the Council believes to fall within the terms
of the Scheme. An omission from the list of Affected Services shall not
exempt from the Scheme, which would otherwise fall within the terms of the
Scheme.

4.4

Broadmarsh Bus Station and Victoria Bus station and their facilities located
within the Scheme area are Facilities for the purposes of this Scheme. Victoria
Bus station and the services that terminate their will be exempt from meeting
the Euro VI emission standard until 1 January 2024 but subject to all other
scheme requirements.
FACILITIES

5.
5.1

Subject to clause 8 (Conditions of Use), the Council will make the Facilities
available (as detailed in Scheduled 2) to Local Services from the
Commencement Date, until the date the Scheme ceases to have effect.

5.2

Clause 5.1 shall not apply in relation to any Local Service using a Facility for
any period during which the Council is temporarily unable to fulfil its
obligations, in respect of that Facility, due to circumstances beyond its control.
In such circumstances the Council shall notify any operator affected by the
non-provision of such Facility, confirming the reason for such non-provision
and the anticipated period during that the Facility will not be available.

54

Page 328

5.3

The Facilities are to be maintained for the duration of the Scheme in
accordance with Schedule 5 (Maintenance of Facilities).

55

Page 329

5.5

A number of Environmental Schemes including bus lanes have been
implemented within and beyond the Scheme Area, to provide priority for
buses. Traffic light priority will be extended through the conurbation as part of
the Transforming Cities programme, as detailed in Schedule 8.

5.5

Any queries regarding the Traffic Regulation Orders for the Scheme Area
may be obtained from Nottingham City Council, Traffic and Safety,
Development, Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, NG2 3NG.

5.7

The Council will continue to provide bus stop infrastructure as part of the
Council’s ongoing commitment to provide improvements to bus stops for bus
passengers and operators. All of the Facilities will be maintained to an
acceptably high standard providing benefits to passengers, and will continue
to provide significant benefits to passengers under the Scheme. These
Facilities are therefore included within the Scheme (as detailed in Appendices
2 & 6).The council will also continue to invest in Smart Ticketing and Bus
Priority measures, and futureproof the realtime system via the Transforming
Cities programme and through BSIP funding once confirmed by government,
see Schedule 8.
STANDARDS OF SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY BUS OPERATORS

6.
6.1

For the purpose of the Scheme, all Local Services will be either a Core Local
Service or a Complementary Local Service, in accordance with the
requirements of clauses 6.2 and 6.3 of this Scheme.

6.2

A Local Service will be a Core Local Service where it operates [within the
Scheme Area] at a frequency of four or more buses an hour between 0800
and 1800 Monday to Friday. Core Local Services shall comply with the
Standard of Services as specified in Schedule 3 including:
a) meeting the Euro VI emission standard (unless exempt under
paragraph 4.4)
b) Having DDA compliant destination displays and full DDA accessibility,
save to the extent that such Core Local Service is exempt from a
Standard of Service pursuant to clause 6.4 below.

6.3

Complementary Local Services are all Local Services operating in the
Scheme Area which are not a Core Local Service. Complementary Local
Services shall comply with the Standards of Services as specified in Schedule
3, including:
a) subject to clause 6.6, meeting Euro VI emission standards (unless exempt
under clause 4.4); and
b) Having front DDA compliant destination displays.

56

Page 330

6.4

The standards as specified in 6.2 shall not apply to a service using a step
entrance coach that is compliant with at least Euro VI emission standards on
either a Core or Complementary Local Service, which will be permitted to use
the Facilities within the Scheme Area, provided that the operator of such
provides an alternative service in accordance with clause 6.5 of this Scheme.

6.5

The alternative service to be provided pursuant to clause 6.4 must operate to
at least the same frequency as the service operated using a step entrance
coach, to the same destination and on substantially the same route and must
use one of the bus stops within the Scheme Area, and stop at least the same
(or similar) stops as the step entrance coach. If necessary, a combination of
services can be used to meet the criteria.

6.6

Notwithstanding clauses 6.2 to 6.5, with effect from 4 April 2022, all Local
Services operating in the Scheme Area must comply with Euro VI emission
standards.

6.7

Any notification which has been requested to be sent to the Council should be
copied to Public Transport Team, Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham.
NG2 3NG

7.

SCHEME BENEFITS

7.1

Improvements to infrastructure, highways, vehicle quality and staff training will
continue to be developed following the introduction of this Scheme, which will
bring benefits to passengers using Local Services in the Scheme Area by
improving the quality of those Local Services.

7.2

Congestion in the Scheme Area is currently one of the biggest causes for
unreliability, solved only by the addition of extended journey time, which
prevents any significant reductions in scheduled journey times.
The
introduction of the Scheme will have a positive effect on containing congestion
and maintaining accessibility levels by increasing bus usage and modal split.
Measures will be put in place, using funding from the transforming cities fund
and £1.2bn BSIP fund to support bus journey speeds, with a view to
maintaining and improving on existing journey times. Interventions will include
extended traffic light priority and the development of a bus operator pinch point
package which will be co-developed with operators. When funding from the
transforming cities fund expires alternative sources of capital from Central
Government funds will be sought to continue this work. These interventions will
support the potential reintroduction of cross city bus routes where commercially
viable. Revenue from the Workplace Parking Levy will continue to be invested
in bus and bus related infrastructure for the duration of this scheme. Upon
confirmation of BSIP funding the scheme will be varied in accordance with
Section 7 of the Greater Nottingham (Robin Hood Area) Enhanced Partnership
Plan.

7.3

The future planned and continued growth of the conurbation (Sustainable
Urban Extensions) will inevitably put additional strain on the City Centre to
57

Page 331

accommodate more buses in an increasingly restricted area, with limited kerb
space, this will need to be managed constructively.
7.4

7.5

8.

There has already been significant investment in the City Centre with regard
to Nottingham Express Transit, Better Bus Areas, Extended Clear Zone,
Turning Point, Transforming Cities, enforcement mechanisms, waiting
infrastructure, smart and contactless ticketing, electric bus charging
infrastructure, electronic information. The City Council is keen to protect this
investment by ensuring that it is used by high quality bus services.
This scheme will support public health in the city by reducing the emissions of
harmful Nitrous Oxide and Particulate Matter from the city’s bus fleet. It will
also contribute to a reduction in the city’s Carbon Dioxide emissions and
contribute to the Nottingham’s ambition to become the UK’s first carbon neutral
city. Providing as it does a strong incentive to operators, through raised
emissions standards, to invest where commercially viable, in alternatives to
diesel, which have a lower Carbon footprint. Nottingham is now under
Ministerial Direction to deliver legal compliance for NOx emissions as soon as
possible. The council will continue to work with operators and central
government to secure funding to achieve this aim. Whilst acknowledging the
significant investment that operators have already made in delivering low
carbon passenger transport across Nottingham.
CONDITIONS OF USE

8.1

An operator of a Local Service may only use the Facilities in the Scheme Area
if:
a) a written undertaking from the operator in the template form attached at
Schedule 9 is provided to the Traffic Commissioner and a copy
delivered to the Council; and
b) each Local Service is provided by such operator to the Standards in
accordance with that undertaking except for any period during which
such operator is temporarily unable to do so owing to circumstances
beyond their control, provided that the Council is notified in writing as
soon as practicably possible as to the reasons and period of such noncompliance.

8.2

Any operator of a Local Service who fails to comply with paragraph 8.1 above
may be subject to action by the Traffic Commissioner in accordance with
section 26 (Conditions attached to PSV operator’s license) Transport Act 1985
and section 155 Transport Act 2000.

9.

REVIEW AND MONITORING

9.1

The scheme will be reviewed at each Greater Nottingham Bus Quality
Partnership Meeting, which will include an assessment of the Scheme’s
benefits in order to determine if any action is required to maintain the Facilities
and Standards of Service.

9.2

The Councils reserves the right to monitor compliance with the Standards of
Services in respect of a Local Service which is using any of the Facilities and
operators of such services will allow the Council (including its officers and
58

Page 332

employees) reasonable access to any such Local Service for this purpose and
provide any reasonable assistance required for this purpose.
9.3

9.4

The Councils must provide, maintain or enforce any facilities or continue to
take measures throughout the life of the EPS as required under section 138J
of the 2000 Act.
Any variation or Amendment to the scheme will be undertaken using the
Bespoke Variation Mechanism outlined in Section 7 of this document Under
powers at s1.38E of the Transport Act 2000.
The following process (Figure 2) will be used to adopt a variation to this
Scheme as provided for by s.138E of the 2000 Act, in place of the default
objection mechanism that would otherwise apply as provided for by s. 138L
and s.138M of the TA 2000.
Any Enhanced Partnership Variation to be developed and implemented
applying the provisions of s138E requires both of the following conditions to be
met - a simple majority vote of the Greater Nottingham Bus Partnership Board
in favour of the same; and the Councils veto on the Greater Nottingham Bus
Partnership Board has not been invoked in response to such a vote .

Variation proposal
discussed at Greater
Nottingham Bus
Partnership

Enhanced Partnership
Variation circulated by
the Councils to Greater
Nottingham Bus
Partnership and comes
into effect from date
stated

Greater Nottingham Bus
Partnership discussion
captured,
recommendation
recorded by the Councils

Once accepted by a
majority vote of the
Board and not vetoed by
the Councils becomes
formal Enhanced
Partnership Variation

Variation
recommendation
presented by the
Councils from the
Greater Nottingham Bus
Partnership to Greater
Nottingham Bus
Partnership Board

Recommendation
accepted, subject to
variation, or rejected by
Greater Nottingham Bus
Partnership Board

Figure 2: Process of Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variation

59

Page 333

60

Page 334

Schedule 1 - Enhanced Partnership Scheme Area

61

Page 335

Schedule 2 – Scheme Facilities, Measures and Requirements
FACILITY /
MEASURE /
REQUIREMENT

REF

DESCRIPTION OF FACILITY / MEASURE / REQUIREMENT

1. ENVIRONMENTAL SCHEMES

Clear Zone

1.1

Page 336
1.2
Turning Point
North

The Nottingham City Council (Nottingham City Centre) (Clear Zone Area) Traffic Regulation Order 2004 (TMP 9031M) (or
any TRO that amends or replaces such order and provides the facilities listed in this paragraph 1.1) is a TRO that has been
introduced as part of a national initiative to reduce traffic congestion and pollution in the City Centre, and to keep the city
clear of congestion by banning non-essential traffic. These objectives are achieved largely through the introduction of access
restrictions. The main features of these restrictions are:


covering all approaches to the Old Market Square including Friar Lane, Fletcher Gate, King Street and Market
Street



buses, taxis, cycles, blue badge holders, private hire and restricted access permit holders are allowed access to
the zone at all times



access and loading is permitted everyday outside the core hours of 10am to 4.30pm



all limited waiting parking has been removed or converted to blue badge use

The Nottingham City Council (Turning Point and Clear Zone Area, Nottingham) (Prohibitions of Driving and One Way Street)
Traffic Regulation Order 2006 (TMP 9039M) (or any TRO that amends or replaces such order and provides the facilities listed
in this paragraph 1.3) is a TRO which has been introduced, to transform Milton Street and parts of Upper Parliament Street
and Lower Parliament Street into a pedestrian friendly area for authorised traffic only and including a high degree of bus
priority. Entry into the Turning Point area is restricted to buses, taxis, blue badge holders, emergency services, cyclists and
access for loading and unloading. This is the permanent new traffic arrangement in Nottingham City Centre and applies at
all times on the following lengths of road:

Milton Street (Shakespeare Street to Upper Parliament Street)



Upper Parliament Street (South Sherwood Street to Milton Street)

62


FACILITY /
MEASURE /
REQUIREMENT

Lower Parliament Street (Broad Street to Milton Street)

REF

DESCRIPTION OF FACILITY / MEASURE / REQUIREMENT

2. BUS PRIORITY
Bus priority
feasibility studies

Subject to BSIP Funding, the City and Council Council will commission the priority feasibility studies outlined in the BSIP
funding ask table (see Schedule 8). The City County Council will facilitate the close engagement of Bus Operators and
other stakeholders such as district and borough councils throughout the development of each study.
Operators, through the section 6 mechanism, will help direct the specification of the feasibility studies and be involved
throughout the development. Where there is a requirement to vary the nature of the feasibility studies, such as necessary
input and output information, this will also be agreed by Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variation (section 7).

Page 337

To inform these studies Bus Operators will share a representative sample of Automatic Vehicle Location and patronage data,
usually relating to the four weeks before the previous October school half term, for all Qualifying Bus Services operating in
the study area. The closest appropriate data will be accepted where data for the period above is distorted by external
influences such as roadworks or severe weather or events.
The City and County Council data on bus services, highway infrastructure, traffic flow, development planning and will also
contribute into study evidence base.
Each feasibility study will identify a range of short term (quick win) and longer term Bus Priority Facilities. The feasibility
study outputs will aim to include as a minimum for each Bus Priority Facility identified:
• Description of works
• Area of influence
• Services affected
• Predicted journey time saving
• Predicted journey time reliability improvement
• Predicted patronage effects

63

Roadworks
management

The Councils will seek to harmonise their road works communications management protocols and continue to deliver high
quality passenger disruption through:
-

Operator, Transport Nottingham and County Council websites, social media channels and newsletters
Through digital and printed information at bus stops

Slot Booking
System

2.1

The Council will manage the Slot Booking system in accordance with Appendix 3 to the Scheme.

Bus Lanes

2.2

The Nottingham City Council (Various Locations, City of Nottingham Consolidation Area) (No.1) (Bus/Tram Lanes and
Gateways) Traffic Regulation Order 2007 (TMP 6613M) (or any TRO that amends or replaces such order and provides the
bus lanes detailed in Schedule 8) was implemented to consolidate all of the bus lanes in the City into a single TRO.
A number of bus lanes have been introduced on key routes within the Scheme Area to give priority to buses, and cycles, as
detailed in Schedule 6.

Page 338

The Nottingham City Council (Access to bus lanes by wheelchair accessible licensed hackney taxis) Experimental Order
(TME 6699M) (or any TRO that amends or replaces such order and provides the facilities listed in this paragraph) has been
introduced to allow wheelchair accessible taxis to use bus lanes. This exemption was introduced on 28th August 2009, on an
experimental basis for 18 months and has since been made permanent.
The County Council has introduced several bus lanes as detailed in Schedule 8 on key routes over recent years within the
Scheme Area to give priority to buses (TRO 2002 & 2004). The County Council will continue to enforce these to improve bus
priority.

Bus Gates

2.3

The councils will ensure the following bus gates are maintained in the scheme area:





Carlton Street
Carrington Street
Friar Lane
Styring Street

64

Bus Stands and
Bus Stop
Clearways

2.4

Within the Nottingham City Centre there will be 93 bus stops, including 26 bus stands which can be used to layover. Within
Beeston Town Centre there will be 24 bus stops, including 9 bus stands which can be used to layover. As part of the Slot
Booking System (pursuant to Appendix 3 of the Scheme), all bus stops within the Scheme Area will be designated into an
appropriate category and will be defined as either:a)
b)
c)
d)

“Bus Stand Clearway”
“Bus Stop Clearway”
“Double Stop (Regulated or Non Regulated)”
“Bus Stop Clearway (Non-Regulated)”

On the basis set out in the Slot Booking System.

Page 339

2.5

Bus Stop Clearways and Bus Stand Clearways will be provided to the extent appropriate at each stop, save to the extent that
this is not possible due to loading and unloading requirements for local businesses, Appendix 2 (Infrastructure) to this
Schedule 2 details the restrictions in Nottingham City and Beeston town Centre.
Where a Bus Stop Clearway or Bus Stand Clearway has been provided, these will only permit use by Local Services.

65

FACILITY /
MEASURE /
REQUIREMENT

REF

DESCRIPTION OF FACILITY / MEASURE / REQUIREMENT

2.6

In accordance with Schedule 19 of the Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2002, all Bus Stand Clearways and
Bus Stop Clearways will be defined on the following basis:a) All “Bus Stand Clearways” will be designated with a maximum layover of 10 minutes, as specified in {Appendix 1 to
this Section 11}.
b) all “Bus Stop Clearways”, will be designated with a maximum layover of 2 minutes, as specified in {Appendix 1 to this
Section 11} in accordance with regulation 3 (a) of The Traffic Signs Regulations and General Directions 2002/3113.

3. INFRASTRUCTURE

Page 340

Bus Shelters,
Shelter cases and
Seating

3.1

JCDecaux Ltd are the approved contractor for the supply, installation and maintenance of all bus shelters including seating
and lighting, within the City Of Nottingham. There are a mix of County Council owned and maintained shelters within
Nottinghamshire and those that are owned by Clear Channel Ltd.
Subject to site limitations, a bus shelter will be provided at bus stops within the Scheme Area. Provision in Nottingham City
Centre will be as detailed in Appendix 2 and will either be of the “standard” awning design or “Foster” design, depending on
location.

The Councils will ensure bus stops provide accessible boarding, shelters and seating (to the extent appropriate for each
stop) and are regularly cleaned and protected from obstruction with relevant traffic regulation orders and appropriate
enforcement.

Council
Information Panel

3.2

4 Council Information Panels (CIP) have been erected within the Nottingham City Centre. The free standing panels are
internally illuminated and contain details of the main bus routes based on the criteria of operating a “Core Local Service”.
Other key services will be included at the discretion of the Council. The CIP also includes a frequent routes map, City Centre
bus stops map and an area guide of services operating within the Greater Nottingham Area.

66

Shelter case
Inserts

3.3

Each bus shelter within the Scheme Area will be provided with a shelter case. The shelter case inserts will contain details of
the main bus routes based on the criteria of operating a “Core Local Service”. Other key services will be included at the
discretion of the Council. The shelter case insert also includes a frequent routes map, City Centre bus stops map and an
area guide of services operating within the Greater Nottingham Area.
The inserts will be updated for 1 April 2021 and will be updated biannually every subsequent year, for the duration of the
Scheme.

Bus Stations and
Interchanges

3.4

The protection and, where relevant, enhancement of bus interchange facilities shall be pursued. The Councils will use their
best endeavours to challenge constructively or mitigate risks as they occur to the continued provision of bus interchange
facilities to ensure that these continue to meet the needs of the travelling public and support Bus Operators in identifying and
developing opportunities for improvements.

Page 341
67

FACILITY /
MEASURE /
REQUIREMENT

REF

DESCRIPTION OF FACILITY / MEASURE / REQUIREMENT

Bus Stop
Information Poles,
Bus Stop Plate and
Timetable Drum

3.4

A bus stop information pole, 2-4 sided timetable drum and 1m bus stop flag will be provided at each bus stand or bus stop
within Nottingham City Centre, as specified in Appendix 2 (Infrastructure).
The “Bus Stop” plate legend will be varied to “Bus Stand”, where the stop is designated a bus stand in accordance with
paragraph 2.6 above.
The bus stop plate will be provided by the Council for use by the relevant Local Services.

Bus Stop Kerbs

3.5

The minimum standard kerb height provided at all bus stops within the Scheme Area will be 125mm, with an acceptable
height of 140mm, and a maximum height of 160mm in Nottingham City Centre and 180mm in the rest of the scheme area.

Page 342

4. ELECTRONIC INFORMATION / TICKET VENDING MACHINES

Real-Time
Electronic Displays

4.1

An electronic display (3 line LED or TfT) will be provided at each bus stand or bus stop within Nottingham City and Beeston
Town Centre, as specified in Appendix 2 (Infrastructure) and to the extent appropriate in the wider scheme area.
The electronic display will show either “real time” or chronological scheduled information for all Local Services using the
relevant bus stand or bus stop.
The Public Transport Team can add messages to the electronic displays within the Scheme Area, which can provide useful
travel information relating to various one-off network changes – stops, services, fares, roadwork’s, delays etc. The facility to
add messages is available to bus operators, 24 hours per day, 7 days per week.
The City Council will continue its upgrade and modernisation of the Realtime display network and back office infrastructure
over the next five years BSIP funding once confirmed will be invested in the modernisation and future proofing programme
which includes widespread upgrade to colour TfT displays. The City Council will maintain existing screens and back office
infrastructure with operators contributing via an Information and Facilities Charge.
The programme of installations for each forthcoming year will be adopted by Enhanced Partnership Scheme Variation
(section 7).

68

Operators will arrange delivery of Automatic Vehicle Location system data and real time predictions to the City Council or its
data broker using generally accepted and appropriate data standards and formats, either current or as these develop.
Operators will make provision with appropriate security protections in their back office housing to allow the City Council to
gain free access to this data with no additional or ongoing cost to the City Council.

The councils will continue to bid into relevant funding pots from Central Government i.e. Transforming Cities fund, the Local
Enterprise Partnership and others in order to secure funding for the continued development of the Real-Time infrastructure.
Commercial advertising on the displays will not be permitted unless signed – off by all members of the scheme.
4.2

The Councils will continue the upgrade to the existing Robin Hood App and website to support mobile multi-operator
ticketing and improved journey planning and Realtime information

Electronic Journey
Planner

4.2

Ticket Vending
Machines

4.3

The City Council provides the Robin Hood App journey planner and kiosks at Travel Centres, Victoria Bus Station,
Broadmarsh Bus Station and Nottingham Railway Station. These will begin to be complemented by on-street totems at key
interchange points over the life time of this plan
The Council will continue to maintain the network of on-street Ticket Vending Machines which currently vend Robin Hood
products. The Council will also add Robin Hood Ticket Vending functionality at all tram platform ticket vending machines. The
machines can be configured to vend own operator ITSO tickets on request.

Page 343

Robin Hood app
and website
upgrades

5. FUNDING BIDS
National Bus
Strategy, Zero
Emission Bus
Regional areas

5.1

The Councils will, in partnership with Operators, submit bids to all relevant Government competition funding sources to
seek external contributions towards Enhanced Partnership ambitions. The Councils will work with Operators to identify and
pursue other funding sources where these agreed upon using the mechanism in section 7.

6. PARTNERSHIP SUPPORT
Facilitate Greater
Nottingham
Enhanced
Partnership

6.1

The Councils will seek to appoint an additional full time member of staff throughout the Enhanced Partnership Scheme to
support the existing teams transport strategy, partnership and operations teams to manage the Greater Nottingham
Enhanced Partnership, including but not limited to facilitating meetings of the partnership and Board as described in the
Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership governance arrangements.

Planning
consultation

6.2

The Council’s will appraise relevant Operators of significant planning developments (for example large residential or
commercial sites) throughout Greater Nottingham, including major development sites of sufficient scale or nature to

69

generate developer contributions to support bus service enhancements. The Council’s will consult at an early stage with all
Bus Operators running existing Qualifying Bus Services at the time of consultation likely to be impacted by development.

Robin Hood
Marketing

6.3

Bus Operators will share on request, and under anonymised and non-disclosure data sharing agreement, Automatic
Vehicle Location and patronage data to inform the City and County traffic modelling.
All vehicles operating Qualifying Bus Services wholly within the scheme area will carry branding to promote the Greater
Nottingham (Robin Hood) Partnership. The Robin Hood Marketing group can prepare and supply all branding materials for
vehicles. Bus Operators will ensure vinyls are displayed appropriately at all times.
Where cross-boundary services run into adjacent bus partnership or franchising areas, appropriate arrangements will be
agreed with the Bus Operator and neighbouring local authority. Robin Hood Branding on services which operate across
multiple LTAs and outside the RH ticketing boundary will be at the discretion of operators of such services.

All Operators of Qualifying Bus Services will promote the partnership with the LTAs to improve bus services on-board their
vehicles. Design of any posters or vinyls for this purpose will be at the discretion of individual operators.

Page 344

All Operators of Qualifying Bus Services will include the Robin Hood logo and acknowledge the “Robin Hood Network” in all
timetables and other paper and electronic publicity they produce which related to any Qualifying Bus Service, as well as on
their websites. The City and County Council will also apply the Robin Hood Network branding to all relevant printed
publicity, bus stop infrastructure, roadside displays and electronic information points.

70

FACILITY /
MEASURE /
REQUIREMENT

REF

DESCRIPTION OF FACILITY / MEASURE / REQUIREMENT

7. Bus Operators
Vehicle and
Operations
Investment

7.1

Bus Operator reciprocal Requirements which will only be taken forward with agreement from the operators may include, but
not be limited to:
• Improved vehicle specification
• Installation of new technology
• Additional branding specification

Page 345

Monitoring

• Other relevant improvements that are within the Enhanced Partnership powers conferred by the 2000 Act.

7.2

The Council’s and Bus Operators may also reach a separate voluntary agreement concerning an agreed level of service
frequency or other relevant improvements.
To evaluate the effectiveness of bus priority Facilities delivered by the Councils, Bus Operators will share a representative
sample of Automatic Vehicle Location and patronage data relating to the four weeks before the next October school half
term after works are completed, for all Qualifying Bus Services operating in the study area.

71

FACILITY /
MEASURE /
REQUIREMENT

REF

DESCRIPTION OF FACILITY / MEASURE / REQUIREMENT

8. MONITORING, ENFORCEMENT AND MAINTENANCE

Enforcement of
Bus Stands and
Bus Stop
Clearways

8.1

The Councils are responsible for civil parking enforcement and the enforcement of bus lane contraventions. With effect from
the Commencement Date, all of the bus stands and bus stop clearways will be enforced by the Civil Enforcement Officers,
who are employed on behalf of the Council.
The Civil Enforcement Officers may issue a Penalty Charge Notice if the restrictions detailed in 2.6 above are contravened.
The Council’s charge (as of 29 September 2020) for a Penalty Charge Notice is £70, which is reduced to £35 if it is paid
within 14 days from the date of issue of the Penalty Charge Notice.

Page 346

The County Council has purchased three mobile CCTV equipped enforcement vehicles to enforce bus stands and clearways.

Enforcement of
Bus Lanes and
Bus Gates

8.2

The Nottingham City Council (City of Nottingham) (Bus/Tram Lanes and Gateways) (New Articles/Definitions) Traffic
Regulation Order 2007 (TMP 6644M) (or any TRO that amends or replaces such order and provides the facilities detailed in
this paragraph 5.3) allows the Council to enforce all of the bus lanes and bus gates in the City.
Enforcement of contraventions is carried out using the latest CCTV technology that records unauthorised motorists using bus
lanes. Further investment in this technology will be made during the lifetime of this agreement.

8.3

The City Council purchased a mobile CCTV equipped enforcement vehicle in 2009 and will be used in areas that cannot be
covered by static CCTV cameras, including bus lanes within the Scheme Area.
Further expansion of CCTV is planned once new powers have been awarded by the Government to enforce moving traffic
offences within areas such as Turning Point North’s restricted access zone and the Clear Zone.

72

FACILITY /
MEASURE /
REQUIREMENTS

REF

DESCRIPTION OF FACILITY / MEASURE / REQUIREMENT

9. OTHER FACILITIES

6.1

The Council has provided a Travel Centre, providing all operator information and details on ticketing and concessionary travel.
The Travel Centre is open between 9am and 5pm, from Monday to Saturday inclusive.

Bus Passenger
Surveys

6.2

The Council undertakes detailed surveys each quarter in both the Victoria and Broad marsh bus stations and the NCT Travel
Centre to monitor customer satisfaction with bus services in Nottingham. These take the form of a questionnaire survey and
on average 500 customers are interviewed each quarter to ascertain perceptions about Timekeeping, Cancellations, Journey
Time and Customer Service from Drivers. The percentage of passengers that are satisfied is disclosed at the end of each
quarter. The surveys also look at other aspects of bus travel including: - Timetable information, Passenger Waiting facilities,
Customer Service at Travel Centres and perceptions of safety when travelling.

Page 347

Customer
Information Point

Each quarter the figure is disclosed to the Council’s Corporate Performance Team and is reported in the LTP Delivery Report.
The information will also be presented to the operators at the quarterly Greater Nottingham Bus Quality Partnership Meetings
along with any other ad hoc surveys carried out in relation to public transport.
Transport Focus Surveys will also be undertaken with the results use to triangulate performance against the targets in Section
8 of the Enhanced Partnership Plan.
Parking Charges

6.3

The Council will as a general principle aim to ensure that day and annual season ticket parking rates at council car parks
within the scheme area at least 20% higher than multi-operator day and annual public transport tickets.
But the council will reserve the right to renege on this general principle and retain the flexibility to implement parking charges
at any commercial rate it deems fit.

73

Schedule 3 – Standards of Service

STANDARD

REF

STANDARD OF SERVICES REQUIREMENT DETAIL

JUSTIFICATION

1. OPERATOR STANDARDS

Page 348

Slot Booking
System

1.1

All Local Services operating within the Scheme Area will be subject to the Slot Booking System,
in accordance with Appendix 3 of the Scheme.

To effectively manage the use
of Nottingham City and
Beeston Town Centre Stops

Reliability and
Punctuality

1.2

To provide reliable and punctual local services in accordance with bus service registrations within
the Traffic Commissioners compliance guidelines of within 1 minute early and 5 minutes late at
registered timing points.

To improve the reliability of
bus services and to intervene
with incidents as they arise.

1.3

To ensure that passengers on a bus which has become immobilised are transferred safely on to
a replacement vehicle or alternative local service within 45 minutes of breakdown occurrence.

1.5

To be in attendance of broken down buses and use reasonable endeavours to remove any
obstacle from the highway within 60 minutes of any breakdown occurrence.

1.6

To only make changes to routes and timetables in strict accordance with either the agreed
“Service Change Dates”, in order to maintain network stability, unless there are exceptional
circumstances which have been agreed in advance with the Council. Emergency and Short notice
registrations will continue to be accepted by the councils.

74

Network Stability

1.7

STANDARD

REF

Page 349
Driver uniform
identity and
appearance

To improve the overall image
of bus services and actively
promote confidence in the
bus network

STANDARD OF SERVICES REQUIREMENT DETAIL

JUSTIFICATION

1.8

All operators operating in the Scheme Area shall participate in the integrated multi-operator
Robin Hood and Plusbus ticket schemes. Robin Hood Season Tickets and Day Tickets must be
accepted on all services operating within the scheme area. The required ITSO standard for
Robin Hood is Technical Specification 1000: Interoperable pu blic transport ticketing
using contactless smart customer media. Version V2.1.4. Operators should ensure
equipment is compatible with any update version in a reasonable timescale .

1.9

Ensure that all drivers on Local Services covered by the Scheme have, or are working towards a
Driver Certificate of Professional Competence (CPC) and have completed Equality and Diversity
training.

Effective systems making bus
use easier.

1.10

All operators operating Local Services within the Scheme Area to have an established complaints
procedure in line with the passenger charter see Appendix 5

Improved customer relations
and
customer
focused
standards.

1.11

To provide all drivers with an appropriate uniform and use reasonable endeavours to ensure that
this is worn on duty and maintained in a clean and tidy condition to promote a professional
appearance.

1.12

To ensure drivers operating Local Services within the Scheme Area are fully briefed on the terms
and objectives of the Scheme and they are route trained and are conversant and proficient in the
use of ticketing equipment and all fares options when operating Local Services in the Scheme
Area.

Ticketing

Customer Care

To notify the Council with summary notification of any intended service changes which would
affect the Slot Booking System. This should be done within the timescales as outlined at Appendix
3 of the Scheme.

To improve the image of bus
services for passengers.

75

Provision of Fleet
data
Driver training

1.13

To provide the Council with a bi-annual statement listing each bus by registration plate, fleet
number, Euro emission standard, accessibility status (low floor to functional DDA compliance),
and real-time enabled.

To monitor improvements in
vehicle standards.

Provision of
trained drivers
data

1.14

To provide the Council with an annual statement of the number and proportion of drivers
qualified or receiving training (as specified in 1.12 above) operating on Local Services covered
by the Scheme.

Improved customer relations
and
customer
focused
standards.

Page 350
76

Schedule 4 - Local Services Excluded from the Scheme

1. Services which operate for the primary purpose of carrying schoolchildren or students between their home and a school or
Further Education College at the start or finish of the day.
2. Community Transport or Dial a Ride services which are restricted to use by pre-registered passengers only.
3. Any NET substitute services used as a tram replacement which are not registered as a Local Service in accordance with
Section 6 of the Transport Act 1985.

Page 351
77

Schedule 5 - Maintenance of Facilities
REF

OPERATIONAL ACTIONS AND SOLUTIONS

RESPONSIBILITY

Bus Shelters,
Council
Information
Panels,
Shelter cases and
Seating

1.1

Within Nottingham, inspections are conducted once a week and all infrastructure is cleaned once a
fortnight throughout the year. Within the County all bus shelters are cleaned and real time information
displays checked once a month.

JCDecaux Ltd /
Clear Channel /
County Council

1.2

Graffiti and Fly posters are removed within one working day of notification to JCDecaux Ltd / Clear
Channel / County Council. Offensive graffiti is removed within 4 hours of notification to JCDecaux Ltd /
Clear Channel / County Council.

1.3

Routine repairs, including the replacement of lamps and fluorescent tubes are conducted within 2
working days following notification to JCDecaux Ltd / Clear Channel / County Council
Non routine repairs are conducted by JCDecaux within 5 working days of notification and 28 working
days for Clear Channel / County Council.

1.4

Where damage has occurred that requires urgent attention due to a danger to traffic, pedestrians or
property JCDecaux Ltd / Clear Channel / County Council
will respond within 4 working hours for faults reported to and received by the Company between 0730
and 1800 hours on working days and by noon on the next working day for faults reported to and
received by the company between 1800 and 0730 hours on non-working days.

1.5

All bus stop information poles within the city centre will be inspected once a year and will be repainted
if necessary.

1.6

Timetable cases will be inspected and cleaned once a month in the city centre and Beeston Town
Centre. Graffiti and Fly posters will be removed within one working day of notification to the Councils.
Offensive graffiti will be removed within 4 working hours of notification to the Councils.

Page 352

FACILITY

Bus Stop
Information Poles
and Timetable
Cases

Public Transport
Teams

78

1.7

Bus stop plates will be cleaned at least 4 times in the city centre a year and whenever a service needs
to be added, removed or amended.

FACILITY

REF

OPERATIONAL ACTIONS AND SOLUTIONS

RESPONSIBILITY

Real-Time
Electronic
Displays

1.8

Electronic real-time displays will be visually checked at least 3 times a week in the city centre and will
be cleaned at least once a month. In Beeston Town Centre electronic real-time displays will be visually
checked once a week and cleaned at least once a month. Elsewhere in the Scheme Area, electronic
real-time displays will be visually checked and cleaned once a month.

Public Transport
Teams

1.9

Routine repairs are conducted within 2 working days following notification to the Council. Non routine
repairs are conducted within 5 working days of notification.

1.10

Where the display maintenance contractor cannot identify a fault, the display will be sent back to the
manufacturer, and if available, a new display will be installed at the site.

1.11

Where damage has occurred that requires urgent attention due to a danger to traffic, pedestrians or
property, the Council will respond within 5 working hours for faults reported to and received between
0730 and 1800 hours on working days and by noon on the next working day for faults reported to and
received between 1800 and 0730 hours on non-working days.

Electrical Supplies
to Infrastructure.

1.12

If for any reason a fault lies with the electricity supply to any of the infrastructure, then the fault will be
reported to the nominated electricity supplier. The responsibility in these circumstances is therefore out
of the control of the Council.

Nominated
Electricity Supplier

Bus Stands and
Bus Stop
Clearways

1.13

All bus stands, bus stop clearway markings and associated signing will be renewed if required in
advance of the introduction of the Scheme and will be maintained for the duration of the Scheme.

Traffic
Management
Teams

Page 353

Bus Stop Plates

79

Page 354

80

Schedule 6 – Bus Lanes Incorporated in the Enhanced Partnership Scheme
Nottingham City Council Bus Lane Map

81

Page 355

Nottingham City Council Bus Lane Operation Times and Lengths
Name

Side of
Road

Times

Length (m)

Arkwright Street (Bus Gate)

west

At Any Time

16

Hempshill Lane (Bus Gate)
Ilkeston Road (Bus Lane)

north
north

At Any Time
Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

29
449

Shakespeare Street ( Bus Only Street)

north

At Any Time

113

Ilkeston Road ( Bus Lane)

south

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

377

Mansfield Road ( Bus Lane)

east and
south-east

At Any Time

119

Mansfield Road ( Bus Lane)

east and
south-east

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

297

Cheapside/poultry (Bus Only Street)

both

At Any Time

23

At Any Time

205

At Any Time

313

Derby Road ( Bus Lane)
Derby Road ( Bus Lane)

north and
north-west
north and
north-west

Shakespeare Street ( Bus Only Street)

south

At Any Time

109

Carlton Road (Bus Lane)
Alfreton Road (Bus Lane)
Meadows Way (Bus Lane)
Derby Road (Bus Lane)

south-east
north-east
west
south-west

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am
Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am
At Any Time
At Any Time

276
233
118
246

Aspley Lane (Bus Lane)

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

261

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

872

Alfreton Road (Bus Lane)

north-east
east and
north-east
south-west

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

163

Nottingham Road (Bus Lane)

south-west

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

481

Mansfield Road ( Bus Lane)

west and
north-west

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

311

Carrington Street ( Bus Gate)

both

At Any Time

113

Aspley Lane ( Bus Lane)

south

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

333

Vere St ( Bus Only Street) ( North Side)

south

At Any Time

77

Hucknall Road ( Bus Lane)

east and
north-east

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

167

Friar Lane ( Bus Only Street)

both

At Any Time

7

Maid Marian Way ( Bus Lane)

east and
north-east

At Any Time

419

Derby Road ( Bus Lane)

south-west

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

463

Hucknall Road (Bus Lane)

82

Page 356

Carrington Street (Bus Only Street)

east

At Any Time

133

Derby Road ( Bus Lane)
Carlton Road ( Bus Lane)
Wollaton Road ( Bus Lane)

south-west
south-east
south

At Any Time
Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am
Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

526
706
95

Mansfield Road ( Bus Lane)

east and
south-east

At Any Time

424

Nottingham Road (Bus Lane)

north-east

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

246

Carlton Street ( Bus Only Street)

both

At Any Time

33

Lower Parliament Street ( Bus Gate )

south

At Any Time

8

Bobbers Mill Bridge (Centre Lane) (Bus
Gate)

south-west

At Any Time

37

Farnborough Road (Bus Lane)

south-west

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

611

Vere Street (Bus Only Street) (North
Side)

north

At Any Time

78

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

927

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

242

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

255

Mansfield Road ( Bus Lane)
Hucknall Road ( Bus Lane)
Hucknall Road ( Bus Lane)

east and
south-east
west and
south-west
east and
north-east

Vere Street ( Bus Only Street) (South
Side)

both

At Any Time

73

Ilkeston Road ( Bus Lane)

south

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

355

Shakespeare Street ( Bus Only Street)

north

7pm-7am

112

Arkwright Street ( Southern Section) (
Bus Lane)

south-west

At Any Time

142

Carlton Street ( Bus Only Street)

both

4.30pm-10am

29

Cranbrook Street (Bus Lane)

south-west

At Any Time

120

Maid Marian Way ( Bus Lane)

east and
north-east

Mon-Sat At Any Time

95

Electric Avenue ( Southern Section) (
Contraflow Bus Lane)

west

At Any Time

70

Canal Street ( Bus Lane)

south

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am and
4pm-6pm

72

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

206

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

206

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

356

At Any Time

589

Hucknall Road ( Bus Lane)
Hucknall Road ( Bus Lane)
Ilkeston Road ( Bus Lane)
Queens Drive ( Bus Lane)

west and
south-west
west and
south-west
north
west and
north-west

83

Page 357

Hounds Gate ( Bus Only Street)

both

At Any Time

44

Hounds Gate ( Bus Only Street)

both

4.30pm-10am

47

Milton Street ( Bus Gate)
Daleside Road

east
south-east

At Any Time
At Any Time

8
431

Edwards Lane ( Bus Lane)

east

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

352

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

913

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am

137

Mansfield Road ( Bus Lane)
Derby Road ( Bus Lane)

west and
north-west
north and
north-west

Market Street ( Bus Only Street)

both

At Any Time

29

South Sherwood Street ( Contraflow Bus
Lane)

east

At Any Time

158

Derby Road ( Bus Lane)

north and
north-west

At Any Time

196

Woodborough Road ( Bus Lane)

south-east

At Any Time

212

Alfreton Road ( Bus Lane)
Carlton Road ( Bus Lane)

north-east
north-west

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am
Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

369
331

Hucknall Road

north-east

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am and
4pm-6pm

717

Alfreton Road ( Bus Lane)
Wollaton Road ( Bus Lane)

north-east
south

Mon-Fri 7.30am-9.30am
Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

341
177

Cinderhill Roundabout ( Bus Lane) (
Northern Arm)

north

At Any Time

111

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

380

At Any Time

302

Meadows Way ( Bus Lane)

west and
south-west
east

Hockley ( Contraflow Bus Lane)

south

At Any Time

93

Milton Street ( Bus Gate)

east

7pm-7am

8

Shakespeare Street ( Bus Only Street)

south

7pm-7am

108

Lower Parliament Street ( Bus Gate )

south

7pm-7am

9

Daleside Road East
Daleside Road
Carlton Street (Bus Gate)

north
north-west
both

At Any Time
At Any Time
At Any Time

1374
419
28

Cheapside/poultry ( Bus Only Street)

both

4.30pm-10am

23

Friar Lane ( Bus Only Street)

both

4.30pm-10am

7

Market Street ( Bus Only Street)

both

4.30pm-10am

25

Daleside Road East

south

At Any Time

1326

Nuthall Road ( Bus Lane)

84

Page 358

Greater Nottingham
Nottinghamshire County Council Bus Lanes
Operation Times and Lengths
Borough of Rushcliffe
Side of
Road

Name

Times

Length (m)

Mon-Fri
7.30am-9.30am and
4pm-6pm

129

East

At Any Time

183

Loughborough Road (Bus Lane) (West
Bridgford)

West

At Any Time

200

Radcliffe Road (Bus Lane) (Gamston)

South

At Any Time

Radcliffe Road (Bus Lane) (West Bridgford)

SouthWest

At Any Time

367

Central Avenue (Bus Lane) (West Bridgford)

SouthWest

Mon – Sat 7am – 7pm

179

Central Avenue (Bus Gate) (West Bridgford)

North-East

At any time

1

Bridgford Road (Bus Lane) (West Bridgford)

SouthWest

Loughborough Road (Bus Lane) (West
Bridgford)

458

Borough of Gedling
Name

Side of
Road

A60 Mansfield Road (Bus Lane) (Woodthorpe)

East

Times

Length (m)

Mon – Fri 07:30 – 09:30

455

Borough of Broxtowe
Name
Nottingham Road (Bus Lane) (Nuthall)

Side of
Road
North-East

Times

Length (m)

Mon – Fri 07:30 – 09:30

517

85

Page 359

Nottingham Road (Bus Gate) (Nuthall)

SouthWest

Styring Street (Bus Lane) (Beeston)

North-East

At Any Time

174

Styring Street (Bus Lane) (Beeston)

SouthWest

At Any Time

100

Fletcher Road/Lower Road (Tram Gate)
(Beeston)

SouthWest

At Any Time

34

84

Mon-Fri 4pm-6pm

86

Page 360

Schedule 7 – Affected Services
CORE LOCAL SERVICES - As at 9 November 2021
Service Number

rainbow one
the two
the threes
4
6
10
11
15
16
17
27
28
30
31
34
35
36
39
41
43
44
45
48
49
58
77
78
79
87
88
89
68/69
the calverton
Ecolink
i4
indigo
the keyworth
pronto
red arrow
rainbow one
mainline

Operator

trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
trentbarton
CT4N
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
Stagecoach
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton

Service Description

Nottingham - Eastwood - Ripley
Nottingham - Ilkeston - Cotmanhay
Nottingham - Hucknall - Sutton - Mansfield
City - Trent Bridge - NTU Campus Clifton
City - Edwalton
City - Wilford Hill - Ruddington
City - Meadows - Lady Bay
City - Hucknall Road - Rise Park
City - Hucknall Road - Rise Park
City - Hucknall Road - Bulwell
City - Carlton
City - Bilborough
City - Wollaton
City - Jubilee Campus
City - University of Nottingham
City - Wollaton - Bulwell
City - Beeston - Chilwell
City - Carlton Valley
City - St Ann's
City - Bakersfield
City - Netherfield - Gedling
City - Mapperley - Gedling
City - Clifton
City - Boots (via Queens Drive and Electric Avenue)
City - Arnold - Killisick
City - Strelley
City - Aspley - Strelley
City - Aspley - Bulwell - Arnold
City - Edwards Lane - Arnold
City - Edwards Lane - Top Valley
City - Edwards Lane - Rise Park
City - Sherwood Rise - Bulwell - Snape Wood
Nottingham - Arnold - Calverton
City - Racecourse Park and Ride - Victoria Park
Nottingham - Sandiacre - Derby
Nottingham - Long Eaton - Derby
Nottingham - Keyworth
Nottingham - Mansfield
Nottingham - Derby
Nottingham - Eastwood
Nottingham - Bingham

Daytime Evening
Sunday
frequency frequency frequency

10
10
10
7.5
15
15
12
15
15
7.5
10
7.5
15
15
15
10
7.5
10
10
7.5
10
7.5
10
15
10
6
15
15
15
15
7.5
7.5
15
15
10
10
15
10
10
10
10

30
30
30
30
30
60
45
30
30
30
30
15
60
None
20
30
15
20
30
20
30
30
30
60
30
15
60
60
60
60
30
30
40
None
30
15
60
60
30
30
20

87

Page 361

15
20
20
30
30
30
30
60
60
30
30
10
60
None
15
20
10
15
15
15
20
20
15
None
20
15
30
30
60
60
20
15
60
None
20
15
30
30
20
30
40

COMPLEMENTARY LOCAL SERVICES - As at 9 November 2021
Service Number

1
3
5
7
8
9
Kinchbus 9
eighteen
33 / 33x
19
20
21
24
25
Sherwood Arrow
40
42
56
57
59
70
71
90
100
141
46/47
Collegelink
the cotgrave
L14
L2
L4
L5
rushcliffe villager
skylink Nottingham
skylnk express
W1

Operator

NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
Kinchbus
CT4N
CT4N
Centrebus
trentbarton
trentbarton
NCT
NCT
Stagecoach
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
Marshalls
NCT
trentbarton
NCT
College
trentbarton
CT4N
CT4N
CT4N
CT4N
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
CT4N

Service Description

Nottingham - Clifton - Loughborough
City - Ruddington - Clifton
City - Melton Road - Gamston
City - Abbey Park - Gamston
City - Wilford Hill - Compton Acres
City - Compton Acres - Wilford Hill
Nottingham - Loughborough
Nottingham - Beeston - Stapleford
Sutton-Cum-Granby - Cotgrave - Nottingham
Nottingham - Melton Mowbray - Oakham
Nottingham - Stapleford - Ilkeston - Heanor
Nottingham - Stapleford - Ilkeston
City - Westdale Lane
City - Carlton - Arnold
Nottingham - Ollerton - Worksop
City - St Ann's - City Hospital
City - St Ann's
City - Plains Estate - Arnold
City - Plains Estate
City - Arnold - Killisick
City - Basford - Bulwell
City - Basford - Bulwell
Nottingham - Newark
Nottingham - Southwell
Nottingham - Hucknall - Blidworth - Sutton
Nottingham - Lambley - Woodborough
City - Bilborough College
Nottingham - West Bridgford - Cotgrave
City - Heathfield - Bulwell
City - Wollaton - Assarts Farm
City - Radford - Aspley
City - Wollaton Park Estate
Nottingham - Bingham via East Bridgford & Radcliffe
Nottingham - Long Eaton - East Midlands Airport - Loughborough
Nottingham - Clifton - East Midlands Airport
City - Lenton Lane Industrial Area

Daytime Evening
Sunday
frequency frequency frequency

20
20
30
30
30
30
30
30
30
120
None
60
20
20
60
30
30
30
30
30
30
30
60
30
60
30
80
20
60
40
60
60
60
20
30
Peak

30
None
None
60
60
None
120
None
None
None
None
60
None
30
120
60
60
75
None
60
60
60
120
60
None
60
None
60
None
None
None
None
None
60
60
None

30
None
60
60
60
30
60
None
None
None
60
None
None
30
120
60
60
60
None
60
60
60
120
60
None
60
None
60
None
None
None
None
None
30
30
None

NIGHT SERVICES - FRIDAY AND SATURDAY EVENINGS
Service Number

N4
N6
N27
N28
N34
N36
N48
N58
N68
N77
N89
N100
the calverton
the cotgrave
indigo
i4
the keyworth
pronto
rainbow one
the two
the threes
red arrow
mainline
skylink nottingham

Operator

NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
NCT
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton
trentbarton

Service Description

City - Trent Bridge - NTU Campus Clifton
City - Edwalton - Wilford Hill
City - Carlton - Mapperley - Woodborough Road
City - Bilborough - Wollaton Vale
City - University of Nottingham
City - University of Nottingham - Chilwell
City - Meadows - Clifton
City - Arnold - Arno Vale
City - Basford - Bulwell
Nottingham to Bells Lane via Aspley Lane, Strelley
City - Bestwood Park - Rise Park
Nottingham - Southwell
Nottingham - Calverton
Nottingham - Cotgrave
Nottingham - Long Eaton - Derby
Nottingham - Sandiacre - Derby
Nottingham - Keyworth
Nottingham - Mansfield
Nottingham - Eastwood
Nottingham - Ilkeston - Cotmanhay
Nottingham - Hucknall - Sutton
Nottingham - Derby
Nottingham - Bingham
Nottingham - Long Eaton - East Midlands Airport

Evening
frequency

4 jnys
3 jnys
3 jnys
3 jnys
5 jnys
3 jnys
3 jnys
3 jnys
3 jnys
3 jnys
3 jnys
3 jnys
4 jnys
2 jnys
9 jnys
3 jnys
3 jnys
3 jnys
8 jnys
4 jnys
7 jnys
8 jnys
4 jnys
4 jnys

88

Page 362

Schedule 8 - Enhanced Partnership Scheme Delivery Projects
Funding Source

Scheme

Cost
(Revenue)

Transforming Cities

Thane Road Bus Lane
Cinderhill Island Bus Lane
Bulwell Bus Station
Realtime Information Back Office
A60, A609, A610, A453 Traffic Light Priority
Bus Lane Enforcement Cameras
Northern Bus Priority

Cost
(Capital)
£2.5m
£1.7m
£0.9m
£2m
£4.1m
£0.25m
£7.8m

ZEBRA

NCT Electric Bus

£15.2m

89

Page 363

Schedule 9
GREATER NOTTINGHAM (ROBIN HOOD AREA)
ENHANCED PARTNERSHIP SCHEME

UNDERTAKING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TRANSPORT ACT 2000 (as
amended)

TO:

Traffic Commissioner for the North Eastern Traffic Area
Hillcrest House
Harehills Lane
Leeds
LS9 6NF

FROM: {Name and address of Operator}

{Name of Operator} hereby undertakes to provide Local Services to the standards
specified in the Scheme when using the Facilities

All terms used in this undertaking have the same meaning as those set out in the
Greater Nottingham Enhanced Partnership Scheme as made on {insert date}

SIGNED
{insert name of Director of Operator Company}

{Title}
{Operator Company name}

DATE:

90

Page 364

APPENDIX 1 - BUS STOP SPECIFICATION NOTTINGHAM CITY CENTRE

Information Pole

Bus Stop Plate

4-Sided Timetable
Drum
Raised kerbs













Real-time



Litter Bin





Shelter




Maintenance
Bus Stand/
Bus Stop Clearway








114mm pole or 76mm broad based pole
Galvanised steel
4m above ground
Electrics Door and mounting board for electrics
Electrical feed to each pole
Aluminum with white finish
Length 1000mm, width 375mm
Pre-printed with “Bus Stop” or “Bus Stand” legend, bus logo, service
grid in black and Robin Hood Network Logo.
Black pole-mounted narrow width brackets top and bottom
Metal framed timetable cases with polycarbonate panels.
Minimum standard kerb height provided at Bus Stops and Bus Stands
within the Scheme Area will be 125mm, with an acceptable height of
140mm, and a maximum height of 160mm.
3 line LED or TfT Electronic Display provided at all Bus Stops and
Bus Stands, unless excluded in Appendix 1.
Real-time or scheduled information displayed.
Floor mounted litter bin located in close proximity to the bus stop.
Situated so as not to obstruct view of timetable case, access to
advertising panel, or general access to bus.
Provided at all Bus Stops and Bus Stands In Nottingham City and
Beeston Town Centre unless excluded in Appendix 2.
Size and orientation of shelter provided dependent on site
conditions.
All shelters will be illuminated.
All shelters will include seating provision (subject to site conditions).
Orientation of shelter dependent of site conditions.
As detailed in Schedule 7.
Provided at Bus Stops and Bus Stands as detailed in Appendix 2
and Appendix 6.
If provided, will be in accordance with The Traffic Signs Regulations
and General Directions 2002.

91

Page 365

APPENDIX 2
NOTTINGHAM CITY CENTRE BUS STOP INFRASTRUCTURE

Bus Stop Number and Name
A1
Angel Row
A2
Angel Row
A3
Angel Row
A4
Angel Row
B1
Beastmarket Hill
B2
Beastmarket Hill
B3
Beastmarket Hill
C2
Canal Street
C3
Canal Street
C4
Canal Street
C9
Maid Marian Way
C10
Canal Street
CL11 Greyfriar Gate
CL12 Greyfriar Gate
E1
Elite
E2
Elite
F1
Friar Lane
F2
Friar Lane
F3
F4
G1
G2
G3
H1
H2
H3
H4
H5
H6
H7
H8
J1
J2
J3
J4
J5

Friar Lane
Friar Lane
NTU City Campus
NTU City Campus
NTU City Campus
Fletcher Gate
George Street
Palais
Palais
Huntingdon Street
Boston Street
Hockley
George Street
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre

Bus Stop
Restriction*
see below
1
1
1
1
2
2
2
1
1
1
3
NONE
1
1
3
3
2
2

Bus
Stop
Info
Pole
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

1m Bus
Stop
Plate
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

4 sided
Timetable
Drum
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

JCDecaux
Bus
Shelter
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

Real
Time
Display
X* see
below
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

1
1
3
3
1
NONE
3
3
3
NONE
3
1
NONE
1
2
2
2
2

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

92

Page 366

J6
M1
M2
M3
M4
M5
M6
N1
P1
P2
P3

Victoria Centre
Maid Marian Way
Maid Marian Way
Maid Marian Way
Maid Marian Way
Castle College
Mount Street
Canal Street
Parliament Street
Parliament Street
Parliament Street

Bus Stop Number and Name
P4
Parliament Street
P5
Parliament Street
S1
Nottingham Station
S2
Nottingham Station
S3
Nottingham Station
S4
Nottingham Station
S5
Nottingham Station
S6
Nottingham Station
S7
T1
T2
T3
T4
T5
T6
T7
T8
U1
U2
U3
U4
U5
V1
V2
V3
V4
V5
W1
W2
W3
W4

Nottingham Station
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
York House
York House
Burton Street
Burton Street
Upper Parliament Street
Upper Parliament Street
Upper Parliament Street
Upper Parliament Street
Upper Parliament Street
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre
Victoria Centre

2
NONE
NONE
3
3
3
3
NONE
5
5
5

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

Bus Stop
Restriction*
see below
5
5
3
3
3
3
3
3

Bus
Stop
Info
Pole
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

1m Bus
Stop
Plate
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

1
2
2
2
2
1
1
7
6
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
NONE
3
3
3
3

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

4 sided
Timetable
Drum
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

JCDecaux
Bus
Shelter
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

Real
Time
Display
X* see
below
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

93

Page 367

X1
X2
Y1
Y2
Y3
Y4
Y5
Y6
Y7
Y9

Mount Street
Mount Street
Cathedral
Cathedral
Cathedral
Cathedral
Wollaton Street
Talbot Street
Tollhouse Hill
Clarendon Street

1
1
3
3
3
3
3
NONE
3
NONE

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

Bus Stop Restriction Code and Real Time Explanation
1

No stopping at any time except local buses.

2

No stopping at any time except local buses (max 10 mins).

3

No stopping 7 am - 7 pm except local buses. No waiting 7 pm - 7 am.

4

No stopping 7 am - 7 pm except local buses (max 10 mins). No waiting 7 pm - 7 am.

5

No stopping 7 - 10 am & 4 - 7 pm except local buses (max 10 mins). No waiting 10 am - 4 pm & 7 pm - 7 am

6

No stopping 4 am - 10 pm except local buses. No stopping 10 pm - 4 am except taxis.

7

No stopping 4 am - 10 pm except local buses (max 10 mins). No stopping 10 pm - 4 am except taxis.

BEESTON TOWN CENTRE

Bus Stop Number and Name

BR0525
BRO524
BR0526
BR0523
BR0527
BR0241
BR0254
Bus
Stand
BR0213
BR0473
BR0278
BR0279
BR0456
BR0457
BR0613
BR0614
BR0615
BR0616
BR0617

Salthouse Lane
Salthouse Lane
Humber Rd
Humber Rd
Marlborough Rd
Resource Centre
City Rd
Regent St
Jessamine Court
Nether St
Queens Rd
Queens Rd
Linden Grove
Linden Grove
Bay 1
Bay 2
Bay 3
Bay 4
Bay 5

Bus Stop
Restriction*
see below
1
2
2
1
1
1
1

Bus
Stop
Info
Pole
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

1m Bus
Stop
Plate
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

X
√
√
√
√
√
√
X
X
√
√
√

X
√
√
√
√
√
√
X
X
√
√
√

Timetable
Cases

4
4
4
3
4
4
4

Real
Time
Display
X* see
below
√
√
√
√
√
√
√

Bus
Shelter
√

X
√
√
√

X
√

X

X

4
3
4
4
2
3
4
4
4
4
4

X
X

X
√
√
√
√
√
√
X
X
√
√
√

√
√

X
X
√
√
√
√
√

94

Page 368

BR0618
BPTI
Stand 1
BPTI
Stand 2
BR0521
BR0522
BR0095
BR0096
BR0097
BR0080
BR0081
BR00363
BR00331
BR0594
BR0061

Bay 6
Bus Stand 1
Bus Stand 2
Church St
Church St
Collin St
Ellis Grove
Wilmot Lane
Central College
Central College
Wilkinson Ave
Wilkinson Ave
Lace Rd
Lidl

1

√

√

1

X

X

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
1

X
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
X
√

X
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
√
X
√

4

√

X

X

X

X

3
4
4
4
4
3
4
3
3
3
3

√
√

√
X
X
√
X
√
√
√
√
√
X
√
X
X

X
X
√

X
√

X
X
√

X

Bus Stop Restriction Code and Real Time Explanation
1

No stopping at any time except local buses.

2

Double Yellow Lines

95

Page 369

APPENDIX 3 – SLOT BOOKING SYSTEM

DEFINITION OF THE SLOT BOOKING SYSTEM FOR BUS STOPS IN
NOTTINGHAM CITY CENTRE

1.

DEFINITIONS & INTERPRETATION

These provisions relate to Regulated Bus Stops within Nottingham City Centre, as
covered by the AQPS. For the purposes of this note the following words shall have
the following meanings:a) “Council” means Nottingham City Council;
b) “Bus Stop” means each bus stopping point within the SQPS area that is
marked by a bus stop flag sign and listed in Appendix 4;
c) “Regulated Bus Stop” means any Bus Stop within the AQPS area specified as a
Regulated Stop in Appendix 4 at which the number of departures in each 30minute operating period is limited (For example, a Departure Cap of 4
departures in each operating period may be permitted from a stand and the
registration of further departures from that Bus Stop would not be permitted).
d) “Non-Regulated Bus Stops” normally function as stops on the final inbound
approach to the city centre, at which the overwhelming majority of passengers
will be alighting from rather than boarding the buses serving the stop. Any
other Bus Stop that is not specifically defined as a Regulated Bus Stop or as a
Bus Stand is defined as a “Non-Regulated Bus Stop” in Appendix 4 and has no
limit on the number of departures permitted from that stop in any operating
period.
e) “Bus Stand Clearway” means a Regulated Bus Stop used for terminating
services as detailed in Appendix 4;
f) “Bus Stop Clearway” (Regulated or Non-Regulated) means a Bus Stop
intended for use by services operating through the stop rather than terminating
at it;
g) “Bus Stop (Not Clearway)” means a Bus Stop that is not regulated and is
intended for bus services operating through the stop rather than terminating at
it, as specified in Appendix 4.
h) “Service” means a service provided along the same route by one operator and
denoted by a single service number or service name. This will include any
minor variations of the same service as denoted by a prefix or suffix attached to
the basic service number or service name.
i) “Departure” means either a) a scheduled in-service departure from a Bus Stop
or b) any out-of service movement away from a bus stop in those instances
where there is no scheduled in-service departure but there has been a
scheduled in-service arrival at the bus stop and that journey has terminated
there;
j) "Departure Slot" means an allotted period of time in which a bus operator can
occupy a bus stand in order to take up a scheduled departure, as more
specifically set out in paragraphs 3 and 4;
k) “Departure Cap” means the maximum number of departure slots available at a
bus stand within an operating period;
96

Page 370

l) “Operating period” means a 30-minute operating period into which the operating
day is divided;
m) “Double operating period” means a 60-minute period where it is appropriate for
the requirements of that extended period to be taken into consideration as a
single entity;
n) “Stop Group” means a group of bus stands or bus stops, usually along the
same side of the same street that share the same alphabetic character of their
stop code.
o) “Stop Code” means the 2-character code applied to each bus stop in the
Nottingham city centre AQPS zone. The first character in the code is alphabetic
and denotes the location of the Stop Group (e.g. B means Beastmarket Hill).
The second character in the code is numeric and denotes the number of that
stop within the Stop Group (e.g. Z3 would denote the 3rd stop within the “Z” bus
stand group);
p) “Bus Stop Cage” means the marked area on the carriageway to accommodate
buses standing at a Bus Stop Clearway or Bus Stand Clearway;
q) “Bus Stations” means Broad marsh Bus Station, Victoria Bus Station Or
Queen’s Drive Park and Ride.

2.

GENERAL PRINCIPLES
1.

2.

3.
4.

3.

There will be 3 basic types of stop within the central area:
a) Bus Stands for terminating services (with up to 6 specified Departure
slots in each 30-minute operating period);
b) Regulated Bus Stops for through services (with a maximum 10
departures in each 30-minute operating period);
c) Non-regulated Bus Stops for through services, where operators must
comply with the terms of any Bus Stop Clearway Order and shall, in any
event, not layover at a Non-Regulated Bus Stop for longer than 2
minutes.
All departures on the same service, provided by the same operator, must
observe the same Bus Stop for all departures and cannot be split over 2 or
more stops within the same Stop Group.
Each service, provided by the same operator, must observe only one Bus
Stand within the AQPS area.
Each service, provided by the same operator, must observe only one
Regulated Bus Stop within the same Stop Group.

DEFINITION OF A DEPARTURE SLOT AT A REGULATED BUS STOP
1.

2.

At Regulated Bus Stops there will be no specifically defined start and end
time for a departure slot but the number of departures in any 30-minute
operating period should be kept at or below the stated limit of 10
departures.
Operators should recognise it as in their operational interest to distribute
departures evenly with buses leaving the stop at no less than a 3-minute
scheduled interval.
97

Page 371

4.
1.
2.
3.

4.

5.
6.
7.

8.
9.
10.

DEFINITION OF A DEPARTURE SLOT AT A BUS STAND
Each Bus Stand has between 3 and 6 Departure Slots available in any 30minute operating period.
The number of Departure Slots at a Bus Stand will be determined by the
defined Departure Cap for that Stand (See Table 1).
The Departure Cap is determined by the headway of the most frequent
service using that Stand, with due consideration to any complimentary
services that need to be accommodated.
Departure Slots will only be allocated for any service where that service has
one departure or more in any 120-minute continuous operating period.
(Block of 4 30 minute operating periods).
Buses must not leave the Stand with less than a 5-minute interval between
that scheduled departure and other scheduled departures.
Buses must not be scheduled to be on the Stand within the allocated slot of
another departure.
If the preceding Departure Slot is NOT booked then a bus may be
scheduled to wait on the Bus Stand for up to 10 minutes prior to its
departure time.
Engines should be switched off (within reason) where waiting time exceeds
2 minutes.
Vehicles should not be left unattended without a driver at any time.
The Departure Caps available for a Bus Stand are outlined in Table 1:

98

Page 372

TABLE 1
SPECIFIED DEPARTURE CAPS AVAILABLE FOR A BUS STAND
(FOR EACH 30-MINUTE PERIOD)
Departure
Cap
3 Departures

Compatible
Headways
10 minutes

4 Departures

7/8 minutes
8 minutes
5 minutes

6 Departures

Comment
Suitable where reduced use of the stand is
desirable due to location/design
Suitable for Core services
Only permitted where this level of service exists
already. Will not be permitted at new stands, or
at any other existing stands. If any services are
removed from the Stand, it will default to a 4
Departures Departure Cap. Requests for 5
minute departures at stops with common service
operation will also be considered but judged on a
case by case basis in light of prevalent conditions
at individual stops.

N.B. 5
5.

ALTERNATIVES
1.

2.

6.

It may not always be possible to accommodate a new service at the
operator’s preferred stop and other stopping points may need to be
considered in such a situation.
As well as Bus Stands, Bus Stops may be available for new services to
use (within the stated departure criteria that apply there) and there may
also be slots available for longer layover in the bus stations.

REGISTRATION WITH TRAFFIC COMMISSIONER AND MAKING A SLOT
BOOKING WITH NOTTINGHAM CITY COUNCIL (note that Registration
powers may transfer to the Council)
1.

2.

3.

Operators are required to register changes to bus services with the Traffic
Commissioner in accordance with the applicable time period specified in
the Public Service Vehicles (Registration of Local Services) Regulations
1986. Prior to registration with the Traffic Commissioner, the operator
should submit the requested change to a bus service to the Council
together with supporting evidence for the Council to consider in
accordance with the applicable time period specified in the Public Service
Vehicles (Registration of Local Services) Regulations 1986.
For any service that will use Bus Stands or Regulated Bus Stops within
Nottingham city centre operators will be expected to state which stops they
intend to observe by quoting the relevant 2 character Stop Code.
Notwithstanding the applicable time periods specified in the Public Service
Vehicles (Registration of Local Services) Regulations 1986, in order to
arrange a Departure Slot the operator should approach the Council with
details of their service number, proposed route and provisional Stop
Codes no later than the latter of:
a. 70 days before the change to the bus service comes into effect; and
99

Page 373

4.

5.
6.

7.

8.

9.

b. 42 days before the date on which the operator is required to notify the
Traffic Commissioner in accordance with the applicable time period
specified in the Public Service Vehicles (Registration of Local Services)
Regulations 1986 and Bus Service Act 2017.
save in respect of changes that are required as a result of unforeseen
events, such as emergencies or other events are outside of the control of
the operator that lead to road closures, in such circumstances the operator
should approach the Council as soon as reasonably possible before
registering such changes with the Traffic Commissioner.
If the Council decides to support the requested change, it will write a letter
of support to be submitted by the operator to the Traffic Commissioner
when registering the relevant change to the bus service.
The Council will consider each proposal and allocate services to specific
Departure Slots at Bus Stands either at the operator’s preferred Bus Stand
or at an alternative Bus Stand in the vicinity if the preferred Bus Stand is
not available.
For Regulated Bus Stops, the Council will ensure that each new service
will not exceed the departure limit of that stop.
Where an incumbent service is present at a Bus Stand or Regulated Bus
Stop will take precedent over a new service that is seeking to take up a
slot at the Bus Stand or regulated Bus Stop.
To determine, for the purposes of paragraph 6.6, incumbency at a Bus
Stand or Regulated Bus Stop, services will be ranked in terms of the first
date of registration for that service with the Traffic Commissioner at its
current headway (with earlier registrations taking priority over more recent
registrations).
If a service is to introduce more departures from a Bus Stand or Regulated
Bus Stop then it can do this until all available slots on that Bus Stand are
taken. Once no vacant slots remain, it is up to the service that is being
increased to either: - (a) locate to an alternative bus stand where the
required slots are available for use; or (b) for another service from the
existing stand to be located to an alternative stand (this could only be done
with the agreement of any other operator using the same Stand).
Where prior to the commencement of the Scheme two or more services
have registered the same scheduled Departure Slot from a Bus Stand
within the Scheme Area, all operators other than the first operator to have
registered their service at such Bus Stand with such departure time shall,
as soon as reasonably practicable, re-register their service either with an
alternative Departure time or at an alternative Bus Stop in accordance with
this paragraph 6.

100

Page 374

DEFINITION OF THE SLOT BOOKING SYSTEM FOR BUS BAYS IN BEESTON
PUBLIC TRANSPORT INTERCHANGE
1. DEFINITIONS & INTERPRETATION
These provisions relate to Regulated Bus Bays and Regulated Bus Stands within the
BPTI area, as covered by the Scheme. For the purposes of this note the following
words shall have the following meanings:a) “Council” means Nottinghamshire County Council;
b) “Regulated Bus Bay” means any Bus Bay within the BPTI specified as a
Regulated Bus Stop in Schedule 1 at which the number of Departures in each
30-minute operating period is limited, that is marked by a Bus Stop flag sign
and listed in Schedule 1;
c) “Bus Stop Clearway” (Regulated or Non-Regulated) means a Bus Stop
intended for use by services operating through the Bus Stop rather than
terminating at it;
d) “Regulated Bus Stand” means any Bus Stand within the BPTI area specified as
a Bus Stand in Schedule 1 at which the number of Departures in each 30minute period is limited and is marked by a Bus Stand flag sign;
e) “Service” means a service provided along a single route by one Bus Operator
and denoted by a single service number or service name. This will include any
minor variations of the same service as denoted by a prefix or suffix attached
to the basic service number or service name;
f) “Departure” means a scheduled in-service departure from a Regulated Bus
Bay;
g) "Departure Slot" means an allotted period of time in which a Bus Operator can
occupy a Regulated Bus Bay in order to take up a scheduled departure, as
more specifically set out in paragraphs 3 and 4;
h) “Operating Pattern” means the pattern of Departure Slots available from a
Regulated Bus Bay;
i) “Operating period” means a 30-minute operating period into which the
operating day is divided;
j) “Stop Group” means a group of Regulated Bus Bays along the same side of the
BPTI;
k) “Stop Code” means the code applied to each Regulated Bus Bay in the BPTI;
l) “Duplicate Service” means a Service operated by a Bus Operator that runs an
identical route to another Service of the same Operator concurrently to help
reduce delays on that route.
101

Page 375

2.

GENERAL PRINCIPLES

2.1
There will be 2 basic types of stop within the BPTI area:
a)
Regulated Bus Bays for through services, where Bus Operators must
not layover for longer than 2 minutes; and
b)
Regulated Bus Stands for layover of terminated services which have to
wait for their allotted time on a Regulated Bus Bay within the BPTI.
2.2
All departures on the same Service, provided by the same Bus
Operator, must use the Regulated Bus Bay allocated by the Council for all
departures. Where possible the Council will allocate a single Regulated Bus Bay for
each Bus Operator for all of their services, and where this is not possible, the
Council will seek alternative options as stated in section 5 of this Appendix.
2.3
Bus Operators will not use the BPTI for crew and/or equipment
changeover.

3.

DEFINITION OF A DEPARTURE SLOT AT A REGULATED BUS BAY

3.1
At Regulated Bus Bays there will be no specifically defined start and
end time for a Departure Slot but the number of Departures in any 30-minute
operating period shall be kept at or below a maximum of 10 Departures.
3.2
Bus Operators should recognise it as in their operational interest to
distribute Departures evenly with Buses leaving the Regulated Bus Bay at no less
than a 3-minute scheduled interval.
3.3
Bus Operators will be responsible for managing clashes on the
Regulated Bus Bay where a Duplicate Service is being run. The use of adjacent
Regulated Bus Bays will not be available for Duplicate Services which must run from
the same Regulated Bus Bay as the Service they are duplicating.
4.

DEFINITION OF A DEPARTURE SLOT AT A REGULATED BUS STAND

4.1
Each Regulated Bus Stand has a maximum of 6 Departure Slots
available in any 30-minute operating period.
4.2
Departure Slots will only be allocated in accordance with paragraph 6
for any Service where that Service has one Departure or more in any 60-minute
double operating period.
4.3
Buses may leave the Regulated Bus Stand at any time within its
booked Departure Slot, provided that the waiting time at the Regulated Bus Stand
prior to that Departure does not overlap into a preceding booked Departure Slot
(where it is booked by another service)
4.4
Table 1 specifies the Departure Slots available for booking this
operating pattern, being 6 5 minute Departure Slots in each 30-minute operating
102

Page 376

period.
4.5
If the preceding Departure Slot is booked then a Bus may only wait on
the Regulated Bus Stand for the 5 minute period within its Departure Slot.
4.6
If the preceding Departure Slots are not booked then subject to
paragraph 4.7 a Bus may be scheduled to wait on the Regulated Bus Stand for up to
15 minutes prior to its departure time.
4.7
If further Departures are booked onto the Regulated Bus Stand then
any Departure that is scheduled to wait on the Regulated Bus Stand for 10 or 15
minutes in accordance with paragraph 4.6 will be required to reduce its waiting time
so that it does not overlap with the preceding Departure Slot which has been
booked.
4.8
Engines should be switched off (within reason) where waiting time
exceeds 2 minutes.
4.9
5.

Vehicles should not be left unattended without a driver at any time.

ALTERNATIVES

5.1
It may not always be possible to accommodate a new service at the
Bus Operator’s preferred Regulated Bus Bay and other stopping points may need to
be considered in such a situation.
5.2
Regulated Bus Bays may be available for new services to use (within
the stated departure criteria that apply there).
6.
REGISTRATION WITH TRAFFIC COMMISSIONER AND MAKING A SLOT
BOOKING WITH NOTTINGHAMSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
6.1
Bus Operators are required to register changes to Bus services with
the Traffic Commissioner with 56 days' notice. The Bus Operator shall inform the
Council of the proposed service changes a minimum of 10 working days in advance
of submitting such application to the Traffic Commissioner. All notifications should be
sent to the Council and addressed to TBH - Transport & Travel Services,
Nottinghamshire County Council, County Hall, Loughborough Road, West Bridgford,
Nottingham NG2 7QP.
6.2
Where a Bus Operator provides a service under the frequent service
provisions (where registration of changes is not required by the Traffic
Commissioner) then the Bus Operator shall inform the Council of the proposed
changes within the same timescales as those set out in paragraph 6.1.
6.3
For any service that will use Regulated Bus Bays and/or Regulated
Bus Stands within the BPTI area, Bus Operators shall state which Regulated Bus
Bays and/or Regulated Bus Stands they wish to use by quoting the relevant Stop
Code.

103

Page 377

6.4
In order to arrange a Departure Slot the Bus Operator shall provide the
Council with details of the proposed service number, proposed route and provisional
Stop Codes prior to registration with the Traffic Commissioner. This approach to the
Council shall be at least 10 working days in advance of registration with the Traffic
Commissioner.
6.5
The Council will consider each proposal and allocate services to
specific Departure Slots at Regulated Bus Bays and/or Regulated Bus Stands either
at the Bus Operator’s preferred Regulated Bus Bay and/or Regulated Bus Stand or
at an alternative Regulated Bus Bay or Regulated Bus Stand in the vicinity if the
preferred Regulated Bus Bay or Regulated Bus Stand is not available.
6.6
For Regulated Bus Bays and Regulated Bus Stands, the Council will
ensure that each new Service will not exceed the departure limit of that Regulated
Bus Bay or Regulated Bus Stand.
6.7
Where an incumbent Service is present at a Regulated Bus Bay it will
take precedence over a new Service that is seeking to take up a slot at that
Regulated Bus Bay.
6.8
To determine, for the purposes of paragraph 6.7, incumbency at a
Regulated Bus Bay, Services will be ranked in terms of the first date of registration
for that service with the Traffic Commissioner at its current headway (with earlier
registrations taking priority over more recent registrations).
6.9
If a Service is to introduce more Departures from a Regulated Bus Bay
then it can do this until all available slots on that Regulated Bus Bay are taken. Once
no vacant slots remain, it is up to the Bus Operator of the Service that is being
increased to either: - (a) request that they be relocated to an alternative Regulated
Bus Bay where the required slots are available for use; or (b) with the agreement of
another Bus Operator using the Regulated Bus Bay, relocate that Service to an
alternative Regulated Bus Bay.
6.10 Where prior to the commencement of the Scheme two or more
services have registered the same scheduled Departure Slot from a Regulated Bus
Bay within the BPTI, all Bus Operators other than the first Bus Operator to have
registered their service at such Regulated Bus Bay with such departure time shall, as
soon as reasonably practicable, re-register their service either with an alternative
Departure time or at an alternative Regulated Bus Bay in accordance with paragraph
6.5.
6.11 Regulated Bus Bay and Regulated Bus Stand allocations will be
determined by the Council, with the priority being to allocate Regulated Bus Bays
and Regulated Bus Stands to promote the most efficient operation of the BPTI and
minimize Regulated Bus Bay and Regulated Bus Stand conflict. The Council’s
decision regarding Regulated Bus Bay and Regulated Bus Stand allocations will be
final and there will be no opportunity for redress.

104

Page 378

Appendix 4
APPENDIX 4
CITY CENTRE STOP ALLOCTION SYSTEM
DEFINITION OF STOPS WITHIN EPS AREA

DEFINITIONS
STOP

Category

Status

Maximum LEGAL Waiting Time permitted for
buses

CURRENT OCCUPANCY BY INDIVIDUAL STOP

CURRENT OCCUPANCY BY STOP GROUP

Maximum No. Maximum Length Existing No of Existing No of % Occupancy % Occupancy ANALYSIS BY Maximum No. Existing No of
of Departures of Departure Slot
of Departures
permitted (in
(minutes)
permitted with Departures,
Departures, Departures,
any 30-minute
SQPS (in any
operating
30-minute
1000-1100
1600-1700
1000-1000
1600-1700
STOP GROUP
1600-1700
period)
period)

A1

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

9

8

45%

40%

A2

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

18

18

90%

90%

A3

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

10

11

50%

55%

A4

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

14

14

70%

B1

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

3

10

6

4

100%

67%

B2

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

3

10

6

6

100%

100%

B3

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

3

10

6

6

100%

100%

C1

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

3

2

15%

10%

C2

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

14

14

70%

70%

C4

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

14

15

70%

75%

C9

NR

C10

1600-1700

A1-A4

40

51

64%

B1-B3

9

16

89%

C1-C5

30

31

52%

E1-E2

20

33

83%

F1-F2

7

13

93%

F3-F4

20

26

65%

J2-J6

20

34

85%

K1-K3

14

28

100%

M3-M4

20

37

93%

P1-P3

10

20

100%

70%

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

39

40

No Limit

No Limit

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

4

3

20%

15%

CL 11 R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

1

0

5%

CL 12 R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

10

10

50%

50%

E1

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

21

22

105%

110%

E2

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

10

11

50%

55%

F1

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

3

10

5

5

83%

83%

F2

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

8

8

100%

100%

F3

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

6

6

30%

30%

F4

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

18

20

90%

100%

G1

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

28

28

No Limit

No Limit

G2

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

34

30

No Limit

No Limit

G3

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

60

52

No Limit

No Limit

H1

NR

BUS STOP (NOT CLEARWAY)

MOI

No Limit

NSB

48

49

No Limit

No Limit

H2

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

48

49

No Limit

No Limit

H3

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

51

49

No Limit

No Limit

H4

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

18

18

No Limit

No Limit

H5

NR

BUS STOP (NOT CLEARWAY)

MOI

No Limit

NSB

0

0

No Limit

No Limit

H6

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

29

30

No Limit

No Limit

H7

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

29

26

No Limit

No Limit

H8
J1

R
NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY
BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins
2 mins

10
No Limit

NSB
NSB

1
64

1
64

5%
No Limit

5%
No Limit

J2

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

6

4

75%

J3

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

6

6

75%

75%

J4

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

8

8

100%

100%

J5

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

8

7

100%

88%

J6

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

8

9

100%

113%

K1

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

8

8

100%

100%

K2

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

8

8

100%

100%

K3

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

6

5

12

12

100%

100%

M1

NR

BUS STOP (NOT CLEARWAY)

MOI

No Limit

NSB

21

21

No Limit

No Limit

M2

NR

BUS STOP (NOT CLEARWAY)

MOI

No Limit

NSB

44

45

No Limit

No Limit

M3

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

17

17

85%

M4

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

20

20

100%

100%

M5

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

27

26

No Limit

No Limit

M6

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

9

8

No Limit

No Limit

N1

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

4

4

No Limit

No Limit

P1

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

3

10

6

6

100%

100%

P2

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

6

8

75%

100%

P3

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

3

10

6

6

100%

100%

P4

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

8

8

100%

100%

P5

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

6

8

75%

100%

Q1

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

6

6

75%

75%

Q2

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

5

6

10

10

100%

100%

Q3

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

5

6

9

8

90%

80%

S1

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

14

15

70%

75%

S2

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

14

14

70%

70%

S3

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

9

9

45%

45%

S4

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

19

19

S7

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

16

16

80%

80%

S5

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

36

36

No Limit

No Limit

S6

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

37

37

No Limit

No Limit

T1

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

8

9

100%

113%

T2

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

8

8

100%

100%

T3

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

3

10

4

4

67%

67%

T4

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

8

8

100%

100%

T5

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

28

31

No Limit

No Limit

T6

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

18

20

No Limit

No Limit

T7

T

BUS STAND CLEARWAY

10 mins

4

7.5

8

8

100%

100%

T8

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

20

20

100%

100%

U1

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

13

12

65%

U2

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

18

19

90%

95%

U3

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

19

20

95%

100%

U4

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

14

14

70%

70%

U5

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

32

31

No Limit

No Limit

V1

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

12

12

60%

60%

V2

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

19

18

95%

90%

V3

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

14

14

70%

70%

V4

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

2

2

10%

10%

V5

NR

BUS STOP (NOT CLEARWAY)

MOI

No Limit

NSB

43

44

No Limit

No Limit

W1

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

14

14

70%

70%

W2

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

16

17

80%

85%

W3

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

9

8

45%

40%

W4

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

14

14

70%

70%

X1

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

4

2

20%

X2

R

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

10

NSB

10

10

50%

50%

Y1

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

14

14

No Limit

No Limit

Y2

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

19

19

No Limit

No Limit

Y3

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

21

23

No Limit

No Limit

Y4

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

39

38

No Limit

No Limit

Y5

NR

BUS STOP (NOT CLEARWAY)

MOI

No Limit

NSB

45

43

No Limit

No Limit

Y6

NR

BUS STOP (NOT CLEARWAY)

MOI

No Limit

NSB

36

34

No Limit

No Limit

Y7

NR

BUS STOP CLEARWAY

2 mins

No Limit

NSB

62

59

No Limit

No Limit

Y9

NR

BUS STOP (NOT CLEARWAY)

MOI

No Limit

NSB

33

32

No Limit

No Limit

95%

% Occupancy

0%

50%

85%

P4-P5

8

16

100%

Q1-Q3

14

24

86%

S1-S4 & S7

50

73

73%

T1-T4

15

29

97%

U1-U4

40

65

81%

V1-V4

40

46

58%

W1-W4

40

53

66%

X1-X2

20

12

30%

95%

60%

10%

KEY TO STOP CATEGORIES
T - "Terminal" Stand. Can be used by services that observe the Waiting time requirements and Slot Allocation System
R - "Regulated Stop". Stop not included in Slot Allocation System but no of departures per hour regulated to a maximum of 10 in any 30-minute Operating Period.
NR - "Non-Regulated" Stop. Stop not included in the Slot Booking System and no direct limit on the number of departures from the stop.

OTHER DEFINITIONS
NSB - NSB in operation at Bus Stops
MOI - Buses must pick up and/or set down and move off immediately at "Non Regulated" Bus Stops

STOPS AT OR OVER CAPACITY
PLEASE SEE COLUMS I AND J

105

Page 379

Appendix 5

Greater Nottingham Bus Passenger Charter - Detail
Introduction
This Charter sets out exactly what you can expect from us and explains how to make the most of
our services. It also sets out how we will put things right if we do not meet your expectations, and
your rights under UK legislation.
The Bus Passenger Charter does not affect your legal rights.

What area does the Bus Passenger Charter cover?
Known at the Robin Hood Network area. This Bus Passenger Charter covers bus services in the
Greater Nottingham area, which encompasses the entirety of Nottingham City and adjacent
Nottinghamshire County areas including parts of the boroughs of Gedling, Rushcliffe and Broxtowe.

What operators serve the Greater Nottingham area?
These services are operated by Nottingham City Transport, trentbarton, CT4N, Stagecoach,
Kinchbus, Marshalls, Centrebus and the Local Transport Authorities of Nottingham City Council
and Nottinghamshire County Council.

What service types does the Bus Passenger Charter cover?
All local bus services are covered by the Bus Passenger Charter.

What you can expect from us
Safe, clean and comfortable buses
In the Greater Nottingham area, we will provide high standard buses every day, so that your
journey and experience is a positive one. We will maintain a high standard of vehicle presentation
and all buses operating across the defined Greater Nottingham area will be thoroughly cleaned,
inside and out, every day. Levels of cleaning undertaken during the Covid-19 pandemic will be
continued into the future.
We will continue our work to deliver Zero and Low Emission buses across Nottingham, with all buses
operating into Nottingham City Centre required to meet the most stringent Euro VI standard as a
minimum.
To ensure the safety of you and other passengers, buses will be maintained by skilled staff on a
regular and planned basis to comply with all legal requirements. Heating and lighting systems will
be checked on a daily basis, and buses will not be deployed onto a service if these are not
working. And for your peace of mind, all buses will be fitted with CCTV, in multiple locations
including on both the lower and upper deck of double decker buses, and we will follow the CCTV
Code of Practice published by the Information Commissioner’s Office. The presence of such CCTV
equipment on a vehicle will be confirmed by the appropriate signage, such as a ‘CCTV is in
operation’ at the point of boarding to give customers the option not to consent to CCTV before
boarding.
Drivers will also be trained on how to give all customers a safe and comfortable journey, and what
to do in case of an emergency.

106

Page 380

A helpful driving team
Our bus drivers will be helpful, approachable and knowledgeable. To ensure that this is the case,
drivers will undertake periodic training including customer service training so that they are always
up to speed on the best ticketing options for the passengers and are well informed about the route
they are driving on as well as the rest of the network. Drivers will also wear a uniform, and will be
smart and clean in appearance.
If for any reason your journey is seriously delayed, your driver will endeavour to tell you what the
problem is and keep you updated. They will be able to advise alternative services if the delay is
route specific, to allow you to complete your journey as quickly as possible. The delays will also be
communicated via operator’s social media accounts, operator websites and on-street Realtime
Information (RTI) displays.

We aim to give you the best service
We aim to run every bus on time, but please bear in mind that sometimes there are external factors
outside of our control, which may have an impact upon service reliability.
Our target is to run 95% of our services, no more than one minute early or five minutes late. To
prove to you that we are keeping to our promise of service reliability, we will regularly monitor our
performance across the bus network and display the results on our Robin Hood Network and
Transport Nottingham websites and social media accounts on a regular basis.
Any changes to services because of planned roadworks or other factors (such as special events),
will where possible be advertised at least a week in advance through the Robin Hood Network and
Transport Nottingham websites, newsletters, on the buses and own operator websites. In the event
of unplanned roadworks and road closures, impacts on services will be advertised on the
appropriate streams, e.g. Realtime displays, social media and Robin Hood Network and Transport
Nottingham and own operator websites as soon as the Council and bus operators are made
aware. In the event of significant disruption to services, full details will be passed onto the Realtime
team at Nottingham City Council and will be fed through to the Realtime Information displays.
The Council and bus operators will work in partnership to provide an integrated network, and the
network will be regularly reviewed, with a view to meeting the growing needs of the residents of the
Greater Nottingham area. This will include looking to improve the efficiency of the bus services on
offer, and reducing journey times where possible.
We aim for high passenger satisfaction, and this will be monitored and published through the Robin
Hood Network, Transport Nottingham and own operator websites. Our target is for at least 95% of
our passengers to be satisfied with their bus service.

Keep you moving
We want to keep you moving. Therefore, if the bus you wish to catch has departed early, been
cancelled, or is significantly delayed, we may:


Advise of alternative bus service(s) that you could use in order to complete your journey,
and refund any additional fares that you would have to pay if these services are not
operated by the originally intended bus operator



Send an alternative vehicle to collect you and take you to your destination, at no cost to you



Book a taxi to collect you and take you to your destination, at no cost to you (using an
authorised taxi operator, with a booking on our account, so no money needs to be paid to
the driver)



Refund your fare with a voucher for a local day ticket or refund the cost of taxi
107

Page 381

We will take one of the above steps if it was our fault that you were not able to catch your bus, the
total delay to your journey will be 30 minutes or more (compared to waiting for the next bus) and
the alternative transport will collect you sooner than waiting for the next bus.
We will endeavour to never leave you stranded due to early running, delays or cancellations. This
includes situations where a problem with our service causes you to miss a connection onto another
bus service.

Information about our services
Our services will be easily identifiable, with the ultimate destination and service number of the bus
displayed on the front and side of the bus, and the service number or name will displayed on the
front and rear of the vehicle.
Printed timetable information will be provided and operator websites and apps will be kept up to
date.
Up-to-date information including bus stop plates depicting what services serve the stop, pagodas
and timetable cases displaying combined and cohesive timetable information and network maps
illustrating the core services within the Greater Nottingham area will be on show where possible.
Realtime displays will also display upcoming departures at Greater Nottingham’s most frequently
served stops.
Timetables and maps that are displayed at the bus stops will also be published on the Robin Hood
website, and will be available at all waiting facilities, including both bus stops and bus stations.
Notification of service changes will be available at least 21 days in advance through the Robin
Hood website and information will be supplied to customers, on request, by email and post.
Notices will also be available on buses. These notifications will be made available to customers
within the stated timeframe, except service changes that are required as a result of Emergency
Roadworks.

Fares and ticketing
Information on all fares and ticket products available can be accessed on the Robin Hood website,
which will be accompanied by guidance on which product is best suited for you and your travel
habits. A wide variety of value for money ticketing options will include contactless payment on all
buses. Robin Hood Ticketing products will be accepted across the entirety of the Greater
Nottingham area (apart from exempt services) giving passengers consistency across operators.

Inclusivity
All of our buses will meet the requirements of the Equalities Act. We will work to ensure that Audio
and visual announcements will be available on all of our buses, and we will continue to work to
ensure that ‘next stop’ screens or displays are available on all buses in Nottingham. Priority
seating will be made available for elderly and disabled passengers, as well as those with reduced
mobility. Reasonable adjustments will also be made to meet the individual needs of passengers.
Space will be available on each bus to accommodate the carriage of wheelchairs and pushchairs.
We will aim to give wheelchair users priority over other users when it comes to the wheelchair bay.
If other users are in the wheelchair bay, We will always assist and encourage anyone who is able to use
an alternative area of the bus to do so, in order to allow those who need to use the space can do so. If the
passengers fail to comply with this instruction, we will contact the next bus to see if the passenger
can be accommodated or book a taxi for the passenger.
All drivers will receive both initial and ongoing training in customer service, and disability
awareness skills will be monitored and preferable when selecting our staff. In addition to this, there
will be a dedicated helpline for people with disabilities, provided by individual operators, where
timetable and fare information can be accessed in accessible formats including large font, different
108

Page 382

colours and braille. Large print timetables, maps and departure lists for bus stops will also be made
available on request. Journey assistance cards are available to help people with disabilities make
our staff aware of their needs. Assistance Dogs are welcome on our buses, and travel free of
charge.
This charter will be made available in alternative formats including large font, braille and audio.

Putting things right
If your bus service does not meet your expectations, there will be a trained Customer Service team
available to help you 7 days a week. All complaints will be acknowledged within 24 hours and we
aim to provide a full response within five working days. If we cannot provide a response within five
days, you will receive an update within this timescale to advise you of this. Our ability to respond to
complaints within the specified timeframes will be monitored and published on the Robin Hood
Network and Transport Nottingham websites.
As well as having the means to make a complaint, bus passengers in the Greater Nottingham area
will be given a voice though regular listening sessions and forums, and through independent
engagement.

Independent appeals
If you are unhappy with our response to any complaint you have the option of approaching Bus
Users UK (www.bususers.org or 0300 111 0001) who will try to resolve the issue for you.

Your customer rights


You have a right to be provided with appropriate and comprehensible information about your
rights when you use regular bus services.



We will not charge you a different price based on your nationality.



You are entitled to adequate information throughout your journey.



Where feasible, and where you have made a request, we will provide the information in
accessible formats.



We will not refuse to let you travel because of a disability that you have, unless it is physically
impossible to carry you safely. If we lose or damage your mobility equipment, we will
compensate you fully for its replacement or repair.



We have procedures for giving disability-related training to our staff.

In addition to our commitments above, you have a right for your complaint to be dealt with if it
concerns any of the matters covered by this section of the Charter (headed “Your customer
rights”), provided you submit it within three months. We must respond to these complaints within
one month of you submitting them and give you a final reply, stating whether your complaint is
substantiated or rejected, within three months.
You have the right to appeal these complaints to Bus Users UK if you disagree with our response.
Bus Users UK is subject to a three-month time limit for dealing with appeals and must refer
unresolved complaints to a Traffic Commissioner. If they fail to refer your complaint promptly, when
the time limit expires, you have the right to refer it to the relevant Traffic Commissioner. A list of
Traffic Commissioners’ offices can be found at www.gov.uk.

109

Page 383

Greater Nottingham Bus Passenger Charter – Summary
All Greater Nottingham (Robin Hood Network) Bus Passengers Can Expect:












Your bus will normally arrive at your starting point within five minutes of the schedule time
Your operator will keep your informed if your bus is seriously delayed
You can expect at least 99% of journeys to be operated each week unless there are
exceptional circumstances beyond the operators control
A clean bus; a comfortable seat on the bus; a friendly and helpful driver
CCTV on board for your security
A range of value for money tickets and passes that are easy to understand and purchase
Direct, express public transport between major destinations
Realtime bus displays at major stops and also on operator smartphone apps
Up to date timetable and fare information available online
A space on every bus large enough to take one wheelchair or two buggies

Questions / Complaints?
Contact us
email: x
telephone: x

110

Page 384

Appendix 7

Robin Hood Marketing Group (RHMG)
Terms of Reference (ToR)

Change History
Version

Date

Reason for change/update

V0.1

18/11/2021

Initial draft

V1.0

Amendments from partners

This document sets out the purpose, responsibilities and governance of the Robin Hood
Marketing Group.

Purpose
The Robin Hood Marketing Group has several objectives, which aim to establish a trusted
brand and promote product sales:
 Co-ordinate joined-up marketing of the Robin Hood network and associated
products
 Authorise spend of the Robin Hood Marketing budget on cost-effective marketing
and communications activity
 Protect and grow the Robin Hood brand
 Improve and maintain public understanding of the Robin Hood network and
products
 Increase public perception of the Robin Hood network and products.

Membership and responsibilities
111

Page 385

There are six partners in the Robin Hood Marketing Group, represented by the following:


Nottingham City Council (NCC) – Communications and Marketing Manager
(Transport)



Nottingham City Transport (NCT) – Head of Marketing



Nottingham Express Transit (NET) – Marketing Manager



trentbarton – Marketing and Communications Manager



Nottinghamshire County Council (Notts CC) – TBC



Representative of smaller operator – TBC, to rotate every two years

Responsibilities


NCC will take responsibility for co-ordinating meetings, ensuring a forward plan is in
place, monitoring spend against budget, and co-ordinating preparation of
communication and marketing materials, seeking input from all partners



NCT will take responsibility for preparing the quarterly report for submission to the
Robin Hood Operators’ Group and attending these meetings to represent the
Marketing Group

All partners share a responsibility to:


Attend quarterly meetings and input into discussions and decisions



Provide sign off on communications and marketing material



Set a proposal for marketing budget and agree any significant changes to budget
allocations throughout the year



Where appropriate and in line with individual operators marketing and
communication strategy, share Robin Hood communications and marketing material
via their own channels



Contribute to quarterly reports for the Robin Hood Operators’ Group

Governance arrangements
The Robin Hood Marketing Group will meet quarterly, usually a week ahead of the Robin
Hood Operators’ Group, to which it reports.
More frequent or ad-hoc meetings may be required to meet project or campaign deadlines.
Example of a standard agenda:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Review of previous three months’ activity
Look ahead to next three months’ activity
Review of annual plan, including budget spend
Partner updates
AOB

Decision making
112

Page 386

Where possible and not time urgent, decisions will be agreed by all parties during quarterly
meetings. This includes major decisions, such as budget setting and significant spend,
defined as in excess of £5,000.
Decisions can often be required on an ad-hoc basis, in response to demand or customer
feedback. In this instance, all parties will be contacted, allowing the maximum time
available to respond (a minimum of three working days or seven days, or at the point
unanimous agreement is made). Where parties do not reply within the given time frame,
decisions can be made with the agreement of the majority of respondents, based on a
minimum of three responses.
Concerning minor decisions, for example reprints of existing materials, low cost or noncontroversial printing or social media posts, agreement from all parties is not required, but
details of all work using the Robin Hood brand will be circulated for information. Upon
being notified of digital communications being distributed, if any partner raises concerns,
the promotion in question is withdrawn until all partners are in agreement.

113

Page 387

This page is intentionally left blank

Joint Nottingham –
Nottinghamshire Transport
and Planning Advisory
Board

Stakeholder Reference
Group

Page 389

(provides external insight
and challenges priorities and
work)
• County, city, district and
borough council officers
• Other public transport
operators
• Community transport
operators
• Train operating
companies
• Bus user group
representatives
• Business group
representatives
• Other relevant key
stakeholders

EP Board

Neighbouring
authorities

(decision-making group; sets strategy
and prioritises measures)
• 1 x Large Operator (voting)
• 1 x Medium Operator (voting)
• 1 x Small Operator (voting)
• 1 x Nottinghamshire City Council
(voting)
• 1 x Nottinghamshire County Council
(voting)
• Independent Chair (non-voting)

Scheme Delivery Groups
(focused on practical delivery of the
scheme; developing task & finish groups)
Stakeholders relevant to the scheme

Statutory Consultees
• Operators
• Organisations
representing passengers
• Other authorities
• Traffic Commissioner
• Chief of Police
• Transport Focus
• CMS
• Others as required

This page is intentionally left blank

